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Lazard’s model is simple and powerful.

It is built around two businesses, Financial Advisory
and Asset Management. Both generate returns
from intellectual capital, not financial capital.
Success in each business enhances the Lazard
brand. Therefore the firm is able to compete on
equal footing with firms many times our size.

We succeed without the commensurate reliance
on and the inherent risks and conflicts associated

with capital.

On the Financial Advisory side of our business,
the need for independent financial advice remains
in high demand. In Asset Management, we enter
this cycle with strong momentum.We have never
had a broader set of offerings and investment

solutions for our clients.

Lazard is a global business. Our historical
and ongoing investments in both our Financial
Advisory and Asset Management businesses
give us the scale to rival our largest competitors
on a global basis and distinguish us from the

advisory boutiques.

Lazard’s model is tested and resilient.
During this period of turmoil, as in previous ones,
we have stayed focused and have continued to
direct our energies on providing premium advice
to our Financial Advisory clients and investment

solutions to our Asset Management clients.

We are entering this cycle with both

our core businesses showing significant
momentum. Ve are positioned to capitalize

on our ongoing investments and on the historically
strong position we enjoy in the markets in which
we compete. And, we enter 2010 with what

we believe is the most competitive model in

the industry.



Financial Highlights

($mm, except per share data) 2009' 20082 2007
Net Revenue $1,531 $1,557 $1,918
Operating Revenue 1,618 1,675 2,015
Operating Income 27 225 418
Adjusted Net Income, Fully Exchanged Basis® I 196 323
Adjusted Net Income Per Share, Fully Exchanged Basis—Diluted®*  $0.09 $1.65 $2.77
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: Operating Income and Adjusted Net Income figures exclude the restructuring charge, the accelerated vesting of previously awarded cash
incentive awards and the accelerated amortization of restricted stock units previously granted to our former Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer who passed away in October 2009.

2 Operating Income and Adjusted Net Income figures exclude the after-tax, LAM equity charge.

3 Lazard believes that results assuming full exchange of outstanding exchangeable interests provide the most meaningful basis for comparison
among present, historical and future periods.

42005 Operating Revenue represents Lazard’s historical financial information adjusted to reflect the separation and recapitalization transactions.

5 Excludes Corporate, which includes investment income from long-term investments, net interest income generated by Lazard Fréres Banque
SA, interest income related to cash and interest expense related to outstanding borrowings.

® The Stock Performance graph compares the performance of an investment in our Class A common stock from May 5, 2005, through December
31,2009, with the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Financial Index. The graph assumes $100 was invested at the close of business on May 5,2005
in each of our Class A common stock, the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Financial Index. It also assumes that dividends were reinvested on the
date of payment without payment of any commissions. The performance shown in the graph represents past performance and should not be
considered an indication of future performance.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

XI ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 20(

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the transition period from to
001-32492
(Commission File Number)
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)
Bermuda 98-043784¢
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
or Organization)
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
(Address of principal executive offices)
Registrant’s telephone number: (441) 2¢-1422
Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(H)eoAct:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registert
Class A Common Stock, par value $0.01 per sha New York Stock Exchange

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(t)eoAct: None
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405e06#turities Act.  YedX] No O
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord}%5f the Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ék)filed all reports required to be filed by Secti or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for suahrtsh period that the Registrant was requiredleodiich reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Y&§ No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant luisnitted electronically and posted on its corpok&ebsite, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te Bb of Regulation $-(§232.405 of this chapter) during the precediBgribnths (or for such shor
period that the registrant was required to submt ost such files). Yedl No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiglers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitivexy or information statements incorporated by mefiee in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-KIX]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantlésge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-acelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp
See the definitions of “large accelerated filegttelerated filer,” and “smaller reporting compairyRule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileiX] Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgje Act). YesO No
The aggregate market value of the common stocklhehibn-affiliates of the Registrant as of JuneZ9 was approximately $2,014,022,842.

As of January 29, 2010, there were 92,165,912 shadrthe Registrant’s Class A common stock (inelgds, 850,063 shares held by a subsidiary)
and one share of the registrant’s Class B comnmrk siutstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Registre’s proxystatement for its 2010 annual general meeting afedtolders are incorporated by reference in thismFd-K in



response to Part Ill Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.
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When we use the terms “Lazard”, “we”, “us”, “our”and “the Company”, we mean Lazard Ltd, a compamypiporated under the laws of
Bermuda, and its subsidiaries, including Lazard Grd.LC, a Delaware limited liability compan“Lazard Group”), that is the current holding
company for our businesses. Lazard Ltd has no na&@ssets other than indirect ownership as of Delser 31, 2009 of approximately 74.5% of the
common membership interests in Lazard Group ancbit¢rolling interest in Lazard Group.

ltem 1. Business

We are one of the world’s preeminent financial adw and asset management firms and have longaigedi in crafting solutions to the complex
financial and strategic challenges of our clieki¥& serve a diverse set of clients around the wortduding corporations, partnerships, institutions
governments and high-net worth individuals. Thstfirazard partnership was established in 1848. Gwerwe have extended our activities beyond our
roots in New York, Paris and London. We currentper@te from 40 cities in key business and finanmalters across 25 countries throughout Europe,
North America, Asia, Australia, and Central and tRoAmerica.

The Separation and Recapitalization

On May 10, 2005, we completed the equity publiefig (the “equity public offering”) of Class A canon stock of Lazard Ltd (“Class A
common stock”), the public offering of equity setpunits ("ESUS”) of Lazard Ltd, the private planents under an investment agreement with IXIS
Corporate & Investment Bank (“IXIS” or, followingsi merger with and into its parent, “Natixis”) atte private offering of the 7.125% senior notes due
2015 of Lazard Group, primarily to recapitalize et Group. We refer to these financing transactansthe recapitalization, collectively, as the
“recapitalization.” As part of the recapitalizatidrazard Group used the net proceeds from the dingrtransactions primarily to redeem the outstagdi
Lazard Group membership interests of certain dfigorical partners.

On May 10, 2005, Lazard Group also transferreddtsital markets business, which consisted of eqfikgd income and convertibles sales and
trading, broking, research and underwriting sejieand fund management activities outside of Frasogell as other specified noperating assets ai
liabilities, to LFCM Holdings LLC, a Delaware lineitl liability company (“LFCM Holdings”). We refer these businesses, assets and liabilities as the
“separated businesses” and these transfers cui@ctis the “separation.”

Principal Business Lines

We focus primarily on two business segments - Kirs\dvisory and Asset Management. We believe thatmix of our activities across
business segments, geographic regions, industiieingestment strategies helps to diversify antikta our revenue stream.

Financial Advisory

We offer corporate, partnership, institutional, gmment and individual clients across the globddewarray of financial advisory services
regarding mergers and acquisitions (“M&A”) and atheategic matters, restructurings, capital stmegtcapital raising and various other corporate
finance matters. We focus on solving our clients'strcomplex problems, providing advice to senionagement, boards of directors and business
owners of prominent companies and institutiongandactions that typically are of significant st and financial importance to them.

We continue to build our Financial Advisory busisdyy fostering long-term, senior level relationshigth existing and new clients as their
independent advisor on strategic transactions. &gk ® build and sustain long-term relationshipthwiur clients rather than focusing on individual
transactions, a practice that we believe enhangeaaress to senior management of major corposatiod institutions around the world. We emphasize
providing clients with senior level focus during plhases of transaction execution.

1
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While we strive to earn repeat business from adents, we operate in a highly competitive environtria which there are no longfm contracte
sources of revenue. Each revenue-generating engaésrseparately negotiated and awarded. To develw client relationships, and to develop new
engagements from historical client relationships,maintain an active dialogue with a large numtelients and potential clients, as well as withith
financial and legal advisors, on an ongoing basis.have gained a significant number of new cliefatsh year through our business development
initiatives, through recruiting additional seniovestment banking professionals who bring with thelient relationships and through referrals from
directors, attorneys and other third parties witftom we have relationships. At the same time, we @dignts each year as a result of the sale orenerg
of a client, a change in a client’s senior managenmmpetition from other investment banks anéptauses.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 ard g@9Financial Advisory segment net revenue ¢dt&$987 million, $1,023 million and
$1,240 million, respectively, accounting for appmately 65%, 66% and 64%, respectively, of our otidated net revenue for such years. We earned
advisory revenue from 620 clients, 682 clients @28 clients for the years ended December 31, 220® and 2007, respectively. We earned $1 mi
or more from 256 clients, 220 clients and 222 ¢fidor the years ended December 31, 2009, 2002@dd, respectively. For the years ended Decembel
31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the ten largest fee pajiegts constituted approximately 17%, 20% and 18%ur Financial Advisory segment net revenue,
respectively, with no client individually having restituted more than 10% of segment net revenuagduanmy of these years. For the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Financialstdy segment reported operating income (lossYd2million, $226 million and $319 million,
respectively. Operating income in 2009 includedharge of $49 million representing the portion af fpecial item (as described in Management'’s
Discussion and Analysis and Note 24 of Notes tod0bdated Financial Statements) that is applicabkae Financial Advisory segment. At December
31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Financial Advisoryresgt had total assets of $707 million, $739 milliand $812 million, respectively.

We believe that we have been pioneers in offeiiimgnicial advisory services on an international fiasith the establishment of our New York,
Paris and London offices dating back to the ningteeentury. We maintain major local presenceséU.S., the U.K. and France, including a network
of regional branch offices in the U.S. and Framsewell as presences in Argentina, Australia, BetgiBrazil, Chile, Dubai, Germany, Hong Kong,
India, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Panama, Féngapore, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Switzerldnehuay and mainland China.

On August 13, 2007, we acquired all of the outstamadwnership interests of Goldsmith, Agio, Helmd.gnner, LLC (“GAHL"), a Minneapolis-
based investment bank specializing in financiaisaty services to mid-sized private companies. @y 31, 2007, Lazard Ltd acquired all of the
outstanding shares of Carnegie, Wylie & Companyiditgs) PTY LTD (“CWC”), an Australia-based finaatiadvisory firm, and concurrently sold
such investment to Lazard Group. Furthermore, o 119, 2007, we entered into a joint cooperatioea@gent with Raiffeisen Investment AG
(“Raiffeisen”) for merger and acquisition advis@grvices in Russia and the Central and Easternpgaro(the “CEE”) region. The cooperation between
us and Raiffeisen, one of the CEE region’s top M&dVisors, provides domestic, international andsstmsrder expertise within Russia and the CEE
region. In addition, on January 31, 2008, we aagla 50% interest in Merchant Bankers AsociadosB@AN), an Argentina-based financial advisory
services firm with offices across Central and Sduirerica and the parent company of MBA Banco destaiones. Finally, in February 2009, we
entered into a strategic alliance with a finanaid¥isory firm in Mexico to provide global M&A adwisy services for clients, both inside and outsifle o
Mexico, who are seeking to acquire or sell asseddéxico or have interests in other financial test®ns with companies in Mexico, and to provide
restructuring advisory services to clients in Mexic

In addition to seeking business centered in thatlons referred to above, we historically have fmtliin particular on advising clients with resg
to crossborder transactions. We believe that we are pdatilguwell known for our legacy of offering broadams of professionals who are indigenot
their respective regions and
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who have long-term client relationships, capaleitand know-how in their respective regions, whibagiordinate with our professionals with global
sector expertise. We also believe that this pasitip affords us insight around the globe into keguistry, economic, government and regulatory issues
and developments, which we can bring to bear oalbehour clients.

Services Offered

We advise clients on a wide range of strategicfarahcial issues. When we advise companies in thierpiial acquisition of another company,
business or certain assets, our services incluale@ing potential acquisition targets, providireduation analyses, evaluating and proposing firenci
and strategic alternatives and rendering, if apatg fairness opinions. We also may advise alddiming, structure, financing and pricing of a
proposed acquisition and assist in negotiatingaosing the acquisition. In addition, we may assigxecuting an acquisition by acting as a dealer-
manager in transactions structured as a tendetctiaege offer.

When we advise clients that are contemplating #he af certain businesses, assets or their ergimpany, our services include advising on the
appropriate sales process for the situation, vianassues, assisting in preparing an offeringutacor other appropriate sales materials and memglaf
appropriate, fairness opinions. We also identifgt aontact selected qualified acquirors and assisegotiating and closing the proposed sale. As
appropriate, we also advise our clients regardimgicial and strategic alternatives to a sale thialy recapitalizations, spin-offs, carve-outs, tspffs
and tracking stocks. Our advice includes recommmmawith respect to the structure, timing andipg of these alternatives.

For companies in financial distress, our servicay include reviewing and analyzing the businessrafons, properties, financial condition and
prospects of the company, evaluating debt capaastsisting in the determination of an appropriajgital structure and evaluating and recommending
financial and strategic alternatives, includingyding advice on dividend policy. If appropriategwnay provide financial advice and assistance in
developing and seeking approval of a restructusingeorganization plan, which may include a plameafrganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code or other similar court administepeacesses in non-U.S. jurisdictions. In such casesnay assist in all aspects of the implemematio
of such a plan, including advising and assistingtincturing and effecting the financial aspecta shle or recapitalization, structuring new sdias;
exchange offers, other considerations or otherdathents to be offered or issued, as well as asgiatid participating in negotiations with affected
entities or groups.

When we assist clients in raising private or pubii&rket financing, our services include originatangl executing private placements of equity,
debt and related securities, assisting client®imection with securing, refinancing or restructgrbank loans, originating public underwritings of
equity, debt and convertible securities and origmggand executing private placements of partnerahid similar interests in alternative investmemiof
such as leveraged buyout, mezzanine or real dstaised funds. In addition, we may advise on chpitacture and assist in long-range capital plagni
and rating agency relationships.

Pursuant to a business alliance agreement thanhteeeel into with LFCM Holdings in connection withet separation in May 2005 (the “business
alliance agreement”), LFCM Holdings generally unvddtes and distributes U.S. securities offeringgioated by our Financial Advisory business in a
manner intended to be similar to our practice piaathe separation, with revenue from such offegiggnerally continuing to be divided evenly between
Lazard Group and LFCM Holdings.

Staffing

We staff our assignments with a team of qualityfggsionals who have appropriate product and ingestpertise. We pride ourselves on, and we
believe we differentiate ourselves from our contpediby, being able to offer a relatively high leg€attention from senior personnel to our clieamsl
organizing ourselves in such a way that managirectbrs who are responsible for securing and miaing client relationships also actively participat
in providing related transaction execution servi€@gr managing directors have significant expegemnd many of them are able to use this experience
to advise on both M&A and restructuring transacticshepending on our clients’ needs. Many of ouragary directors and senior advisors come from

3
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diverse backgrounds, such as senior executiveiposiat corporations and in government, law arategic consulting, which we believe enhances our
ability to offer sophisticated advice and custordiselutions to our clients. As of December 31, 2@08 Financial Advisory segment had 150 mana
directors, 681 other professionals (which includiesctors, vice presidents, associates and anpists211 support staff personnel.

Industries Served

We seek to offer our services across most majarsimg groups, including, in many cases, sub-inguspecialties. Our Mergers and Acquisitions
managing directors and professionals are organ@edovide advice in the following major industrsaptice areas:

e consumer,
¢ financial institutions,

» financial sponsors,

¢ healthcare and life sciences,

e industrial,

e power and energy/infrastructure,

* real estate, and

« technology, media and telecommunications.

These groups are managed locally in each relevaygrgphic region and are coordinated globally, tiailtows us to bring local industry-specific

knowledge to bear on behalf of our clients on &gldasis. We believe that this enhances the gualithe advice that we can offer, which improves o
ability to market our capabilities to clients.

In addition to our Mergers and Acquisitions and tReguring practices, we also maintain speciaitiethe following distinct practice areas within
our Financial Advisory segment:
e government advisory,

e capital structure and debt advisory,
e fund raising for alternative investment funds,
e private investment in public equity, or “PIPE”, and

e corporate finance.

We endeavor to coordinate the activities of thdgasionals in these areas with our Mergers and isitapns industry specialists in order to offer
clients customized teams of cross-functional exgegpanning both industry and practice area eigpert

Strategy

Our focus in our Financial Advisory business is on:

* making a significant investment in our intellectaapital with the addition of senior professionalso we believe have strong client
relationships and industry experti:

» increasing our contacts with existing clients tdtiar enhance our long-term relationships and &arts in developing new client
relationships

» expanding the breadth and depth of our industregrige and selectively adding new practice araad) as our capital structure advisory
effort to help corporations and governments in adgsing the significant deleveraging that is unfajdin the developed marke

e coordinating our industry specialty activities oglabal basis and increasing the integration ofiodustry experts in mergers and acquisiti
with our Restructuring and Capital Markets profesais, anc

¢ broadening our geographic presence by adding néeesf including, since the beginning of 2007, «#f in Australia (Melbourne),
Switzerland (Zurich) and United Arab Emirates (Diubay), as well

4
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as new regional offices in the U.S. (Boston, Mirpais, Charlotte and Washington DC), acquiring &5@terest in a financial advisory firm
with offices in Central and South America (ArgeatiiChile, Panama, Uruguay and Peru) and entertogaijoint cooperation agreement in
Eastern Europe and Russia, as well as a stratitigiccg with a financial advisory firm in Mexici

In addition to the investments made as part ofgtiistegy, we believe that the following externalrket factors may enable our Financial Advis
business to benefit by:

* increasing demand for independent, unbiased fiahadvice,
» continued high demand for Restructuring advicetduée significant level of corporate defaults, and

* apotential increase in cross-border M&A and largpitalization M&A, two of our areas of historicgbecialization.

Going forward, our strategic emphasis in our Fimg@n&dvisory business is to leverage the investraeve have made in recent years to grow our
business and drive our productivity. We continusdaek to opportunistically attract outstanding vidlials to our business. We routinely reassess our
strategic position and may in the future seek opmities to further enhance our competitive positim this regard, during 2007 and 2008, as desdrib
above, we broadened our geographic footprint tHiaguisitions, investments and alliances in Alisir&astern Europe, Russia and Central and South
America, and by opening new offices. In additiamaaresult of acquiring GAHL in 2007, we launchédZard Middle Market,” which advises primarily
mid-sized private companies.

Relationship with Natixis

At the time of the equity public offering in 2005azard Group and Natixis had in place a cooperaioangement to place and underwrite
securities on the French equity primary capitalkets under a common brand, currently “Lazard-Natband cooperate in their respective origination,
syndication and placement activities. Although ioradjy set to expire during the third quarter o080the arrangement continues to be applied in
accordance with its general terms pending the ocof continuing discussions regarding its formaéasion. This cooperation covers French listed
companies exceeding a market capitalization of €8Dilon. The cooperation arrangement also providesn alliance in real estate advisory work with
the objective of establishing a common brand fatisaty and financing operations within France.l$bsadds an exclusive mutual referral cooperation
arrangement, subject to the fiduciary duties ohdam, with the goal of referring clients from La Group to Natixis for services relating to cogie
banking, lending, securitizations and derivativéthiw France and from Natixis to Lazard Group fo&MNadvisory services within France.

Asset Management

Our Asset Management business provides investmanagement and advisory services to institutionahts, financial intermediaries, private
clients and investment vehicles around the worldr. gdal in our Asset Management business is toym®duperior risk-adjusted investment returns and
provide investment solutions customized for oueris. Many of our equity investment strategieseslaarinvestment philosophy that centers on
fundamental security selection with a focus ontthde-off between a company’s valuation and itarfitial productivity.

As of December 31, 2009, total assets under manegeffAUM”) were $129.5 billion, of which approxintely 82% was invested in equities,
14% in fixed income, 3% in alternative investmentsd 1% in private equity funds. As of the same dapproximately 36% of our AUM was investe
international (.e., non-U.S. and regional ndu-S.) investment strategies, 46% was investedahajlinvestment strategies and 18% was investedS:
investment strategies, and our top ten clientswaued for 23% of our total AUM. Approximately 89%aur AUM as of that date was managed on
behalf of institutional clients, including corpadmats, labor unions, public pension funds, insurac@m®panies and banks, and through sub-advisory
relationships, mutual fund sponsors, broker-dealatsregistered advisors, and approximately 11#ofAUM as of December 31, 2009 was managed
on behalf of individual client relationships, whiake principally with family offices and high-nebwh individuals.
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The charts below illustrate the mix of our AUM dDecember 31, 2009, measured by broad produdegirand by office location.
ALIM BY FRODUCT ALM BY OFFICE LOCATION
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For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 ard 206 Asset Management segment net revenue tdélé2 million, $615 million and $725
million, respectively, accounting for approximat&9%, 39% and 38%, respectively, of our consolidatet revenue for such years. For the year ended
December 31, 2009, Asset Management reported apgiatome of $97 million, as compared to an opegloss of $63 million and operating income
of $185 million for the years ended December 3D848nd 2007, respectively. Operating income in 28092008 included charges of $8 million and
approximately $197 million, respectively, represemthe portion of the special items (as describddanagement’s Discussion and Analysis and Note
24 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemehts) dre applicable to the Asset Management segiebecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, our
Asset Management segment had $703 million, $42Bomjland $581 million in total assets, respectivel

Glakal/Int'l Buropean Fixed

ligemme 13%:

LS LTy

LAM and LFG

Our largest Asset Management subsidiaries are Haksset Management LLC and its subsidiaries (“LAMAjth offices in New York, San
Francisco, Boston, Chicago, Toronto, Montreal, LamdMilan, Frankfurt, Hamburg, Tokyo, Hong Kong,d8gy, Seoul and Bahrain (aggregating
approximately $116.5 billion in total AUM as of Damber 31, 2009), and Lazard Freres Gestion SASG~)Fwith offices in Paris and Brussels
(aggregating approximately $12.2 billion in totdUK as of December 31, 2009). These operations, 5@themployees as of December 31, 2009,
provide our business with both a global presencezalocal identity.

Primary distinguishing features of these operationkide:

« aglobal footprint with global research, global rdates and global clients,

e abroad-based team of approximately 235 investmeriéssionals at December 31, 2009: LAM had appnaxtly 200 investment

professionals, including approximately 80 focuseehouse, investment analysts across all produddspéatforms, many of whom have
substantial industry or sector specific experiis®] LFG had approximately 35 investment profess&iacluding research analys

e asecurity selection-based investment philosopipyiegh across products, and

¢ world-wide brand recognition and multi-channel disition capabilities.

Our Investment Philosophy, Process and Researd@ur investment philosophy is generally baseohua fundamental security selection appn
to investing. Across many of our products, we appige key principles to investment portfolios:

e select securities, not markets,
+ evaluate the trade-off between returns and valoatiand

¢ manage risk.
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In searching for equity investment opportunitiesy of our investment professionals follow an irteent process that incorporates several
interconnected components that may include:

» analytical framework analysis and screening,

e accounting validation,

» fundamental analysis,

e security selection and portfolio construction, and

» risk management.

At LAM, we conduct investment research on a gldizis to develop market, industry and company fipéesights. Approximately 80
investment analysts, located in our worldwide @ficconduct research and evaluate investment apyities around the world, and across all products
and platforms. The LAM global analysts are orgasiiaeound six global industry sectors:

e consumer goods,
» financial services,
¢ health care,

* industrials,

e power, and

» technology, media and telecommunications.
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Investment Strategies Our Asset Management business provides edixgd income, cash management and alternativestnuent strategies to

our clients, paying close attention to our cliem&rying and expanding investment needs. We dffefdllowing product platform of investment

strategies:

Equities

Fixed Income and Cast
Management

Alternative

Global
Global
Large Capitalization
Small Capitalization
Emerging Markets
Thematic
Convertibles*
Listed Infrastructure
Quantitative

EAFE (Non-U.S.)
Large Capitalization
Small Capitalization
Multi-Capitalization
Quantitative

Global Ex

Global Ex-U.K.
Global Ex-Japan
Global BE>-Australia
Global

Core Fixed Income
High Yield

Short Duration

Global
Fund of Hedge Funds

Fund of Closed-End Funds

(Long and Long/Short)
Convertible
Arbitrage/Relative Valu

Regional
Pan-European

Large Capitalization
Small Capitalization
Quantitative

Eurozone
Large Capitalization**
Small Capitalization**

Continental European
Small Cap

Multi Cap

Eurozone {.e ., Euro Bloc)
Eurc-Trend (Thematic

Pan-European

Core Fixed Income
High Yield

Cash Management*
Duration Overlay

Eurozone

Fixed Income**
Cash Management*
Corporate Bonds*

Regional
European Explorer
(Long/Short)
Emerging Income
Japan (Long/Short)

Domestic
uU.S.
Large Capitalization**
Mid Capitalization
Small/Mid Capitalization
Multi-Capitalization

Other

U.K. (Large Capitalization)
U.K. (Small Capitalization)
U.K. Quantitative

Australia

France (Large Capitalization)*
France (Small Capitalization)*
Japan**

Korea

u.s.

Core Fixed Income
High Yield

Short Duration
Municipals

Cash Management*

Non-U.S.
U.K. Fixed Income

All of the above strategies are offered by LAM, epcfor those denoted by *, which are offered esiglely by LFG. Investment strategies offered by
both LAM and LFG are denoted by **.

In addition to the primary investment strategisgelil above, we also provide locally customizedstment solutions to our clients. In many cases,
we also offer both diversified and more concentratersions of our products. These products arergyeffered on a separate account basis, asasell
through pooled vehicles.

Distribution. We distribute our products through a broadyaof marketing channels on a global basis. LAM&rketing, sales and client
service efforts are organized through a global mtadlelivery and service network, with distributiprofessionals located in cities including New York,
San Francisco, London, Milan, Frankfurt, Hamburgkyo, Sydney, Hong Kong, Bahrain and Seoul. We ltexeloped a well-established presence in
the institutional asset management arena, managimeey for corporations, labor unions and publicgi@mfunds around the world. In addition, we
manage assets for insurance companies, savingsushéanks, endowments, foundations and charities.

We also have become a leading firm in third-paitgribution, managing mutual funds and separateypaged accounts for many of the world’s
largest broker-dealers, insurance companies, srgistadvisors and other financial intermediarieshé area of wealth management, we cater to family
offices and private clients.
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LFG markets and distributes its products througls@#s professionals based in France who direatiyet both individual and institutional
investors.

In June 2009, the Company formed a new wealth menegt subsidiary, Lazard Wealth Management LLC Zdrd Wealth Management”). We
expect that Lazard Wealth Management, which hagetatommenced operations, will provide customimegstment management and financial
planning services to high net worth investors mthS. Lazard Wealth Management expects to work initestors to construct, implement and monitor
an asset allocation strategy designed to meentheidual client’s investment objectives, integnatitax planning, estate planning, philanthropieriests
and legacy planning with investment and risk manegge services. Prior to the launch of this businessregistered Lazard Wealth Management as an
investment adviser with the United States Securiied Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). As of Decan®i, 2009, Lazard Wealth Management had
8 employees.

Strategy

Our strategic plan in our Asset Management busiisetgsfocus on delivering superior investment parfance and client service and broadening
our product offerings and distribution in selecéedas in order to continue to drive improved bussmesults. Over the past several years, in antédfo
improve LAM’s operations and expand our businesshave:

» focused on enhancing our investment performance,

» improved our investment management platform by ragidinumber of senior investment professionaldydieg portfolio managers and
analysts)

» continued to strengthen our marketing and consutedations capabilities,
* expanded our product platform, and

» continued to expand LAM'’s geographic reach, inahgdihrough opening offices in Hong Kong and Bahrain

We believe that our Asset Management businessongsnhaintained an outstanding team of portfolio aggns and global research analysts. We
intend to maintain and supplement our intellectizgdital to achieve our goals. We routinely reaseesstrategic position and may in the future seek
acquisitions or other transactions, including tppartunistic hiring of new employees, in orderuatfier enhance our competitive position. We also
believe that our specific investment strategiesbal reach, unique brand identity and access toipfeibistribution channels may allow us to expand
into new investment products, strategies and gebdggdocations. In addition, we plan to expand participation in alternative investment activities
through investments in new and successor fundsasndonsidering expanding the services we offéigh-net worth individuals, through organic
growth, acquisitions or otherwise.

Alternative Investments

Lazard has a long history of making investment$ g own capital, often alongside capital of dfiedi institutional and individual investors.
These activities typically are organized in funioisttmake substantial or controlling investmentgrimate or public companies, generally through
privately negotiated transactions and with a viewlivestment within two to seven years. While ptadly risky and frequently illiquid, such
investments, when successful, can yield investabstantial returns on capital and generate atiractianagement and performance fees for the sponsol
of such funds.

As a part of the separation in 2005, we transfetodd=CM Holdings all of our alternative investmexttivities at that time, except for Fonds
Partenaires Gestion SA (“FPG”), our private eqbitginess in France, which, until September 30, 28@3 a subsidiary of our Paris-based banking
affiliate, Lazard Fréres Banque SA (“LFB”). We atsansferred to LFCM Holdings certain principal @stments by Lazard Group in the funds

9
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managed by the separated businesses. EffectiverSiegt 30, 2009, the Company sold FPG to a fund geanant company forming part of a group that
manages investment companies and funds, in somvkioh Lazard could earn carried interests. The mgagedirectors and staff conducting this activity
were accordingly transferred to the buyer. The sblePG did not have a material impact on our fgiahcondition or results of operations.

LFCM Holdings operates the alternative investmersifess (including private equity activities) triemeed to it in the separation. Consistent with
our intent to support the development of the alitwe investment business, including investing @din funds managed or formed by Lazard
Alternative Investments Holdings LLC (“LAI"), a saldiary of LFCM Holdings, and in order to benefibiin what we believe to be the potential of this
business, we are entitled to receive from LFCM Ftad all or a portion of the payments from the moee distributions attributable to these fundst(ne
of compensation payable to investment professionhats manage these funds) pursuant to the busitiessca agreement between us and LFCM
Holdings. In addition, pursuant to the businesaiatle agreement, we retained an option to acquéré&lbrth American and European the fund
management activities of LAl and have the righpasticipate in the oversight of LFCM Holdingsinds and consent to certain actions. On Decenthy
2009, Lazard Group exercised its option to acaieeEuropean fund management activities of LAI. Téraaining option to purchase the North
American fund management activities is currentlgreisable at any time prior to May 10, 2014 (se¢eN® of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements). We will continue to abide by our dddiigns with respect to transferred funds. From timéme, we have considered exercising the option
with respect to the remaining activities in Nortmérica and have had preliminary conversations iMt8M Holdings in that regard.

Since 2005, consistent with our obligations to LFEkIdings, we have engaged in a number of altereativestments and private equity
activities. During 2008, we formed a strategic parship with Apollo Management, L.P. (“Apollo”), affiliate of Apollo Global Management, LLC, a
leading global alternative asset manager, for peieguity investments in Europe. In addition, ilbifery 2009 the business alliance agreement was
amended to remove certain restrictions on the Cosnpagaging in private equity businesses in NomteAica and to reduce the price of our option to
acquire the fund management activities of LAl inrticAmerica. We continue to explore and discussoopiities to expand the scope of our alternative
investment and private equity activities in Europpe, U.S. and elsewhere. These opportunities doaldde internal growth of new funds and direct
investments by us, partnerships or strategic miatiips, investments with third parties or acquaisg of existing funds or management companies. In
that regard, on July 15, 2009, the Company estadlisg private equity business with The EdgewatadB{*Edgewater”), a Chicago-based private
equity firm, through the acquisition of Edgewatarianagement vehicles. The acquisition was strudtasea purchase by Lazard of interests in a holding
company that owns interests in the general pagnémanagement company entities of the current\iage private equity funds (the “Edgewater
Acquisition”) (see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidakeédancial Statements). As of December 31, 2009eR@der, with 18 employees, had approximately
$600 million of AUM and unfunded fee-earning conmménts. Also, consistent with our obligations to INFEloldings, we may explore discrete capital
markets opportunities. See Notes 10 and 15 of Not€onsolidated Financial Statements for addifianfarmation regarding alternative investments,
including recent developments with respect to Caf@Partners Il Limited.

On October 2, 2007, Lazard Funding Limited LLC (Zaad Funding”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Laz&tbup, formed a special purpose
acquisition company, Sapphire Industrials Corpaffghire”), for the purpose of effecting a mergapital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock
purchase, reorganization or similar business coattain with one or more operating businesses waah24 month period (collectively referred to as the
“Initial Business Combination”). In connection withe formation of Sapphire, Lazard Funding purctaggproximately 15.1 million founders’ units
(“Founders’ Units”) at a total cost of approximat&0.1 million. Each Founders’ Unit consisted oeéahare of Sapphire common stock and one warrant
to purchase one share of Sapphire common stocla@uary 24, 2008, Sapphire completed an initialipwiffering (the “Sapphire IPO”), which, prior
to offering costs, raised $800 million through Hade of 80 million units at an offering price ofGQ0 per unit. On January 24, 2008, in connectidh w
the Sapphire IPO, Lazard Funding purchased (i)IBomiunits in the Sapphire IPO at a purchase peigeal to the public offering price of $10.00 per
unit (for an aggregate purchase price of $50.0ani)| and (ii) an aggregate of 12.5 million warsafrom Sapphire at a
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price of $1.00 per warrant (for a total purchasegpof $12.5 million). Net proceeds from the SapphiPO were placed in a trust account by Sapphire
(the “Trust Account”) pending consummation of théial Business Combination.

On January 6, 2010, Sapphire announced that ihbadompleted the Initial Business Combination #mebuld dissolve and distribute the funds
in the Trust Account to all its public shareholdéosthe extent they are holders of shares issuétki Sapphire IPO, in proportion to their respecti
equity interests. Pursuant to such dissolutionJamuary 26, 2010 Sapphire distributed an initisiridiution equivalent to approximately $10.06 pears
of Sapphire common stock. All Sapphire warrantsrexpwithout value. During the fourth quarter of0®) the Company wrote-off its $13 million
investment in Sapphire warrants, with such writebeiing recorded in “revenue-other” in the acconyag Consolidated Statement of Operations. See
Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemfar additional information regarding Sapphire &ne Sapphire IPC

CWC operates our private equity business in Ausirahd, as of December 31, 2009, it had 8 empkged approximately $200 million of
private equity AUM.

Employees

We believe that our people are our most importaséta and it is their reputation, talent, integaitd dedication that underpin our success. As of
December 31, 2009, we employed 2,294 people, whidhded 150 managing directors and 681 other geddmals in our Financial Advisory segment
and 56 managing directors and 299 other profesisiamaur Asset Management segment. We strive totaia a work environment that fosters
professionalism, excellence, diversity and coopemeamong our employees worldwide. We generalljzatian evaluation process at the end of each
year to measure performance, determine compensatibprovide guidance on opportunities for impropedormance. Generally, our employees are
not subject to any collective bargaining agreemeatsept that our employees in certain of our Eeappoffices, including France and Italy, are cogere
by national, industry-wide collective bargainingegments. We believe that we have good relatiotts auir employees.

Competition

The financial services industry, and all of theibasses in which we compete, are intensely connestiind we expect them to remain so. Our
competitors are other investment banking and firsdmelvisory firms, broker-dealers, commercial dmdiversal” banks, insurance companies,
investment management firms, hedge fund manageifinest alternative investment firms and other fio@h institutions. We compete with some of our
competitors globally and with others on a regiopabduct or niche basis. We compete on the basasnoimber of factors, including quality of people,
transaction execution skills, investment track rdgquality of client service, individual and irtstional client relationships, absence of conflictési\ge
of products and services, innovation, brand red@@niand business reputation.

While our competitors vary by country in our Mergi@and Acquisitions practice, we believe our primamynpetitors in securing M&A advisory
engagements are Bank of America, Citigroup, Cr&disse, Deutsche Bank AG, Goldman Sachs & Co., 3§AhoChase, Mediobanca, Morgan Stanley,
Rothschild and UBS. In our Restructuring practimér, primary competitors are The Blackstone GrowgrEore Partners, Greenhill & Co. and
Rothschild.

We believe that our primary global competitors im Asset Management business include, in the dasAM, Alliance Bernstein, AMVESCAP,
Brandes Investment Partners, Capital Managemenese&ch, Fidelity, Lord Abbett, Aberdeen and Scarednd, in the case of LFG, Swiss private
banks with offices in France as well as large instnal banks and fund managers. We face competiiti private equity both in the pursuit of outside
investors for our private equity funds and the &itjan of investments in attractive portfolio coampes. We compete with hundreds of other funds,
many of which are subsidiaries of or otherwiseliatéd with large financial service providers.
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Competition is also intense in each of our busiee$ar the attraction and retention of qualifiedoéogees, and we compete on the level and ni
of compensation and equity-based incentives fordmployees. Our ability to continue to competeafiely in our businesses will depend upon our
ability to attract new employees and retain andivate our existing employees.

In recent years there has been substantial coasiolidand convergence among companies in the fialservices industry. In particular, a num
of large commercial banks, insurance companie#mel broad-based financial services firms havabdished or acquired broker-dealers or have
merged with other financial institutions. This tdewas amplified in connection with the unprecedemtisruption and volatility in the financial market
during the past several years, and, as a resoltmdoer of financial services companies have meigeel acquired or have fundamentally changed their
respective business models, including, in certages, becoming commercial banks. Many of thesesfirave the ability to offer a wider range of
products than we offer, including loans, depodiirtg, insurance and brokerage services. Many dfetliems also offer more extensive asset
management and investment banking services, whiaghenhance their competitive position. They alseetthe ability to support investment banking
and securities products with commercial bankingyuiance and other financial services revenue igffant to gain market share, which could result in
pricing pressure in our businesses. This trend tdwansolidation and convergence has significanttyeased the capital base and geographic reach of
our competitors, and, in certain instances, hawa@éd them access to government funds.

Regulation

Our businesses, as well as the financial servitdissiry generally, are subject to extensive reguiahroughout the world. As a matter of public
policy, regulatory bodies are charged with safedingrthe integrity of the securities and other ficial markets and with protecting the interests of
customers participating in those markets, not pwititecting the interests of our stockholders oditoes. Many of our affiliates that participate in
securities markets are subject to comprehensiudaggns that include some form of capital struettegulations and customer protection rules. In the
U.S., certain of our subsidiaries are subject thsegulations promulgated by the SEC or Finaro@dlistry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) (formerly
the NASD). Standards, requirements and rules im@fted throughout the European Union are broadlypawable in scope and purpose to the
regulatory capital and customer protection requéets imposed under the SEC and FINRA rules. Europkdon directives also permit local regulat
in each jurisdiction, including those in which weeoate, to be more restrictive than the requiremehsuch European Union-wide directives. These
sometimes burdensome local requirements can liestdtrtain competitive disadvantages to us.

In the U.S., the SEC is the federal agency respts8ir the administration of the federal secusitivs. FINRA is a voluntary, self-regulatory
body composed of members, such as our broker-deasidiaries, that have agreed to abide by FINRAEss and regulations. The SEC, FINRA and
non-U.S. regulatory organizations may examine tiwities of, and may expel, fine and otherwisecifiSne us and our employees. The laws, rules and
regulations comprising this framework of regulateord the interpretation and enforcement of exidiings, rules and regulations are constantly
changing, particularly in light of the extraordigatisruption and volatility in the global financiadarkets experienced in the last year. The effeahy
such changes cannot be predicted and may impaotdheer of operation and profitability of our compa

Our principal U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary, Lazérdres & Co. LLC (“LFNY™), through which we condumost of our U.S. Financial Advisory
business, is currently registered as a broker-deatk the SEC and FINRA, and as a broker-dealalliBO U.S. states, the District of Columbia and
Puerto Rico. As such, LFNY is subject to regulatigoverning effectively every aspect of the semgibusiness, including minimum capital
requirements, record-keeping and reporting proasjuelationships with customers, experience aidirg requirements for certain employees, and
business procedures with firms that are not memdfecsrtain regulatory bodies. Lazard Asset Manag@r$ecurities LLC, a subsidiary of LAM, alsc
registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and RIERd in all 50 U.S. states, the District of Coluenand Puerto Rico. Lazard Middle Market LLC, a
subsidiary of GAHL, is registered as a broker-dewafith the SEC and FINRA, and as a broker-dealesaimous U.S. states and territories.
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Certain U.K. subsidiaries of Lazard Group, inclgllrazard & Co., Limited, Lazard Fund Managers Lediend Lazard Asset Management
Limited, which we refer to in this Annual Report Borm 10-K (this “Form 10-K”) as the “U.K. subsidies,” are regulated by the Financial Services
Authority. We also have other subsidiaries thatragéstered as broker-dealers (or have similar d8rregistration in various jurisdictions).

Compagnie Financiére Lazard Freres SAS (“CFLF"},nench subsidiary through which non-corporatariice advisory activities are carried out
in France, is subject to regulation by the Commis@ancaire and the Comité des Etablissements élgit@t des Entreprises d’Investissement for its
banking activities conducted through its subsidiafB. In addition, the investment services aciégtof the Paris group, exercised through LFB and
other subsidiaries of CFLF, primarily LFG (assetnagement), are subject to regulation and supervigyothe Autorité des Marchés Financiers. Our
business is also subject to regulation by non-goSernmental and regulatory bodies and self-regojfatuthorities in other countries where we operate

Our U.S. broker-dealer subsidiaries, including LEMYe subject to the SEC’s uniform net capital rRele 15¢3-1 under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), dradrtet capital rules of FINRA, which may limit catvility to make withdrawals of capital from our
broker-dealer subsidiaries. The uniform net capiikd sets the minimum level of net capital a brettealer must maintain and also requires that a
portion of its assets be relatively liquid. FINRAaynprohibit a member firm from expanding its busier paying cash dividends if it would result &t n
capital falling below FINRA'’s requirements. In atidih, our broker-dealer subsidiaries are subjecettain notification requirements related to
withdrawals of excess net capital. Our broker-desibsidiaries are also subject to regulationduding the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, which impose
obligations regarding the prevention and deteatiomoney- laundering activities, including the déithment of customer due diligence and other
compliance policies and procedures. Failure to dgmjih these requirements may result in moneteggulatory and, in certain cases, criminal
penalties.

Certain of our Asset Management subsidiaries ajistered as investment advisors with the SEC. gstered investment advisors, each is su
to the requirements of the Investment Advisersaat the SEC’s regulations thereunder. Such reqeinésirelate to, among other things, the
relationship between an advisor and its advisagnts, as well as general anti-fraud prohibitido&M serves as an advisor to several mutual funds
which are registered under the Investment Compasty Fhe Investment Company Act regulates, amongrdtiings, the relationship between a mutual
fund and its investment advisor (and other serpiciders) and prohibits or severely restricts gipal transactions between an advisor and its adyis
clients, imposes recor#teeping and reporting requirements, disclosureirements, limitations on trades where a single eralcts as the agent for b
the buyer and seller (known as “agency cross”),lemidations on affiliated transactions and joirdrisactions. Lazard Asset Management Securities
LLC, a subsidiary of LAM, serves as the underwridedistributor for mutual funds and hedge fundsaged by LAM, and as an introducing broker to
Lazard Capital Markets LLC for unmanaged accouhtsAd’s private clients.

In addition, the Japanese Ministry of Finance dredRinancial Supervisory Agency, the Korean FinalnBupervisory Commission, as well as
Australian and German banking authorities, amoherst regulate various of our operating entitia$ @iso have capital standards and other
requirements comparable to the rules of the SEC.

Regulators are empowered to conduct administrgtiveeedings that can result in censure, fine,dbaance of cease-and-desist orders or the
suspension or expulsion or other disciplining dfeker-dealer or its directors, officers or emplege

Lazard Ltd is currently subject to supervision bg SEC as a Supervised Investment Bank Holding @asn'SIBHC"). As a SIBHC, Lazard Lt
is subject to group-wide supervision, which regsiitdo compute allowable capital and risk allowesion a consolidated basis. We believe that Lazard
Ltd is the only institution currently subject topgrvision by the SEC as a SIBHC. We are in disonsswith the SEC and other authorities regardieg th
scope and nature of Lazard Ltd's reporting andrathdigations under the SIBHC program.
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On December 11, 2009, the U.S. House of Represardgiassed The Wall Street Reform and Consuméedlian Act of 2009 (the “2009 Act”).
The 2009 Act is currently pending in the U.S. Sen¥fe are not able to predict what action or chanigany, will result from the Senagetonsideratio
of the 2009 Act. We currently are in the processxamining the potential impact of the 2009 Actusrand the SIBHC program, but, given the
uncertainty of possible changes to the 2009 Actareenot able to predict the ultimate effect orand the SIBHC program.

Over the last several years, global financial miarkave experienced extraordinary disruption ardtiity. As a result, certain financial
institutions around the world have failed and ogheaive been forced to seek acquisition partners UL8. and other governments have taken
unprecedented steps to try to stabilize the firarsgistem, including investing in financial institns. It is possible that the U.S. and other goreants
may take further actions in response to this sitnatncluding expanding current or enacting neandards, requirements and rules that may be
applicable to us and our subsidiaries. The efféang such expanded or new standards, requirenaedtsules is uncertain and could have adverse
consequences to our business and results of opesati

On October 3, 2008, the Emergency Economic Stalitim Act of 2008 was signed into law, pursuanwtach the U.S. Secretary of the Treasury
established the Troubled Asset Relief Program (“PARn order to purchase certain troubled assets fqualifying financial institutions and to make
capital investments in such financial institutiovdée have neither sought nor received, and haveurrertt intention of seeking, any funds pursuant to
TARP, whether under the Capital Purchase PrograenT argeted Investment Program or otherwise.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Set forth below are the name, age, present titiecipal occupation and certain biographical infatian for each of our executive officers as of
February 22, 2010, all of whom have been appoibjednd serve at the pleasure of, our board otttirs.

Kenneth M. Jacobs, 51

Mr. Jacobs has served as Chairman and Chief ExedOffficer of Lazard Ltd and Lazard Group LLC sidevember 2009. Mr. Jacobs served as
a Managing Director of Lazard since 1991 and hashlzedeputy chairman of Lazard from January 20@2 Navember 2009. He has also served as
Chief Executive Officer of Lazard North Americasin2002. Mr. Jacobs initially joined Lazard in 1988. Jacobs is a member of the Board of Trus
of the University of Chicago and the Brookings itsion.

Michael J. Castellano, 63

Mr. Castellano has served as Chief Financial Offiddazard Ltd since May 2005. Mr. Castellano kas/ed as a Managing Director and Chief
Financial Officer of Lazard Group since August 20Bfior to joining Lazard, Mr. Castellano held war$ senior management positions at Merrill
Lynch & Co. from August 1991 to August 2001, indhgl Senior Vice President—Chief Control Officer Merrill Lynch’s capital markets businesses,
Chairman of Merrill Lynch International Bank andng® Vice President—Corporate Controller. Priojdiming Merrill Lynch & Co., Mr. Castellano
was a partner with Deloitte & Touche where he sgv@umber of investment banking clients over therge of his 24 years with the firm.

Scott D. Hoffman, 47

Mr. Hoffman has served as General Counsel of Lakztttédince May 2005. Mr. Hoffman has served as add@ng Director of Lazard Group sir
January 1999 and General Counsel of Lazard Growe sianuary 2001. Mr. Hoffman previously servetfias President and Assistant General Cou
from February 1994 to
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December 1997 and as a Director from January 1®@8&tember 1998. Prior to joining Lazard, Mr. Hodfimwas an attorney at Cravath, Swaine &
Moore LLP.

Alexander F. Stern, 43

Mr. Stern has served as Chief Operating Officdra#fard Ltd and Lazard Group LLC since November 20608has served as a Managing Dire
since January 2002 and as the Firm’s Global He&trategy since February 2006. Mr. Stern previosslyed as a Vice President in Lazard’s Financial
Advisory business from January 1998 to Decembe®20@ as a Director from January 2001 to Decem@@t 2Mr. Stern initially joined Lazard in
1994 and previously held various positions withrieaf & Co. Ventures and IBM.

Charles G. Ward, lll, 57

Mr. Ward has served as President of Lazard LtdGmairman of the Asset Management Group of Lazaddslriice May 2005. Mr. Ward has
served as President and a Managing Director ofrida@aoup since February 2002. Prior to joining lrdzde was variously the Head or Co-Head of
Global Investment Banking and Private Equity of dr&uisse First Boston, or “CSFB,” from Februa®p4 to February 2002. Mr. Ward also served as
a member of the Executive Board of CSFB from Felyr1894 to February 2002 and as President of C$&8 April 2000 to November 2000. Prior to
joining CSFB, Mr. Ward c-founded Wasserstein Perella Group Inc. in Febrt888 and served as President of Wasserstein #&r€b. from January
1990 to February 1994. Prior to serving at Wassgrfterella & Co., Mr. Ward was Co-Head of Mergarnd Acquisitions and the Media Group at The
First Boston Corporation where he worked from 1ifly9 to February 1988. Mr. Ward served on the bo&directors of Sapphire Industrials Corp.
until January 2010.

Where You Can Find Additional Information

Lazard Ltd files current, annual and quarterly rep@roxy statements and other information requing the Exchange Act, with the SEC. You
may read and copy any document the company fildseaBSEC’s public reference room located at 10@&r&e$ N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, U.S.A.
Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for furttfarimation on the public reference room. The Comyfm8EC filings are also available to the public
from the SEC's internet site http://www.sec.govCopies of these reports, proxy statements and atf@mation can also be inspected at the offides o
the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., 20 Broad Stridety York, New York 10005, U.S.A.

Our public internet site isttp://www.lazard.comand the investor relations SEC filings section af public internet site is located at
http://www.lazard.com/InvestorRelations/SEC-Filirrgpx.We will make available free of charge, on or throtige investor relations section of our
internet site, our annual reports on Form 10-K rtguly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports omfr8¢K, proxy statements and Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed
on behalf of directors and executive officers ang amendments to those reports filed or furnishadymnt to the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such matewith, or furnish it to, the SEC. Also posted amr website, and available in print upon requésiny
shareholder to the Investor Relations Departmeatcharters for the Company’s Audit Committee, Cengation Committee and Nominating &
Governance Committee. Copies of these charterean@orporate Governance Guidelines and Code oihBss Conduct and Ethics governing our
directors, officers and employees are also posteauo website in the “Corporate Governance” section

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risksdaall of the other information set forth in thisrfn 10-K, including our consolidated financial
statements and related notes. The risk factof®ghtbelow primarily relate to the business of aaz Group. These risks also affect Lazard Ltd bseau
Lazard Ltd has no material assets as of Decemhe&2(8P other than indirect ownership of approxinyafé.5% of the common membership interests in
Lazard Group and its controlling interest in Laz&mbup. The following risks comprise material rigksvhich we are aware. If any of the events or
developments described below actually occurredbogimess, financial condition or results of operat would likely suffer.
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Risks Relating to the Financial Services Industry ad Financial Markets

The U.S. and global capital markets and the econongenerally have experienced significant deterioradin and volatility over the past
several years, which has had negative repercussioos the global economy and, as a result, could prest new challenges for our business.

Commencing in 2007 and continuing through 200%ade/adverse financial developments have impadted)tS. and global capital markets.
These developments include a general slowing afi@odic growth both in the U.S. and globally, substdvolatility in equity securities markets, and
volatility and tightening of liquidity in credit nmiets. In addition, concerns over increasing uneympkent levels, declining business and consumer
confidence, volatile energy costs, geopoliticaliéssand a declining real estate market in the &h8.elsewhere have contributed to increased \itfatil
and diminished expectations for the economy andhrthikets going forward. In some cases, the glodygikal markets have produced downward pres
on stock prices and credit capacity for certaingss without regard to those issuers’ underlyingiicial strength. If current levels of market djtion
and volatility continue or worsen, our business roagtinue to be adversely affected, which may hewgaterial impact on our business and results of
operations.

Current disruption and volatility in global financi al markets might continue and governments may takérther measures to intervene.

Over the last several years, global financial markave experienced extraordinary disruption andtiity. As a result, certain financial
institutions around the world have failed and ogheaive been forced to seek acquisition partners UL8. and other governments have taken
unprecedented steps to try to stabilize the firarsgistem, including investing in financial instians. The overall effects of these and other lagise
and regulatory initiatives on the financial markistsincertain, and they may not have the intentiuilzation effects. Should these or other legista
or regulatory initiatives fail to stabilize and alitguidity to the financial markets or have othewvarse consequences, our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

The soundness of our clients and other financial 8titutions could adversely affect us.

We have exposure to many different industries, pctsland counterparties, and we routinely execatesactions with counterparties in the
financial services industry, including brokers aleélers, commercial banks, investment banks, manhedge funds, and other institutional clients.
Many of these transactions expose us to creditimiske event of default of our counterparty oenti In addition, our credit risk may be exacerbate
when the collateral held by us cannot be fullyireal or is liquidated at prices not sufficient ézover the full amount of the loan or derivativpesure
due us.

Our share price may decline due to the large numbenf our common shares eligible for future sale antbr exchange.

As of February 19, 2010, we estimate that a latgaber of our shares of common stock may becomésdneifor sale during the 2010 fiscal ye
including approximately 23.0 million shares corisigtof (i) approximately 18.7 million shares thatlwecome available for issuance in exchange for
the exchangeable interests of LAZ-MD Holdings LLaD Eentity owned by Lazard Group’s current and farmanaging directors) (“LAZ-MD
Holdings”) of which approximately 3.3 million sharare held by the Estate of Bruce Wassersteinf¢oorer Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
and related trusts and (ii) approximately 4.3 miilshares underlying the restricted stock unitsS(UR") granted pursuant to our 2005 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “2005 Plan”) and our 2008 Incentive Congation Plan (the “2008 Plan”) expected to vesigipally in March 2010, including shares
underlying RSUs held by certain of our retiremdigiiele employees. In addition, other shares thayiecome, or currently are, available for sale
during the 2010 fiscal year, include (i) approxigiai8.3 million shares that are concurrently isseidétv exchange for LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable
interests, but have not yet been exchanged (oftwdgdproximately 6.6 million shares are issuablinéoEstate of Bruce Wasserstein and related trusts)
(i) up to approximately 2.2 million shares prevébuissued in exchange for LAZ-MD Holdings exchaalgle interests that may not have all been sold
and (iii) approximately 1.8 million shares of ownemon stock which are held by the Estate of Brues$#rstein and related trusts.
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LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable interests are effesliiexchangeable into our common stock, and thenetifat common stock will become
available for sale in significant numbers. Fromdita time, we expect to register the shares reddiyehe members of LAZ-MD Holdings pursuant to
the exchange of LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable irderdor resale by such members. Persons exchatiging AZ-MD Holdings exchangeable
interests are likely to sell all or a portion oéthcommon stock promptly after exchange to provVigieidity, to cover any taxes that may be payalgen
such exchange or to diversify their portfolios.

As of December 31, 2009, our authorized and unishares of common stock include (i) approximasdlyp million shares of our common stock
underlying the outstanding LAZ-MD Holdings exchaalgke membership interests, (ii) approximately 28idion and approximately 103 thousand
shares of our common stock underlying the RSUsdaferred stock units (“DSUS”), respectively, thatvé been granted pursuant to our 2005 Plan and
our 2008 Plan, (iii) approximately 2.6 million sharof our common stock issuable or otherwise delhle upon conversion of our outstanding $150
million subordinated convertible note, and (iv) eppmately 2.2 million shares of our common stochttare issuable in connection with the LAM
Merger (the “LAM Merger”) éee Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tatgs). In addition, the following shares are isdeign connection witl
the acquisitions of CWC, GAHL and Edgewater: (Apapximately 662 thousand shares of our common dtwenkare issuable on a nopntingent basi
(B) shares of our common stock that are issualda tipe noncontingent conversion of approximatetiyoisand shares of our Series A preferred stock,
with the number of shares of our common stock deéeet; in part, upon future prices of our commorelst¢C) approximately 949 thousand shares of
our common stock that are contingently issuableappioximately 20 thousand shares of our Seriesefeped stock that are contingently convertible
into shares of our common stock, with the numbesuzh shares of our common stock dependent updutilne performance of GAHL and CWC and
(D) up to approximately 1.1 million shares of oomamon stock issuable in connection with the Edgematquisition, which shares will be issued and
paid only if certain performance thresholds for tiest two Edgewater funds are met.

We cannot predict whether, when and how many otoormon shares will be sold into the market anceffext, if any, that the possibility of
market sales of shares of our common stock, theabsale of such shares or the availability of ssitdres will have on the market price of our common
stock or our ability to raise capital through tesuance of equity securities from time to time.

Other Business Risks

Our ability to retain our managing directors and other key professional employees is critical to theuscess of our business, includin
maintaining compensation levels at an appropriatedvel of costs, and failure to do so may materiallgdversely affect our results of operations
and financial position.

Our people are our most important resource. We netisin the services of our managing directors@hdr key professional employees, and
strategically recruit and hire new talented empésydo obtain and successfully execute the advesodyasset management engagements that generate
substantially all our revenue.

Lazard Group has experienced several significaghvin recent years, including our transformatiom a private to a public company. In
general, our industry continues to experience chamgl exerts competitive pressures for retainipgatent, which makes it more difficult for us to
retain professionals. If any of our managing divestand other key professional employees wereitoajo existing competitor, form a competing
company or otherwise leave us, some of our clieotdd choose to use the services of that competitsome other competitor instead of our services.
The employment arrangements, non-competition ageatsrand retention agreements we have or will éntemwith our managing directors and other
key professional employees may not prevent our giagadirectors and other key professional employe®s resigning from practice or competing
against us. In addition, these arrangements arebagnts have a limited duration and will expireradt certain period of time. We continue to be sct
to intense competition in the financial servicedustry regarding the recruitment and retentioneyf grofessionals, and have experienced departures
from and added to our professional ranks as atréShénges to our employee compensation arrangsirerth as
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changes to the composition between cash and defeorapensation, may result in increased compemsatid benefits expense in a particular year. Our
compensation levels, results of operations andhéiiz position may be significantly affected by mdactors, including general economic and market
conditions, our operating and financial performarstaffing levels and competitive pay conditions.

Difficult market conditions can adversely affect ou business in many ways, including by reducing theolume of the transactions involving
our Financial Advisory business and reducing the ae or performance of the assets we manage in ours8et Management business, which, in
each case, could materially reduce our revenue anéome and adversely affect our financial position.

As a financial services firm, our businesses arterialy affected by conditions in the global firgal markets and economic conditions
throughout the world. The financial environmenttie U.S. and globally has been volatile duringl#éts¢ several years and challenging market condi
have persisted. Unfavorable economic and markedittons can adversely affect our financial perfontain both the Financial Advisory and Asset
Management businesses , as demonstrated in thegyvasal years.

For example, revenue generated by our Financialsbdy business is directly related to the volumé aalue of the transactions in which we are
involved. During periods of unfavorable market ooeomic conditions, the volume and value of M&Arsactions may decrease, thereby reducing the
demand for our Financial Advisory services andeéasing price competition among financial serviaasganies seeking such engagements. Our results
of operations would be adversely affected by arhgeduction in the volume or value of M&A transans. In addition, our profitability would be
adversely affected due to our fixed costs and tssipility that we would be unable to scale badieotosts within a timeframe sufficient to offsaya
decreases in revenue relating to changes in markkeeconomic conditions. The future market and econ climate may deteriorate because of many
factors, including possible increases in interatg or inflation, terrorism or political uncertgin

Within our Financial Advisory business, we haveitgfly seen that, during periods of economic stterasnd growth, our Mergers and Acquisiti
practice historically has been more active andRestructuring practice has been less active. Cerlyerduring periods of economic weakness and
slowdown, we typically have seen that our Restmiretupractice has been more active and our MergedsAcquisitions practice has been less active
a result, our revenue from our Restructuring pcactias tended to correlate negatively to our rexémm our Mergers and Acquisitions practice over
the course of business cycles. These trends aliealyio nature and subject to periodic reversaiwdver, these trends do not cancel out the imgfact o
economic conditions in our Financial Advisory buess, which may be adversely affected by a dowrtuetonomic conditions leading to decreased
Mergers and Acquisitions practice activity, notwidinding improvements in our Restructuring pracfiéereover, revenue improvements in our Mer
and Acquisitions practice in strong economic cdodi could be offset in whole or in part by anyated revenue declines in our Restructuring practice
While we generally have experienced a counter-cgthelationship between our Mergers and Acquisgtipractice and our Restructuring practice, this
relationship may not continue in the future.

Our Asset Management business also would be expexgenerate lower revenue in a market or geme@iomic downturn. Under our Asset
Management business’ arrangements, investmentagiises we receive typically are based on the star&lue of AUM. Accordingly, a decline in the
prices of securities, such as that which occurred global basis in 2008, would be expected toeaus revenue and income to decline by:

» causing the value of our AUM to decrease, which ldreesult in lower investment advisory fees,

e causing some of our clients to withdraw funds fraun Asset Management business due to the uncer@inolatility in the market, which
would also result in lower investment advisory fe

» causing some of our clients or prospective cliémtsesitate in allocating assets to our Asset Mamaant business due to the uncertainty or
volatility in the market, which would also resuitlower investment advisory fee
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e causing negative absolute performance returnsoimesaccounts which have performance-based incefatage which would result in a
reduction of revenue from such fees

e causing some of our clients to withdraw funds fraun Asset Management business in favor of investsibiey perceive as offering greater
opportunity or lower risk, which also would resutiower investment advisory fee

If our Asset Management revenue declines withazdramensurate reduction in our expenses, our netriravill be reduced. In addition, in the
event of a market downturn, our alternative investtrand private equity practice also may be imghbtereduced exit opportunities in which to realize
the value of its investments.

A majority of our revenue is derived from Financial Advisory fees, which are not long-term contractegources of revenue and are subject
to intense competition, and declines in our Finanal Advisory engagements could have a material advee effect on our financial condition and
results of operations.

We historically have earned a substantial portibous revenue from advisory fees paid to us byKinancial Advisory clients, which fees usually
are payable upon the successful completion of #icp&ar transaction or restructuring. For examfibe the year ended December 31, 2009, Financial
Advisory services accounted for approximately 65%wwr consolidated net revenue. We expect that ileantinue to rely on Financial Advisory fees
for a substantial portion of our revenue for theef@eable future, and a decline in our advisorpgements or the market for advisory services would
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

In addition, we operate in a highly competitive eorment where typically there are no long-termtcacted sources of revenue. Each revenue-
generating engagement typically is separately ascheohd negotiated. Furthermore, many businessestdoutinely engage in transactions requiring
our services and, as a consequence, our fee peggagements with many clients are not likely teplegictable. We also lose clients each year as a
result of the sale or merger of a client, a changeclient’s senior management, competition fratreo financial advisors and financial institutioasd
other causes. As a result, our engagements wehtslare constantly changing and our Financial #atyifees could decline quickly due to the factors
discussed above.

There will not be a consistent pattern in our finarcial results from period to period, which may makaeit difficult for us to achieve steady
earnings growth on a quarterly basis.

We experience significant fluctuations in quartedyenue and profits. These fluctuations generally be attributed to the fact that we earn a
significant portion of our Financial Advisory reusnupon the successful completion of a merger guiaition transaction or a restructuring, the tignin
of which is uncertain and is not subject to ourtominin addition, our Asset Management revenuygaigicularly sensitive to fluctuations in our AUM.
Asset Management fees are often based on AUM @eeadnd of a quarter or month. As a result, a réoiuén assets at the end of a quarter or month (as
a result of market depreciation, withdrawals oreotvise) will result in a decrease in managemerd.f8amilarly, timing of flows, contributions and
withdrawals are often out of our control and mayrmmnsistent from quarter to quarter. As a restijuarterly fluctuations, it may be difficult fos to
achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis

In many cases, we are paid for advisory engagenomhfupon the successful consummation of the uyitgrmerger or acquisition transaction
restructuring. As a result, our Financial Advisbrysiness is highly dependent on market conditimaisthe decisions and actions of our clients, irsten
third parties and governmental authorities. Fomegpla, a client could delay or terminate an acdoisitransaction because of a failure to agree tipait
terms with the counterparty, failure to obtain resesy regulatory consents or board of directortarkholder approval, failure to secure necessary
financing, adverse market conditions or becauseatfyet’s business is experiencing unexpected tpgrar financial problems. Anticipated bidders for
assets of a client during a restructuring traneaatay not materialize or our client may not beeablrestructure its operations or indebtedness, fo
example, due to a failure to reach agreement wgtprincipal creditors. In

19



Table of Contents

addition, a bankruptcy court may deny our rightodiect a “success” or “completion” fee. In theg®amstances, other than in engagements where we
receive monthly retainers, we often do not recaivg advisory fees other than the reimbursemenét&in expenses despite the fact that we devote
resources to these transactions. Accordingly,dleré of one or more transactions to close eitseainticipated or at all could materially adversdfgct
our business, financial condition or results ofrapiens. For more information, see “Management’scDssion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

If the number of debt defaults, bankruptcies or otler factors affecting demand for our Restructuring ®rvices declines, or we lose business
to certain new entrants to the restructuring advisoy practice who are no longer precluded from offerng such services due to changes to the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code, our Restructuring practice’s reverue could suffer.

We provide various restructuring and restructurielgted advice to companies in financial distras® aheir creditors or other stakeholders.
Historically, the fees from restructuring relateshdces have been a significant part of our Firalnsdvisory revenue. A number of factors could effe
demand for these advisory services, including imioig general economic conditions, the availabidibd cost of debt and equity financing and changes
to laws, rules and regulations, including deregaitebr privatization of particular industries arse that protect creditors.

Section 327 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code requiras ‘ttiisinterested persons” be employed in a resiring. The definition of “disinterested
persons’has been modified. As previously in effect, certfiour competitors were disqualified from beingmoyed in restructurings as a result of tt
status as an underwriter of securities. This basidisqualification, however, no longer appliesstdrically, we were not often disqualified from
obtaining a role in a restructuring because we mdoeen a significant underwriter of securititlse change of the “disinterested persons” definitio
allows for more financial services firms to compfeterestructuring engagements and make recruéidjretaining of professionals more difficult. tfro
competitors succeed in being retained in new rektring engagements or in hiring our restructupngfessionals, our Restructuring practice, and
thereby our results of operations, could be mdtgraversely affected.

We could lose clients and suffer a decline in our gset Management revenue and earnings if the invesémts we choose in our Asset
Management business perform poorly or if we lose keemployees, regardless of overall trends in the jmes of securities.

Investment performance affects our AUM relatingexasting clients and is one of the most importaatdrs in retaining clients and competing for
new Asset Management business. Poor investmerdrpaahce could impair our revenue and growth because

* existing clients might withdraw funds from our Asd#anagement business in favor of better perfornpirgglucts, which would result in
lower investment advisory fee

» ourincentive fees, which provide us with a setpatage of returns on some alternative investmahipaivate equity funds and other
accounts, would declin

» third-party financial intermediaries, advisors onsultants may rate our products poorly, which meylt in client withdrawals and reduced
asset flows from these third parties or their ¢Beor

» firms with which we have strategic alliances mayri@ate such relationships with us, and futuretsgia alliances may be unavailable.
If key employees were to leave our Asset Managefasiness, whether to join a competitor or othezwige may suffer a decline in revenue or

earnings and suffer an adverse effect on our fi@aposition. Loss of key employees may occur dupdrceived opportunity for promotion, increased
compensation, work environment or other individiegsons, some of which may be beyond our control.
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Our investment style in our Asset Management busirgs may underperform other investment approaches, wth may result in significant
client or asset departures, or a reduction in AUM.

Even when securities prices are rising generalyfgpmance can be affected by investment style.yMdrihe equity investment strategies in our
Asset Management business share a common investmentation towards fundamental security selectitie believe this style tends to outperform
market in some market environments and underperfoimothers. In particular, a prolonged growtlvieEonment may cause certain investment
strategies to go out of favor with some clientsjisels, consultants or third-party intermediarlascombination with poor performance relative tefs
changes in personnel, extensive periods in paaticuhrket environments or other difficulties, thriay result in significant client or asset depadwea
reduction in AUM.

Because our clients can remove the assets we manageshort notice, we may experience unexpected diees in revenue and profitability.

Our investment advisory contracts are generallyitesble upon very short notice. Institutional andividual clients, and firms with which we
have strategic alliances, can terminate theiricelahip with us, reduce the aggregate amount of AdsMdhift their funds to other types of accountthwi
different rate structures for a number of reasomduding investment performance, changes in ptienpinterest rates and financial market perforneanc
Poor performance relative to other investment mamant firms tends to result in decreased investsriargur investment products, increased
redemptions of our investment products, and the dédsnstitutional or individual accounts or stigitealliances. In addition, the ability to termieat
relationships may allow clients to renegotiatelfover fees paid for asset management services.

In addition, in the U.S., as required by the Inme=tt Company Act, each of our investment advisontracts with the mutual funds we advise or
subadvise automatically terminates upon its “agaigmt.” Each of our other investment advisory catigaubject to the provisions of the Investment
Advisers Act provide, as required by the act, thatcontract may not be “assigned” without the eon®f the customer. A sale of a sufficiently large
block of shares of our voting securities or otlansactions could be deemed an “assignment” imicecircumstances. An assignment, actual or
constructive, would trigger these termination pstmis and could adversely affect our ability totgmre managing client accounts.

Access to clients through intermediaries is importat to our Asset Management business, and reductioris referrals from such
intermediaries or poor reviews of our products or air organization by such intermediaries could materally reduce our revenue and impair our
ability to attract new clients.

Our ability to market our Asset Management serviedigs in part on receiving mandates from thentliese of national and regional securities
firms, banks, insurance companies, defined corticghyplan administrators, investment consultants @ther intermediaries. To an increasing extent, ou
Asset Management business uses referrals from atanas, lawyers, financial planners and other msitsal advisors. The inability to have this access
could materially adversely affect our Asset Managenbusiness. In addition, many of these intermestiaeview and evaluate our products and our
organization. Poor reviews or evaluations of eitherparticular product or of us may result indiithdrawals or an inability to attract new asset
through such intermediaries.

Our historical investment activities involve increaed levels of investments in relatively high-riskilliquid assets, and we may lose some or
all of the principal amount that we invest in theseactivities or fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time.

We intend to expand our participation in alternatiwestment activities through investments in e successor funds, and we may exercise oul
option under the business alliance agreement betwaeard Group and LFCM Holdings to acquire theralative investment business and related
principal investments from LFCM Holdings in Northm&rica (see Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Fiaa®tatements for a description of the CP 1l
MgmtCo Spin-Off, the exercise of the option to dogthe European fund management activities of tch2dternative Investments Holdings LLC and
related transactions, including the February 20@8rament
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to the business alliance agreement to remove ne#atrictions on the Company engaging in privajgity businesses in North America). In addition,
during July 2009, the Company established a priggtéty business with Edgewater.

The revenue from this business is derived primdrdyn management fees calculated as a percentayddfand incentive fees, which are earned
if investments are profitable over a specified shiidd. Our ability to form new alternative investmé&inds is subject to a number of uncertainties,
including past performance of our funds, market@ynomic conditions, competition from other fundnagers and the ability to negotiate terms with
major investors. In addition, the payments we atéled to receive from LFCM Holdings under thentsrof the business alliance agreement in resp:
our continued involvement with LFCM Holdings aresbd on the carried interests received in connegtitnLFCM Holdings-managed funds.

In addition, we have made, and in the future malemprincipal investments in public or private cames or in alternative investments
(including private equity funds and special purpasquisition companies) established by us or by MRbIdings and continue to hold principal
investments directly or through several funds madagy LFCM Holdings. Making principal investmenggisky, and we may lose some or all of the
principal amount of our investments. Certain ofthé/pes of investments may be in relatively highk; illiquid assets. Because it may take sevgeals
before attractive alternative investment opportasiare identified, some or all of the capital catted by us to these funds is likely to be invested
government securities, other short-term, highlgdadebt securities and money market funds thaitivadlly have offered investors relatively lower
returns. In addition, these investments may besaeljiifor accounting purposes to fair value at ticea@ each quarter, and our allocable share ofsac)
gains or losses will affect our revenue, even thosigch fair value fluctuations may have no cashaithpihich could increase the volatility of our
earnings. It takes a substantial period of timiglémtify attractive alternative investment oppoiti@s, to raise all the funds needed to make aastmen
and then to realize the cash value of an investiheotigh resale. Even if an alternative investnpeaves to be profitable, it may be several years or
longer before any profits can be realized in casbtloer proceeds.

Our results of operations may be affected by markefluctuations related to positions held in our invetment portfolios.

We invest capital in corporate and non-U.S. govemmindebt securities in conjunction with the comrieggriganking activities of LFB and in
equities in order to seed LAM equity and alternafiwestment funds, and for general corporate mpapaSuch investments are subject to market
fluctuations due to changes in the market priceseotrrities, interest rates or other market facgursh as liquidity. These investments are adjufsted
accounting purposes to fair market value at theadrehch quarter regardless of our intended holgeripd and, to the extent the related gains @ess
are not reflected in “accumulated other comprehlenisicome (loss), net of tax” (“AOCI"such gains or losses will affect our revenue aedetiore ma:
increase the volatility of our earnings, even thoagch gains or losses may not be realized. Fumibrer, any unrealized lossesflected in AOCI that at
deemed other than temporary would be reclassifigdégarnings.

We face strong competition from financial serviceéirms, many of whom have the ability to offer cliets a wider range of products and
services than we can offer, which could lead to ping pressures that could materially adversely affet our revenue and profitability.

The financial services industry is intensely coriipet, and we expect it to remain so. We compet¢herbasis of a number of factors, including
the quality of our employees, transaction execuytiom products and services, innovation, reputadioah price. We have experienced intense fee
competition in some of our businesses in recentsy@ad we believe that we may experience pricineggures in these and other areas in the future as
some of our competitors seek to obtain increasattehahare by reducing fees.

We face increased competition due to a trend towangolidation. In recent years, there has beestantial consolidation and convergence
among companies in the financial services industrparticular, a number of large commercial batmksurance companies and other broad-based
financial services firms have
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established or acquired broker-dealers or have edangth other financial institutions. This trendssamplified in connection with the unprecedented
disruption and volatility in the financial marketaring the past several years and, as a resulimder of financial services companies have merged,
been acquired or have fundamentally changed thspective business models. Many of these firms tiavability to offer a wide range of products,
from loans, depositaking and insurance to brokerage, asset managemdnhvestment banking services, which may enh#reie competitive positiol
They also have the ability to support investmemtkirag, including financial advisory services, widtbmmercial banking, insurance and other financial
services in an effort to gain market share, whighla result in pricing pressure in our businesses.

An inability to access the debt and equity capitainarkets as a result of our debt obligations, creditatings or other factors could impair
our liquidity, increase our borrowing costs or othewise adversely affect our competitive position oresults of operations.

As of December 31, 2009, Lazard Group and its slidn$es had approximately $1.3 billion in debt (irding capital lease obligations)
outstanding, of which $539 million and $548 millicglate to Lazard Group senior notes that matug9itb and 2017, respectively. This debt has certain
mandated payment obligations, which may constrairability to operate our business. In additionthia future we may need to incur debt or issue
equity in order to fund our working capital requirents or refinance existing indebtedness, as \8dth anake acquisitions and other investments. The
amount of our debt obligations may impair our &pilo raise debt or issue equity for financing ppsgs. Our access to funds also may be impaired if
regulatory authorities take significant action agaius, or if we discover that any of our employlead engaged in serious unauthorized or illegal
activity. In addition, our borrowing costs and @acess to the debt capital markets depend signifycan our credit ratings. These ratings are awsig
by rating agencies, which may reduce or withdragirtratings or place us on “credit watch” with nBga implications at any time. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations.”

We may pursue acquisitions or joint ventures that ould present unforeseen integration obstacles or sts.

We routinely assess our strategic position and im#lye future seek acquisitions or other transastio further enhance our competitive position.
We have in the past pursued joint ventures and othesactions aimed at expanding the geographyenge of our operations. During 2007, we
acquired all of the outstanding ownership intere$tSAHL and CWC, we entered into a joint coopemtagreement with Raiffeisen and we entered
a shareholders agreement to acquire a 50% infarb#BA, with this transaction closing on January, 2008. During 2008, Lazard Group formed a
strategic partnership with Apollo for private equitvestments in Europe. During 2009, we estabtisherivate equity business with Edgewater. We
expect to continue to explore acquisitions andrgaiship or strategic alliance opportunities thatoekeve to be attractive.

Acquisitions and joint ventures involve a numberisks and present financial, managerial and ojmerat challenges, including potential
disruption of our ongoing business and distracibmanagement, difficulty with integrating persohaed financial and other systems, hiring additiona
management and other critical personnel and initrgalse scope, geographic diversity and complexdtgur operations. Our clients may react
unfavorably to our acquisition and joint ventunattgy, we may not realize any anticipated benéfits acquisitions, we may be exposed to additional
liabilities of any acquired business or joint vertiand we may not be able to renew on similar ¢gjon at all) previously successful joint ventuoes
similar arrangements, any of which could materiaiyersely affect our revenue and results of ofwersit

Employee misconduct could harm us by impairing oumbility to attract and retain clients and subjecting us to significant legal liability and
reputational harm, and this type of misconduct is dficult to detect and deter.

There have been a number of highly publicized casasdving fraud or other misconduct by employeeshie financial services industry generally,
and we run the risk that employee misconduct coatmir in our
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business as well. For example, misconduct by enagleyould involve the improper use or disclosureoofidential information, which could result in
regulatory sanctions and serious reputationalraritial harm. Our Financial Advisory business ofeguires that we deal with client confidences of
great significance to our clients, improper usgbich may harm our clients or our relationshipswatr clients. Any breach of our clients’ confideac

as a result of employee misconduct may impair dilityto attract and retain Financial Advisoryesits and may subject us to liability. Similarly,aar
Asset Management business, we have authority dieert @assets, and we may, from time to time, hawarly of such assets. In addition, we often have
discretion to trade client assets on the clienglsahf and must do so acting in the best interedfseoclient. As a result, we are subject to a neindf
obligations and standards, and the violation o§¢hobligations or standards may adversely affectients and us. It is difficult to deter employee
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detetpeevent this activity may not be effective ihcalses.

The financial services industry faces substantialtigation and regulatory risks, and we may face darage to our professional reputation an
legal liability if our services are not regarded asatisfactory or for other reasons.

As a financial services firm, we depend to a la¥geent on our relationships with our clients and regputation for integrity and high-caliber
professional services to attract and retain cliefi$sa result, if a client is not satisfied withragrvices, such dissatisfaction may be more damgegi
our business than to other types of businesseseder, our role as advisor to our clients on imgorM&A or restructuring transactions involves
complex analysis and the exercise of professiardgmient, including, if appropriate, rendering “fegss opinions” in connection with mergers and other
transactions.

In recent years, the volume of claims and amounianfiages claimed in litigation and regulatory peatiegs against financial advisors has been
increasing. These risks have increased as a kdghié extreme turmoil and volatility that the gédlfinancial markets generally, and financial ingtons
in particular, have experienced over the past s¢years. Our Financial Advisory activities may jgab us to the risk of significant legal actionsduyr
clients and third parties, including our clientsckholders, under securities or other laws faggdtions relating to materially false or misleading
statements made in connection with securities éimer aransactions and potential liability for tlaérfiess opinions and other advice provided to
participants in corporate transactions. In our As&@nagement business, we make investment decisiobghalf of our clients which could result in
substantial losses. This also may subject us toskef legal actions alleging negligence, misaactdbreach of fiduciary duty or breach of contract
These risks often may be difficult to assess ontjiyeand their existence and magnitude often rensaiknown for substantial periods of time. Our
engagements typically include broad indemnitiesfiaur clients and provisions designed to limit exposure to legal claims relating to our services,
but these provisions may not protect us or maypeaidhered to in all cases. We also are subjetaimms arising from disputes with employees for
alleged discrimination or harassment, among othiags. These risks often may be difficult to assesguantify, and their existence and magnitudert
remain unknown for substantial periods of time.aA®sult, we may incur significant legal expenseddfending against litigation. Substantial legal
liability or significant regulatory action against could materially adversely affect our businésancial condition or results of operations or sau
significant reputational harm to us, which couldaesly harm our business.

Other operational risks may disrupt our businesses;esult in regulatory action against us or limit ou growth.

Our business is dependent on communications andmwaftion systems, including those of our vendorsy failure or interruption of these
systems, whether caused by fire, other naturastisgpower or telecommunications failure, acteofdrism or war or otherwise, could materially
adversely affect our operating results. Althougbkbap systems are in place, our back-up procecamdsapabilities in the event of a failure or
interruption may not be adequate.

Particularly in our Asset Management business,ehetreavily on our financial, accounting, tradiegmpliance and other data processing
systems, and those of our third party vendors e providers who

24



Table of Contents

support these functions. We expect that we willdneereview whether to continue to upgrade and edhe capabilities of these systems in the futo
avoid disruption of, or constraints on, our openasi However, if any of these systems do not opgradperly or are disabled, we could suffer finahci
loss, a disruption of our businesses, liabilitglients, regulatory intervention or reputationaih@age. The inability of our systems (or those of our
vendors or service providers) to accommodate ae#&sing volume of transactions also could constraimability to expand our businesses.

Extensive regulation of our businesses limits ourdivities and results in ongoing exposure to the gential for significant penalties,
including fines or limitations on our ability to conduct our businesses.

The financial services industry is subject to egteam regulation. We are subject to regulation byagopmental and self-regulatory organizations in
the jurisdictions in which we operate around theldidViany of these regulators, including U.S. and+J.S. government agencies and self-regulatory
organizations, as well as state securities comarissn the U.S., are empowered to conduct admatiger proceedings that can result in censure, fine,
the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or therssisp or expulsion of a broker-dealer from regi#n or membership. The requirements imposed by
our regulators are designed to ensure the integfitige financial markets and to protect custonaes other third parties who deal with us and ate no
designed to protect our stockholders. Consequehidge regulations often serve to limit our adgeéit including through net capital, customer privoec
and market conduct requirements.

We face the risk of significant intervention by udagory authorities, including extended investigatand surveillance activity, adoption of costly
or restrictive new regulations and judicial or adistrative proceedings that may result in substapenalties. Among other things, we could be fined
be prohibited from engaging in some of our busirssivities. In addition, the regulatory environmh@anwhich we operate is subject to modifications
and further regulation. New laws or regulationgloanges in the enforcement of existing laws orleguns applicable to us and our clients also may
adversely affect our business, and our abilityutacfion in this environment will depend on our @bito constantly monitor and react to these change

Over the last several years, global financial markave experienced extraordinary disruption andtiity. As a result, certain financial
institutions around the world have failed and ogheave been forced to seek acquisition partneis plissible that the U.S. and other governments ma
take further actions in response to this situatinciuding expanding current or enacting new statislarequirements and rules that may be applidable
us and our subsidiaries. The effect of any suctaedpd or new standards, requirements and rulegertain and could have adverse consequences to
our business and results of operations. For exgropl®ecember 11, 2009, the U.S. House of Repratheed passed the 2009 Act. The 2009 Act is
currently pending in the U.S. Senate. We are nlat ihpredict what action or changes, if any, welult from the Senate'’consideration of the 2009 A
We currently are in the process of examining thpaot of the 2009 Act on us, but, given the uncetyadf possible changes to the 2009 Act, we are not
able to predict the ultimate effect on us.

The regulatory environment in which our clients igbe may also impact our business. For exampleyggsin antitrust laws or the enforcemer
antitrust laws could affect the level of M&A actiyiand changes in state laws may limit investmetivities of state pension plans.

For asset management businesses in general, énsrdoben a number of highly publicized cases inmgliraud or other misconduct by
employees of asset management firms, as well asstrydwide regulatory inquiries. These cases agdifies have resulted in increased scrutiny in the
industry and may result in new rules and regulatiiom mutual funds, hedge funds and their investmemnagers. This regulatory scrutiny and these
rulemaking initiatives may result in an increaseferational and compliance costs or the risk séssment of significant fines or penalties against
Asset Management business, and may otherwisedimibility to engage in certain activities.

Financial services firms are subject to numerousliots of interest or perceived conflicts. We hadopted various policies, controls and
procedures to address or limit actual or perced@dlicts and regularly
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seek to review and update our policies, controtsmcedures. However, these policies and procsduesy result in increased costs, additional
operational personnel and increased regulatory Fiahure to adhere to these policies and procedmagy result in regulatory sanctions or client
litigation.

Specific regulatory changes also may have a dinggact on the revenue of our Asset Management bssirin addition to regulatory scrutiny and
potential fines and sanctions, regulators contiouexamine different aspects of the asset managanuarstry. For example, the use of “soft dollars,”
where a portion of commissions paid to broker-desale connection with the execution of trades g@lags for research and other services provided to
advisors, is periodically reexamined and may inftiiere be limited or modified. Although a substahportion of the research relied on by our Asset
Management business in the investment decisionnggkiocess is generated internally by our investrapalysts, external research, including external
research paid for with soft dollars, is importamttie process. This external research generaliged for information gathering or verification pases,
and includes broker-provided research, as wehiagd-party provided databases and research senkoeshe year ended December 31, 2009, our Asset
Management business obtained research and othvéresethrough third-party soft dollar arrangemetiis, total cost of which we estimate to be
approximately $19 million. If the use of soft de#ids limited, we may have to bear some of thesgscin addition, new regulations regarding the
management of hedge funds and the use of certaéistiment products may impact our Asset Managemsesihess and result in increased costs. For
example, many regulators around the world adopgettictions or prohibitions on the short sellingceftain securities and requirements to reporttshor
positions and transactions. In addition, legiskimound the world are exploring regulatory charsgesadditional oversight of the financial industry
generally. The impact of these proposed changeseo@ompany are uncertain. These regulatory chaanggsther proposed or potential changes may
result in a reduction of revenue associated withAmset Management business.

See “Business—Regulation” for a further discusgibthe regulatory environment in which we conduat businesses.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates cdd reduce our stockholders’ equity and net income ronegatively impact the portfolios
of our Asset Management clients and may affect thevels of our AUM.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign curremici@ur financial statements are denominated in Ub%ars and, for the year ended Decembe
2009, we received approximately 47% of our constdid net revenue in other currencies, predominam#yros and British pounds. In addition, we
a significant amount of our expenses in such atberencies. The exchange rates of these curreveisss the U.S. dollar affects the carrying valiie o
our assets and liabilities as well as our net ineoie do not generally hedge such foreign currexchange rate exposure arising in our subsidiaries
outside of the U.S. Fluctuations in foreign curieegchange rates may also make period to periogpadasons of our results of operations difficult.

Foreign currency fluctuations also can impact thefplios of our Asset Management clients. Clieattfolios are invested in securities across the
globe, although most portfolios are in a singlesbasrrency. Foreign currency fluctuations can askgrimpact investment performance for a client’s
portfolio. In addition, foreign currency fluctuatis may affect the levels of our AUM. As our AUM Iade significant assets that are denominated in
currencies other than U.S. dollars, an increasledrvalue of the U.S. dollar relative to non-U.&rencies may result in a decrease in the dollarevaf
our AUM, which, in turn, would result in lower U.8ollar-denominated revenue in our Asset Managetesiness. While this risk may be limited by
foreign currency hedging, some risks cannot be éedgd our hedging activity may not be succesBiubr performance may result in decreased AUM,
including as a result of withdrawal of client asset a decrease in new assets being raised ieléneant product.

See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants for additional information regarding the @mipon stockholders’ equity from currency
translation adjustments.
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Our only material asset is our indirect interest inLazard Group, and, accordingly, we are dependentpon distributions from Lazard
Group to pay dividends and taxes and other expenses

Lazard Ltd is a holding company and, as of Decer8tie2009, had no material assets other than theett ownership of approximately 74.5%
the common membership interests in Lazard Grougradicect control of both of the managing membdrkarard Group. Lazard Ltd controls Lazard
Group through this managing member position. Weshravindependent means of generating significargmee. Our wholly-owned subsidiaries incur
income taxes on their proportionate share of anyaxable income of Lazard Group in their respextax jurisdictions. We intend to continue to cause
Lazard Group to make distributions to its membieduding our whollyewned subsidiaries, in an amount sufficient to c@teapplicable taxes payat
by us and dividends, if any, declared by us. Toetktent that our subsidiaries need funds to pagstax their share of Lazard Group’s net taxable
income, or if Lazard Ltd needs funds for any ofetpose, and Lazard Group is restricted from makingh distributions under applicable law or
regulation, or is otherwise unable to provide sfugtds, it could materially adversely affect our iness, financial condition or results of operations

Lazard Group is a holding company and therefore depnds on its subsidiaries to make distributions to &zard Group to enable it to service
its obligations under its indebtedness.

Lazard Group depends on its subsidiaries, whiclidgointhe operations of the businesses, for dividemtl other payments to generate the funds
necessary to meet its financial obligations, initiggpbayments of principal and interest on its indebess. However, none of Lazard Group’s
subsidiaries is obligated to make funds availablié fior servicing such financial obligations. lddition, legal and contractual restrictions in @&gnents
governing current and future indebtedness, asagdiinancial conditions, minimum regulatory netital@nd similar requirements and operating
requirements of Lazard Group’s subsidiaries, culydimit and may, in the future, limit Lazard Grps ability to obtain cash from its subsidiariebeT
earnings from, or other available assets of, Lagaalip’s subsidiaries may not be sufficient to dagdends or make distributions or loans to enable
Lazard Group to make payments with respect taritatial obligations when such payments are duadtition, even if such earnings were sufficient,
the agreements governing the current and futurebitetiness of Lazard Group’s subsidiaries and regyleequirements with respect to our broker-
dealer and other regulated subsidiaries may natipsuch subsidiaries to provide Lazard Group witfficient dividends, distributions or loans to un
its financial obligations, when due.

Earnings of Lazard Group allocable to LAZ-MD Holdings are taxed at higher tax rates than earnings alt@ble to Lazard Ltd, which
results in less cash being available to Lazard Grguthan would otherwise be available to it.

The managing directors of Lazard Group and otheress/of LAZ-MD Holdings generally are taxed at gh@r rate on their allocable share of
Lazard Group’s earnings than that paid by Lazadd Lazard Group makes tax-related distributiongtam the higher of the effective income and
franchise tax rate applicable to Lazard Ltd’s sdiasies that hold the Lazard Group common membgiisitérests and the weighted average income tax
rate (based on income allocated) applicable to IMZ-Holdings’ members, determined in accordance Wihard Group’s operating agreement. In the
event that tax rates applicable to members of LAB-Nbldings increase, the pro rata distributionsrfioazard Group to its members, including Lazard
Ltd's subsidiaries, may increase correspondingher&fore, because distributions by Lazard Groufstmembers are made on a pro rata basis, tax-
related distributions to Lazard Ltd’s subsidiameay exceed the taxes Lazard Ltd’s subsidiariesafigtpay or expect to pay. This results in lesscas
being available to Lazard Group than would otheeviie available to it, and in cash being held byak@z td’s subsidiaries in excess of what they
actually pay for taxes or hold for expected futpagments. We intend to continue to cause suchdiabigis to lend to Lazard Group a significant porti
of such excess cash.
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We may become subject to taxes in Bermuda after Mah 28, 2016, which may have a material adverse affeon our results of operations.

The Bermuda Minister of Finance, under the Exempiedertakings Tax Protection Act 1966 of Bermudaamended, has given us an assurance
that if any legislation is enacted in Bermuda thatld impose tax computed on profits or incomeca@nputed on any capital asset, gain or appreciation
or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inhadétax, then the imposition of any such tax wilt he applicable to us or any of our operationarest)
debentures or other obligations until March 28,&@@xcept insofar as such tax applies to persatisarily resident in Bermuda or to any taxes pagabl
by us in respect of real property owned or leasedshin Bermuda. Given the limited duration of Bermuda Minister of Finance’s assurance, we may
be subject to Bermuda tax after March 28, 2016.

In the event of a change or adverse interpretationf relevant income tax law, regulation or treaty, o a failure to qualify for treaty benefits,
our overall tax rate may be substantially higher tlan the rate used for purposes of our consolidatednfancial statements.

Our effective tax rate is based upon the applicadfocurrently applicable income tax laws, reguas and treaties, current judicial and
administrative authorities interpreting those ineotax laws, regulations and treaties, and upomonrU.S. subsidiaries’ ability to qualify for beitsf
under those treaties, and that a portion of timeioine is not subject to U.S. tax as effectivelynsmted income. Moreover, those income tax laws,
regulations and treaties, and the administrativkjadicial authorities interpreting them, are subj® change at any time, and any such change may b
retroactive.

Our effective tax rate is based upon our non-UuBskliaries qualifying for treaty benefits. Thegdility of our non-U.S. subsidiaries for treaty
benefits generally depends upon, among other thatdeast 50% of the principal class of sharesiith subsidiaries being “ultimately owned” by U.S.
citizens and persons that are “qualified residefuspurposes of the treaty. It is possible th& thquirement may not be met, and even if it i, nve
may not be able to document that fact to the satigfn of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IR¥’pur non-U.S. subsidiaries are not treated as
eligible for treaty benefits, such subsidiaried Wwé subject to additional U.S. taxes, includingatich profits tax” on their “effectively connected
earnings and profits” (as determined for U.S. fatlercome tax purposes) at a rate of 30% rather ghimeaty rate of 5%.

The inability, for any reason, to achieve and naiman overall income tax rate approximately eqoidhe rate used in preparing our consolidated
financial statements could materially adverselgefbur business and our results of operationsanlti materially adversely affect our financial
statements.

Tax authorities may challenge our tax computationsglassifications and our transfer pricing methodsand their application.

In the ordinary course of our business, we areestildp tax audits in various jurisdictions. Taxharities may challenge our tax computations,
classifications, our transfer pricing methods dwlrtapplication, and other items. While we believwe tax computations, classifications and transfer
pricing results are correct and properly refleatadbur financial statements, the tax authoritiey iaagree.

Outcome of future U.S. tax legislation is unknown &the present time.

On February 1, 2010, the fiscal year 2011 U.S.rddmidget was released. The budget included vaupoavisions, including provisions that
would (i) limit the deduction of certain relatedrfyainterest; (ii) defer the deduction of intera#iributable to non-U.S. source income of foreign
subsidiaries; and (iii) repeal the current law’smmption from withholding tax for interest and dieitls paid by certain domestic companies. Each of
these provisions would be effective only for taxeaptars beginning after December 31, 2010. Ceaspects of these budget provisions may adversely
impact Lazard’s tax rate. However, at this pointiime we are unable to predict the ultimate outcaofrthe budget process.
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Our subsidiaries will be required to pay LFCM Holdings most of the benefit relating to any additionalax depreciation or amortization
deductions our subsidiaries may claim as a resultféhe tax basis step-up our subsidiaries receive iconnection with the equity public offering
and related transactions.

In connection with our secondary offerings in Debem2006, September 2008, June 2009 and Septe®@@r 2AZ-MD Holdings exchangeable
interests were, in effect, partially exchangedsfoares of our common stock. Additional exchangeseaheduled to take place in the future. The
redemption and the exchanges may result in incedagée tax basis of the tangible and intangilsieets of Lazard Group attributable to our subsisar
interest in Lazard Group that otherwise would reptehbeen available. These increases in tax bagisedace the amount of tax that our subsidiaries
would otherwise be required to pay in the fututycaugh the IRS may challenge all or part of tlatIbasis increase, and a court could sustain such a
challenge.

Our subsidiaries entered into a tax receivableeagent with LFCM Holdings that provides for the pamhby our subsidiaries to LFCM Holdings
of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, iB.Uederal, state and local income tax or franctsigghat we actually realize as a result of these
increases in tax basis and of certain other taefitsrrelated to entering into the tax receivalgeeament, including tax benefits attributable tgmpants
under the tax receivable agreement. We expectriefttédrom the remaining 15% of cash savings reaizOur subsidiaries have the right to terminag
tax receivable agreement at any time for an ambas¢d on an agreed value of certain payments rergambe made under the tax receivable
agreement at such time. While the actual amountiaridg of any payments under this agreement vatywvdepending upon a number of factors,
including the timing of exchanges, the extent tacktsuch exchanges are taxable, the allocatioheo§tep-up among the Lazard Group assets, and the
amount and timing of our income, we expect thag assult of the size of the increases in the tesisdhof the tangible and intangible assets of lcazar
Group attributable to our subsidiaries’ interest@zard Group, during the 24-year term of the &oeivable agreement, the payments that our
subsidiaries may make to LFCM Holdings could bessaititial. If the LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable irgsts had been effectively exchanged in a
taxable transaction for common stock at the cldsrisiness on December 31, 2009, the aggregatesiserin tax basis attributable to our subsidiaries’
interest in Lazard Group would have been approxigai3.2 billion (based on the then closing priee ghare of our common stock on the NYSE of
$37.97), including the increase in tax basis assediwith the redemption and recapitalization. pbgential future increase in tax basis will depend
the Lazard common stock price at the time of exgbaifhe cash savings that our subsidiaries wouldhllg realize as a result of this increase in tax
basis likely would be significantly less than thimount multiplied by our effective tax rate duetoumber of factors, including sufficient taxable
income to absorb the increase in tax basis, tleation of the increase in tax basis to foreignam-amortizable assets, the impact of the increage
tax basis on our ability to use foreign tax creditsl the rules relating to the amortization ofigiale assets. Our ability to achieve benefits framy
such increase, and the payments to be made urigegtteement, will depend upon a number of factssliscussed above, including the timing and
amount of our future income.

In addition, if the IRS successfully challengestdnebasis increase, under certain circumstancesubsidiaries could make payments to LFCM
Holdings under the tax receivable agreement in &xo&our subsidiaries’ cash tax savings.

LAZ-MD Holdings is a significant stockholder of Lazard Ltd and, through the amended and restated LAZ-MD Holdings stockholders’
agreement, the members of LAZ-MD Holdings are abléo exercise significant influence over all mattersequiring Lazard Ltd stockholder
approval.

LAZ-MD Holdings holds Lazard Ltd’'s Class B commdock representing approximately 25.5% of the vofiowver of all shares of Lazard Ltd’s
voting stock. Pursuant to the LAZ-MD Holdings stholders’ agreement, the members of LAZ-MD Holdiags individually entitled to direct LAZAD
Holdings how to vote their proportionate interest.azard Ltd’s Class B common stock on an as-ihexged basis. The voting power associated with
the Class B common stock is intended to mirromtieenbers’ indirect economic interest in Lazard Grothrough the LAZ-MD Holdings stockholders’
agreement, the members currently are able to eseesagnificant influence over all matters requirirazard Ltd stockholder approval, including the
election
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of all directors and approval of significant corater transactions, and other matters affecting tamlbers. This voting power may have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change in control of Ldzaid.

Failure to maintain effective internal controls inaccordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyccould have a material adverse
effect on our business.

We have documented and tested our internal coptomedures in order to satisfy the requirementSeaftion 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
which requires annual management assessments efféiotiveness of our internal controls over finahoeporting and a report by our independent
auditors regarding the Company'’s internal contk@rdinancial reporting. We are in compliance wtection 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as of
December 31, 2009. However, if we fail to maintie adequacy of our internal controls, as suchdstals are modified, supplemented or amended
time to time, we may not be able to ensure thataveconclude on an ongoing basis that we havetefédaternal controls over financial reporting in
accordance with Section 404 of the SarbaDetey Act. Failure to maintain an effective intelrnantrol environment could have a material advesféect
on our business.

LAZ-MD Holdings, Lazard Group, LFCM Holdings and La zard Ltd entered into various arrangements, including the master separation
agreement, which contain cross-indemnification obgjations of LAZ-MD Holdings, Lazard Group, LFCM Hold ings and Lazard Ltd, that any
party may be unable to satisfy.

The master separation agreement that Lazard Latezhinto with Lazard Group, LAZ-MD Holdings and CM Holdings provides, among other
things, that LFCM Holdings generally will indemnifazard Ltd, Lazard Group and LAMD Holdings for losses that we incur arising outafrelating
to, the separated businesses and the businessisctemhby LFCM Holdings and losses that Lazard Led;ard Group or LAZ-MD Holdings incur
arising out of, or relating to, LFCM Holdings’ bictaof the master separation agreement. In additid@;MD Holdings generally will indemnify
Lazard Ltd, Lazard Group and LFCM Holdings for lesshat they incur arising out of, or relatinglté,Z-MD Holdings’ breach of the master separai
agreement. Our ability to collect under the indeimsifrom LAZ-MD Holdings or LFCM Holdings depends their financial position. For example,
persons may seek to hold us responsible for ltsslassumed by LAZ-MD Holdings or LFCM Holdingsthese liabilities are significant and we are
held liable for them, we may not be able to recarey or all of the amount of those losses from LMP-Holdings or LFCM Holdings should either be
financially unable to perform under their indemcéfiion obligations.

We currently have a number of ongoing obligatianssispect of which, pursuant to the master separatireement and other ancillary
agreements, LFCM Holdings is providing certain imehities. For example, we entered into an arrangéemigh LFCM Holdings relating to the costs of
excess space in the U.K. LFCM Holdings will pay.azard Group $25 million in the aggregate, of wHs&3.8 million was due and paid through
December 31, 2009.

In addition, Lazard Group generally will indemniff¥CM Holdings and LAZ-MD Holdings for liabilitiesetated to Lazard Groug’businesses a
Lazard Group will indemnify LFCM Holdings and LAZIMHoldings for losses that they incur to the extmiging out of, or relating to, Lazard Grosp’
or Lazard Ltd's breach of the master separatioregent. Several of the ancillary agreements thaaiddaGroup entered into together with the master
separation agreement also provide for separateninifieation arrangements. For example, under thmeiridtrative services agreement, Lazard Group
provides a range of services to LFCM Holdings,udahg information technology, general office andlding services and financing and accounting
services, and LFCM Holdings will generally indenynifazard Group for liabilities that Lazard Grougims arising from the provision of these services
absent Lazard Group’s intentional misconduct. Lafaroup may face claims for indemnification from@M® Holdings and LAZ-MD Holdings under
these provisions regarding matters for which Lafaroup has agreed to indemnify them. If these liigds are significant, Lazard Group may be
required to make substantial payments, which cmatkrially adversely affect our results of openagicAlso, in connection with the CP 1l MgmtCo
Spin-Off (as defined in Note 10 of Notes to Cordated Financial Statements), the subsidiary of LR@dings that manages Corporate Partners Il
Limited (“CP Il MgmtCo”) has generally agreed talemnify us
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against certain losses related to Corporate Partrigtited Il that arise after the date of closirfghe CP 1l MgmtCo Spin-Off. However, should person
seek to hold us responsible for liabilities assutmge@P 1| MgmtCo, we may not be able to recover angll of the amount of our losses from CP |l
MgmtCo if CP Il MgmtCo is financially unable to ferm under its indemnification obligations.

We have potential conflicts of interest with LAZ-MD Holdings and LFCM Holdings, and LAZ-MD Holdings and LFCM Holdings could
each act in a way that favors its interests to oudetriment.

As of December 31, 2009, LAZ-MD Holdings held appnoately 25.5% of Lazard Ltd’s voting power throulghzard Ltd’s single share of Class
B common stock and 25.5% of the outstanding Lagraup common membership interests. In addition, M2 Holdings’ board of directors is
composed of 4 individuals, all of whom are managlitgctors or officers of Lazard Ltd or its affilés. Lazard Group’s board of directors and exeeutiv
officers are the same as those of Lazard Ltd. Ttieg and equity ownership of LAZ-MD Holdings artd members, and the service of officers and
managing directors of our company as directorsAZAMD Holdings, could create conflicts of intereshen LAZ-MD Holdings and those directors and
officers are faced with decisions that could haiWeignt implications for LAZ-MD Holdings and ugjéluding potential acquisitions of businesses, the
issuance or disposition of securities by us, teet&lin of new or additional directors of Lazard litte payment of dividends by Lazard Ltd and Lazard
Group, our relationship with LFCM Holdings and ateatters. We also expect that LAZD Holdings will manage its ownership of us so thatill not
be deemed to be an investment company under tlestiment Company Act. This may result in conflictdhws, including those relating to acquisitions
or offerings by us involving issuances of Lazard’'&tClass A common stock or securities convertilslexchangeable into shares of Lazard Ltd’'s Class
A common stock that would dilute LAZ-MD Holdingsbting power in Lazard Ltd.

Since the members of LAZ-MD Holdings who are partie the LAZ-MD Holdings stockholders’ agreemerd antitled to individually direct their
proportionate share of the vote of Lazard Ltd’ssSSIB common stock on an as-if-exchanged basislandan and control LFCM Holdings, their
control of LAZ-MD Holdings and the vote of the shaif Lazard Ltd's Class B common stock gives rispdtential conflicts between LFCM Holdings
and LAZ-MD Holdings, on the one hand, and our conypa@n the other hand, as discussed below.

We may have potential business conflicts of interewith LAZ-MD Holdings and LFCM Holdings with respe ct to our past and ongoing
relationships that could harm our business operatios.

Pursuant to the LAZ-MD Holdings amended and redtateckholders’ agreement, LAZ-MD Holdings will edthe single share of Lazard Ltd
Class B common stock, which, as of December 319 2@presented approximately 25.5% of Lazard L¥dtng power, as directed by its individual
members who are party to that agreement. These garsens generally own and control LFCM Holdinghkjolu holds the separated businesses. In
addition, several employees of Lazard provide ses/to LFCM Holdings. Conflicts of interest maysarbetween LFCM Holdings and us in a numb
areas relating to our past and ongoing relatiorsshizluding:

» labor, tax, employee benefits, indemnification attter matters arising from the separation,
* intellectual property matters,
* business combinations involving us,

* business operations or business opportunities @MNLHoldings or us that would compete with the otparty’s business opportunities,
including investment banking by us and the managemwiealternative investment funds by LFCM Holdingarticularly as some of the
managing directors provide services to LFCM Holdir

» the terms of the master separation agreement ¢atédeancillary agreements, including the operatibtine alternative investment fund
management business and Lazard G's option to purchase the busine

» the nature, quality and pricing of administratiegdces to be provided by us, and

» the provision of services by certain of our manggiirectors to LFCM Holdings.
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In addition, the administrative services agreensemimits us to provide a range of services to LFCddithgs and LAZ-MD Holdings, which
could require the expenditure of significant amsuwittime by our management. Our agreements witA-MD Holdings and LFCM Holdings may be
amended upon agreement of the parties to thoseragres. During the time that LAZ-MD Holdings exsgs significant influence over us, LAZ-MD
Holdings may be able to exert significant influeloser votes or decisions regarding any potentiagradments to these agreements. We may not be able
to resolve any potential conflicts and, even ifdwe the resolution may be less favorable to us thae were dealing with an unaffiliated party.

The use of the “Lazard” brand name by subsidiarief LFCM Holdings may expose us to reputational harnthat could affect our
operations and adversely affect our financial posion should these subsidiaries take actions that deege the brand name.

The “Lazard” brand name has over 160 years ofdugeitconnoting, we believe, world-class profesdiadaice, independence and global
capabilities with deeply rooted, local know-how.@¥ Holdings operates as a separate legal entitylazard Group licensed to subsidiaries of LFCM
Holdings that operate the separated businesses¢hef the “Lazard” brand name for certain spedifiarposes, including in connection with alternativ
investment fund management and capital marketsitesi. As these subsidiaries of LFCM Holdings bigtally have and will continue to use the
“Lazard” brand name, and because we no longer alothtese entities, there is a risk of reputatidraim to us if these subsidiaries have, or in theréu
were to, among other things, engage in poor busipexctices, experience adverse results or othedé@mage the reputational value of the “Lazard”
brand name. These risks could expose us to liplaifid also may adversely affect our revenue andosiness prospects.

If LAZ-MD Holdings were deemed an “investment compay” under the Investment Company Act as a result ofts ownership of Lazard
Ltd, applicable restrictions could require us to ater our organizational structure which could resultin additional costs or changes in our
business activities.

We do not believe that LAZ-MD Holdings currentlyda investment company. Rule 3a-1 under the Invasti@ompany Act provides an
exclusion from registration as an investment corgphia company meets both an asset and an incosharne certain other requirements. We believe
LAZ-MD Holdings currently satisfies the requiremgmff Rule 3a-1. A determination that LAZ-MD Hold® not entitled to rely on Rule 3a-1 could
result in it being an investment company, unlesstar exemption or exclusion is available, and b@ng subject to the requirements of the Investment
Company Act. Because LARID Holdings is owned exclusively by current andnfi@r managing directors and employees of Lazard isama membel
of their immediate families, if it becomes unalde¢ly on Rule 3a-1, it may apply for an order epéng it from most provisions of the Investment
Company Act as an “employees’ securities compaRulé 6b-1 under the Investment Company Act provilasan employeesecurities company th
applies for such an order is exempt from all priovis of that Act applicable to investment companpending a final SEC determination.

The Investment Company Act and the rules thereucaletain detailed prescriptions for the organizatod operations of investment companies.
Among other things, the Investment Company Act liedrules thereunder limit or prohibit transactievith affiliates, impose limitations on the issua
of debt and equity securities, prohibit the isswaofcstock options, and impose certain governaegairements. Lazard Ltd expects that LAZ-MD
Holdings will conduct its operations such that LA Holdings will not be deemed to be an investmmarmhpany under the Investment Company Act.
However, if anything were to happen which wouldsmuAZ-MD Holdings to be deemed to be an investneentpany under the Investment Company
Act, requirements imposed by the Investment Compsstyincluding limitations on its or our capitdtscture, ability to transact business with afféis
(including LAZ-MD Holdings or us, as the case may And ability to compensate key employees, cowlenit impractical for us to continue our
business as currently conducted, impair the agreenaad arrangements, including the master separagjreement and related agreements and the
transactions contemplated by those agreementsebatand among Lazard Ltd, LAZ-MD Holdings, Lazamb@ and LFCM Holdings or any
combination thereof and materially adversely affeat business, financial condition and resultspdrations.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have made statements under the captions “Bssii®&isk Factors,” and “Management’s Discussion &malysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and in other sections of BForm 10-K that are forward-looking statementssdme cases, you can identify these statements by
forward-looking words such as “may,” “might,” “wjTl “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “belige,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or
“continue,” and the negative of these terms androtbmparable terminology. These forward-lookiregesnents, which are subject to known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions atunay include projections of our future finangiatformance based on our growth strategies and
anticipated trends in our business. These statanagatonly predictions based on our current exfienand projections about future events. Thege ar
important factors that could cause our actual tesldvel of activity, performance or achievementdiffer materially from the results, level of iy,
performance or achievements expressed or impligtidjorward-looking statements. In particular, whwuld consider the numerous risks and
uncertainties outlined in “Risk Factors,” includitige following:

» acontinued decline or further deterioration ing@heconomic conditions or the global financiakrkess,

” o ” o, ” o

¢ losses caused by financial or other problems e&peed by third parties,
» losses due to unidentified or unanticipated risks,
« alack of liquidity, i.e., ready access to funds, dise in our businesses, and

e competitive pressure on our businesses and onbidlity &0 retain our employees.

These risks and uncertainties are not exhaustitreer@ections of this Form 10-may include additional factors, which could adedy impact ou
business and financial performance. Moreover, werap in a very competitive and rapidly changingiremment. New risks and uncertainties emerge
from time to time, and it is not possible for ouamagement to predict all risks and uncertainties can we assess the impact of all factors on our
business or the extent to which any factor, or doation of factors, may cause actual results tfedihaterially from those contained in any forward-
looking statements.

Although we believe the expectations reflectechimforward-looking statements are reasonable, waatayuarantee future results, level of
activity, performance or achievements. Moreoveithee we nor any other person assumes respongifilithe accuracy or completeness of any of t
forward-looking statements. You should not rely mparward-looking statements as predictions of feitevents. We are under no duty to update any of
these forward-looking statements after the dathisfForm 10-K to conform our prior statements ¢tual results or revised expectations and we do not
intend to do so.

Forward-looking statements include, but are noitéchto, statements about the:

* business’ possible or assumed future results afabipes and operating cash flows,

* business’ strategies and investment policies,

¢ business’ financing plans and the availability lodig-term borrowing,

* business’ competitive position,

e future acquisitions, including the consideratiorb&opaid and the timing of consummation,
» potential growth opportunities available to ouribesses,

e recruitment and retention of our managing directord employees,

» target levels of compensation expense,

¢ business’ potential operating performance, achiereas) productivity improvements, efficiency andtaesiuction efforts,
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« likelihood of success and impact of litigation,
* expected tax rates,
e changes in interest and tax rates,

* expectations with respect to the economy, secsiitiarkets, the market for mergers, acquisitiomateggic advisory and restructuring activity,
the market for asset management activity and ottolistry trends

« effects of competition on our business, and

» impact of future legislation and regulation on business.

The Company is committed to providing timely andwate information to the investing public, consigtwith our legal and regulatory
obligations. To that end, the Company uses its iteshs convey information about our businesseduding the anticipated release of quarterly
financial results, quarterly financial, statistieald business-related information, and the postingpdates of AUM in various mutual funds, hedgeds
and other investment products managed by LAM andubsidiaries. Monthly updates of these fundpasted to the LAM website
(www.lazardnet.comn the third business day following the end of eadmth. Investors can link to Lazard Ltd, Lazare@r and their operating
company websites throudttp://www.lazard.com Our websites and the information contained timeoeiconnected thereto shall not be deemed to be
incorporated into this Form 10-K.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

The following table lists the properties used fog entire Lazard organization as of December 309 2idicluding properties used by the separated
businesses. As a general matter, one or both dfioancial Advisory and Asset Management segmestsvell as our Corporate segment) uses the
following properties. We license and sublease t€MFHoldings certain office space, including offiggace that is used by the separated businesss
includes subleasing or licensing approximately 8@,2quare feet in New York City located at 30 Réeker Plaza to LFCM Holdings. Additionally, o
New York, London and other offices sublease 37,862676 and 16,203 square feet, respectively,itd ffarties. We remain fully liable for tt
subleased space to the extent LFCM Holdings, othtiné parties, fail to perform their obligationsder the subleases for any reason. In addition NLFC
Holdings entered into indemnity arrangements iatieh to excess space and abandoned former preimikesdon.

Location Square Footage Principal Offices

New York 380,354 square feet of
leased spac Key office located at 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New k,ddew York 10020

Other North America 151,951 square feet of leas  Atlanta, Boston, Charlotte, Chicago, Houston, Logédles, Minneapolis,
space Montreal, San Francisco and Washington [

Paris 170,644 square feet of Key office located at 121 Boulevard Haussmann, 8308ris.
owned and leased spe

London 86,695 square feet of leased Key office located at 50 Stratton Street, LondonJVBLL.
space

Other Europe 119,356 square feet of leas Amsterdam, Bordeaux, Brussels, Frankfurt, Hambluygn, Madrid, Milan,
space Stockholm and Zurict

Asia, Australia and

Other 68,423 square feet of leased Beijing, Dubai City, Hong Kong, Melbourne, Mumb8&igoul, Singapore,

space Sydney and Tokyc

We believe that we currently maintain sufficienasp to meet our anticipated needs.
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ltem 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company’s businesses, as well as the finageraices industry generally, are subject to extenggulation throughout the world. The
Company is involved from time to time in a numbgjudlicial, regulatory and arbitration proceediraggl inquiries concerning matters arising in
connection with the conduct of our businessesuitiog proceedings initiated by former employeesgitig wrongful termination. The Company revit
such matters on a case-by-case basis and estabdisheequired reserves if a loss is probable aa@mount of such loss can be reasonably estimated.
Management believes, based on currently availabdernation, that the results of such matters, enapgregate, will not have a material adverse effec
on the Company'’s financial condition but might batetial to the Company’s operating results or dasis for any particular period, depending upon
the operating results for such period.

Item 4. [Reserved]
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Part 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock is traded on The New York StocgHaxge under the symbol “LAZ.” There is no publitizgded market for our Class B
common stock, which is held by LAZ-MD Holdings. Tfedlowing table sets forth, for the fiscal quagéndicated, the high and low sales prices per
share of our Class A common stock, as reporteddrconsolidated transaction reporting system, hedjtiarterly dividends declared during 2009 and
2008.

Price Range of Our Common Stock

Dividends
Sales Price per Share o
Common
High Low Stock
2009
Fourth quarte $44.6: $34.6¢ $ 0.12¢
Third quartel $42.7( $25.7¢ $ 0.12¢
Second quarte $34.1( $25.2( $ 0.10
First quarte! $31.9¢ $20.5¢ $ 0.10
2008
Fourth quarte $44.2¢ $19.17 $ 0.10
Third quartel $50.0¢ $30.9¢ $ 0.10
Second quarte $41.8¢ $32.8¢ $ 0.10
First quarte! $43.5¢ $29.0C $ 0.10

As of February 12, 2010, there were approximatélpdiders of record of our Class A common stocks Hoes not include the number of
shareholders that hold shares in “street-name’ugindanks or broker-dealers.

On February 12, 2010, the last reported sales fwiceur Class A common stock on the New York StBgkhange was $35.92 per share.

On January 27, 2010, the Board of Directors of kéizad declared a quarterly dividend of $0.125 gleaire on its Class A common stock, payable
on February 26, 2010 to stockholders of record elorrary 8, 2010.

Share Repurchases in the Fourth Quarter of 2009

During the fourth quarter of 2009 there were nairepases of Lazardg’'Class A common stock or Lazard Group common meshigeinterests. A
disclosed in more detail in Note 16 of Notes to iinlated Financial Statements, from the inceptibour share repurchase program in February 20086,
the Board of Directors of Lazard Ltd authorized,aocumulative basis, the repurchase of up to $50®min aggregate cost of Lazard Ltd Class A
common stock and Lazard Group common memberstepeasits through December 31, 2009. On December08®8, Buch share repurchase
authorization expired. On January 27, 2010, the@oéDirectors of Lazard Ltd authorized, on a clatiuve basis, a new share repurchase program for
the repurchase of up to $200 million in aggregat of its Class A common stock and Lazard Groupraon membership interest through December
31, 2011. The share repurchase program will be psetarily to offset a portion of the shares tois®ied under Lazard Ltd’s 2005 Plan and the 2008
Plan. Purchases under the share repurchase progagrbe made in the open market or through privatefyotiated transactions.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Benafi©wners and Management and Related Stockholdgteks—Equity Compensation Plan
Information.”
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Other Matters

On November 5, 2009, Lazard Ltd issued 10,262 shafr€lass A common stock in reliance on Secti@®) 4 the Securities Act of 1933 in
connection with exchanges of 10,262 common memhiemsterests of Lazard Group held by certain memmloél. AZ-MD Holdings as provided in the
Master Separation Agreement, dated as of May 105,20y and among Lazard Ltd, Lazard Group, LAZ-MDbldtings and LFCM Holdings and other
related documents.

Item 6. Selected Financial Date

The following table sets forth the selected comséd financial data for the Company for all pesipdesented. The results of operations for
certain businesses that the Company no longer aveneported as discontinued operations.

The results of operations for the period prior tayM 0, 2005, the date of the equity public offeridg not reflect what our results of operations
would have been had we been a stand-alone, pubtipany. In addition, the results of operationstifier period prior to May 10, 2005 are not
comparable to results of operations for subseqoemnbds. Specifically, for the period prior to M&@, 2005, the results of operations do not giveaff
to the following matters:

» Payment for services rendered by Lazard Group’sagiag directors, which, as a result of Lazard Groperating as a limited liability
company, historically had been accounted for asildigions from members’ capital, or in some caseget income attributable to
noncontrolling interests, rather than as compeosatnd benefits expense. As a result, prior to M&y2005, Lazard Group’s operating
income did not reflect payments for services readday its managing directors. For periods subsddoehe consummation of the equity
public offering, all payments for services rendelpgdur managing directors and distributions tadkod of profit participation interests
(“profit participation members”) in Lazard Groupedncluded within the consolidated statements efrafions in compensation and benefits
expense

* U.S. corporate federal income taxes, since LazaodiGhad operated in the U.S. as a limited ligb@idhmpany that was treated as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposesaAesult, Lazard Group’s income had not beerestiby U.S. federal income taxes. Taxes
related to income earned by partnerships repregsigiations of the individual partners. Outside ths., Lazard Group historically had
operated principally through subsidiary corporagiamd had been subject to local income taxes. Aaugly, prior to May 10, 2005, income
taxes reflected within Lazard Group’s results ofmgpions are attributable to taxes incurred in o8- entities and to New York City
Unincorporated Business Tax (“UBT") attributablelLtazard Group’s operations apportioned to New Yoitly. For periods subsequent to the
equity public offering, the consolidated statemeritsperations of Lazard Ltd include U.S. corporfageral income taxes on its allocable
share of the results of operations of Lazard Grgupng effect to the po-equity public offering structure

* Netincome attributable to noncontrolling interegtigiting to LAZ-MD Holdings’ ownership interest of Lazard Groupmmon membership
interests since May 10, 2005. Prior to May 10, 2Q@&ard Ltd had no ownership interest in Lazarduprand all net income was attributa
to the then members of Lazard Group. Commencing Mgy005, net income attributable to noncontrgliinterests includes LAZ-MD
Holdings' ownership interest of Lazard Gr¢'s common membership interes

» The use of proceeds from the financing transactions

* The netincremental interest expense related téirtbacing transactions.

The consolidated statements of financial condiéind operations data as of and for each of the yedhg five-year period ended December 31,
2009 have been derived, as applicable, from Lazatd and Lazard
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Group’s consolidated financial statements. The auditedaidated statements of financial condition aBetember 31, 2009 and 2008 and consolic
statements of operations for each of the yearsdritiree year period ended December 31, 2009 eweled elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The audited
consolidated statements of financial conditionfa®ecember 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, and consotidatgements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, are not included énRbrm 10-K. Historical results are not necessanitljcative of results for any future period.

The selected consolidated financial data shouldehd in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion &nalysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” and the Company’s constddifinancial statements and related notes incledigeivhere in this Form 10-K.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

As Of Or For The Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amount:

Consolidated Statements of Operations Dat
Net Revenue

Financial Advisory (a $ 986,82( $1,022,91 $ 1,240,17 $ 973,33 $ 864,81:

Asset Management (| 601,65: 614,78: 724,75: 553,21: 466,18t

Corporate (c (57,959 (80,48 (47,239 (32,999 (29,559
Net Revenue 1,530,51 1,557,20° 1,917,68! 1,493,55! 1,301,44.(d)
Compensation and Benefits (e) 1,309,241 1,128,25: 1,123,06: 891,42: 698,68!
Other Operating Expenses | 403,51: 403,81« 376,32t 274,92¢ 260,39°
Total Operating Expenst 1,712,75: 1,532,06' 1,499,39. 1,166,34 959,08(
Operating Income (Loss) from Continuing Operati $ (182,239 $  25,14( $ 418,29 $ 327,20¢ $ 342,36:
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ (188,24) $ (239 $ 337,67¢ $ 258,39 $ 283,37
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Lazard Ltd (Netdme Allocable tc

Members of Lazard Group prior to May 10, 20 $ (130,247 $  3,13¢ $ 155,04: $ 92,98t $ 143,48¢

Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stiox!

Basic $ (1.6¢) $ 0.0€ $ 3.04 $ 2.4z $ 1.4%

Diluted $ (1.6¢) $ 0.0€ $ 2508 $ 2.31 $ 1.4%
Dividends Declared Per Share of Class A CommonkStox $ 0.4£ $ 0.4C $ 0.3¢ $ 0.3€ $ 0.14:
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition Dat:
Total Asset: $3,147,76. $2,862,93. $ 3,840,41: $3,208,66! $1,910,89°
Total Debt (i) $1,261,47: $1,264,57! $ 1,764,622 $1,308,94! $1,241,34
Total Lazard Ltd Stockholde’ Equity (Deficiency) $ 355,39: $ 250,58( $ 70,33¢ $ (240,35) $ (870,677
Total Stockholder Equity (Deficiency) $ 523,09’ $ 311,75: $ 123,11 $ (184,85¢) $ (758,94)

Notes (in thousands of dollars:
(a) Financial Advisory net revenue consistshef fiollowing:
For The Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
M&A $ 526,22¢ $ 814,66( $ 969,40 $792,53 $674,54.
Financial Restructurin 376,71( 119,28: 127,17¢ 70,62¢ 103,40
Other Financial Advisor 83,88t 88,97( 143,59: 110,17¢ 86,86t
Financial Advisory Net Revent $ 986,82( $1,022,91. $1,240,17 $973,33 $864,81.

(b) Asset Management net revenue consists dbtlmving:
For The Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Management and Other Fe $ 488,63¢ $ 568,43t $ 595,72 $450,32: $389,41-
Incentive Fee 74,79¢ 34,96 67,03: 59,37! 44,62
Other Income 38,221 11,38¢ 61,99¢ 43,51¢ 32,147
Asset Management Net Rever $ 601,65: $ 614,78: $ 724,75 $553,21. $466,18!

(c) “Corporat” includes interest income (net of interest experieeliding, for periods subsequent to May 10, 2@BB,net incremental interest expense relatedetditlancing transactions associa
with the Company’s equity public offering on May, D05, investment income from certain investmeni net money market revenue earned by LFB, asaselhy gains or losses from the
extinguishment of deb

(d) The year ended December 31, 2005 includes a aefi, 000, which represents accrued dividends erCthmpan’s mandatory redeemable preferred stock which wdeeraed and cancell:
pursuant to the redemption of membership intergfstsstorical partners

(e) Excludes, as applicable, with respect to the pepial to May 10, 2005, (i) payments for servicesdered by Lazard Gro’s managing directors, which, as a result of Lazanolip operating as
limited liability company, historically had beencaeinted for as distributions from members’ capitalin some cases as net income attributable toardrolling interests, rather than as
compensation and benefits expense, and (ii) U.$ocate federal income taxes, since Lazard Grospparated in the U.S. as a limited liability compéhat was treated as a partnership for U.S.
federal income tax purpose

(f) In 2008, includes $197,550 relating to the compemsaortion of the LAM Merger charge. In 2009, lindes charges of $86,514 related to the accelerafiamortization expense relating to
vesting of RSUs held by Lazard’s former Chairmad @hief Executive Officer as the result of his dieiatOctober 2009 and $60,512 related to the acatelé vesting of the then unamortized
portion of previously awarded deferred cash insenéwards

(9) In 2008, includes $2,000 of non-compensatidatee transaction costs relating to the LAM Merder2009, includes restructuring expense of $62efdted to the restructuring plan announced in
the first quarter of 200¢

(h) Data is not applicable for the period prior to M, 2005, the date of the Comp’s equity public offering. Losses related to disowrtd operations were incurred prior to May 10,3(

Therefore such losses are borne entirely by theriial members of Lazard Group, and do not affettincome per share of Lazard L

(i) Total debt amounts relate to the Comy’s continuing operations and represents the aggregiaount reflected in the Compi’s consolidated statements of financial conditidatiieg to senio

debt, capital lease obligations and subordinatéd.
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjiomctvith Lazard Ltd's consolidated financial statems and the related notes included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (tRierm 10-K”"). This discussion contains forward-loiolgy statements that are subject to known and
unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results dratiming of events may differ significantly frtmose expressed or implied in such forward-looking
statements due to a number of factors, includingétset forth in the section entitled “Risk Factasd elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Business Summary
The Company’s principal sources of revenue arevddrirom activities in the following business segise

» Financial Advisory, which includes providing genesrategic and transaction-specific advice on reesg@nd acquisitions (“M&A"and othe
strategic matters, restructurings, capital strigtoapital raising and various other corporaterfigamatters, an

» Asset Management, which includes strategies fontheagement of equity and fixed income securitiesaternative investment and private
equity funds

In addition, the Company records selected othévites in its Corporate segment, including managetof cash, certain investments and the
commercial banking activities of Lazard Group’'siBdnased Lazard Fréres Banque SA (“LFB”). The Caomypso allocates outstanding indebtedness
to its Corporate segment.

LFB is a registered bank regulated by the Banquerdace and its primary operations include assétiability management for Lazard Group’s
businesses in France through its money market asdlcommercial banking operations, deposit takird) # a lesser extent, financing activities and
custodial oversight over assets of various clidtf® engages in underwritten offerings of secusifie France and we expect that it may expand dpe
to include placements elsewhere in Europe.

In June 2009, the Company formed a new wealth managt subsidiary, Lazard Wealth Management LLC £4rd Wealth Management”).
Lazard Wealth Management, which has not yet comepperations, is expected to provide customizadstment management and financial
planning services to high net worth investors m thS. Lazard Wealth Management expects to work initestors to construct, implement and monitor
an asset allocation strategy designed to meentheidual client’s investment objectives, integnatitax planning, estate planning, philanthropieiiests
and legacy planning with investment and risk manegge services. Prior to the launch of this businessregistered Lazard Wealth Management as an
investment adviser with the SEC.

On September 25, 2008, pursuant to a definitivegarergreement dated August 14, 2008, the Compapartd Asset Management LLC (together
with its subsidiaries, “LAM”) and LAZ Sub |, LLC, aewly formed subsidiary of Lazard Freres & Co. LECFNY”), completed the merger of LAZ
Sub I, LLC with and into LAM (the “LAM Merger”). S2Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statémfor additional information relating to the
LAM Merger.

On August 13, 2007, Lazard Group acquired Goldsndigho, Helms & Lynner, LLC (“GAHL”"), a Minneapolibased investment bank
specializing in financial advisory services to nsided private companies. On July 31, 2007, Lazaddacquired Carnegie, Wylie & Company
(Holdings) PTY LTD (“CWC"), an Australia-based finaial advisory firm and concurrently sold such istveent to Lazard Group. See Note 9 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for additiem@rmation relating to the acquisitions of GAHhdhCWC.

Lazard and Natixis entered into a cooperation gearent in April 2004 (and expanded such arrangemedviarch 2005) to place and underwrite
securities on the French equity primary capitalkats and cooperate in their respective originatigndication and placement activities. The
arrangement expired during the third quarter of&@Mhough it continues to be applied in accoréanith its general terms pending the outcome of
continuing discussions.

40



Table of Contents

Lazard also has a long history of making altermaiiwestments with its own capital, usually alodgstapital of qualified institutional and
individual investors. At the time of Lazard Ltd’'quéty public offering and as a part of the separative transferred to LFCM Holdings LLC (“LFCM
Holdings”) all of our alternative investment actigs, except for Fonds Partenaires Gestion SA (“JFRgbir private equity business in France. Such
activities transferred to LFCM Holdings represertasl alternative investment activities of Lazardefhative Investments Holdings LLC (“LAI") and
included private equity investments of Corporatgrias Il Limited (“CP 11") and Lazard Senior Houngi Partners LP. CP Il was managed by a
subsidiary of LAI until February 16, 2009. Effeai¥ebruary 17, 2009, ownership and control of Giald transferred to the investment professionals
who manage CP Il. We also transferred to LFCM Huaidicertain principal investments by Lazard Grouthe funds managed by the separated
businesses, subject to certain options by us tmrege such investments, while we retained ourstment in our French private equity funds. Since
2005, consistent with our obligations to LFCM Holgé, we have engaged in a number of alternativesinvents and private equity activities. Effective
September 30, 2009, the Company sold FPG to arhamhgement company forming part of a group thatages investment companies and funds, in
some of which Lazard could earn carried interete. managing directors and staff conducting thisvidg were accordingly transferred to the buyer.
The sale of FPG did not have a material impactwnrfioancial condition or results of operations.gogting results of FPG have been included in our
consolidated financial statements through the dffedate of sale. See Note 10 of Notes to Conatditi Financial Statements for additional infornmatio
regarding alternative investments.

We continue to explore and discuss opportunitiesxfmand the scope of our alternative investmentpaivate equity activities in Europe, the U.S.
and elsewhere. These opportunities could inclutinal growth of new funds and direct investmentsi®, partnerships or strategic relationships,
investments with third parties or acquisitions »iséng funds or management companies. In thatrcdggm July 15, 2009, the Company established a
private equity business with The Edgewater FunBslgeéwater”), a Chicago-based private equity fitmoagh the acquisition of Edgewater’s
management vehicles. The acquisition was structasesl purchase by Lazard of interests in a holdamgpany that owns interests in the general partner
and management company entities of the current\lzalge private equity funds (the “Edgewater Acqiosit) (see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements). Also, consistent with ouigattions to LFCM Holdings, we may explore discresaital markets opportunities.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, &0id & Company’s consolidated net revenue wasetkfrom the following segments:

Year Ended December 3:

2009 2008 2007
Financial Advisory 65% 66% 64%
Asset Managemel 39 39 38
Corporate 4 5 2
Total 10C% 10C% 10C%

Business Environment

Economic and market conditions in the U.S. and glglhave been adversely impacted since early 20@Righ March 2009 by factors including
the contraction in worldwide credit markets andslated tightening of lending, volatility in cuney and commodity markets and oil prices and write-
downs within the financial sector. Global markéiswed significant improvement in the last six mandti 2009. Overall, these economic and market
conditions adversely affected our operating perforae in both our Financial Advisory and Asset Mamagnt businesses in the early part of 2009, with
improvement in the second half of the year.

Lazard operates in a very competitive and rapidgnging environment. New risks and uncertaintiesrge from time to time, and it is not
possible for Lazard’s management to predict adlsri@nd uncertainties, nor can Lazard assess thecinop all potentially applicable factors on its
business or the extent to which any factor, or doatibn of factors, may cause actual results ttedihaterially from those contained in any forward-
looking statements. See the section entitled “IRisktors” in this Form 16. Furthermore, net income and revenue in any pariay not be indicative
full-year results or the results of any other pgrmd may vary significantly from year to year ajdrter to quarter.
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Financial Advisory

While M&A activity for the year ended December 2009 decreased substantially versus the correspgdior year for both global and trans-
atlantic completed transactions and announceddcdiogs, increased activity in restructuring restiifrom a higher level of corporate debt defaults
during 2009. According to Moody’s Investors Seryige., in the year ended December 31, 2009, 4¢b@66 issuers defaulted as compared to 105 in
2008. The following table sets forth industry sttitis regarding the volume of M&A transactions 002 and 2008:

Year Ended December 31

%

2009 2008 Incr /(Decr)
($ in billions)

Completed M&A Transactions:

Global $1,71C $2,80¢ (39%
TransAtlantic 12C 26€ (55)%
Announced M&A Transactions:

Global 1,04( 2,28¢ (55)%
TransAtlantic 12¢ 251 (49)%

Source:Thomson Financial as of January 22,10.

While overall M&A industry statistics regarding thember and size of announced transactions dedlin2d09 as compared to 2008, we believe
that in the current environment we are relativesllyositioned as our clients refinance, restriemd position their asset portfolios for growth.
Nevertheless, we continue to remain cautious veipect to the overall economic environment anarifgct on the M&A business. Generally, dur
such periods of unfavorable market or economic itimmd, the volume and value of M&A transactionsyndecrease, thereby reducing the demand for
our advisory services and increasing competitiooragrfinancial services companies seeking such emngagts.

While we believe that the number and value of caafegdefaults may decrease in 2010, we expecbtiraRestructuring business should continue
to be very active over the next several years fitoersignificant level of corporate defaults in 2088 well as from advising companies during thisouk
of volatility on matters relating to debt and firémg restructuring and other on- and off-balanceseslassignments. Our Restructuring assignments
normally are executed over a six- to eighteen-mgetiind.

In April 2009, governmental officials in New Yorkaounced a new policy banning the use of placemgents by funds seeking investment
contributions from the New York State and New Y@iky public pension funds. The use of placemennggkas also been prohibited or otherwise
restricted with respect to investments by publiegien funds in lllinois, Ohio and New Mexico, arichBar measures are being considered in other
jurisdictions and by the SEC. Our Private Fund Adw Group, which is part of our Financial Adviseggment, acts as placement agent for invest
funds, including investment funds that have histly received capital from certain of these aféecpublic pension funds. We are continuing to esa
the potential impact of these restrictions on aivd®e Fund Advisory Group.
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Asset Management

As shown in the table below, major global markeliées at December 31, 2009 improved significarglg@mpared to such indices at December
31, 2008.

Percentage Chang

December 31,
2009 vs. 2008

MSCI World Index 27%
CAC 40 22%
DAX 24%
FTSE 10C 22%
TOPIX 100 7%
MSCI Emerging Marke 74%
Dow Jones Industrial Averag 1%
NASDAQ 44%
S&P 500 23%

The fees that we receive for providing investmeahagement and advisory services are primarily drivethe level of assets under management
(“AUM"). Accordingly, since market appreciation (oieeciation) and foreign currency volatility impdbe level of our AUM, such items will impact the
level of revenues we receive from our Asset Managerhusiness. Since a substantial portion of ouMASlinvested in equities, market appreciation
reflected in the changes in Lazard’'s AUM during ylear ended December 31, 2009 generally correspaiodtie changes in global market indices.
While AUM at December 31, 2009 improved versus AdMDecember 31, 2008, our average AUM during 2G89ided as compared to our average
AUM during 2008, reflecting significant market depiation during the second half of 2008 and fitsirter of 2009. Such decrease resulted in lower
management fee revenues in 2009.

Financial Statement Overview
Net Revenue

The majority of Lazard Financial Advisory net revenue is earned fromsiiecessful completion of M&A transactions, strateglvisory matters
restructuring and capital structure advisory s@wjcapital raising and similar transactions. Tlaénndriver of Financial Advisory net revenue is @ik
M&A activity, the level of corporate debt defauttad the environment for capital raising activitiparticularly in the industries and geographic netgsk
in which Lazard focuses. In some client engagemefisn those involving financially distressed canies, revenue is earned in the form of retainers
and similar fees that are contractually agreed wpitineach client for each assignment and are ec¢ssarily linked to the completion of a transarctio
In addition, Lazard also earns fees from providitrgtegic advice to clients, with such fees nohelependent on a specific transaction. Lazard’s
Financial Advisory segment also earns revenue foablic and private securities offerings in the faofireferral fees for referring opportunities to
LFCM Holdings for underwriting and distribution sécurities. The referral fees received from LFCMdiws are generally one-half of the revenue
recorded by LFCM Holdings in respect of such atiggi Significant fluctuations in Financial Adviganet revenue can occur over the course of any
given year. These fluctuations arise because éfisignt portion of Financial Advisory net revenwuedarned upon the successful completion of a
transaction, restructuring or capital raising attivthe timing of which is uncertain and is nobgect to Lazard’s control.

Lazard's Asset Management segment principally ihetuLAM, Lazard Freres Gestion SAS, FPG (througldigposition on September 30, 2009)
and, effective July 15, 2009, Edgewater. Asset Man#ent net revenue is derived from fees for investrmanagement and advisory services provided
to institutional and private clients. The main @rwf Asset Management net revenue is the levAlui, which is influenced by Lazard’s investment
performance, its ability to successfully attractl aetain assets, the broader performance of tHebkxuity markets and, to a lesser extent, fixedine
markets. As a result, fluctuations in financial keds and
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client asset inflows and outflows have a direceetfion Asset Management net revenue and operatogne. Asset Management fees are generally
based on the level of AUM measured as of the eramfarter or month, and an increase or reduatidxliM at such dates, due to market price
fluctuations, currency fluctuations, net clientetdows or otherwise, will result in a correspamglincrease or decrease in management fees. The
majority of our investment advisory contracts aeeerally terminable at any time or on notice ofda§s or less. Institutional and individual cliergad
firms with which we have strategic alliances, camtinate their relationship with us, reduce theraggte amount of AUM or shift their funds to other
types of accounts with different rate structuressfmumber of reasons, including investment peréarce, changes in prevailing interest rates and
financial market performance. In addition, as LdmAUM includes significant assets that are denmted in currencies other than U.S. dollars,
changes in the value of the U.S. dollar relativéoteign currencies will impact the value of LaZarAUM. Fees vary with the type of assets managed,
with higher fees earned on equity assets, altematvestments (such as hedge funds) and privaiigydgvestments, and lower fees earned on fixed
income and cash management products.

The Company earns performance-based incentiveofegarious investment products, including tradigibproducts and alternative investment
funds such as hedge funds and private equity funds.

For hedge funds, incentive fees are calculateddoase specified percentage of a fund’s net apatieci, in some cases in excess of established
benchmarks. The Company records incentive feesaditional products and hedge funds at the entlef¢levant performance measurement period,
when potential uncertainties regarding the ultimmatdizable amounts have been determined. Thenpeafice fee measurement period is generally an
annual period (unless an account terminates dtinegear), and therefore such incentive fees arallysrecorded in the fourth quarter of Lazardscél
year. These incentive fees received at the enleofieasurement period are not subject to revergaydback. Incentive fees on hedge funds generally
are subject to loss carryforward provisions in whisses incurred by the funds in any year arei@gpplgainst certain future period net appreciation
before any incentive fees can be earned.

For private equity funds, incentive fees may beaedrin the form of a “carried interest” if profésising from realized investments exceed a
specified threshold. Typically, such carried ingtiie ultimately calculated on a whole-fund basid,aherefore, clawback of carried interests dutirey
life of the fund can occur. As a result, incentiges earned on our private equity funds are natrdex until potential uncertainties regarding thenate
realizable amounts have been determined, incluaiygpotential for clawback.

Corporate segment net revenue consists primarihebinterest income, including amounts earned=8,land investment gains and losses on the
Company’s investment portfolio of LAM-managed egdiinds and principal investments in equities, delnurities at LFB and alternative investment
funds. Interest expense is also included in Cotpanat revenue. Corporate net revenue can fluctiisdo changes in the fair value of investments
classified as “trading”, and with respect to “agmble-for-sale”, when realized, or when a declindgtermined to be other than temporary, with ressmec
“available-for-sale” and “held-to-maturity” invesaémts, as well as due to changes in interest andrazy exchange rates and in the levels of cash,
investments and indebtedness. Corporate net rexasoéncludes “equity method” investments, inchgliin 2009, the write-off of the Company’s
investment in the Sapphire warrants (see Note MNotés to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Effective July 1, 2008, as permitted by accountpnigciples generally accepted in the United Statesmerica (“U.S. GAAP”), the portion of
LFB’s corporate debt portfolio that had been presglg designated as “trading” was re-designatedtailable-for-sale.” During the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company recordedar&-ups and mark-downs of $29 and $(41) milli@spectively, in “accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax” (“AOCI").

Although Corporate segment net revenue during &z gnded December 31, 2009 represented (4)% afd’amet revenue, total assets in
Corporate represented 55% of Lazard’s consolidatiadl assets as of December 31, 2009, princip#itipatable to assets associated with LFB, and, to
lesser extent, investments in LAM-managed fundsgosecurities and cash.
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Operating Expenses

The majority of Lazard’s operating expenses reflatsompensation and benefits for employees and giagairectors. Our compensation and
benefits expense includes amortization of the eeléportion of the restricted stock unit awards§UW”) under the Lazard Ltd 2005 Equity Incentive
Plan (“2005 Plan”) and the Lazard Ltd 2008 Incem@ompensation Plan (the “2008 Plan”), with suclorization generally determined on a straight-
line basis over the vesting periods and not orbHsés of revenue recognition (see Note 17 of Nmt&3onsolidated Financial Statements). Our
compensation expense-to-operating revenue ratithéoyears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2887 W8%, 55.6% and 55.7%, respectively,
(with such ratios excluding, in 2009, the compeinsatharges of approximately $87 million relatedte acceleration of amortization expense relating
to the vesting of RSUs held by Lazard’s former @nan and Chief Executive Officer as a result ofd@ath in October 2009 and approximately $61
million relating to the accelerated vesting of tmamortized portion of previously awarded defeirash incentive awards and, in 2008, the
compensation charge of approximately $197 millielating to the LAM Merger). Compensation expensariy given year is dependent on many fac
including general economic and market conditions,aperating and financial performance, staffingele and competitive pay conditions, as well as the
composition between current and deferred compeansati

Lazard’s operating expenses also include “non-caorsgion expense”, amortization of intangible assdtted to business acquisitions and, in
2009, restructuring expense. Non-compensation esgireludes costs for occupancy and equipment, etiagkand business development, technology
and information services, professional servicesdfadministration and outsourced services, theigiav (benefit) pursuant to a tax receivable
agreement with LFCM Holdings and other expensesomation of intangibles related to business asitjons are associated with the acquisitions of
Edgewater, GAHL and CWC. Restructuring expensdesglep the reduction of headcount in the first tprawf 2009, and includes severance and related
benefits expense, the acceleration of unrecogréxpdnse pertaining to RSUs previously granteddividuals who were terminated and certain other
costs related to this initiative.

Provision for Income Taxes

Lazard Group primarily operates in the U.S. asrétdéid liability company that is treated as a pathip for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a
result, Lazard Group’s income pertaining to thetkmh liability company is not subject to U.S. fealencome taxes because taxes associated with such
income represent obligations of the individual pars. Outside the U.S., Lazard Group operatesipafyg through corporations and is subject to local
income taxes. Income taxes shown on Lazard’s citedetl statements of operations are attributablexes incurred in non-U.S. entities and to New
York City Unincorporated Business Tax (“UBT") altutable to Lazard’s operations apportioned to NemkYCity. The Company’s provision for
income taxes also includes a U.S. income tax piaviattributable to Lazard Ltd’s ownership intergstazard Group’s operating income.

Noncontrolling Interests

The Company records a charge (credit) to noncdimgointerests relating to LAZ-MD Holdings’ owneiighinterest in Lazard Group’s net income
(loss), which averaged 28%, 43% and 52% for thesyeaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, resplyctand amounted to $(61) million, $10
million and $177 million, respectively. Also incled in noncontrolling interests in our consolidafiedncial statements are amounts related to Edge
in 2009 and various LAM-related general partnershiprests (“GPs”) held directly by certain of dukM managing directors.

See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants for information regarding Company’s nonagllifig interests.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Lazard’s consolidated financial statements aregmtesl in U.S. dollars. Many of our non-U.S. sulzsiés have a functional currencie ., the
currency in which operational activities are priityaconducted) that is other than the U.S. dokgmerally the currency of the country in which the
subsidiaries are domiciled. Such subsidiaries’tasmed liabilities are translated into U.S. dollasing exchange rates as of the respective bakdres
date while revenue and expenses are translatectge exchange rates during the respective pebastsd on the daily closing exchange rates.
Adjustments that result from translating amounterfra subsidiary’s functional currency are repogs@ component of stockholders’ equiBoreign
currency remeasurement gains and losses on trénsait non-functional currencies are includedhia ¢onsolidated statements of operations.

During 2009 and 2008, the Company reported cediadmges (the “2009 special items” and the “200&igp&em,” respectively, and collectively,
“the 2009 and 2008 special itemstiat resulted in a significant adverse impact smjierating results. The impact of such speciaisten 2009 and 20(
on the Company’s consolidated statements of opaistire described in more detail in the table below

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 20C
Restructuring RSU Acceleratior
Deferred Cash
(a) (b) Acceleration (c' Total LAM Merger
($ in thousands)
Compensatiol $86,51« $60,51: $147,02( $197,55!
Non-Compensatiol 2,00
Restructuring $62,55( 62,55(
Operating Income (Los! (62,55() (86,514 (60,517 (209,57¢) (199,55()
Income Tax (Benefit (6,407) (2,56€) (8,967%) (7,427)
Noncontrolling Interest (Benefi (21,079 (22,04%) (14,767 (57,890 (83,499
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Lazard L $(35,079) $(64,46¢) $(43,179) $(142,719) $(108,62)

(a) Restructuring plan announced in the first quarfe20®9.
(b) Acceleration of amortization expense relating ® vesting of RSUs held by Laz's former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer assalt of his death in October 20(
(c) Accelerated vesting of the unamortized portionrefvpusly awarded deferred cash incentive awardg@mtion of which relates to Lazis former Chairman and Chief Executive Offict

A discussion of the Company’s consolidated resafligperations for the years ended December 31,,2008 and 2007 is set forth below,
followed by a more detailed discussion of busirseggnent results. For comparability purposes irdtbeussion that follows, the 2009 and 2008 results
are shown in tables below, as applicable, on bottaa reported” U.S. GAAP and “excluding speciahis” non-U.S. GAAP basis.
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Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Non-
U.S. GAAF
Impact of Non-U.S. GAAP
Impact
of Excluding
U.S. GAAP Special Excluding U.S. GAAP Special Special U.S. GAAP
As Reportec Items (a) Special Iltems (b As Reportec Item (a) Item (b) As Reportec
($ in thousands)
Net Revenue $ 1,530,51 $ 1,530,51! $ 1,557,200 $ 1,557,20 $ 1,917,68!
Operating Expenses:
Compensation and benef 1,309,241 $ 147,02¢ $ 1,162,21: 1,128,25: $ 197,55( 930,70: 1,123,06!
Non-compensation expen 335,97: 335,97: 399,21¢ 2,00( 397,21t 354,80:
Amortization of intangible assets related to acitjoiss 4,99( 4,99( 4,59¢ 4,59¢ 21,52%
Restructuring 62,55( 62,55( — — — —
Total operating expens 1,712,75. 209,57¢ 1,503,17( 1,532,06' 199,55( 1,332,51 1,499,39:
Operating Income (Loss (182,23 (209,57¢) 27,34: 25,14( (199,55() 224,69 418,29¢
Provision (benefit) for income tax: 6,011 (8,967) 14,97¢ 25,37¢ (7,427%) 32,80¢ 80,61¢
Net Income (Loss (188,24Y) (200,609 12,364 (239) (192,12) 191,88 337,67¢
Less— Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noncontrollinignterests (58,009 (57,890 (113 (3,37%) (83,499 80,11¢ 182,63
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Lazard L $ (130,247 $(142,719  $ 12,477 $ 3,13¢ $(108,62) $ 111,76¢ $  155,04.
As a % of Net Revenug
Operating Income (Los! (12)% 2% 2% 14% 22%

(@) Represents charges related to the 2009 and 208&kipems. See Notes 8, 17, 19 and 24 of Noté3awsolidated Financial Statemer
(b) A non-U.S. GAAP measure that management believes proti@esiost meaningful comparison between historf@lsent and future perioc
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The table below describes the components of operativenue, a non-U.S. GAAP measure used by thep@oynto manage total compensation
and benefits expense to managing directors andoyegs. Management believes operating revenue ettt most meaningful basis for comparison
between present, historical and future periods.

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
($ in thousands)

Operating revenue

Total revenue $1,638,40 $1,697,10 $2,054,79
Add (deduct):
LFB interest expense ( (13,81Y (35,359 (34,82))
Revenue related to noncontrolling interests (6,965 13,34¢ (5,135
Operating revenu $1,617,62 $1,675,09 $2,014,83

(&) The interest expense incurred by LFB is excludethftotal revenue because LFB is a commercial badknge consider its interest expense to
cost directly related to the conduct of its busin

(b) Revenue related to the consolidation of noncortlinterests is excluded because the Companydasenomic interest in such amount. Furl
such results are offset by a charge or credit twantrolling interests

Certain key ratios, statistics and headcount in&iiom for the years ended December 31, 2009, 26682807 are set forth below:
Year Ended December 31

200¢ 200¢ 200:
As a % of Net Revenue, By Revenue Categor

Investment banking and other advisory f 62% 64% 62%

Money management fe: 37 39 35

Interest incom:e 2 5 5

Other 6 1 5

Interest expens ™ 9 )
Net Revenut 10C% 10C% 10C%

See Note 24 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants for additional financial information on ageaphic basis.

As of December 31

2009 2008 2007
Headcount:
Managing Directors
Financial Advisory 15C 151 13¢€
Asset Managemel 56 56 48
Corporate 7 8 8
Limited Managing Director 3 6 6
Other Employees
Business segment profession 987 1,02¢ 997
All other professionals and support st 1,091 1,187 1,261
Total 2,292 2,43¢ 2,45¢
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During 2009, we continued to hire key professiomas selective basis, and to redeploy employdesieas where we saw potential for growth.
As described above, to further optimize our miypefsonnel we also reduced staff in other areakjdivg the back office.

Operating Results

As reflected in the table of consolidated resultsgerations above, charges related to the 20026608 special items had a significant impact on
the Company’s reported operating results. Lazardagement believes that comparisons between yearm@st meaningful after excluding the impact
of such items.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 versus December B8, 20

The Company reported a net loss attributable t@tdaztd of $130 million for the year ended Decem®&r2009, a decrease of $133 million, as
compared to net income of $3 million in 2008. Sdebrease was, in part, the result of the 2009 apiteins, which in the aggregate served to redet
income attributable to Lazard Ltd by $143 milli¢tartially offsetting such items was the impact @2 of the 2008 special item, which reduced net
income attributable to Lazard Ltd in that year B¥$ million. Excluding the after-tax impact of tB809 and 2008 special items, net income attribatabl
to Lazard Ltd in the year ended December 31, 20@9 $1.2 million, a decrease of $99 million, or 8@% compared to 2008. Such reduction in net
income attributable to Lazard Ltd in 2009 was priflgaaffected by higher amounts relating to compios and benefits expense due to (i) a change in
the Company’s compensation policy, which resultedri increase in the cash component of compendatitioh is expensed currently), and a decrease
in the aggregate amount of compensation amortizal#e future periods, and (ii) an increased amaofiaimortization expense related to previously
granted equity-based incentive compensation andutrent year portion of the previously awardededefd cash incentive awards, partially offset by
reductions in non-compensation expense, incomes tamd net income attributable to noncontrollingiests. The change in the Company’s
compensation policy was designed to reduce futomerization expense associated with the equity-dbasenpensation component, to allow greater
flexibility in the future to address competitivenditions, to more closely align the current payleyeith reported compensation and revenues, and to
maintain significant retention mechanisms by foogstock grant awards at the more senior levelgravthey are more highly effective and valued.

Net revenue decreased $27 million, or 2%, for th&rynded December 31, 2009, as compared to 2@®8yperating revenue decreasing $57
million, or 3%, as compared to 2008. Fees from stwent banking and other advisory activities desgda35 million, or 4%, as compared to 2008,
principally reflecting a change in the compositafradvisory activities as a $288 million, or 35%g¢tine in M&A and Strategic Advisory revenue, was
partially offset by a $257 million, or 216%, inceeain Restructuring revenue, which includes feegadwising on distressed asset sales. Money
management fees, including incentive fees, in 2@9eased $40 million, or 7%, as compared to 2008 to a $19 billion, or 15%, decline in average
AUM for the year ended December 31, 2009 versu8 200marily as the result of market depreciati@perienced in 2008 and the first quarter of 2009,
partially offset by higher incentive fees earne@@®9. Interest income decreased $53 million, 866due primarily to a lower interest rate enviromiy
combined with lower average cash balances andvadeis from banks. Other revenue increased $6%milh the year ended December 31, 2009, as
compared to 2008, principally due to investmenbine of $18 million in the Company'’s investment falit, versus an aggregate loss of $53 million in
LFB’s corporate debt portfolio (redesignated asaikmble-for-sale” effective July 1, 2008) and then@pany’s investment portfolio in 2008. With respect
to the latter, during 2009, the Company had in@katedging strategy to minimize its risks assediatith volatility in the equity markets. Partially
offsetting the increase in other revenue in 2009 av&13 million write-off relating to the Companywestment in warrants of Sapphire Industrials
Corp., (“Sapphire”), a special purpose acquisitompany sponsored by Lazard. Interest expens@éoydar ended December 31, 2009 decreased $32
million, or 23%, primarily related to the Companygy 2008 repurchase of $437 million aggregateqipel amount of its 6.12% senior notes in
connection with the remarketing of such notes pidwdial repurchases of other senior notes, asagedl lower interest rate environment and reduced
levels of LFB’s customer deposits.
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Compensation and benefits expense for the yeaddddeember 31, 2009 increased $181 million, as ewetpto 2008. Compensation and
benefits expense in 2009 included special itemseagding $147 million, whereas the 2008 speciahitecluded a charge of approximately $197
million. When excluding the 2009 and 2008 spedé&his, compensation and benefits expense incre@82drillion, reflecting a change in the
Company’s compensation policy as previously desdriland the impact of an increase in the amorntimatkpense associated with previously granted
equity-based incentive awards and the current year poofitime previously awarded deferred cash incerdivards. Compensation and benefits expe
excluding the 2009 and 2008 special items, was¥B8d 55.6% of operating revenue in the years eBaéegmber 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Non-compensation expense for the year ended Deae3ih@009 decreased $63 million, or 16%, as coatbay 2008. Factors contributing to the
decrease were (i) charges in 2008 comprised dp1Bemillion provision for losses from counterpadfaults related primarily to the bankruptcy filing
of one of our prime brokers and the $2 million ¢fearelating to the 2008 special item, (ii) loweesgding on travel and other business development
activities, lower consulting and recruiting feds) the strengthening of the U.S. dollar versugefgn currencies and (iv) an $18 million decreasthe
provision pursuant to the tax receivable agreeniérd.ratio of non-compensation expense to operatéingnue was 20.8% for the year ended December
31, 2009, as compared to 23.8% of operating revéom2008.

Amortization of intangible assets for the year ehBecember 31, 2009 was essentially unchangedipaithcdue to lower amortization of
intangibles related to the acquisitions of GAHL &M/ C, partially offset by the increase relatedie Edgewater Acquisition.

As announced in the first quarter of 2009, we curgd to redeploy our banking professionals intawtincareas and reduced staffing in other areas
to further optimize our mix of personnel. As a gsihe 2009 special items include a pre-tax restming charge of $63 million in connection with
severance and benefit payments, the accelerationretognized expense pertaining to RSUs previaysigted to individuals who were terminated and
certain other costs related to the restructuriitptive.

Operating loss for the year ended December 31, 2@39%182 million, a decrease of $207 million anpared to an operating income of $25
million in 2008 (with such amounts including thepact of the 2009 and 2008 special items) and,Es@ntage of net revenue, was (12)% as compare
to operating income of 2% in 2008. Excluding the@aat of the 2009 and 2008 special items, operatiogme in 2009 was $27 million, a decline of
$197 million, or 88%, as compared to operating inean 2008 of $225 million, and, as a percentageedfevenue, was 2% in 2009, as compared to
14% in 2008.

The provision for income taxes for the year endedddnber 31, 2009 was $6 million, a decrease ofhfillidn, as compared to a tax provision of
$25 million in 2008. When excluding the tax bereéif $9 million and $7 million relating to the 2088d 2008 special items, respectively, the income
tax provision in 2009 decreased $18 million, witicls decrease principally due to the decline in afeg income in 2009 as compared to 2008 and
valuation allowance changes affecting the provigamrincome taxes. The Company’s effective tax veés (3.3)% for the year ended December 31,
2009, as compared to 101.0% in 2008. When excluti@e@009 and 2008 special items, the effectivedsexwas 54.8% in 2009, as compared to 14.6%
in 2008.

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling intereststhe year ended December 31, 2009 increased $i&nmas compared to 2008. When excluding
the impact of the 2009 and 2008 special itemsjmuetme attributable to noncontrolling interest2009 decreased $80 million as compared to 2008,
with such decrease principally reflecting a redutin Lazard Group’s net income. During the yeaidegl December 31, 2009 and 2008, LAZ-MD
Holdings ownership interests averaged 28% and 48%pectively.
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Year Ended December 31, 2008 versus December BZ, 20

The Company reported net income attributable tatd td of $3 million for the year ended Decembgy 3008, a decline of $152 million as
compared to net income of $155 million in 2007.8decline was principally the result of the 2008apl item, which reduced net income in 2008 by
$109 million. Net income was also adversely impadtg an 18% decline in Financial Advisory net ravems a result of a slowdown in global M&A
activity and a 15% decline in Asset Managementeetnue due principally to the decline in equityrkess. These revenue decreases were partially
offset by reduced compensation and benefits, doi# when excluding the impact of the 2008 speo@hitand lower provisions for income taxes and
net income attributable to noncontrolling intere¥¥hen excluding the impact of the 2008 speciahjtthe Company’s net income in 2008 was $112
million, or 28% lower than 2007. As described ahdtie Company acquired GAHL and CWC during thedtlgwarter of 2007. Accordingly, results for
the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 inchedeesults of such acquired businesses from tipecéise acquisition dates.

Net revenue decreased $360 million, or 19%, foryder ended December 31, 2008, as compared to d7operating revenue decreasing $340
million, or 17%, as compared to 2007. Fees froneatment banking and other advisory activities desmd $206 million, or 17%, versus 2007. Our
investment banking fees reflect fees from M&A arnhfegic Advisory, Restructuring and Corporate Roteassignments encompassing general stri
and transaction-specific advice to public and gev@mpanies, governments and other parties, ahadies various corporate finance services. Money
management fees, including incentive fees, decde®5@ million, or 9%, as compared to the prior ydae to a $8 billion, or 6%, decrease in average
AUM for the year ended December 31, 2008 versud 200marily as the result of market and foreigeleange depreciation, as well as lower incentive
fees earned in 2008. Interest income decreasedI@mor 9%, due to lower average cash balancesalower interest rate environment. Other rev
decreased $85 million, or 81%, in the year endeckber 31, 2008 versus 2007. The decline in othemue as compared to 2007 reflects a $93
million decrease in investment income due to lossesmarkdowns in the first quarter of 2008 in L&Borporate debt portfolio held as in integral part
of its asset-liability management program, net alized losses in the Company’s investment portfdhie writedown of private equity investments
(primarily in the fourth quarter), and a reductiorLAM GP-related revenues (which are, to the eteid directly by certain of our LAM managing
directors or employees of the Company, fully ofisetet income attributable to noncontrolling ists), partially offset by a $20 million gain frahe
repurchase of a portion of the Company’s senioesiahd $15 million in gains from foreign curren@nsactions (consisting of a $24 million gain ia th
Corporate segment, partially offset by an aggrelgeste of $9 million in the Asset Management andaRirial Advisory segments). Other revenue in 2007
included $14 million of unrealized gains on privatgiity investments and a $9 million gain in corimecwith the Company’s interest in the net
proceeds related to the sale of a portion of LFCMidihgs’ ownership interest in Panmure Gordon & @lo.("PG&C”) (see Note 22 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). Interest exp@rsthe year ended December 31, 2008 increaseuil$8n, or 2%, primarily related to the
Company’s June 2007 issuance of $600 million aggeegrincipal amount of its 6.85% senior notestigily offset by a reduction in interest expense
related to the Company’s May 2008 repurchase of $dilion aggregate principal amount of its 6.12éfisr notes in connection with the remarketing
of such notes.

Compensation and benefits expense for the yeaddddeember 31, 2008 increased by $5 million, aspaoed to 2007, including the 2008 spe
item. When excluding such charge, compensatiorbaneéfits expense in 2008 decreased $192 millioh78&6. Such decrease reflected lower incentive
compensation and was consistent with the decreasedrating revenue, which more than offset thétmadel amortization of an increased amount of
RSUs granted and additional compensation assoaithdhe strategic headcount growth of managimgalors and business segment professionals.
Compensation and benefits expense, including thegetrelating to the 2008 special item, was 67.4%perating revenue in 2008. However, when
excluding the 2008 special item, such expense septed 55.6% of operating revenue in 2008, as cadpga 55.7% in 2007.
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Non-compensation expense for the year ended Dece3th008 increased $44 million, as compared @72Mhcluding the $2 million charge
relating to the 2008 special item. Apart from subarge, non-compensation expense increased $4amidr 12%. Factors contributing to the increase
include (i) the impact of investments in our busmand operating expenses related to companiegeatduthe third quarter of 2007, (ii) the $12 loih
provision for losses from counterparty defaultsrirone of our prime brokers, (iii) increased busingsvelopment expenses for travel and market telate
data, and (iv) fees for outsourced services. Ttie cd non-compensation expense to operating revevas 23.7% in 2008, as compared to 18.7% in
2007. The ratio, when excluding the 2008 specagshiaind the provisions pursuant to the tax recedvagiteement with LFCM Holdings of $17 million
both years, was 22.7% for 2008, compared to 16.B8perating revenue for 2007, with such increaserdgntage primarily attributable to the decline in
operating revenues in 2008 as well as the provifgiofosses from counterparty defaults describeml/ab

Amortization of intangible assets for the year ehBecember 31, 2008 amounted to $5 million, a demzref $17 million as compared to the prior
year, due to lower expense related to the acquisitof GAHL and CWC in 2007.

Operating income for the year ended December 313 2@creased $393 million, as compared to 200 divg the 2008 special item of $199
million, and, as a percentage of net revenue, tipgrancome was 2% and 22% in 2008 and 2007, réisiedc When excluding the 2008 special item,
operating income decreased $194 million, and, @ereentage of net revenue, operating income wasdt$22% in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The provision for income taxes for the year endedddnber 31, 2008 decreased $55 million, includiegh7 million tax benefit relating to the
2008 special item. The remaining decrease of $4l&mas compared to 2007 was principally due tedolevels of income in 2008. The Company’s
effective tax rate was 101% for the year ended Bez 31, 2008, as compared to 19.3% in 2007. Wkeluding the impact of the 2008 special item,
the Company'’s effective tax rate was 14.6% in 2008.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interdststhe year ended December 31, 2008 decreas&d&® million as compared to 2007, incluc
the $83 million credit relating to the 2008 spedi@n. The remaining decrease was $103 milliorb@%, as compared to 2007, which principally
reflected the lower level of Lazard Group net ineoim 2008 as well as a decrease in LAZ-MD Holdiagsership interest of Lazard Group in 2008 (an
average of 43%) as compared to 2007 (an averag2%j. In addition, net income attributable to nameolling interests in 2008 includes a $13 million
credit related to various LAM GPs held directly dgrtain of our LAM managing directors for which thés an offsetting amount included in “revenue-
other”, as compared to a $5 million charge recoide2D07.

Business Segments

The following is a discussion of net revenue andrafing income for the Company’s business segmedfitgancial Advisory, Asset Management
and Corporate. Each segmemperating expenses include (i) compensation andflis expenses that are incurred directly in supgf the segment ar
(i) other operating expenses, which include diseictcurred expenses for occupancy and equipmeatketing and business development, technology
and information services, professional servicesdfadministration and outsourcing, and indirectpgupcosts (including compensation and benefits
expense and other operating expenses relatedahéetdministrative services. Such administratieevices include, but are not limited to, accaumti
tax, legal, facilities management and senior mamege activities. Such support costs are allocaidtld relevant segments based on various statistica
drivers such as, among other items, headcountrsdoatage and transactional volume. As reflectetthé tables below, each segmerperating resul
are presented, as applicable, on an “as reporteti*excluding special items” basis (see Note 2#8lofes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Financial Advisory

The following table summarizes the operating resoitthe Financial Advisory segment:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 200! December 31, 20C December 31, 20C
Non-
U.S. GAAP
Impact of Excluding
U.S. GAAP Special Special U.S. GAAP U.S. GAAP
As Reportec Item (@) Item (b) As Reported As Reported
($ in thousands)
M&A and Strategic Advison $526,22! $526,22! $ 814,66! $ 969,40
Restructuring 376,71( 376,71( 119,28 127,17!
Capital Markets and Other Adviso 83,88¢ 83,88t 88,97( 143,59
Net Revenut 986,82( 986,82( 1,022,91 1,240,17
Operating Expenses ( 998,72 $ 48,53. 950,19: 796,97( 920,70}
Operating Income (Los! $(11,907) $(48,53)) $ 36,62 $ 225,94 $ 319,47

Operating Income As A Percentage Of

Net Revenut 1% 4% 22% 26%

As of December 31

2009 2008 2007
Headcount (d)
Managing Director: 15C 151 13¢€
Limited Managing Director 3 5 3
Other Employees
Business segment profession 67¢ 691 654
All other professionals and support st 211 24¢€ 25€
Total 1,042 1,09: 1,05]

@

(b)
©

©)

Represents the portion of the 2009 specialdtattributable to the Financial Advisory segmepge(blote 24 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements;

A nor-U.S. GAAP measure that management believes protgesmost meaningful comparison between histormasent and future perioc
Includes indirect support costs (including cemgation and benefits expense and other operatpenees related thereto), and, in 2009, 2008 and
2007, $146, $3,470 and $21,523, respectively, artéimation of intangible assets related to the hess acquisitions in 200

Excludes headcount related to indirect supporttfans, with such headcount being included in thepGoate segmen
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Net revenue trends in Financial Advisory for M&AdaStrategic Advisory and Restructuring are gengi@lrelated to the volume of completed
industry-wide M&A transactions and restructuringsarring subsequent to corporate debt defaultpeaively. However, deviations from this
relationship can occur in any given year for a nemdf reasons. For instance, our results can déveaggn industrywide activity where there are mate
variances from the level of industwide M&A activity in a particular market where Ladzshas significant market share, or regarding étative numbe
of our advisory engagements with respect to lasigze transactions, and where we are involvedgnifitant non-public assignments. Certain Lazard
client statistics and global industry statistics set forth below:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Lazard Statistics:
Number of Clients
Total 62C 682 62t
With Fees Greater than $1 millic 25€ 22C 222
Percentage of Total Financial Advisory Revenue fiicp 10 Clients (a 17% 20% 19%
Number of M&A Transactions Completed Greater tharb#lion (b) 38 40 55

(&) There were no individual clients that consétutore than 10% of our Financial Advisory segnmattrevenue in the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 or 200°
(b) Source: Thomson Financial as of January 22, 2

The geographical distribution of Financial Advisomgt revenue is set forth below in percentage tefines offices that generate Financial Advis
net revenue are located in the U.S., Europe (pédlgi in the U.K., France, Italy, Spain and Germjauyd the rest of the world (principally in Austegl

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
United State! 51% 50% 49%
Europe 43 43 44
Rest of World 6 7 7
Total 100% 10C% 100%

The Company’s managing directors and many of idgssionals have significant experience, and mérlyemn are able to use this experience to
advise on M&A, strategic advisory matters and regttiring transactions, depending on clients’ negtss flexibility allows Lazard to better match its
professionals with the counter-cyclical businessdey of mergers and acquisitions and restructurMfsle Lazard measures revenue by practice area,
Lazard does not separately measure the costs fitapility of M&A services as compared to restrudhg services. Accordingly, Lazard measures
performance in its Financial Advisory segment basedverall segment net revenue and operating iramiargins.

Financial Advisory Results of Operations

As reflected in the table of operating resultshef Einancial Advisory segment above, the portiothef2009 special item attributable to the
Financial Advisory segment had a significant impatthe segment’s reported operating results foh sear. Lazard management believes that
comparisons between years are most meaningfuleftduding the impact of such item.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 versus December B8, 20

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Financiaisddy net revenue decreased $36 million, or 4% omspared to 2008, reflecting decreases in
M&A and Strategic Advisory revenue of $288 milliasr, 35%, and Capital Markets and Other Advisoryregenue of $5 million, or 6%, which were
substantially offset by Restructuring revenue (idahg fees for advising on distressed asset salésgh increased $257 million, or 216%.
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The decrease in M&A and Strategic Advisory revefauehe year ended December 31, 2009 was pringipiié to the adverse economic and
market conditions described above, which resuliddwer average fees per transaction for M&A anatggic Advisory clients, as well as those clients
generating fee revenues greater than $1 millionwéder, throughout 2009, M&A and Strategic Advisgoarterly revenue improved sequentially, with
revenue in the second half of 2009 up 28%, as coedpa the first half of 2009. Our major clientdjieh in the aggregate represented 25% of our M&A
and Strategic Advisory revenue for the year, inetlidcciona, Anheuser-Busch InBev, Barclays, CaiEpargne, Republic of Ecuador, SFGI-FPIM,
GlaxoSmithKline, Haas Trusts, IBM and Saint-Gobain.

Restructuring revenue is derived from various #@is including bankruptcy assignments, global dett financing restructurings, distressed ¢
sales and advice on complex on- and off-balancetsissignments, such as retiree health care dbligatRestructuring revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2009 increased significantly as coatpty 2008 due to the significant increases indefand in-court and out-of-court restructurings.
Notable assignments completed in 2009 included Qeflearter Communications, Lehman Brothers, Ndetworks and the UAW

The decrease in Capital Markets and Other Advisetyrevenue reflected decreases in the value df élosings by our Private Fund Advisory
Group and private placements by our Capital Marl@gtsup, as well as declines in Equity Capital Méskeansactions, all of which have been impacted
by the uncertainty of the financial markets dur2@9. Transactions in the year ended December(®B, ixcluded Gores Il and Triton 1ll, Lehman
Brothers and Sterling Group Il in our Private Fukdlisory Group, and Danone on their rights offgrin

Operating expenses for the year ended Decemb@089, increased $202 million, or 25%, as compare&2D@8. Excluding the impact of the
portion of the 2009 special item attributable te Financial Advisory segment, operating expense®eased $153 million, or 19%, as compared to 2008.
Contributing to the increase was the change irCivapany’s compensation policy as previously desdriilan increase in the amortization expense
associated with previously granted equity-basedritice awards and the current year portion of tieeipusly awarded deferred cash incentive awards,
which were partially offset by lower salaries arhéfits due to the impact of the staff reductiocssoaiated with the restructuring program implemente
during the first quarter of 2009, the strengtherofthe U.S. dollar versus foreign currencies, lmeer costs related to travel and other business
development expenses, including recruiting, teabgypkexpenses and amortization of intangible assets.

Financial Advisory operating loss for 2009 was $diftion, a decrease of $238 million as compare@@68, and represented (1)% of segment net
revenues for 2009, as compared to 22% in 2008 udka) the impact of the portion of the 2009 speitéh attributable to the Financial Advisory
segment, operating income decreased $189 millidrepresented 4% of segment net revenues in 28@%mapared to 22% in 2008.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 versus December 87, 20

In 2008, Financial Advisory net revenue decreased $nillion, or 18%, as compared to 2007, with M&Ad Strategic Advisory revenue
decreasing $155 million, or 16%, and Restructuringenue decreasing $8 million, or 6%, while Capifarkets and Other Advisory net revenue
decreased $55 million, or 38%.

The decrease in M&A and Strategic Advisory reveimu2008 was principally due to the adverse econ@anit market conditions described above,
and resulted in lower average fees per transaetidrthe result of both a lower number of M&A tract&ans completed greater than $1 billion which
typically generate significant fees, as well asvadr number of clients generating fee revenuestgrélaan $1 million. Our major clients, which ireth
aggregate represented 25% of our M&A and Strataédidsory revenue for the year, included APP Phaenécals, Bear Stearns, Gaz de France, In
International Paper, Penn National Gaming, Resmiutife, Royal Bank of Scotland, Trane and Zinefix.

Restructuring revenue for 2008 ended slightly lothan 2007. Notable assignments completed in thetf@uarter included Lehman Brothers,
Metaldyne, Reliant Energy and Sprint Nextel. Regtrting
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assignments that we were involved with in North Aiceeincluded Charter Communications, CIFG Assueafi@nnie Mae, Hawaiian Telcom, Nortel,
Pilgrim’s Pride, Smurfit-Stone Container, Tarragoorporation, Tribune Co. and The Trustees of BethaMadoff Investment Securities and in
Europe, Premiere, Vita Group, Belvedere, Ineos@lythpic Airways.

The decrease in Capital Markets and Other Advisetyrevenue reflected decreases in the value df élosings by our Private Fund Advisory
Group, private placements by our Capital Marketsuprand declines in Equity Capital Markets trarisast all of which have been negatively impacted
by the deterioration of the financial markets dgr2008. Our Alternative Capital Finance Group sdrage a placement agent on a number of RD
Offerings, including RDs for H&R Block, Clean Engrfuels and Orient-Express.

Operating expenses for the year ended Decemb@088, decreased $124 million, or 13%, as compar@®®d, primarily due to decreased
compensation expense consistent with lower operativenue and reduced amortization of intangibéetssassociated with the 2007 acquisitions. Such
decreases were partially offset by increases elatéhe amortization of an increased amount of R $tereased costs from the strategic headcount
growth of senior bankers and relating to compaacegiired in 2007 and other new offices, as welhaeases in business development expenses for
travel and market related data.

Financial Advisory operating income for 2008 desexh$94 million, or 29%, as compared to 2007 aptesented 22% and 26% of segment net
revenue for 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Asset Management
The following table shows the composition of AUM the Asset Management segment:

As of December 31

2009 2008 2007
($ in millions)
AUM:
International Equitie $ 32,26¢  $25,000 $ 50,53t
Global Equities 58,33: 31,55 47,81«
U.S. Equities 16,00: 13,177 20,927
Total Equities 106,60: 69,73( 119,27¢
European and International Fixed Inco 13,76: 12,69( 10,25¢
Global Fixed Incom: 1,794 1,182 2,161
U.S. Fixed Incom 2,49¢ 1,951 1,817
Total Fixed Income 18,05¢ 15,82« 14,23:
Alternative Investment 3,93¢ 3,19¢ 3,577
Private Equity (a 83¢ 1,57¢ 1,401
Cash Managemel 10¢ 78C 2,92¢
Total AUM $129,54: $91,10¢ $141,41:

(@) AtDecember 31, 2009, includes $0.6 billioratetl to the July 15, 2009 Edgewater Acquisition exxludes, as of December 31, 2009, the AUM
of FPG and the related investment company for whiaztard may have earned carried interests (whicbuated to $1.4 billion and $1.3 billion of
AUM at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively) wuthe sale of FPG effective September 30, 2
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Average AUM for the years ended December 31, 22008 and 2007 is set forth below. Average AUM isdzhon an average of quarterly ending
balances for the respective periods.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
($ in millions)
Average AUM $103,98¢ $122,82¢ $130,82°

Total AUM at December 31, 2009 increased $38.4oijlor 42%, as compared to that at December 318.20/hile average AUM for the year
ended December 31, 2009 was 15% lower than thegeekUM for 2008, average AUM increased sequegtiafl quarter during 2009. International,
Global and U.S. equities represented 25%, 45% a#@ df total AUM at December 31, 2009, respectivebrsus 27%, 35% and 14% of total AUM at
December 31, 2008, respectively.

Total AUM at December 31, 2008 decreased $50.®bjlbr 36%, as compared to that at December 317.28verage AUM for the year ended
December 31, 2008 decreased $8 billion, or 6%pawpared to the average AUM in 2007, with averagdvdécreasing sequentially by quarter during
2008. International, Global and U.S. equities repnted 27%, 35% and 14% of total AUM at DecembeB08, respectively, versus 36%, 34% and
15% of total AUM at December 31, 2007, respectively

As of December 31, 2009, approximately 89% of oUtMAwas managed on behalf of institutional clieirtsJuding corporations, labor unions,
public pension funds, insurance companies and hamikthrough sub-advisory relationships, mutuatifaponsors, broker-dealers and registered
advisors versus 85% of December 31, 2008, and, Bs@ember 31, 2009, 11% of our AUM was managefedralf of individual client relationships,
which are principally with family offices and higket worth individuals, versus 15% at December 8082

The following is a summary of changes in AUM foe tyears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
($ in millions)

AUM —Beginning of Yea $ 91,10¢ $141,41: $110,43

Net Flows(a] 10,25: 1,371 16,74t

Acquisitions/(Dispositions)(k (831) - -

Market and Foreign Exchange Appreciation (Deprémid 29,01: (51,679 14,23

AUM—End of Yeatr $129,54: $ 91,10¢ $141,41:

(@) Includes inflows of $30,984, $25,923 and $42,03d autflows of $20,731, $24,552 and $25,286 forytdars ended December 31, 2009, 200€
2007, respectively

(b) Includes AUM and unfunded fee-earning committaealated to the Edgewater Acquisition, offsetly disposition of private equity AUM
related to the sale of FP

Inflows, which principally occurred in the secoralffof 2009, were in a broad range of productshwinphasis on Emerging Markets and Global
Thematic Equity products due to increased investsi@rexisting accounts as well as new accountsegaiOutflows occurred most significantly in U.S.
Mid Cap and Small Cap Equity and European and Bddity products.

Consistent with the industry as a whole, we expege market appreciation subsequent to the firattguof 2009, which was the principal
contributor to the increase in AUM. During the yeaded December 31, 2009, equity products experietite most significant market appreciation,
with such increase slightly better than the glabatket indices previously described. As of Decen3ier2009, AUM denominated in foreign currencies
represented approximately 45% of our total AUMcampared to 50% at December 31, 2008. Foreign dieraded AUM declines in value with the
strengthening of the U.S. dollar and increasesloevas the U.S. dollar weakens.
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Inflows during the year ended December 31, 20081wed across all products (principally Global Egst International Equities, European and
International Fixed Income and Alternative Investingroducts) due to contributions to existing actewas well as new accounts gained. The majority
of the inflows occurred in the first half of 2008 iavestors in the second half of the year deldyading new mandates or increasing funding of égst
mandates. Outflows occurred relatively evenly tiglmut the year also across all products due todrathals from existing accounts and, to a lesser
degree, accounts lost.

Significant market depreciation was experience®l0@8, including the impact of the strengthening.Wdi@lar versus foreign currencies
particularly in the second half of 2008, with théaetors being the principal contributors to ther@ase in AUM. Equity products experienced the most
significant decrease, with International and Gldbauwity products experiencing market depreciatibapproximately 40% and U.S. Equity experiencing
market depreciation of approximately 30%. Such elzses were generally consistent with global manktites as described above.

As of February 19, 2010, AUM was $125.9 billior&6 billion decrease since December 31, 2009.cha@ege in AUM since December 31, 2!
was due to market depreciation of $4.3 billion aetlinflows of $0.7 billion. Market depreciatiomse December 31, 2009 was approximately 3% of
AUM at December 31, 2009, which was generally cstesit with the decline in global market indicesidgthat period.

The following table summarizes the operating resoitthe Asset Management segment for the yearsdeDdcember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.
Operating results for the years ended Decembe2(®19 and 2008 are shown before and after the chaedpted to the 2009 and 2008 special items.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 20C
Non- Non-
U.S. GAAF U.S. GAAF
Impact of Impact of
Excluding Excluding
U.S. GAAP Special Special U.S. GAAP Special Special U.S. GAAP
As Reportec Item (a) Item (b) As Reportec Item (a) Item (b) As Reported
($ in thousands)
Revenue
Management Fee $ 488,63t $ 488,63t $ 568,43t $ 568,43t $ 595,72¢
Incentive Fee 74,79¢ 74,79¢ 34,96: 34,96: 67,03:
Other Income 31,257 31,25] 24,73: 24,73: 56,85¢
Sut-total 594,68¢ 594,68t 628,12 628,12 719,61¢
Noncontrolling Interest Revent 6,96 6,96 (13,34%) (13,349 5,13¢
Net Revenut 601,65: 601,65: 614,78: 614,78: 724,75:
Operating Expenses ( 504,45 $  7,50¢ 496,94« 678,17( $ 197,55( 480,62( 539,80(
Operating Income (Lost $  97,20( $ (7,509 $ 104,70t $ (63,389 $(197,55() $ 134,16 $ 184,95:
Operating Income (Loss
As A Percentage of Net Reven 16% 17% (10)% 22% 26%
As of December 31
Headcount(d)
Managing Director: 56 56 48
Limited Managing Director — 1 3
Other Employees
Business segment profession 29¢ 327 334
All other professionals and support staff functi 27z 301 372
Total

62€

68t 751

(&) Represents the portion of the 2009 and 2008ageems attributable to the Asset Managemenireeg (see Note 24 of Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements
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(b) A nor-U.S. GAAP measure that management believes prottigeost meaningful comparison between historfmalsent and future perioc
(c) Includes indirect support costs (including compéngaand benefits expense and other operating egserelated theretc
(d) Excludes headcount related to indirect supporttfans, with such headcount being included in thepGate segmen

Our top ten clients accounted for 23%, 25% and B7%wr total AUM at December 31, 2009, 2008 and7208spectively, and there were no
individual clients that constituted more than 10P6ar Asset Management segment net revenue dunn@the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007.

The geographical distribution of Asset Managementravenue is set forth below in percentage terms:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2008 2007
United State: 53% 52% 54%
Europe 36 37 37
Rest of World 1 1 _9
Total 10C% 10C% 10C%

Asset Management Results of Operations

As reflected in the table of operating resultshaf Asset Management segment above, the portidred#@09 and 2008 special items attributable to
the Asset Management segment had a significantdtrgrathe segment’s reported operating resultsdoh years. Lazard management believes that
comparisons between years are most meaningfule@ftduding the impact of such items.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 versus December B8, 20

Asset Management net revenue in the year endechibere31, 2009 declined $13 million, or 2%, as coregdo 2008. Management fees for 2!
decreased $80 million, or 14%, as compared to 2008n by a 15% decrease in average AUM. Thisetesa was due largely to the decline in equity
markets, which was patrtially offset by the impaca@hange in the mix of investment products anélleof management fees on certain products.
However, consistent with the sequential increaspumrterly average AUM described above, managefeentevenue was 44% higher in the second half
of 2009 as compared to the first half of 2009. iice fees in 2009 increased $40 million, or 114%compared to 2008, relating to both alternath a
traditional long-only investment strategies. Otterenue increased $27 million, or 236%, as comper@®08, principally as a result of higher revenue
from noncontrolling interests, foreign exchange easurement gains and investment income.

Operating expenses for 2009 decreased by $17bmilhir 26%, as compared to 2008. When excludin@®@@® and 2008 special items, operating
expenses in 2009 increased $16 million, or 3% qipally due to the change in the Company’s comp@msaolicy as previously described. Also
impacting the increase was an increase in theutrert year portion of amortization expense assediwith previously awarded deferred cash incentive
awards, higher fees for outsourced services andcaease in the amortization of intangible asselegting to the Edgewater Acquisition, partially et
by decreased compensation related to reduced hesitlemd declines in business development expdosésvel and market-related data and
professional fees.

Asset Management operating income for the yearcBadeember 31, 2009 was $97 million, an increasgl6éd million, as compared to an
operating loss of $63 million in 2008, and représdri6% of segment net revenue in 2009, as compar@d)% in 2008. When excluding the impac
the 2009 and 2008 special items, operating incan2909 decreased $29 million, or 22%, when comptr@®08, and represented 17% of segment net
revenue in 2009 as compared to 22% for 2008.
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Year Ended December 31, 2008 versus December BZ, 20

Asset Management net revenue in 2008 declined #1iflion, or 15%, as compared to 2007. Managemess fer 2008 decreased $27 million, or
5%, versus 2007 driven by a 6% decrease in aveéxbige due largely to market depreciation primarilyrohg the second half of 2008 as well as the
impact of a change in the mix of investment progaetd levels of management fees on certain prodacentive fees decreased $32 million, or 48%,
for 2008, as compared to 2007, with the decreaseipally in alternative investment strategies. @tmcome decreased $51 million, or 82%, as
compared to 2007 principally as a result of lovesrenue from noncontrolling interests, other invesitlosses and foreign currency transaction losses.

Operating expenses for 2008 increased $138 millisrcompared to 2007. Excluding the 2008 speeal iif approximately $197 million,
operating expenses in 2008 decreased $59 milliohl1%, versus 2007, due principally to decreasedpemsation related to lower operating revenue,
partially offset by increases in outsourced sewv&e a result of LAM outsourcing a portion of ipeeations, business development expenses for travel
and market related data as well as for amortizaifaan increased amount of RSUs granted.

Including the 2008 special item of approximatel@$million, Asset Management had an operating té$63 million, a decline of $248 million
as compared to operating income of $185 millioB007. Excluding the impact of the 2008 special jtAisset Management had operating income in

2008 of $134 million, a decline of $51 million, 7%, as compared to 2007, with operating income @arcentage of segment net revenue being 22%
for 2008, as compared to 26% for 2007.

Corporate
The following table summarizes the results of tloepOrate segment:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 200! December 31, 200: December 31, 20C
Non- Non-
U.S. GAAF U.S. GAAP
Impact Impact of
of Excluding Excluding
U.S. GAAP Special Special U.S. GAAP Special Special U.S. GAAP
As Reportec Items (@) Items (b) As Reportec Item (@) Item (b) As Reported
($ in thousands)
Interest Income $ 23,367 $ 23,367 $ 63,69: $ 63,69 $ 68,90t
Interest Expens (103,13) (103,13) (138,10) (138,10) (136,59)
Net Interest Income (Expens (79,76¢) (79,76¢) (74,41%) (74,41%) (67,697)
Other Revenu 21,81( 21,81( (6,072) (6,072) 20,45!
Net Revenue (Expens (57,959 (57,959 (80,487 (80,487 (47,239
Operating Expense 209,57¢ $ 153,53! 56,03¢ 56,927 $ 2,000 54,927 38,88¢
Operating Los: $  (267,52) $(153,53)) $ (113,99) $ (137,419 $ (2,000 $ (135,419 $ (86,129)

As of December 31
200¢  200¢€ 2007
Headcount (c)
Managing Director:
Limited Managing Director
Other Employees
Business segment profession 10 8 9
All other professionals and support si 607 64C 638
Total 624 65€ 65C
(&) Represents the portion of the 2009 and 2008 a&deems attributable to the Corporate segmes (dote 24 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements;

(b) A nor-U.S. GAAP measure that management believes prottigeost meaningful comparison between historfmalsent and future perioc
(c) Includes headcount related to support functi

7 8 8
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Corporate Results of Operations

As reflected in the table of operating resultshef Corporate segment above, the 2009 and 2008s$fieais had a significant impact on the
segment’s reported operating results in such yeamard management believes that comparisons betyesgs are most meaningful after excluding the
impact such item.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 versus December B8, 20

Net interest expense in the year ended Decemb&0B8, increased $5 million, or 7%, as compared@B2During 2009, interest income declil
$40 million due to a lower interest rate environmendecrease in the balance of interest earnisetasat LFB as well as lower average cash balances.
Average cash decreased as a result of the shanehages of Class A common stock as well as therebpse of a portion of the Compasiyputstandin
6.85% and 7.125% senior notes. The decrease irgttimcome was substantially offset by lower iestexpense in 2009 of $35 million, principallye
result of the reduction in interest expense relébetie Company’s May 2008 purchase of $437 milaggregate principal amount of its 6.12% senior
notes in connection with the remarketing of suctes@nd by the above-mentioned repurchases ofrsesties, as well as a lower interest rate
environment and reduced levels of LFB’s customgodés.

Other revenue increased $28 million in the yeaedrdecember 31, 2009, as compared to 2008, prihcighze to investment income in 2009 of
$18 million in the Company’s investment portfoli@rsus an aggregate loss of $53 million in 200BFB’s corporate debt portfolio (redesignated as
“available-for-sale” effective July 1, 2008) ane tGompany’s investment portfolio. With respecttte tatter, during 2009, the Company had in place a
hedging strategy to minimize its risks associatéti wolatility in the equity markets. Other factarsntributing to the increase were revenues from
various other investments of $7 million in 2009stex losses of $5 million in 2008, partially offbgt(i) a $13 million charge relating to the writé-of
the Company’s investment in warrants of Sapphiijea $20 million gain in 2008 on the repurchasegfortion of the Company’senior notes and (iii)
$24 million gain in 2008 from a foreign currencgrisaction.

Operating expenses for 2009 increased $153 millisrcompared to 2008, principally due to the 2q@2ml items attributable to the Corporate
segment. When excluding the impact of the 20092088 special items, operating expenses increaseuldn, or 2%, in 2009. Factors contributing to
the increase were principally due to the changeenCompanys compensation policy described above, as welhasaease in the amortization expe
associated with the current year portion of presipawarded deferred cash incentive awards, whislewffset by a benefit pursuant to the tax
receivable agreement and the $12 million providarcounterparty defaults in 2008.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 versus December 87, 20

Net interest expense in the year ended Decemb@0BB, increased $7 million, or 10%, as comparezDtwy. Lower interest income was the
principal contributing factor to the decline, deddwer average cash balances and a lower intextesenvironment. Average cash decreased as & resul
of the share repurchases of Lazard Ltd’s ClassrArngon stock as well as the repurchase of a portitheoCompany’s outstanding 6.85% and 7.125%
senior notes. Interest expense increased pringipalh result of the June 2007 issuance of thefentioned 6.85% senior notes, partially offsethay
reduction in interest expense related to the Coyipaviay 2008 purchase of $437 million aggregatagipal amount of its 6.12% senior notes in
connection with the remarketing of such notes anthb repayment of certain senior and subordinatees in June 2007.

Other revenue declined $27 million in the year enBecember 31, 2008, as compared to 2007, due texttnaordinary disruption and volatility in
the equity and credit markets during 2008 whichesslgly impacted investment income. The declinglieorevenue as compared to 2007 reflects a $60
million decrease in investment income due to lossesmarkdowns in the first quarter of 2008 of LEBOrporate debt portfolio held as an integral part
of its asset-liability management program, net alized losses in the Company’s investment portfaitd a $12 million write-down of private equity
investments (primarily in the fourth quarter of 8p0partially offset by a $20 million gain from thepurchase of a portion of the Compangénior note
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and a $24 million gain from a foreign currency saction. Other revenue in 2007 included $14 milbdbminrealized gains on private equity investments
and a $9 million gain in connection with the Comyarshare in the net proceeds related to the $aeortion of LFCM Holdingsbwnership interest i
PG&C (see Note 22 of Notes to Consolidated FindrBt@ements.)

Operating expenses for 2008 increased $18 milisrgompared to 2007, including the $2 million cleamrglating to the 2008 special item
attributable to the Corporate segment, and inceeimsether operating expenses in 2008 of $16 millar 41%, as compared to 2007. The increase in
operating expenses in 2008 was principally duegmaision of $12 million for losses from countertyadefaults primarily relating to the bankruptdy o
one of our prime brokers and in professional feeddgal expenses related to various corporateitdes during 2008. Decreases in compensation and
benefits resulting from lower operating revenueew&ffset by increases in various other expensejosss.

Cash Flows

The Companys cash flows are influenced by the timing of theeipt of Financial Advisory and Asset Managemessfe¢he timing of distributior
to shareholders and payments of incentive compiensiat managing directors and employees. M&A, 8gat Advisory and Asset Management fees
generally collected within 60 days of billing, wditestructuring fee collections may extend beydhd#ys, particularly those that involve bankrupgcie
with court-ordered holdbacks. Fees from our prifatel advisory activities are generally collecteioa four-year period from billing and typically
include an interest component.

Lazard Group traditionally pays a significant pontiof its incentive compensation during the fimirfmonths of each calendar year with respe
the prior year’s results.

Summary of Cash Flows:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008
($ in millions)
Cash Provided By (Used In):
Operating activities
Net loss $ (188.9) $ (0.2
Noncash charges ( 376.< 284.¢
Other operating activities (| 56.7 221.:
Net cash provided by operating activit 244.¢ 505.¢
Investing activities (c (96.€) (151.9
Financing activities (d (165.¢ (437.0
Effect of exchange rate chang 25.C (63.7)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivaler 7.€ (146.7)
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Beginning of Year 909.7 1,055.¢
End of Year $ 917.: $ 909.7
(@) Consists of the following
Depreciation and amortization of prope $ 22t $ 20t
Amortization of deferred expenses, stock unitsiaterest rate hedc 372.t 246.¢
Deferred tax benef (23.9) (31.9)
Amortization of intangible assets related to businacquisition 5.C 4.€
Non-cash portion of charge related to 2008 special — 64.5
Gain on extinguishment of de 0.9) (20.9
$ 376.8 $ 284.¢
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(b) Includes net changes in operating assets ahiities relating to increases and decreases legtwears in both the “deposits and other payables”
and “receivables-net” captions on the statementssii flows and relates primarily to LFB. Includeithin the “receivables-net” caption on the
statements of cash flows are amounts related tdd_§tort-term inter-bank deposits, which represeistantially all of the separately identified
amount recorded as “receivables—net: banks” oiCirapany’s statements of financial condition. Thelef these inter-bank deposits is
primarily driven by the level of LFB customer anahix-related interest-bearing time and demand depadghich can fluctuate significantly on a
daily basis. As the amount of such deposits chahgee is generally a corresponding, but indireepact on the level of short-term inter-bank
deposits

(c) Principally relates to the Edgewater Acquisiteind our equity method investment in Sapphire Kestes 9 and 15 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements), purchases and proceedssates and maturities of “available-for-sale” andlthto maturity” securities and the purchase
of our equity method investment in Merchant Bankeseciados

(d)  Primarily includes distributions to nonconting interest holders, Class A common stock dividemepurchases of common membership interests
from LAZ-MD Holdings and shares of Class A commeéwock and activity related to borrowings, includimg 2008, the Company’s purchase of
$437 million aggregate principal amount of its @4 8enior notes in connection with the remarketingd #he concurrent settlement of the purchase
contract component of the equity security unitsUs”), which resulted in Lazard Ltd issuing 14,588 shares of Class A common stock for
aggregate proceeds of $438 million, as well agé¢pearchase in 2008 and 2009 of a portion of the @my’s outstanding 6.85% and 7.125%
senior notes

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s liquidity and capital resources aévetd from operating activities, financing agreemseand equity offerings.

Operating Activities

Net revenue, operating income (loss) and cashptciictuate significantly between quarters. la tiase of Financial Advisory, fee receipts are
principally dependent upon the successful compietioclient transactions, the occurrence and tinahghich is irregular and not subject to Lazard’s
control. In the case of Asset Management, inceries earned on AUM are generally not earned thiend of the applicable measurement period,
which is generally the fourth quarter of Lazard&él year, with the respective receivable collddtethe first quarter of the following year.

Liquidity is significantly impacted by incentive egpensation payments, a significant portion of whiddtorically have been made during the first
four months of the year. As a consequence, castand generally declines in the beginning of the yea gradually builds over the remainder of the
year. We also pay certain tax advances during ¢lae gn behalf of our managing directors, which sg@ovreduce their respective incentive compens
payments. We expect this seasonal pattern of ¢asttd continue.

Lazard’s consolidated financial statements aregmtesi in U.S. dollars. Many of Lazard’'s non-U.Ssidiaries have a functional currenciye(.,
the currency in which operational activities aremarrily conducted) that is other than the U.S. aglgenerally the currency of the country in whicich
subsidiaries are domiciled. Such subsidiaries’tasmad liabilities are translated into U.S. dollarshe respective balance sheet date exchange rate
while revenue and expenses are translated at avesatpange rates during the year based on thedadiing exchange rates. Adjustments that result
from translating amounts from a subsidiary’s fuoeél currency are reported as a component of mesitéteickholders’ equity. Foreign currency
remeasurement gains and losses on transactiomsifunctional currencies are included on the cadatgd statements of operations.

We regularly monitor our liquidity position, inclirdy cash levels, credit lines, principal investmesmmitments, interest and principal payments
on debt, capital expenditures and matters relatingiuidity and to compliance with regulatory metpital requirements. At December 31, 2009, Lazard
had approximately $1.1 billion of cash and liquéttsrities, including $148 million of U.S. governmelebt and agencies securities
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and $82 million of investments in marketable eqsigurities and public and private asset managefueds. We maintain lines of credit in excess of
anticipated liquidity requirements. As of DecemBg&r 2009, Lazard had approximately $262 milliomiused lines of credit available to it, including a
$150 million senior revolving credit facility with group of lenders that matures in May 2010 (theeti@ Facility”) (see “—Financing” below) and an
aggregate of $89 million of unused lines of creditilable to LFB and Edgewater. In addition, LFB lacess to the Eurosystem Covered Bond Pur
Program of the Banque de France.

Financing

Over the past several years, Lazard has enteredéveral financing agreements designed to strendibth its capital base and liquidity. Each of
these agreements is discussed in more detail ioangolidated financial statements and relatedsnatduded elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The table
below sets forth our corporate indebtedness asoe®ber 31, 2009 and 2008.

Maturity As of December 31
Increase
Date 2009 2008 (Decrease
($ in millions)
Senior Debt
7.125% 2015 $ 538.t $ 538.t $ —
6.85%(a) 2017 548.¢ 549.% (0.9
Subordinated Deb
3.25%(b) 2016 150.( 150.( —
Total Senior and Subordinated Di $1,236.¢ $1,237.¢ $ (0.9

(a) During the year ended December 31, 2009, thep@ay repurchased $0.9 million principal amournit$6.85% Senior Notes due in 2017, and
recognized an aggregate gain of $0.3 millio“revenu-other”.

(b) Convertible into shares of Class A common statc&n effective conversion price of $57 per sh@ree third in principal amount became
convertible on and after July 1, 2008, an additi@me third in principal amount became convertifsbeand after July 1, 2009, and a final one third
in principal amount will become convertible on after July 1, 2010, with no principal amounts catitée after June 30, 201

Lazard’s annual cash flow generated from operatisi®rically has been sufficient to enable it teanits annual obligations. Lazard has not had
an outstanding balance under its Credit FacilitgsiJune 30, 2006. We believe that our cash floera bperating activities, along with the use of our
credit lines as needed, should be sufficient fatousind our current obligations for the next 12nths and beyond.

As long as the lenders’ commitments remain in éffeicy loan pursuant to the Credit Facility remainsstanding and unpaid or any other amount
is owing to the lending bank group, the Credit Fgcincludes financial condition covenants thaquée that Lazard Group not permit (i) its
Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the i€Fattility) for the 12-month period ending on st day of any fiscal quarter to be greater th&@@ 4
to 1.00 or (ii) its Consolidated Interest Cover&gio (as defined in the Credit Facility) for the-thonth period ending on the last day of any fiscal
quarter to be less than 3.00 to 1.00. For the 18timperiod ended December 31, 2009 Lazard Grougme@mpliance with such ratios, with its
Consolidated Leverage Ratio being 2.76 to 1.00i@ndonsolidated Interest Coverage Ratio being 8©3600. Notwithstanding such compliance, no
amounts were outstanding under the Credit Faaktpf December 31, 2009.

In addition, the Credit Facility, indenture and plgmental indentures relating to Lazard Group’s@emotes, as well as its $150 Million
Subordinated Convertible Note, contain certain oto@enants (none of which relate to financial goad), events of default and other customary
provisions. At December 31, 2009, the Company waoimpliance with all of these provisions. We maythe extent required and subject to restrict
contained in our financing arrangements, use dthancing sources, which may cause us to be sutgjesndditional restrictions or covenants.
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Lazard Group’s senior debt is currently rated BEBtable outlook) by both Standard & Poor’s andlFRatings and Bal by Moody’s Investors
Service. On February 2, 2010, Moody’s announcetithiey had placed the ratings of Lazard Group erere for possible downgrade.

See Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak&tants for additional information regarding sefsind subordinated debt.

Stockholder’ Equity

At December 31, 2009, total stockholders’ equitys 823 million as compared to $312 million at DebenB31, 2008, including $168 million and
$61 million of noncontrolling interests on the resfive dates. The increase in stockholders’ eqfi§211 million in the year ended December 31, 2009
was principally due to (i) amortization of RSUs ateferred stock units (“DSUs”) amounting to $35%liom, (ii) acquisitions of (net of distributions}
noncontrolling interests of $59 million, (iii) ineases in AOCI (including noncontrolling interegisttion thereof) of $53 million, and (iv) Class A
common stock issued or issuable in connection luiiness acquisitions and the LAM Merger of $39iam| with these items partially offset by (i) a
net loss of $188 million, (ii) purchases of Class@nmon stock and common membership interests frdd MD Holdings of $64 million, (iii) Class ,
common stock dividends of $33 million, and (iv) $h8lion principally for withholding taxes related the delivery of Class A common stock in
connection with the settlement of vested RSUs. ilfbreeases in AOCI described above are due primari(j) net positive foreign currency translation
adjustments of $54 million and (ii) net mark-ups$@® million related to securities designated amilable-for-sale”, with these items partially aftdy
adjustments to employee benefit plans of $30 nnillio

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynrggrurchased 1,984,997 shares of Class A comnook anhd 500,924 Lazard Group
common membership interests for an aggregate ¢agpwoximately $64 million. At December 31, 20883 million of the initial $500 million share
purchase authorization was unused and expireda®uady 27, 2010, the Board of Directors of Lazatal duthorized, on a cumulative basis, a new ¢
repurchase program permitting the repurchase 6 %200 million in aggregate cost of its Class Ancoon stock and Lazard Group common
membership interests through December 31, 2011Ne&= 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgséor information regarding the share
repurchase program).

At December 31, 2008, total stockholders’ equitys 812 million, as compared to $123 million at Deber 31, 2007, including $61 million and
$39 million of noncontrolling interests on the resfive dates. The increase in stockholder’s eqfiy189 million in the year ended December 31, 2008
was principally due to (i) the issuance on May 2B)8 of 14,582,750 shares of Lazard Ltd Class Amomstock in connection with the settlement of
the $438 million of purchase contracts forming pdithe ESUs (see Note 16 of Notes to ConsolidBtedncial Statements), (ii) the current year
amortization of RSUs and DSUs amounting to $23@ianil and (iii) Class A common stock issued or &s@ in connection with business acquisitions
and the LAM Merger of $77 million, partially offsby (i) Lazard Group’s purchases of $280 milliorcommon membership interests from certain
members of LAZ-MD Holdings and Class A Common std@ka net reduction in AOCI of $178 million, ijiidistributions to noncontrolling interests of
$78 million, (iv) Class A common stock dividends&#3 million, and (v) $5 million principally for whiholding taxes related to the delivery of Class A
common stock in connection with the settlementesfted RSUs. The net reduction in AOCI is due priméo (i) net negative foreign currency
translation adjustments of $152 million and (ii} nearkdowns of $41 million related to securitiesigaated as “available-for-sale”, with these items
partially offset by credits of $16 million relatéal employee benefit plans and amortization of tierest rate hedge.

On September 3, 2008, certain selling shareholafdrazard Ltd (which include current and former ragimg directors of Lazard and certain of
our executive officers) and their permitted transés (the “2008 Selling Shareholders”) sold 6,422 Shares, of Class A common stock to the public.
Pursuant to the underwriting agreement and théngriagreement, the underwriters had the optiorutatpase up to an additional 715,858 shares of
A common stock (together with the offering of 6,421 shares of Class A common stock (the “2008 &#ay Offering”)) from the 2008 Selling
Shareholders. To the extent that this
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option was not exercised in full, Lazard Group agdrto separately purchase from the 2008 SellingeBloéders, at the public offering price less the
underwriting discount, all of those shares covdngthe option and not purchased pursuant to thempPursuant to that separate purchase agreement,
Lazard Group purchased 68,238 shares of Class Anoonstock for an aggregate cost of $2.43 milliaB5($1 per share). In addition, pursuant to the
underwriting agreement, Lazard Group also separateichased 715,858 shares of Class A common &toeckthe 2008 Selling Shareholders for an
aggregate cost of $25.49 million ($35.61 per share¢ shares of Class A common stock describeldisnparagraph purchased by Lazard Group were
purchased as part of the share repurchase progesrNpte 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak$tants). In the aggregate, the 2008 Selling
Shareholders sold a total of 7,874,437 sharesagsCA common stock (including 1,472,906 sharesla$sCA common stock previously exchanged for
LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable interests and 6,401 8i3ares of Class A common stock exchanged for MiY Holdings interests simultaneously
with the 2008 Secondary Offering).

In June 2009, pursuant to a Prospectus Suppleraged dune 2, 2009, certain selling shareholdeksipdrd Ltd (which include current and forn
managing directors of Lazard and certain of ourcasiee officers) and their permitted transfereée (June 2009 Selling Shareholders”) sold 4,000,000
shares of Class A common stock at a price of $2pedGhare (the “June 2009 Secondary Offeringpagstely, in connection with the June 2009
Secondary Offering, Lazard Group agreed to purcfrase the June 2009 Selling Shareholders 1,700sb@des of Class A common stock for an
aggregate cost of $44.20 million ($26.00 per shavigh such purchase being part of the share réyases program. In the aggregate, the June 2009
Selling Shareholders sold a total of 5,700,000eshaf Class A common stock (including 2,110,754ehaf Class A common stock previously received
upon the exchange of a like number of LAZ-MD Holgrexchangeable interests and 3,589,246 shardasd & common stock received upon a
simultaneous exchange of a like number of LAZ-MDdiings exchangeable interests).

In September 2009, pursuant to a Prospectus Suppteatated September 8, 2009, certain selling sbiters of Lazard Ltd (which include
current and former managing directors of Lazard@rthin of our executive officers) and their peted transferees (the “September 2009 Selling
Shareholders”) sold 5,215,921 shares of Class Anvomstock (including 2,411,001 shares of Class miroon stock previously received upon the
exchange of a like number of LAZ-MD Holdings excheable interests and 2,804,920 shares of Classmnom stock received upon a simultaneous
exchange of a like number of LAZ-MD Holdings excbeable interests) at a price of $37.00 per shhee"@eptember 2009 Secondary Offering”,
together with the June 2009 Secondary Offering, 2009 Secondary Offerings”).

In addition to the simultaneous exchanges thatmedun connection with the 2008 Secondary Offeand 2009 Secondary Offerings
(collectively, the “2008 and 2009 Secondary Offgsif), during 2008 and 2009 Lazard Ltd issued 283Dand 7,523,236 shares of Class A common
stock, respectively, in connection with the exclenfa like number of common membership interebtsamard Group (received from members of LAZ-
MD Holdings in exchange for a like number of LAZ-Mibldings exchangeable interests).

Lazard Ltd did not receive any proceeds from the sacommon stock in the 2008 and 2009 Secondé&isridgs or the above-mentioned
exchanges of shares. See Note 16 of Notes to Ral@tatements for additional information regardihg 2008 and 2009 Secondary Offerings and share
exchanges.

Regulatory Capital

We actively monitor our regulatory capital baser Puincipal subsidiaries are subject to regulateguirements in their respective jurisdictions to
ensure their general financial soundness and liyyigthich require, among other things, that we pbnwith certain minimum capital requirements,
record-keeping, reporting procedures, relationshiipls customers, experience and training requirdmfar employees and certain other requirements
and procedures. These regulatory requirements asdsiat the flow of funds to affiliates. See Not & Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information. These regulations differ irtd.S., the U.K., France and other countries inctviwe operate. Our capital structure is designed to
provide each of our subsidiaries

66



Table of Contents

with capital and liquidity consistent with its bness and regulatory requirements. For a discussicggulations relating to us, see “ltem 1-Busiress
Regulation” included in this Form 10-K.

Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth information relatitmLazard’s contractual obligations as of Decen8igr2009:

Contractual Obligations Payment Due by Perioc

Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
($ in thousands)

Senior and Subordinated Debt (including interesy $ 1,766,15. $ 80,80% $ 161,61( $161,611 $ 1,362,12
Operating Leases (exclusive of $101,017 of sublewseme) (b) 422,92¢ 65,16« 103,77¢ 58,94: 195,04
LAM Merger cash consideration ( 90,34¢ 90,34¢
Capital Leases (including interest) | 31,72 3,73¢ 6,98( 5,83¢ 15,16¢
Private Equity Funding Commitments | 9,27¢ 8,99/ 282
Deferred cash incentive awards 94,86¢ 94,86¢
Total (e) $ 2,415,291 $ 253,56¢ $ 362,99¢ $226,39Z $1,572,33

(&) See Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tanhts

(b) See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak&tanhts

(c) See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Btatgs.

(d) See Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants

(e) The table above excludes contingent obligatamsany possible payments for uncertain tax postgiven the inability to estimate the timing of
the latter payments. See Notes 15, 17, 18 and Rtafs to Consolidated Financial Statements reggrdiformation in connection with
commitments, incentive plans, employee benefitpkamd income taxe

Effect of Inflation

We do not believe inflation will significantly affeour compensation costs as they are substantiafigble in nature. However, the rate of
inflation may affect certain of our other expensegh as information technology and occupancy c@stshe extent inflation results in rising interes
rates and has other effects upon the securitiekatsait may adversely affect our financial positemd results of operations by reducing AUM, net
revenue or otherwise. See “Risk Factors—Other RassifiRisks—Difficult market conditions can adversafgct our business in many ways, including
by reducing the volume of transactions involving Binancial Advisory business and reducing the @auperformance of the assets we manage in our
Asset Management business, which, in each caskl pwterially reduce our revenue or income and emhlg affect our financial position.”

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of our cattesigld financial condition and results of operatiaressbased upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in confomviityaccounting principles generally accepted m thnited States of America. The preparation of
Lazard's consolidated financial statements requie® make estimates and assumptions that affeceported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses, and related disclosure of contiregesats and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, Lagaeduates its estimates, including those relaied t
revenue recognition, compensation liabilities, imeotaxes, investing activities and goodwill. Lazhades these estimates on historical experience and
various other assumptions that it believes to bsapable under the circumstances, the results ishvibrm the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities thatrasereadily apparent from other sources. Actualltesnay differ from these estimates.
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Lazard believes that the critical accounting pelcset forth below comprise the most significatitretes and judgments used in the preparati
its consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Lazard generates substantially all of its net rereginom providing Financial Advisory and Asset Mgament services to clients. Lazard
recognizes revenue when the following criteriarasg:

» there is persuasive evidence of an arrangementandttent,
* the agreed-upon services have been provided,
» fees are fixed or determinable, and

« collection is probable.

The Company earns performance-based incentiveofegarious investment products, including tradigibproducts and alternative investment
funds such as hedge funds and private equity funds.

For hedge funds, incentive fees are calculateddoase specified percentage of a fund’s net apatieci, in some cases in excess of established
benchmarks. The Company records incentive feesaditibnal products and hedge funds at the entlefélevant performance measurement period,
when potential uncertainties regarding the ultinratdizable amounts have been determined. Therpeaftce fee measurement period is generally an
annual period (unless an account terminates diinegear), and therefore such incentive fees arellysecorded in the fourth quarter of Lazardscél
year. These incentive fees received at the enkeofieasurement period are not subject to revergaydback. Incentive fees on hedge funds generally
are subject to loss carryforward provisions in wHisses incurred by the funds in any year arei@gpplgainst certain future period net appreciation
before any incentive fees can be earned.

For private equity funds, incentive fees may benedrin the form of a “carried interest” if profasising from realized investments exceed a
specified threshold. Typically, such carried ingtrie ultimately calculated on a whole-fund basid,aherefore, clawback of carried interests dutirgy
life of the fund can occur. As a result, incentiges earned on our private equity funds are nairdet until potential uncertainties regarding thenate
realizable amounts have been determined, incluaiygpotential for clawback.

If, in Lazard’s judgment, collection of a fee istqpoobable, Lazard will not recognize revenue uthiél uncertainty is removed. We maintain an
allowance for bad debts to provide coverage fameded losses from our fee and customer receivalesdetermine the adequacy of the allowance by
estimating the probability of loss based on manageis analysis of the client’s creditworthiness apdcifically reserve against exposures where we
determine the receivables are impaired, which malude situations where a fee is in dispute agdiion has commenced.

With respect to fees receivable from Financial Advy activities, such receivables are generallyrégbpast due when they are outstanding 60
days from the date of invoice. However, some Firsmdvisory transactions include specific conttedtpayment terms that may vary from one month
to four years (as is the case for our Private Fhdsory fees) following the invoice date or maydahject to court approval (as is the case with
restructuring assignments that include bankruptoggedings). In such cases, receivables are depastdue when payment is not received by the
agreed-upon contractual date or the court appidaal, respectively. Financial Advisory fee recelealpast due in excess of 180 days are fully pealid
for unless there is evidence that the balanceliedtible. Asset Management fees are deemed pasadd fully provided for when such receivables are
outstanding 12 months after the invoice date. Ntisté&nding our policy for receivables past due specifically reserve against exposures relating to
Financial Advisory and Asset Management fees whereletermine receivables are impaired.
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At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company hadvedaes past due of approximately $14 million aid® #illion, respectively, and its
allowance for doubtful accounts was $12 million &ié million, respectively.

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing its consolidditeancial statements, Lazard is required to esnits income taxes in each of the jurisdictions
in which it operates. This process requires Laramktimate its actual current tax liability andagsess temporary differences resulting from diféer
book versus tax treatment of items, such as defeeeenue, compensation and benefits expense,lizectgains or losses on investments and
depreciation. These temporary differences resudefierred tax assets and liabilities, which aréuied within Lazard’s consolidated statements of
financial condition. Significant management judgmisrequired in determining Lazasdprovision for income taxes, its deferred tax tsaad liabilitie:
and any valuation allowance recorded against itsleferred tax assets. At December 31, 2009, thep2ay recorded deferred tax assets of
approximately $912 million, with such amount pdlyiaffset by a valuation allowance of approximgt&B04 million due to the uncertainty of realizing
the benefits of the book versus tax basis diffezerand certain net operating loss carry-forwarlaskessing the realizability of deferred tax asset
management considers whether it is more likely thatrthat some portion or all of the deferred taseds will be realized and, when necessary, valuati
allowances are established. The ultimate realinaifche deferred tax assets is dependent upogetheration of future taxable income during thequ=
in which temporary differences become deductiblanikement considers the level of historical taxatdeme, scheduled reversals of deferred taxes,
projected future taxable income and tax planningtsgies that can be implemented by the Compameking this assessment. If actual results differ
from these estimates or Lazard adjusts these dssnrafuture periods, Lazard may need to adjgstatuation allowance, which could materially impac
Lazard’s consolidated financial position and resoftoperations. Furthermore, management appleemtre likely than not criteria prior to the
recognition of a financial statement benefit o position taken or expected to be taken in agtxn with respect to uncertainties in income saxe

Tax contingencies can involve complex issues anyl neguire an extended period of time to resolvear@gfes in the geographic mix or estimated
level of annual pre-tax income can affect LazaoVerall effective tax rate. Significant managemnjadgment is required in determining Lazard’s
provision for income taxes, its deferred tax asaattliabilities and any valuation allowance reear@gainst its net deferred tax assets. Furthermore
Lazard’s interpretation of complex tax laws may &uopits recognition and measurement of currentdaidrred income taxes.

Investments

Investments consist principally of debt securitexgyities, interests in LAM alternative asset mamagnt funds and other private equity
investments.

These investments are carried at either fair vafuthe consolidated statements of financial coowjtivith any increases or decreases in fair value
reflected (i) in earnings, to the extent held by looker-dealer subsidiaries or when designatétrading” securities within our non-broker-dealer
subsidiaries, and (ii) in AOCI, to the extent desited as “available-for-sals&curities until such time they are realized anthssified to earnings, or,
designated as “held-to-maturity” securities, anzeudi cost on the consolidated statements of finhooiaition. Any declines in the fair value of
“available-for-sale” and “held-to-maturity” secues that are determined to be other than tempaenargharged to earnings. As described in Note 5 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, effectuly 1, 2008, as permitted under U.S. GAAP aierdebt securities held by LFB, which wi
previously designated as “trading” securities, werelesignated as “available-for-sale” securities.

Gains and losses on investment positions held,wdiise from sales or changes in the fair valuta@finvestments, are not predictable and can
cause periodic fluctuations in net income or AO@d éherefore subject Lazard to market and cresht ri
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At December 31, 2009, investments aggregated $8liam{net of securities sold, not yet purchasé®® million), or 25% of total assets.
Included in this amount is $461 million of debtseties, representing 57% of aggregate investmiatisprimarily consist of fixed and floating rate
European corporate bonds, U.S. Government and &geaied French government debt securities, allla€ivsubject Lazard to market risk.
Approximately 45%, 21%, 14%, 12% and 8% of sucht deburities are invested in the government, firdnconsumer, industrial and other sectors,
respectively. At December 31, 2009, approximaté&l%e&f the corporate bonds held investment gradegsand approximately $19 million of pre-tax
unrealized losses are included in AOCI relatedutthgortfolio.

Also included in the $803 million of aggregate istraents were $77 million, or 10%, of investmenteduities (net of securities sold, not yet
purchased) all of which subject the Company to myarisk. Approximately 60% of such amount represéiné Company’s investment in marketable
equity securities invested 27%, 25%, 10% and 38#%erconsumer, financial, industrial and other@egtrespectively. Asset Management fund
investments represent the remaining 40% of totaities. The Company’s asset management fund inwegsrare diversified and may incorporate
particular strategies; however, there are no imrests in funds with single sector specific stragsgi

In addition to the equity securities above, at Delcer 31, 2009 Lazard held $50 million, or 6%, of@gate investments in LAM alternative asset
management funds principally representing GP istsriea LAM-managed hedge funds, which subject Liztamarket risk. The fair value of such
interests reflects the pro rata value of the owniprsf the underlying securities in the funds. Stuslds are broadly diversified and may incorporate
particular strategies; however, there are no imeests in funds with a single sector specific sgpte

Private equity investments owned by Lazard of $tlBon represent approximately 13% of aggregatestments and 3% of total assets at
December 31, 2009 and are comprised of investnieisvate equity funds and direct private equitterests that are generally not subject to shomt-te
market fluctuation, but may subject Lazard to médkedit risk. Private equity investments primaiitglude (i) a mezzanine fund, which invests in
mezzanine debt of a diversified selection of sntalimid-cap European companies (the “mezzanine”ju(ig) Corporate Partners Il Limited, a private
equity fund targeting significant noncontrollingz@stments in established public and private congsgraind (iii) Lazard Senior Housing Partners LP,
which acquires companies and assets in the senimirg, extended-stay hotel and shopping centéorsec

The remaining $111 million, or 14%, of aggregatestments at December 31, 2009 represents invetrfipaccounted for under the equity
method of accounting and (ii) private equity andeyal partnership interests that are consolidatehdt owned by Lazard, and therefore do not stibjec
the Company to market or credit risk. The assodiatncontrolling interests are presented within¢kholders’ equity” on the consolidated statements
of financial condition.

At December 31, 2008, investments aggregated $6li8m{net of securities sold, not yet purchasé®o million), or 21% of total assets.
Included in this amount was $333 million of dehtigdties, representing 54% of aggregate investmibiatsprimarily consist of fixed and floating rate
European corporate bonds and French governmensdedbtities, all of which subject Lazard to manksk. Approximately 37%, 26%, 10%, 15% and
12% of such debt securities were invested in thanitial, industrial, communications, consumer ahermsectors, respectively. At December 31, 2008,
approximately 92% of the corporate bonds held itnmest grade ratings and approximately $62 millibpre-tax unrealized losses included in AOCI
related to such portfolio.

Also included in the $613 million of aggregate istraents were $64 million, or 10%, of investmenteduities (net of securities sold, not yet
purchased) all of which subject the Company to marisk. Approximately 48% of which represents @@mpany’s investment in marketable equity
securities invested 39%, 30%, 12% and 19% in tinswwer, financial, industrial and other sectorspegtively. Asset management fund investments
represent the remaining 52% of total equities. Thenpany’s asset management fund investments agesdied and may incorporate particular
strategies; however, there are no investmentsndswvith single sector specific strategies.
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In addition to the equity securities above, at Delger 31, 2008 Lazard had $35 million, or 6%, ofraggte investments in LAM alternative asset
management funds, principally representing GP éstisrin LAM-managed hedge funds, which subject tdhmmmarket risk. The fair value of such
interests reflects the pro rata value of the ownripref the underlying securities in the funds. Stuslds are broadly diversified and may incorporate
particular strategies; however, there are no imeests in funds with a single sector specific sgpte

Private equity investments owned by Lazard of $8#lan represent approximately 14% of aggregateestinents and 3% of total assets at
December 31, 2008 and are comprised of investnemisvate equity funds and direct private equitierests that are generally not subject to shomt-te
market fluctuation, but may subject Lazard to médkedit risk. Private equity investments primaiitglude (i) the mezzanine fund; (ii) Corporate
Partners Il Limited; and (iii) Lazard Senior HougiRartners LP.

The remaining $97 million, or 16%, of aggregateeistyents at December 31, 2008 represented investifieaccounted for under the equity
method of accounting and (ii) general partnershiprests that are consolidated but not owned bwidaand therefore do not subject the Company to
market or credit risk. The associated noncontrgliifterests are presented within “stockholdersitgjon the consolidated statements of financial
condition.

The increase in the aggregate investments at DemeBih 2009 compared to December 31, 2008 of $liB®mrelates to purchases of
investments in U.S. government and agency debritiesy private equity investments that are comsatd but not owned by Lazard related to the
Edgewater Acquisition and additional investmentsdrmporate equities to seed Asset Management pradeartially offset by sales and maturities in the
corporate bond portfolio and the 2009 write-ofbofr investment in warrants of Sapphire.

On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the rehfsitevalue measurements accounting guidancedsisyehe FASB, which, among other
things, defines fair value, establishes a frameviorkneasuring fair value and enhances disclosgairements about fair value measurements with
respect to its financial assets and financial ligss. Pursuant to such guidance, Lazard categgiiis investments and certain other assets anitities
recorded at fair value into a three-level fair wahierarchy as follows:

Level 1. Assets and liabilities whose values ageldaon unadjusted quoted prices for identical assdiabilities in an active market that
Lazard has the ability to access.

Level 2. Assets and liabilities whose values aigeldaon quoted prices for similar assets or liadditn an active market, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in noctige markets or inputs other than quoted pricas &hne directly observable or derived principally
from or corroborated by market data.

Level 3. Assets and liabilities whose values aigeldaon prices or valuation techniques that rednpets that are both unobservable and
significant to the overall fair value measurem@iese inputs reflect management’s own assumptioostahe assumptions a market participant
would use in pricing the asset or liability. Itemsluded in Level 3 include securities or otheifigial assets whose volume and level of activity
have significantly decreased when compared witimabmarket activity and there is no longer sufiiti#equency or volume to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis.

Principally all of the Company’s investments inporate bonds are considered Level 2 investmentssuith fair value based on observable data,
principally broker quotes as provided by exterrédipg services. All other debt securities at fatue are considered Level 1 investments with aith
value based on unadjusted quoted prices in actar&ets.

The fair value of our equities is principally cld&sl as Level 1 or Level 2 as follows: marketabtpiity securities are classified as Level 1 and are
valued based on the last trade price on the primaciange for that security; public asset managefads are classified as Level 1 and are valued
based on the reported closing price for the fund;iavestments in private asset management furedslassified as Level 2 and are primarily valued
based on information provided by fund managerssmedndarily, from external pricing services to éxéent managed by LAM.
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The fair value of our interests in LAM alternati@eset management funds is classified as Level 2sarased on information provided by external
pricing services.

The fair value of our private equity investmentslassified as Level 3 and is based on financakstents provided by fund managers, appraisals
and internal valuations.

Where information reported is based on broker cgjdtee Company generally obtains one quote/pricénggument. In some cases, quotes rel
to corporate bonds obtained through external pgiservices represent the average of several brplaes.

Where information reported is based on data redefien fund managers or from external pricing segsj the Company reviews such informa
to ascertain at which level within the fair valuerlarchy to classify the investment.

For additional information regarding risks assaaatvith our investments, see “Risk Management—Mgake Credit Risks.”

See Notes 5 and 6 of Notes to Consolidated FinkStagements for additional information regardingdstments and certain other assets and
liabilities measured at fair value, including tleedls of fair value within which such measuremenftiir value fall .

Assets Under Management

AUM managed by LAM and LFG, which represents sutitidly all of the Company’s total AUM, principaliyonsist of debt and equity
instruments whose value is readily available baseduoted prices on a recognized exchange or bgkeb Accordingly, significant estimates and
judgments are generally not involved in the caltafaof the value of our AUM

Goodwill

In accordance with current accounting guidancedgabhas an indefinite life and is tested for inmpaent annually or more frequently if
circumstances indicate impairment may have occutrethis process, Lazard makes estimates and gd&uns in order to determine the fair value of its
assets and liabilities and to project future eaggiasing various valuation techniques. Lazard’s@agtions and estimates are used in projecting éutur
earnings as part of the valuation, and actual tesoluld differ from those estimates. See Noteflidates to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information regarding goodwill.

Consolidation of VIEs

The consolidated financial statements include ttw®ants of Lazard Group and all other entities Imalv it has a controlling interest. Lazard
determines whether it has a controlling interestrirentity by first evaluating whether the entgaivoting interest entity or a variable interegitg
(“VIE™) under U.S. GAAP.

. Voting Interest Entities. Voting interest entiti® entities in which (i) the total equity investmat risk is sufficient to enable the eni
to finance itself independently and (ii) the equitiders have the obligation to absorb lossesrigiine to receive residual returns and the
right to make decisions about the entity’s actsgtiLazard is required to consolidate a votingr@geentity that it maintains an
ownership interest in if it holds a majority of theting interest in such entit

. Variable Interest Entities. VIEs are entities tla@k one or more of the characteristics of a voiimigrest entity. If Lazard has a variable
interest, or a combination of variable interesisa VIE and it will absorb a majority of the VIEExpected losses, receive a majority of
the VIE's expected residual returns, or both, it is reguiceconsolidate such Vit
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Lazard is involved with various entities in the mal course of business that are VIEs and holdsibkrinterests in such VIEs. Transactions
associated with these entities primarily includeestment management, real estate and private dquigtments. Those VIEs for which Lazard was
determined to be the primary beneficiary were cbdated in accordance with current accounting gudda Those VIEs included company-sponsored
venture capital investment vehicles establishezbimection with Lazard’s compensation plans. Innemtion with the separation, Lazard Group
transferred its general partnership interestsasdhVIEs to a subsidiary of LFCM Holdings. Lazan®@ has determined that it is no longer the prymar
beneficiary with respect to those VIEs and, assaltgthe Company no longer consolidates such VIEs.

Risk Management

The Company encounters risk in the normal courdmieiness and therefore we have designed risk mamag processes to help manage and
monitor such risks considering both the naturewfliusiness and our operating model. The Compaswhigect to varying degrees of credit, market,
operational and liquidity risks (see “—Liquidity di€apital Resources”) and monitors these risk®tt an entity and on a consolidated basis.
Management within each of Lazard’s operating laoetiare principally responsible for managing tksiwithin its respective businesses on a day-to-
day basis.

Market and Credit Risks

Lazard is subject to credit and market risks amdetore has established procedures to assessiskshas well as specific interest rate and
currency risk, and has established limits relatedarious positions. Market and/or credit riskstedl to investments are discussed under “—
Investments” above.

Lazard enters into interest rate swaps and foreigrency exchange contracts to hedge exposureset@st rates and currency exchange rates and
uses equity swap contracts to hedge a portiorsehérket exposure with respect to certain equitgstments.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, derivative contreedtged primarily to interest rate swaps, equityl éoreign currency exchange rate contracts,
and are recorded at fair value. Derivative assatsuaited to $1 million and $5 million at December 2009 and 2008, respectively, with derivative
liabilities amounting to $17 million and $44 millipat such respective dates. The decrease in teev@bilities at December 31, 2009 as compaced t
December 31, 2008 related principally to the Conmyfmaforeign currency exchange contracts.

With respect to LFBS operations, LFB engages in commercial bankinigities that primarily include investing in secues, deposit taking and,
a lesser degree, lending. In addition, LFB may tben foreign exchange positions with a view tdiprbut does not sell foreign exchange options in
this context, and enters into interest rate swigpajard foreign exchange contracts and other déveaontracts to hedge exposures to interestaade
currency fluctuations.

The primary market risks associated with LFB’s sii@s portfolio, foreign currency exchange hedgamgl lending activities are sensitivity to
changes in the general level of credit spreaddraadest rate and foreign exchange risk. The riskagement strategies that we employ use variokis ris
sensitivity metrics to measure such risks and tmére behavior under significant adverse markeditimms, such as those we are currently
experiencing. The following sensitivity metrics pite the resultant effects on the Company’s opegaticome for the year ended December 31, 2009:

e LFB’s credit spread risk, as measured by a 100asistpoint change in credit spreads totaled $(dllipmand $12 million, respectively.
» LFB’s interest rate risk as measured by a 100+siskizoint change in interest rates totaled $30gand.

» Foreign currency risk associated with LFB’s opesipons, in the aggregate, as measured by a 2@fasks point change against the U.S.
dollar, totaled approximately $22 thousa
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LFB fully secures its collateralized financing tsations with fixed income securities.

Risks Related to Receivables

We maintain an allowance for bad debts to provimeecage for probable losses from our fee and custoeteivables. We determine the adeq!
of the allowance by estimating the probability @$d based on management’s analysis of the cliergtitworthiness and specifically reserve against
exposures where we determine the receivables ga&ied. At December 31, 2009, total receivablesiartenl to $669 million, net of an allowance for
bad debts of $12 million. As of that date, intenbaeposits, financial advisory and asset managefees, customer and related party receivables
comprised 22%, 65%, 11% and 2% of total receivalespectively. At December 31, 2008, total redglies.amounted to $713 million, net of an
allowance for bad debts of $16 million. As of thate, inter-bank deposits, financial advisory asseamanagement fee, customer and related party
receivables comprised 32%, 55%, 12% and 1% of tetalivables, respectively. The Company recordelddedt expense of approximately $5 million,
$5 million and $1 million in the years ended Decem®1, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. See“aldvevenue Recognition” above and Note 4 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fortamtdil information regarding receivable

Receivables from banks represent those relate@BisL.short-term inter-bank deposits. The levelhede intebank deposits is primarily driven
the level of LFB customer and bank-related intebesiring time and demand deposits, which can fatetsignificantly on a daily basis. As the amount
of such deposits held at LFB changes, there isrgéypa corresponding, but indirect, impact on lgneel of short-term inter-bank deposits. While
historically the risk of loss associated with simdler-bank deposits was extremely low, with then@epdented disruption and volatility in the finaici
markets during 2008, a number of financial insiitng disclosed liquidity and credit quality issueBB executes such deposit agreements with leading
French financial institutions and the Company dipseonitors the creditworthiness of such counteiiparto minimize its exposure to loss in such mg
conditions. Based on its review of its receivalfiesn banks at December 31, 2009 and 2008, LFB kteymhined that an allowance for doubtful
accounts related to such receivables from banksweeequired.

Credit Concentration

To reduce the exposure to concentrations of cfemit banking activities within LFB, the Company hestablished limits for corporate
counterparties and monitors the exposure agaiwst lguits. At December 31, 2009, LFB had no expedoran individual counterparty that exceeded
$33 million (with such amount being fully collatézed), excluding deposits with inter-bank countetjes.

With respect to activities outside LFB, as of Debem31, 2009, the Company’s largest individual ¢etparty exposure was a Financial Advisory-
related fee receivable of $25 million.

Risks Related to Short-Term Investments and Corgerlndebtedness

A significant portion of the Company’s liabilitiéss fixed interest rates, while its cash and stesrtrinvestments generally have floating interest
rates. Based on account balances as of Decemb20@3, Lazard estimates that operating incomeinglab cash and short-term investments and
corporate indebtedness would change by approxign&gemillion, on an annual basis, in the eventriederates were to increase or decrease by 1%.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company'’s cash artd egqsivalents totaled $917 million. Approximate§?8 of this was invested in short-term
interest earning accounts at a number of leadimgehroughout the world, or short-term certificaté deposit from such banks. The remaining cash
and cash equivalents were invested in highly ligogditutional money market funds, a significantjony of which were invested solely in U.S.
government or agency securities, or in institutiananey market funds that have announced that they
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are participating in the U.S. Treasury Departmen&mporary Guarantee Program for Money Market Fu@aisa regular basis, management reviews
and updates its list of approved depositor bankgedisas deposit and investment thresholds.

Operational Risks

Operational risk is inherent in all our businesd aray, for example, manifest itself in the formeoffors, breaches in the system of internal
controls, business interruptions, fraud or legdibas due to operating deficiencies or noncompkarithie Company maintains a framework including
policies and a system of internal controls desigwedonitor and manage operational risk and prowid@agement with timely and accurate informa
Management within each of the operating compasigsimarily responsible for its operational rislograms. The Company has in place business
continuity and disaster recovery programs that rgavrits capabilities to provide services in the aafse disruption. We purchase insurance programs
designed to protect the Company against accidergsland losses, which may significantly affect fineincial objectives, personnel, property, or our
ability to continue to meet our responsibilitiesotar various stakeholder groups.

Recent Accounting Developments

For a discussion of recently issued accounting@uanements and their impact or potential impadtarard’s consolidated financial statements,
see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial States.
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Risk Management

Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about ratrisk are included under the caption “ManagenseDiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Risk Managerhent
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management of Lazard Ltd and its subsidiaries {@@mpany”) is responsible for establishing and rteiiming adequate internal control over
financial reporting. Internal control over finankieporting is a process designed under the sugiervdf the Company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers to provide reasonabksurance regarding the reliability of financigdoging and the preparation of the Company’s fimanc
statements for external purposes in accordancelvih generally accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting indks those policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaraisle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thengactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company;

e provide reasonable assurance that transactione@weded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iadstatements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, anddhatreceipts and expenditures are being made ordgéordance with authorizations of the
Compan’s management and directors; ¢

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized acquisition, eselisposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on the financial stateme

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cgimpaternal control over financial reporting asidécember 31, 2009. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfpttie Committee of Sponsoring Organizations oftreadway Commission (COSO) limternal
Control-Integrated FrameworlBased on management’s assessment and those critaniagement believes that the Company maintaifiectiee
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2009.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subjech#orisk that controls may become inadequate beazugeanges in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate.

The Company'’s independent registered public acdogifitm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, audited the Compamninternal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2009, as stated inr&gort which appears under “Reports of Indepebh&egistered Public Accounting Firm.”
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Ld4ad:

We have audited the internal control over finanaglorting of Lazard Ltd and subsidiaries (the “Quamy”) as of December 31, 2009 based on
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrtee Treadway Commission. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaieffegtive internal control over financial repogiand for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, includiedthe accompanying “Management’s Report On Irgke@ontrol Over Financial Reporting”. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Canys internal control over financial reporting bdson our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivealteontrol over financial reporting was maintaine
in all material respects. Our audit included olitagran understanding of internal control over ficiahreporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the desidroperating effectiveness of internal controkldasn the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the dgtanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redse basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performisignilar functions, and effected by the companyaral of directors, management, and other personnel
to provide reasonable assurance regarding théilélieof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples A company’s internal control over finanai@porting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thaeasonable detail, accurately and fairly i&ftbe transactions and dispositions of the asdetse
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatactions are recorded as necessary to permit pitepanf financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andrinagipts and expenditures of the company are beade only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (Rjige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets thaitddoave a material effect on the financial statetsie

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolnover financial reporting, including the pogsii of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluatio
of the effectiveness of the internal control ovaafcial reporting to future periods are subjedh®risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the dagfreompliance with the policies or procedures mieteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialeespects, effective internal control over fioal reporting as of December 31, 2009, based
on the criteria established internal Control—Integrated Framewoi&sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatigrise Treadway
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@nited States), the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdeeakiof and for the year ended December 31, 2008dCompany and our report dated February 26,
2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on thosedimated financial statements and financial stat@rsehedule.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
February 26, 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Ld4ad:

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatts of financial condition of Lazard Ltd and Sdizgies (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidatéelnsémnts of operations, cash flows, and change®akisolders’ equity (deficiency), for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2D0Paudits also included the financial statemehéedale listed in the Index at Item 8. These
consolidated financial statements and financidgestent schedule are the responsibility of the Camjsamanagement. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statemantsfinancial statement schedule based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBigUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finestaieiments are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsopporting the amounts and disclosures in thenfilsh statements. An audit also includes assesbi
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfisancial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis foopiurion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statateag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinarficial position of Lazard Ltd and subsidiaries at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results afdberations and their cash flows for each of thied years in the period ended December 31, 26
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. Also, in opimion, such financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidatedrftial statements taken as a whole, presentg, fairdll material respects, the information setto
therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2009, based on the criteria establighbdernal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theadway Commission and our report dated Februarg@B) expressed an unqualified opinion or
Company’s internal control over financial reporting

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
February 26, 2010
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LAZARD LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale!
Cash deposited with clearing organizations andratbgregated ca:

Receivable—net:
Banks
Fees
Customers and oth:
Related partie

Investments
Debt:
U.S. Government and agencies (includes $126,4%8afrities at amortized cost at December 31, 2
Other (includes $10,217 of securities at amortizest at December 31, 20C
Equities
Other

Property (net of accumulated amortization and degtien of $239,603 and $213,249 at December 309 20d 2008
respectively’

Goodwill and other intangible assets (net of acdated amortization of $7,140 and $2,150 at Decer8theP009 and
2008, respectively
Other asset

Total asset

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31

2009 2008

$917,32¢ $ 909,70°
20,217 14,58
143,77¢ 229,09:
437,53: 391,25!
73,75( 81,80¢
14,41¢ 10,37;
669,47! 712,52¢

147,50° —
313,34 333,07(
82,44: 71,10¢
264,40: 215,79:
807,69: 619,96
166,91: 171,44:
317,78( 175,14.
248,35! 259,56!
$ 3,147,76.  $ 2,862,93.
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LAZARD LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION —(Continued)
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Liabilities:
Deposits and other customer payat
Accrued compensation and bene
Senior deb
Capital lease obligatior
Related party payable
Other liabilities
Subordinated det
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; 15,000s08ares authorize
Series A- 26,883 and 31,745 shares issued and outstandibgcaimber 31, 2009 and 2008, respecti
Series E- no shares issued and outstanc

Common stock
Class A, par value $.01 per share (500,000,00@&sharthorized; 92,165,912 and 76,294,912 shangsd s

December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, includiages held by a subsidiary as indicated be

Class B, par value $.01 per share (1 share auithrigsued and outstanding at December 31, 2002G0R)

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earninc

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net o

Class A common stock held by a subsidiary, at gg860,775 and 9,376,162 shares at December 39, &0
2008, respectively

Total Lazard Ltd stockholde’ equity
Noncontrolling interest

Total stockholdel’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

8l

December 31

2009 2008
$ 322,100 $ 541,78
515,03 203,75(
1,086,851  1,087,75!
24,62 26,82t
17,45( 37,21
508,60: 503,85
150,00 150,00
2,624,661  2,551,17'
922 762
549,93 429,69:
52,72¢ 221,41(
(57,049 (79,435
546,53 572,43
(191,140 _ (321,85))
355,39 250,58
167,70 61,17
523,09 311,75.
$3,147,76.  $2,862,93
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LAZARD LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20D
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data)

Year Ended December 31

2009

2008

2007

REVENUE
Investment banking and other advisory f $ 956,07 $ 990,92: $ 1,196,64
Money management fe: 563,93 603,90t 663,31t
Interest incomt 29,23¢ 81,94¢ 89,94
Other 89,16¢ 20,33( 104,89:
Total revenue 1,638,40:i 1,697,101 2,054,79!
Interest expens 107,89( 139,89¢ 137,11(
Net revenue 1,530,51! 1,557,20° 1,917,68!
OPERATING EXPENSES
Compensation and benef 1,309,24 1,128,25: 1,123,06:
Occupancy and equipme 88,45: 97,18¢ 91,10¢
Marketing and business developm 64,04 81,28: 74,50¢
Technology and information servic 69,62( 67,89 59,40¢
Professional service 44 56¢ 53,207 48,50¢
Fund administration and outsourced serv 37,927 30,83( 22,04
Amortization of intangible assets related to acitjoiss 4,99( 4,59¢ 21,52
Provision (benefit) pursuant to tax receivable agrent (1,25¢) 17,08« 17,10¢
Restructuring 62,55( — —
Other 32,61¢ 51,737 42,12¢
Total operating expens: 1,712,75; 1,532,06° 1,499,39.
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (182,239 25,14( 418,29!
Provision for income taxe 6,011 25,37¢ 80,61¢
NET INCOME (LOSS) (188,244 (239) 337,67¢
LESS- NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING | NTERESTS (58,009) (3,379 182,63
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO LAZARD LTD $ (130,24) $ 3,13¢ $ 155,04.
ATTRIBUTABLE TO LAZARD LTD CLASS A COMMON STOCKHOLD ERS:
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK
OUTSTANDING:
Basic 78,311,94 60,874,73. 51,185,63
Diluted 78,311,94 60,874,73 62,212,61
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK:
Basic $(1.6¢) $0.0€ $3.0¢
Diluted $(1.6¢) $0.0¢€ $2.7¢
DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK $0.4¢ $0.4( $0.3¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LAZARD LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20D
(dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss $(188,245 $ (239 $ 337,67
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to retcprovided by (used in) operating activiti

Noncash items included in net income (lo:

Depreciation and amortization of prope 22,541 20,82¢ 16,73«
Amortization of deferred expenses, stock unitsiatetest rate hedc 372,47. 246,90t 110,99!
Amortization of intangible assets related to bussnacquisition 4,99( 4,59¢ 21,52
Deferred tax benef (23,439 (31,657) (16,39:)
Gain on extinguishment of de (259) (20,257) —
Stock portion of charge related to LAM Merg — 64,51: —
(Increase) decrease in operating as:
Cash deposited with clearing organizations andratbgregated ca: (5,009 9,001 (6,309
Receivable-net 57,67¢ 348,40t 229,50!
Investment: (35,46¢) 517,28t (262,08()
Other asset 25,57¢ (16,40¢) (42,77)
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilit
Deposits and other payabl (249,77) (274,129 (425,46)
Accrued compensation and benefits and other liss 263,70( (362,969 108,33
Net cash provided by operating activit 244, 77¢ 505,89! 71,74
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of businesses in 2009 and 2007, neash acquired of $6,641 and $19,002, respectigely,equity method investmer (39,139 (74,85% (135,06()
Additions to propert (11,919 (18,509) (16,447)
Disposals of propert 582 74% 1,91t
Purchases of he-to-maturity securitie:
(136,099 — —
Purchases of availal-for-sale securitie (3,46€) (147,34 (73,23%)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of avai-for-sale securitie 93,47: 88,03: —
Net cash used in investing activiti (96,55¢) (151,929 (222,82))
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from
Issuance of Class A common stc — 437,50( —
Senior debt, net of expens — — 593,48!
Other financing activitie 52 35¢ 4,42¢
Payments for
Senior borrowing: (635) (478,92} (96,000)
Subordinated borrowing — — (50,00()
Capital lease obligatior (2,980 (3,095 (1,427)
Distributions to noncontrolling interes (51,265 (77,58% (99,017
Purchase of common membership interests from menderAZ-MD Holdings (13,285 (2,559 (21,84()
Purchase of Class A common st (50,479 (277,06¢) (68,05%)
Class A common stock dividen (33,45)) (23,05¢) (18,30¢)
Settlement of vested RSUs and D< (13,479 (4,51¢) (21)
Other financing activitie (40 (8,079 —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (165,565) (437,02() 243,25!
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH 24,967 (63,08 (5,81¢)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S 7,622 (146,13) 86,36:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS —January 1 909,70 1,055,84. 969,48:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS —December 31 $ 917,32¢ $ 909,70 $1,055,84-
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Supplemental investing no-cash transaction:
Preferred stock and Class A common stock issuediiss in connection with business acquisiti $ 10,94¢ $ 9,28: $ 52,76¢
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 99,49 $ 142,89( $ 141,34¢
Income taxe: $ 31,47¢ $ 111,82: $ 81,68(

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

83



Table of Contents

LAZARD LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS * EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20D
(dollars in thousands)

Accumulated Class A Total
Preferred Stock Other Common Stock Lazard Ltd Total
Additional Comprehensive Held By Stockholders’ Stockholders’
Series A Series B Common Stock Retained A Subsidiary Noncontrolling
Paid-in- Income (Loss), Equity Equity
Shares_$ Shares$ Shares(*) $ _ Capital Earnings Net of Tax Shares $ (Deficiency) Interests (Deficiency)
Balance- January 1, 2007 — — $— 51,554,06 $ 51€$ (396,79) $ 114,38° $ 32,49. 115,000 $ (4,179 $ (253,579 $ 55,497 $ (198,07)
Adjustment to reclas
noncontrolling interest defic - - 152,86¢ (17,33 135,53« (135,539 —
- — — — 51,554,06 51€ (243,92 114,38 15,16( 115,00C (4,179 (118,040 (80,037) (198,07)

Comprehensive income (los
Net income 155,04: 155,04: 182,63 337,67¢
Other comprehensive incor
(loss)- net of tax:
Currency translation

adjustment: 10,07¢ 10,07¢ 13,35 23,42¢
Amortization of
interest rate hedc 532 532 56¢€ 1,10(

Net unrealized loss ¢
available-for-sale
securities (329 (329 (34€) (670)
Employee benefi
plans:
Net actuaria
loss (1,667%) (1,66%) @,777) (3,440
Adjustment fol
items
reclassifiec
to earnings (20%) (203) (216) (419)
Comprehensive incorr 163,46( 194,21¢ 357,67¢
Preferred stock and Class
common stock issued/issuable
in connection with acquisitior
and related amortizatic 36,607 — 277 — 53,55¢ 53,55¢ 84E 54,40«
Issuances of Class A common
stock in exchange for Lazard
Group common membership
interests 191,75 1 1) — —
Repurchase of commc
membership interests from

LAZ-MD Holdings (10,55%) (10,55%) (11,285 (21,84()
Amortization of stock unit 51,45: 51,45: 54,13: 105,58t
Dividenc-equivalents 2,57(C (2,570 — —
Class A common stock dividen (18,309 (18,309 (18,30%)
Purchase of Class A common st 1,678,601 (68,057) (68,052) (68,05:)
Delivery of Class A common sto

for settlement of vested RSI (2,95€) (80,759 2,93t (21) (21)
Distributions to noncontrollin:

interests (88,257 (88,257)
Adjustment related t

noncontrolling interes _ _ 30,81¢ 147 30,96¢ (30,969 —
Balance- December 31, 200 36,607h 277$; 51,745,82 $ 517$ (119,03) $ 248,55. $ 23,72F 1,712,841 $(69,29¢) $ 84,45¢ $ 38,65¢ $ 123,11
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LAZARD LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS * EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20B—(Continued)
(dollars in thousands)

Accumulated
Preferred Stock Other
Additional Comprehensive
Common Stock

Class A
Common Stock Total
Held By Lazard Ltd Total
A Subsidiary Stockholders’ Noncontrolling Stockholders’

Series A Series B Retained

Shares _ $

Shares _$ Shares(*) _$

Paid-in-
Capital

Earnings

Income (Loss),
Net of Tax Shares $ Equity

Interests

Equity

Balance- January 1, 2008 36,607 $—
Comprehensive income (los
Net income (loss
Other comprehensive
income (loss) - net of
tax:
Currency
translation
adjustmentt
Amortization of
interest rate
hedge
Available-for-sale
securities
Net
unrealizer
loss
Adjustmen
for
items
reclass
to
earning
Employee benefi
plans:
Net
actuari
gain
Adjustment
for
items
reclassifiel
to
earnings
Comprehensive los
Class A common stoc
issued/issuable in
connection with business
acquisitions and related
amortizatior
Conversion of Series A ar
Series B preferred stock
issued in connection with
prior year’s business
acquisition into Class A
common stocl
Class A common stoc
issuable in connection wi
LAM Merger and related
amortizatior
Repurchase of common
membership interests fro
LAZ-MD Holdings
Amortization of stock unit
Dividenc-equivalents
Class A common stock
dividends
Purchase of Class A comm
stock
Delivery of Class A commo
stock for settlement of
vested RSUs and DSl
Class A common stock issu
in connection with
Settlement of the purcha
contracts forming part
of the ESU:
Exchange for Lazar
Group common
membership interests
including in
connection with
secondary offerini
Distributions to noncontrollin:
interests
Other

(4,869 —

2771 $— 51,745,82 $ 517$ (119,039 $

203,89( 2 4,66:

(277) — 450,25 5 ®)

64,51:

(1,597)
147,76
7,211

(29,029)

14,582,75 14€  272,93(

9,312,18 93 (93)

144

248,55. $

23,72F 1,712,841 $ (69,29¢) $ 84,45¢

38,65¢

123,11

3,13¢ 3,13¢

(95,199 (95,199

7€ 778

(25,496 (25,499

8,83¢ 8,83¢

7 77

(3,379

(57,03)

46€

(15,359

5,32C

46

(239

(152,23))

1,24¢

(40,85()

14,15«

122

(107,869

(69,939

(177,79)

4,66¢

64,51:

(1,597
147,76

(7,229 12
(23,056 (23,056

8,308,171 (277,06 (277,069

(644,85) 24,50 (4,516

273,07¢

144

8,30¢

(962)
88,17(

164,42:

(77,507
87

12,97:

64,51:

(2,559
235,93

12)
(23,056

(277,06))

(4,516

437,50(

(77,507
231



Adjustment related t
noncontrolling interest 82,22¢ 7,842 90,071 (90,077) —

Balance- December 31, 200 31,74 $— — $— 76,29491% 762% 429,69: $ 221,41( $ (79,43 9,376,16. $(321,85) $ 250,58( $ 61,17: $ 311,75:
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LAZARD LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20D—(Continued)
(dollars in thousands)

Accumulated

Series A Other Class A Total
Preferred Additional Comprehensive Common Stock Lazard Ltd Total
Stock Common Stock _Held By A Subsidiary  sigckholders’ Noncontrolling  Stockholders’
Paid-in- Retained Loss, Net of
Shares _$ Shares(*) _$ Capital Earnings Tax Shares $ Equity Interests Equity
Balance- January 1, 200¢ 31,74F $— 76,294,991 $ 765 $ 429,69 $22141( $ (79,43 9,376,16. $(321,85) $ 250,58( $ 61,17: $ 311,75:
Comprehensive income (los:
Net loss (130,247 (130,247 (58,009) (188,24Y)
Other comprehensive income (lo-
net of tax:
Currency translatio
adjustmentt 37,35t 37,35t 16,25( 53,60¢
Amortization of interest rat
hedge 802 802 274 1,07%
Available-for-sale securities
Net unrealized gai 20,57¢ 20,57¢ 7,03¢ 27,61«
Adjustment for item:
reclassified to
earnings 94t 94t 323 1,26¢
Employee benefit plan:
Prior service cost (11,290) (11,29() (3,867) (15,157
Net actuarial los (13,579 (13,579 (4,642) (18,21%)
Adjustment for item:
reclassified to
earnings 2,26( 2,26( s 3,03
Comprehensive los (93,16°) (41,849 (135,01Y)
Class A common stock issued/issuabl
connection with business acquisitic
and LAM Merger and related
amortization 1,473,861 15 28,12¢ 28,14: 10,99¢ 39,14(
Conversion of Series A preferred stc
into Class A common stoc (4,862) — 479,73. 5 (5) — —
Amortization of stock unit 268,12 268,12 91,24¢ 359,37¢
Dividenc-equivalents 4,95] (4,997 (40) (40
Class A common stock dividen (33,45)) (33,45)) (33,45)
Purchase of Class A common st 1,984,99 (50,47¢) (50,479 (50,479
Delivery of Class A common stock f
settlement of vested RSUs and DS (194,67() (5,510,38) 181,19: (13,47¢) (13,479
Repurchase of common membership
interests from LA:-MD Holdings (9,900 (9,900 (3,385 (13,28%)
Class A common stock issued
exchange for Lazard Group commu
membership interests, including in
connection with secondary offerin 13,917,40  13¢ (139) — —
Acquisitions of and distributions
noncontrolling interest 58,57¢ 58,57¢
Adjustments related to noncontrolli
interests _ 23,74% (14,68¢) 9,057 (9,057 —
Balance- December 31, 200! 26,880 $— 92,16591 $ 922 $ 549,93. $ 52,72¢ $ (57,04%) 5,850,77! $(191,140 $ 355,39: $ 167,70t $ 523,09°

) Includes 51,745,825, 76,294,912 and 92,165,912slwirthe Compar's Class A common stock issued at December 31, ZDWB and 2009, respectively, and 1 share of thragamy's Class E
common stock at each such di

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LAZARD LTD

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data,nless otherwise noted)

1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Organization

Lazard Ltd, a Bermuda holding company, and its islidndes (collectively referred to as “Lazard Ltdl,azard” or the “Company”), including
Lazard Ltd’s indirect investment in Lazard GroupQ,La Delaware limited liability company (collectlyeeferred to, together with its subsidiaries, as
“Lazard Group”), is one of the world’s preemineiniaincial advisory and asset management firms aadiong specialized in crafting solutions to the
complex financial and strategic challenges of dients. We serve a diverse set of clients arouedatbrld, including corporations, partnerships,
institutions, governments and high net worth indiils.

Lazard Ltd indirectly held approximately 74.5% &®14% of all outstanding Lazard Group common mesttiprinterests as of December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively. Lazard Ltd, througtcdntrol of the managing members of Lazard Groaptrols Lazard Group. Lazard Group is
governed by an Operating Agreement dated as of Map005, as amended (the “Operating Agreement”).

The Company’s sole operating asset is its indiogstership of common membership interests of Lagalip and its managing member interest
of Lazard Group, whose principal operating actgtare included in two business segments:

» Financial Advisory, which includes providing advioce mergers and acquisitions (“M&A”) and strategivisory matters, restructurings and
capital structure advisory services, capital rgisind other transactions, a

» Asset Management, which includes the managemesjuify and fixed income securities, alternativeestments and private equity funds.

In addition, the Company records selected othévites in its Corporate segment, including managetof cash, certain investments and the
commercial banking activities of Lazard Group’siBdmased Lazard Fréres Banque SA (“LFB”). The Camypalso allocates outstanding indebtedness
to its Corporate segment.

LFB is a registered bank regulated by the Banquierdace and its primary operations include assétiability management for Lazard Group’s
businesses in France through its money market asdlcommercial banking operations, deposit takird) # a lesser extent, financing activities and
custodial oversight over assets of various clidtf® also engages in underwritten offerings of siies in France.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are preparednformity with accounting principles generafigcepted in the United States of America
(“U.S. GAAP™). The Company’s policy is to consoltdgi) entities in which it has a controlling fingal interest, (ii) variable interest entities (‘BA")
where the Company has a variable interest andeisdd to be the primary beneficiary and (iii) linditgartnerships where the Company is the general
partner, unless the presumption of control is owere. When the Company does not have a controltitegast in an entity, but exerts significant
influence over the entity’s operating and finandectisions, the Company applies the equity metli@dcounting in which it records in earnings its
share of earnings or losses of the entity. All maténtercompany transactions and balances haga bEminated. Any material events or transactions
that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2009ghrthe date of filing of this Annual Report on Fot®K were reviewed for purposes of determin
whether any adjustments or additional disclosureewequired to be made to the accompanying cafaell financial statements.
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LAZARD LTD
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data,nless otherwise noted)

The consolidated financial statements include Léizadl, Lazard Group and Lazard Group’s principadi@ing subsidiaries: Lazard Fréres & Co.
LLC (“LFNY™), a New York limited liability companyalong with its subsidiaries, including Lazard Adgkanagement LLC and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “LAM”); its French liited liability companies Compagnie Financiére Ldzareres SAS (“CFLF”) along with its
subsidiaries, LFB and Lazard Fréres Gestion SAEGT) and Maison Lazard SAS and its subsidiaries); laazard & Co., Limited (“LCL"), through
Lazard & Co., Holdings Limited, an English privéditaited company (“LCH"), together with their joigtlowned affiliates and subsidiaries.

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassiienbnform to the manner of presentation in theent period, including those amounts
pertaining to noncontrolling (minority) interestssubsidiaries as required by recent accountindagnge issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (the “FASB”) (see Note 3 of Notes to Consafi@tl Financial Statements).

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies below relate to reportedamts on the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Translation—The consolidated financial statements are predantd).S. dollars. Many of the Company’s non-U.S.
subsidiaries have a functional currenadye(, the currency in which operational activities prinarily conducted) that is other than the U.Sladp
generally the currency of the country in which seabsidiaries are domiciled. Such subsidiariestssand liabilities are translated into U.S. dallar
year-end exchange rates, while revenue and expansésnslated at average exchange rates duengetir based on the daily closing exchange rates.
Adjustments that result from translating amountsrfra subsidiary’s functional currency to U.S. dallare reported in “accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax” (“AOCFpreign currency remeasurement gains and lossgamsactions in non-functional currencies are
included on the consolidated statements of operstidet foreign currency remeasurement gains aredunt$5,700, $14,657 and $5,657, respectively,
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and, 20@ are included in “revenue-other” on the regpe consolidated statements of operations.

Use of Estimates—n preparing the consolidated financial statemenenagement makes estimates and assumptions regardi

¢ valuations of assets and liabilities requiring faifue estimates including, but not limited to,@stments, derivatives and securities sold, not
yet purchasec

» the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accqunts

« the realization of deferred taxes and adequacgvofdserves for uncertain tax positions;
» the outcome of litigation;

« the carrying amount of goodwill and other intangibksets;

» the amortization period of intangible assets;

* share-based compensation plan forfeitures; and

» other matters that affect the reported amountsdésadosure of contingencies in the financial stagats.

Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgmehawailable information. Therefore, actual resattald differ from those estimates and could
have a material impact on the consolidated findsté@ements.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents-Fhe Company defines cash equivalents as short-téghly liquid securities and cash deposits witlyioal
maturities of 90 days or less when purchased.

Cash Deposited with Clearing Organizations and Otl8=gregated Cash—Rrimarily represents restricted cash deposits rbgdhe Company,
including those to satisfy the requirements of Glgporganizations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—We maintain an allowance for bad debts to provimeecage for estimated losses from our fee and mesto
receivables. We determine the adequacy of the allo® by estimating the probability of loss basedhamagement’s analysis of the client’s
creditworthiness and specifically reserve agairpbsures where we determine the receivables mayered, which may include situations where a
fee is in dispute or litigation has commenced.

With respect to fees receivable from Financial Advy activities, such receivables are generallyradgbpast due when they are outstanding 60
days from the date of invoice. However, some Firerfdvisory transactions include specific conttedtpayment terms that may vary from one month
to four years (as is the case for our Private FAhdsory fees) following the invoice date or maysbject to court approval (as is the case with
restructuring assignments that include bankruptoggedings). In such cases, receivables are depastdue when payment is not received by the
agreed-upon contractual date or the court appidat&l, respectively. Financial Advisory fee recelealpast due in excess of 180 days are fully pealid
for unless there is evidence that the balancelisatable. Asset Management fees are deemed pasrdufully provided for when such receivables are
outstanding 12 months after the invoice date. Nist@nding our policy for receivables past due specifically reserve against exposures relating to
Financial Advisory and Asset Management fees whereletermine receivables are impaired.

See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Btates for additional information regarding receiesb

Investments— Investments in debt and marketable equity secarftedd either directly or indirectly through assetnagement funds at the
Company’s broker-dealer subsidiaries are accouoteat fair value, with any increase or decreaskinvalue recorded in earnings in accordance with
standard industry practices. Such amounts arecteflén “revenue-other” in the consolidated statetmief operations.

Investments in debt and marketable equity secsiitédd at the Company’s non broker-dealer subsdianclude “trading”, “available-for-sale”
and “held-to-maturity” securities. Investments gbtland marketable equity securities considerexdlitig” securities are accounted for at fair value, \
any increase or decrease in fair value reflectédevenue-other” in the consolidated statementspafrations. Investments in debt securities consiler
“available-for-sale” securities are accounted fofia@ value, with any increase or decrease inalue reported in AOCI, until such time they are
realized and reclassified to earnings. Investmiendebt securities considered “held-to-maturityésaties are accounted for at amortized cost. Desli
in the fair value of “available-for-sale” and “hetd-maturity” securities that are determined toobiger-than-temporary are charged to earnings, which
upon adoption of new accounting guidance on othantemporary impairments of debt securities, nrdy mclude the credit loss component of such
declines for periods beginning after April 1, 2009.

Other investments include general partnershipéstsrin alternative asset management funds anateréquity investments accounted for at fair
value, as well as investments accounted for uriieetjuity method of accounting.
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Dividend income is reflected in “revenue-other”tbe consolidated statements of operations. Inté@meste includes accretion or amortization of
any discount or premium arising at acquisitionhaf telated debt security. Securities transactiodstiae related revenue and expenses are recordzed on
trade date basis.

See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Btates for additional information regarding the Camyg's investments.

Property-net—Buildings, leasehold improvements and furniture agdipment are stated at cost or, in the caseitdfibgs under capital leases,
the present value of the future minimum lease payséess accumulated depreciation and amortizaiaitdings represent owned property and
amounts recorded pursuant to capital leases (seesNa@ and 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financitetents), with the related obligations recorded as
capital lease obligations. Such buildings are depted on a straight-line basis over their estimhatgeful lives. Leasehold improvements are capédli
and are amortized over the lesser of the econosatullife of the improvement or the term of thade. Depreciation of furniture and equipment,
including computer hardware and software, is deiftrsethon a straight-line basis using estimated ldigks. Depreciation and amortization expense
aggregating $22,541, $20,825 and $16,734 for taesyended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, resgects included on the respective
consolidated statements of operations in “occupamcyequipment” or “technology and information $exg”, depending on the nature of the underlying
asset. Repairs and maintenance are expensed agdcu

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets-As goodwill has an indefinite life, it is requiréal be tested for impairment annually or more frexlysif
circumstances indicate impairment may have occufiied Company assesses whether any goodwill recdrgléd applicable reporting units is impai
by comparing the fair value of each business wihdspective carrying amount. In this processatéuuses its best judgment and information avaglabl
to it at the time to perform this review and ugizvarious valuation techniques in order to deteentiie applicable fair values.

Intangible assets that are not deemed to havedafinite life are amortized over their estimatedfuslives and are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amount of such assets mayaotdoverable. This analysis is performed by
comparing the carrying value of the intangible absing reviewed for impairment to the current axgected future cash flows expected to be gene
from such asset on an undiscounted basis, incluglregtual disposition. An impairment loss wouldnbeasured for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the intangible asset exceeds its fairezal

See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak&tants with respect to goodwill and other intargyidsets.

Derivative Instruments—A derivative is typically defined as an instrumeritose value is “derived” from underlying assetsljées or reference
rates, such as a future, forward, swap, or opt@niract, or other financial instrument with simitdraracteristics. Derivative contracts often ineolv
future commitments to exchange interest paymeaésis or currencies based on a notional or conabatoount .g., interest rate swaps or currency
forwards) or to purchase or sell other financiatioments at specified terms on a specified datg.( options to buy or sell securities or currencies).

The Company enters into forward foreign currencgh@xge rate contracts, interest rate swaps, ittexesfutures, equity swaps and other
derivative contracts to hedge exposures to fluznatin interest rates, currency exchange ratesquoiy markets. The Company reports its derivative
instruments separately as assets and liabilitiessara legal right of set-off exists under a masésting agreement enforceable by law. The Comgany’
derivative instruments are recorded at their falug and are included in “other assets” and “olilaéilities” on the
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consolidated statements of financial condition. Toenpany elected not to apply hedge accountintstddrivative instruments held, except for
derivatives hedging “available-for-sale” securiti€ains and losses on the Company’s derivativesiesignated as hedging instruments, as well as gain
and losses on derivatives accounted for as fairevhédges, are included in “interest income” antkefiest expense”, respectively, or “revenue-other”,
depending on the nature of the underlying itemthenconsolidated statements of operations. Furthermvith respect to derivatives designated as fair
value hedges, the hedged item is required to hested for changes in fair value of the risk beiedded, with such adjustment accounted for in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Securities Sold, Not Yet PurchasedSecurities sold, not yet purchased representditiabifor securities sold for which payment hasie
received and the obligations to deliver such séesgrare included within “other liabilities” in treonsolidated statements of financial conditioneSéh
securities are accounted for at fair value, with imcrease or decrease in fair value recordedriniegs in accordance with standard industry prastic
Such gains and losses are reflected in “revenuerbiin the consolidated statements of operations.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities—Fhe majority of the Company’s financial assets Eatilities are recorded at fair value or at
amounts that approximate fair value. Such assetdianilities include cash and cash equivalentshand securities segregated for regulatory pugyose
receivables, investments, derivative instrumentsadeposits and other customer payables. For infiomaegarding the fair value of the Company’s
senior and subordinated debt, see Note 14 of Not€snsolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Investment Banking and Other Advisory Feeskees for M&A and strategic advisory services arsdrueturing advisory services are recorded
when earned, which is generally the date the mlasactions are consummated. Expenses thairactiydrelated to such transactions and billable t
clients are deferred to match revenue recognitient reimbursements of expenses are presentdd fiavestment banking and other advisory fees”
on the Company consolidated statements of operations. The anaf@xpenses reimbursed by clients for the yeade@®ecember 31, 2009, 2008
2007 are $21,673, $18,124 and $19,267, respectively

Money Management and Incentive FeesMoney management fees are derived from fees fasimrent management and advisory services
provided to institutional and private clients. Rewe is recorded on an accrual basis primarily basea percentage of client assets managed. Fegs var
with the type of assets managed, with higher feesezl on equity assets, alternative investmenh(aadedge funds) and private equity products, and
lower fees earned on fixed income and money mamiaatucts.

The Company may earn performance-based incentdgede various investment products, including aéttve investment funds such as hedge
funds, private equity funds, and traditional invesht strategies. Incentive fees are calculateddbase specified percentage of a fundét appreciatio
in some cases in excess of established benchniacksitive fees on private equity funds also magémed in the form of a carried interest if profits
from investments exceed a specified threshold. § imeentive fees are recorded when realized angdaideat the end of the measurement period.
Incentive fees on hedge funds generally are subjdots carry-forward provisions in which lossesurred by the funds in any year are applied agains
certain future period net appreciation before armgntive fees can be earned.

The Company records incentive fees at the endeofalevant performance measurement period, whempak uncertainties regarding the ultim
realizable amounts have been determined. The peafice fee measurement period is generally an apedald, unless an account terminates durini
year. These incentive fees received at the enkeofiteasurement period are not subject to revergeydback.
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Receivables relating to money management and iiveeigtes are reported in “fees receivable” on thiesolidated statements of financial
condition.

Soft Dollar Arrangements— The Company’s Asset Management business obtaiaangsand other services through “soft dollar” mgements.
Consistent with the “soft dollar” safe harbor efisdted by Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchafwgfeof 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the
Asset Management business does not have any coatabligation or arrangement requiring it to fayresearch and other services obtained through
soft dollar arrangements with brokers. Instead pttezider is obligated to pay for the services. €aquently, the Company does not incur any liability
and does not accrue any expenses in connectioremjtinesearch or other services obtained by thetAdanagement business pursuant to such soft
dollar arrangements. If the use of soft dollartinisted or prohibited in the future by regulatiome may have to bear the costs of such researcbthed
services.

Share-Based Payment Awards-Share-based payment awards that do not requiresfairvice are expensed immediately and share-Ipas@dent
awards that require future service are amortized the requisite service period. The Company reizegrin “compensation and benefits” expense (and,
in 2009, “restructuring” expense for individualspatted by the Company’s restructuring plan desdribéNote 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements) the amortized portion of the grant fhatevalue of the equity awards, net of an esteddbrfeiture rate.

Income Taxes—Lazard Ltd is subject to U.S. corporate federabime tax on its allocable share of the results efatons of Lazard Group, and
certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company abgestito income taxes in their local jurisdictiohsaddition, the Company is subject to New York
City Unincorporated Business Taxes (“UBT") attriéole to Lazard Group’s operations apportioned tev Nerk City.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeEtemporary differences between the financial répgrand tax basis of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the enacted tax rates andhawwill be in effect when such differences areestpd to reverse. Such temporary differences are
reflected as deferred tax assets and liabilitiesaae included in “other assets” and “other lidig$”, respectively, on the consolidated statemehts
financial condition.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ssseanagement considers whether it is more litedy not that some portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will be realized and, when necessargluation allowance is established. The ultimasdization of the deferred tax assets is dependewrt u
the generation of future taxable income duringpgeegods in which temporary differences become diéolec Management considers the level of
historical taxable income, scheduled reversalstdémed taxes, projected future taxable incometarglanning strategies that can be implemented by
the Company in making this assessment. Furthermmaaagement applies the more likely than not daiterior to the recognition of a financial
statement benefit of a tax position taken or exgretd be taken in a tax return with respect to tag#y in income taxes.

The Company recognizes interest and/or penaltletectto income tax matters in income tax expense.
See Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants for additional information relating to inaetaxes.

3. RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Fair Value Measurements-On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted, on a gxtigp basis, the required provisions of new actingrguidanct
issued by the FASB on fair value measurements, lwlkimong other
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things, defined fair value, established a frameworkmeasuring fair value and enhanced disclosemeirements about fair value measurements with
respect to its financial assets and financial ligds. On January 1, 2009, the Company adoptedeimaining provisions of the new guidance issued, a
permitted by an amendment which delayed the effecate of the new accounting guidance for all mamfcial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, ex:
those that are recognized or disclosed at fairevaduhe financial statements on a recurring b@diteast annually). These nonfinancial items idell

for example, reporting units required to be measdateair value for annual goodwill impairment tegtpurposes and nonfinancial assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination. iNgithe adoption of the required provisions ofriees guidance, nor the subsequent adoption of the
remaining provisions of the new guidance as peeahitty the amendment, had a material impact on émep@ny’s consolidated financial statements.

On April 1, 2009, the Company adopted, on a praspebasis, additional accounting guidance issuethb FASB on fair value measurements.
The additional accounting guidance assists in #terchination of fair value for securities or otfieancial assets when the volume and level of dgtiv
for such items have significantly decreased whenpgared with normal market activity and there idarger sufficient frequency or volume to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis. The addidl accounting guidance also assists in detergniwimether or not a transaction is orderly and
whether or not a transaction or quoted price caconsidered in the determination of fair value. éwlingly, the additional accounting guidance doeat
apply to quoted prices for identical assets oriliidds in active markets categorized as Level thia fair value measurement hierarchy, and alsoires)
that additional fair value disclosures be includedan interim basis. See Note 6 of Notes to Codat# Financial Statements for the additional
disclosures provided pursuant to the additionabacting guidance. The adoption of additional guaaregarding fair value measurements did not
materially impact the Company'’s consolidated finahstatements.

On January 21, 2010, the FASB amended its guidandair value measurement disclosures to add ngquinements for disclosures about
transfers into and out of the Level 1 and 2 catiegdn the fair value measurement hierarchy, apdrsge disclosures about purchases, sales, issjance
and settlements relating to Level 3 measuremeiis.eamended guidance also clarifies existing fdwevaisclosures about the level of disaggregation
and about inputs and valuation techniques usecetmsare fair value. The new requirements for disckxssand clarifications of existing disclosures are
effective for interim and annual reporting periddginning after December 15, 2009, except for ikelasures about purchases, sales, issuances, and
settlements in the roll forward of activities inved 3 fair value measurements, which are effedtivénterim and annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2010. The Company does notipaticthat the adoption of the amended guidandaiomalue measurement-related disclosures will
have a material impact on its consolidated findrat@tements.

Business Combinatiors-On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted, on @@ctige basis, new accounting guidance issuedéyASB on
business combinations. The new accounting guidanpersedes or amends other related authoritatératiire although it retains the fundamental
requirements that the acquisition method of acdogr(previously referred to as the “purchase methdie used for all business combinations and that
an acquirer be identified for each business contioinaThe new guidance also establishes principhesrequirements for how the acquirer
(a) recognizes and measures in its financial staésithe identifiable assets acquired, the liaddiassumed and any noncontrolling interest in an
acquiree; (b) recognizes and measures the gooalegjliired in a business combination or a gain frdrargain purchase; and (c) determines what
information to disclose to enable users of therfaial statements to evaluate the nature and fiaheéfiects of a business combination. The new gwie
also requires the acquirer to expense, as incucosts relating to any acquisitions. The adoptibthe new accounting guidance did not materially
impact on the Company’s consolidated financialestegnts. Prospectively, all acquisitions conforrthisnew accounting guidance.
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On April 1, 2009, the Company adopted amended axtowuguidance issued by the FASB for business @oations. The amended guidance
clarifies the initial recognition and measurementsequent measurement and accounting and diselosassets and liabilities arising from
contingencies in a business combination. The adopif the amended guidance did not materially ihffae Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

Noncontrolling Interests—On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted, on @spective basis, new presentation and disclosargreaments
issued by the FASB with respect to noncontrollinggiests in consolidated financial statements. #althl guidance was also issued to establish
accounting and reporting standards for the nonobimyg (minority) interest in a subsidiary and fiie deconsolidation of a subsidiary. The new
accounting guidance clarified that a noncontroliimgrest in a subsidiary is an ownership inteiresihe consolidated entity that should be repoasd
equity in the consolidated financial statementsaddition, the new guidance also changes the wagdhsolidated income statement is presented by
requiring consolidated net income to include amsattributable to both the parent and the nonclimganterests with separate disclosure of each
component on the face of the consolidated incorterstent. The new accounting guidance does not, Verwinpact the calculation of net income per
share, as such calculation will continue to be Baseamounts attributable to the parent.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging ActivitiesOn January 1, 2009, the Company adopted, on agctep basis, new disclosure guidance is:
by the FASB regarding derivative instruments andigieg activities. The new guidance enhances theentidisclosure framework for derivative
instruments and hedging activities, including howl avhy an entity uses derivative instruments, hewétive instruments and related hedged items are
accounted for and how derivative instruments atated hedged items affect an entity’s financialiffas, financial performance and cash flows. See
Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesémtthe additional disclosures provided pursuarhe new guidance. The adoption of the |
disclosure guidance did not materially impact tlenPany’s consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Estimates for Certain Financial Instruntie—On April 1, 2009, the Company adopted, on a prospe basis, additional disclosure
requirements issued by the FASB regarding thevilire of certain financial instruments. The addiibdisclosure requirements increase the frequency
of qualitative and quantitative information abaait fvalue estimates for all financial instruments remeasured on the balance sheet at fair value by
requiring this information on an interim basis. Tddoption of the additional disclosure requiremelidsnot materially impact the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. See Note 14abédNto Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairments of Debt Securiie®n April 1, 2009, the Company adopted, on a prospe basis, new accounting
guidance issued by the FASB with respect to thegeition and presentation of other-than-temporargdirments pertaining to debt securities. The new
accounting guidance requires greater clarity abwtredit and non-credit components of debt seesrthat are not expected to be sold and whose fai
value is below amortized cost, and also requiresersed disclosures regarding expected cash ftoedit losses and an aging of securities with
unrealized losses. The adoption of the new accogmfilidance did not materially impact the Compamgnsolidated financial statements. See Note
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Employers’ Post-retirement Benefit Plardn December 2008, the FASB amended its disclosgairements with respect to employers’ post-
retirement benefit plan assets by requiring motaildel disclosures about an employer’s plan assetsiding an employer’s investment strategies,
major categories of plan assets, concentrationislofvithin plan assets and valuation techniqguesiue measure the fair value of plan assets. The
disclosures about plan assets required by this dment are required to be provided for fiscal yesrding after December 15, 2009. Upon initial
application, the provisions of this amendment are n
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required for earlier periods that are presenteddonparative purposes. Earlier application of thvisions of this amendment is permitted. The aidoy
of this amendment did not materially impact the @any’s consolidated financial statements in 2009.

VIEs—In June 2009, the FASB amended its guidance orsVIBe amended guidance changes how a companyniteterwhen an entity that is
insufficiently capitalized or is not controlled thugh voting (or similar rights) should be consatéth It also requires a company to provide add#ion
disclosures about its involvement with VIEs and aignificant changes in risk exposure due to thevlivement. The requirements of the amended
accounting guidance are effective for interim andual periods beginning after November 15, 2009earty adoption is prohibited. On January 27,
2010, the FASB voted to defer the application @filidance on consolidation of a reporting entsgdsiinterest in an entity when certain conditians
met. This deferral is effective for interim and aahperiods beginning after November 15, 2009. Chmpany does not anticipate that the adoption of
the amended guidance and related disclosures avit A material impact on its consolidated finansfatements.

4. RECEIVABLES—NET AND DEPOSITS AND OTHER CUSTOMER PAYABLES
Receivables—net— Represents receivables from banks, fees, custanedrsther and related parties.

Receivables from banks represent those relate@BisL.short-term inter-bank deposits. The levelhgfge intelbank deposits is primarily driven
the level of LFB customer and bank-related intebestring time and demand deposits, which can fatetsignificantly on a daily basis. As the amount
of such deposits held at LFB changes, there isrgéyna corresponding, but indirect, impact on lgneel of short-term inter-bank deposits.

In connection with collateralized lending activitief LFB, the Company typically receives a pled§specifically identified securities of equal or
greater value than the amount of the cash loaneltht€ralized customer loan receivables, which amexd to $2,305 and $8,907 at December 31, 2009
and 2008, respectively, were collateralized by g8es of equal or greater value at each such d&aeurities owned by customers and pledged to
collateralize secured loan receivables are nodctftl on the consolidated statements of finanoiadlition.

Customers and other receivables at December 38, 208 2008 include $4,466 and $13,109, respectieélpans by LFB to managing directors
and employees in France that are made in the aydanarse of business at market terms.

Receivables are stated net of an estimated allosvionaoubtful accounts of $11,575 and $15,883eatdnber 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively,
for past due amounts and for specific accounts ddamcollectible. The Company recorded bad deb¢rese of $4,509, $5,388 and $540 for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respactimedddition, the Company recorded charge-offsgifyn currency translation and other
adjustments, which resulted in a net increase édeser) to the allowance for doubtful accounts of8fi(8), $(2,795) and $1,434 for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectivelipesember 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had $14/ib$17,916, respectively, of receivables
deemed past due or uncollectible.

Deposits and Other Customer PayablesPrincipally relates to LFB customer-related intéetasaring time and demand deposits, short-terni-inte
bank borrowing with banks and amounts due on eolidized borrowing activities. Collateralized baving activities amounted to $18,008 and $15,170
at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, amd fully collateralized with pledged assets of daquagreater value at each such date.
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The Company'’s investments and securities soldy@bpurchased consist of the following at Decen8igr2009 and 2008:

Debt:
U.S. Government and agenc
Other:
Non-U.S. Governments and agenc
U.S. states and municips
Corporates

Equities
Other:
Interest in LAM alternative asset management fu
General PartneGF”) interests owne
GP interests consolidated but not owi
Private equity
Investments owne
Investments consolidated but not owt
Equity methoc

Total investment
Less:
Debt at amortized co
Equity method investmen
Investments, at fair valt

Securities sold, not yet purchased (include“other liabilities")
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December 31

2009 2008
$147500 $ —
43,50: 36,39¢
15,72¢ —
254,11 296,67
313,34 333,07(
82,44: 71,10¢
50,08( 35,30(
13,03¢ 20,86¢
102,98¢ 83,93
35,74 —
62,55¢ 75,69¢
264,40: 215,79.
807,69: 619,96
136,63( —
62,55¢ 75,69¢
$608,50!  $544,27:
$ 517¢ $ 6,97¢
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Debt investments at December 31, 2009 and 2008 eategorized as follows:

December 31

2009 2008
Trading securities
U.S. Government and agenc $ 21,09« $ —
Non-U.S. Governments and agenc 33,28¢ 36,39¢
U.S. states and municips 15,72¢ —
Corporate: 45C 7,572

70,55¢ 43,96¢

Available-for-sale securities

Corporates 253,661 289,10:
Held-to-maturity securities
U.S. Government and agenc 126,41 —
Non-U.S. Government and agenc 10,21 —
136,63( —
Total debt securitie $460,84¢  $333,07(

Substantially all of the corporate and non-U.S. &owment debt securities are held by LFB and priyadnsist of fixed and floating rate
European corporate and French government debtisesuBuch securities are typically held long-teas part of its asséigbility management prograt

Effective July 1, 2008, certain debt securitiesii®t LFB with a carrying value of $236,999 on tHate, which were previously designated as
“trading” securities, were redesignated as “avéddbr-sale” securities. Such re-designation repmésd a non-cash transaction between “trading” and
“available-for-sale” securities.

The fair value and amortized cost basis pertaitondebt securities classified as “available-foresat December 31, 2009, by maturity date/first
call date, are as follows:

Amortized

Cost

Maturity Date/First Call Date Fair Value Basis
Within one yeal $ 38,71t $ 40,61¢
After 1 year through 5 yea 136,22: 142,36:
After 5 years through 10 yee 63,44« 75,36(
After 10 years 15,28: 14,64¢

$253,66: $272,98t

Debt investments include corporate perpetual séesithat are callable. Such securities are listébe table above based on their respective first
call dates. All other “available-for-sale” secwggiare listed in the table based on their contahataturities.
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Debt securities classified as “available-for-saleDecember 31, 2009 and 2008 that are in an ureddbss position are as follows:

December 31, 200! December 31, 200:
Securities in a Securities in a Securities in a Securities in a
Continuous Loss Continuous Loss Continuous Loss Continuous Loss
Position for Position for Position for Position for
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss

$— $— $166,094 $21,381 $210,86€ $52,883 $58,368 $10,794

The unrealized loss for securities in a contindogs position for 12 months or longer at Decemtiegr2B09 has been reduced by an other-than-
temporary impairment charge of $1,825 reclassifiech AOCI to “revenue-other” on the consolidatedtetent of operations during the year ended
December 31, 2009. Such amount represents managemsiimate of the credit loss component of delsusities whose fair value is below its
amortized cost. There was no other-than-temporapairment charge recognized during the years ebéegmber 31, 2008 and 2007.

LFB does not intend to sell its debt securitiessiféeed as “available-for-sale”, nor is it moredlk than not that LFB will be required to sell such
debt securities before their anticipated recovBased on the qualitative and quantitative analysiformed, debt securities in unrealized loss jmost
were not considered to be other-than-temporarilyaimed at December 31, 2009, except for the am@maoignized above.

The fair value and amortized cost basis pertaitondebt securities classified as “held-to-maturiéy’'December 31, 2009, by maturity date, are as
follows:

Amortized
Cost
Maturity Date Fair Value Basis
After 1 year through 5 yea $137,77¢ $136,63(

There were no debt securities classified as “helthaturity” at December 31, 2009 that were in areaognized loss position.

Equities principally represent the Company’s inmestts in marketable equity securities of larged-mind small-cap domestic, international and
global companies to seed new Asset Management gi®dnd includes investments in public and priestget management funds managed both by
LAM and third-party asset managers.

In 2008, LFNY was a party to a Prime Brokerage A&gnent with LBI for certain accounts involving int@&nt strategies managed by LAM. On
September 9, 2008, LAM requested a transfer of agcbunts, of which $11,368 was not received. Qute®aber 15, 2008, LBI, the ultimate parent
company in the Lehman Group, filed for protectioner Chapter 11 of the United States BankruptcyeGow a number of Lehman Group entities it
UK entered into administration proceedings underltisolvency Act 1986. In addition, the Securitiegestor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”)
commenced liquidation proceedings on Septembe20®3 pursuant to the Securities Investor Protedtictnof 1970, as amended, with respect to
Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. The Chapter 11 dilimsolvency Act Administration and SIPC proceggiexposed Lazard to possible loss due to
counterparty credit and other risk. During 2008, @ompany reserved the entire amount of such dedsis, and, through December 31, 2009, no f
have been received by the Company. We continuetieely seek recovery of all amounts.
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Interests in LAM alternative asset management fuageesent (i) GP interests owned by Lazard in LAMraged alternative asset management
funds and (ii) GP interests consolidated by the gamy pertaining to noncontrolling interests in LAdMernative asset management funds. Such
noncontrolling interests in LAM alternative assetmagement funds, which represent GP interestsdirelctly by certain of our LAM managing
directors or employees of the Company, are deemébd tontrolled by, and therefore consolidatediy,Company in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Noncontrolling interests are presented wit‘stockholders’ equity” on the consolidated statetsenf financial condition (see Note 16 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements).

Private equity investments owned by Lazard are gilpncomprised of investments in private equitnds and direct private equity interests. Such
investments primarily include (i) a mezzanine fuwtijch invests in mezzanine debt of a diversifielbstion of small- to mid-cap European companies;
(ii) Corporate Partners Il Limited (“CP 11"), a pate equity fund targeting significant noncontraglistake investments in established public andapgiv
companies and (iii) Lazard Senior Housing Parth&¢“Senior Housing”), which acquires companies assdets in the senior housing, extended-stay
hotel and shopping center sectors.

Private equity investments consolidated but notedvoy Lazard are related solely to Lazard’s esthbient of a private equity business with the
Edgewater Funds (“Edgewater”), a Chicago-basedfeiequity firm, through the acquisition of Edgesvat management vehicles on July 15, 2009.
acquisition was structured as a purchase by Lazfarderests in a holding company that owns interésthe general partner and management company
entities of the current Edgewater private equitydii (the “Edgewater Acquisition”). Edgewater isufeed on buyout and growth equity investments in
middle market companies. The economic intereststtieaCompany does not own are owned by the cukeadership team and other investors in the
Edgewater management vehicles.

Equity method investments include investments niadiee first quarter of 2008 in Sapphire Indusgi&lorp. (“Sapphire”)dpproximately $13,0C
of which was subsequently written-off in the fougiharter of 2009 principally relating to the Comyparinvestment in Sapphire warrants) and Merchant
Bankers Asociados (“MBA”), an Argentinzased financial advisory services firm with offi@soss Central and South America and the parenpany
of MBA Banco de Inversiones (see Notes 9 and 18aiés to Consolidated Financial Statements fortawidil information regarding MBA and
Sapphire, respectively).

The Company recognized gross investment gainsasse$ on investments measured at fair value foraaes ended December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007 in “revenue-other” on the respective clidated statements of operations as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Gross investment gait $53,31¢ $ 52,74¢  $63,72:
Gross investment loss $19,74( $164,13! $47,50:

The table above includes gross unrealized invedtgeins and losses pertaining“trading” securities as follows

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Gross unrealized investment ga $ 3,72 $ 18,67: $ 8,61(
Gross unrealized investment los $ — $ 9,12¢ $24,18¢

In addition, within AOCI, the Company recorded gr@se-tax unrealized investment losses of $195,68&and $1,022 during the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectivelygesss pre-tax unrealized investment gains of $8,8308 and $0 during the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
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respectively, pertaining to debt securities heldrB that are designated as “available-for-salé& Bverage cost basis is utilized for purposes of
calculating realized investment gains and losses.

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Lazard categorizes its investments and certairr @bsets and liabilities recorded at fair value mthree-level fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1. Assets and liabilities whose values are based adjusted quoted prices for identical assets oilili@s in an active market that Lazard has
the ability to acces:

Level 2.  Assets and liabilities whose values are based oteduprices for similar assets or liabilities inaative market, quoted prices for identica
similar assets or liabilities in non-active marketsnputs other than quoted prices that are dirextiservable or derived principally from or
corroborated by market da

Level 3. Assets and liabilities whose values are based ioegor valuation techniques that require inpuds éne both unobservable and significai
the overall fair value measurement. These inpdtsattmanagement’s own assumptions about the adsamm market participant would
use in pricing the asset or liability. Items inadgidin Level 3 include securities or other finaneissets whose volume and level of activity
have significantly decreased when compared witmabmarket activity and there is no longer sufinti#equency or volume to provide
pricing information on an ongoing bas

Principally all of the Company’s investments inparate debt securities are considered Level 2 timarsts with such fair value based on
observable data, principally broker quotes as plexiby external pricing services. The Compamther debt securities at fair value are consilesvel
1 investments with such fair value based on unaeljuguoted prices in active markets.

The fair value of equities is principally classtfias Level 1 or Level 2 as follows: marketable ggsécurities are classified as Level 1 and are
valued based on the last trade price on the prirachange for that security; public asset managefads are classified as Level 1 and are valued
based on the reported closing price for the fund;iavestments in private asset management furedslassified as Level 2 and are primarily valued
based on information provided by fund managers sechndarily, from external pricing services to ¢éixéent managed by LAM.

The fair value of interests in LAM alternative assmnagement funds is classified as Level 2 ahadsed on information provided by external
pricing services.

The fair value of private equity investments isssified as Level 3 and is based on financial statesprovided by fund managers, appraisals and
internal valuations.

Where information reported is based on broker cgjatee Company generally obtains one quote/pricéng&rument. In some cases, quotes rel
to corporate bonds obtained through external pgiservices represent the average of several brplaes.

Where information reported is based on data redeien fund managers or from external pricing segsj the Company reviews such informa
to ascertain at which level within the fair valuerarchy to classify the investment.
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The following tables present the categorizatiomwéstments and certain other assets and liakilitieasured at fair value on a recurring basis as
of December 31, 2009 and 2008 into a three-lexel/&due hierarchy in accordance with fair valueasigrement disclosure requirements:

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basi
As of December 31, 2009

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Investments
Debt (excluding securities at amortized ct $ 7055¢ $ 253,66: $ — $ 324,21
Equities 65,93: 16,20¢ 30t 82,44:
Other (excluding equity method investmen
Interest in LAM alternative asset management fu
GP interests owne — 50,08( — 50,08(
GP interests consolidatt — 13,03¢ — 13,03¢
Private equity
Investments owne — 2,812 100,17: 102,98
Investments consolidated but not owi — — 35,74 35,74
Derivatives 5 91€ — 921
Total Assets $ 136,49: $ 336,71 $ 136,21¢ $ 609,42¢
Liabilities:
Securities sold, not yet purchas $ 5,17¢ $ — $ — $ 5,17¢
Derivatives — 17,38: — 17,38:
Total Liabilities $ 5,17¢ $ 17,38 $ — $ 22,56
Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basi
As of December 31, 200
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Investments
Debt $43,96¢ $289,10: $ — $333,07(
Equities 54,10¢ 14,54« 2,45¢ 71,10¢
Other (excluding equity method investmen
Interest in LAM alternative asset management fu
GP interests owne — 35,30( — 35,30(
GP interests consolidat: — 20,86¢ — 20,86¢
Private equity investments own — — 83,93! 83,93:
Derivatives — 4,661 — 4,661
Total Assets $98,07" $364,47: $86,38¢ $548,93:
Liabilities:
Securities sold, not yet purchas $ 6,97t $ — $ — $ 6,97
Derivatives — 43,99( — 43,99(
Total Liabilities $ 6,97¢ $ 43,99( $ — $ 50,96¢
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The following tables provide a summary of changefair value of the Company’Level 3 assets for the years ended Decembei089, @hd 200¢

Level 3 Asset:
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

Net
Purchases,
Net Unrealized. Issuances
P Realized and Foreign
Beginning Gains (Losses) Settlements Currency
Included In Translation Ending
Balance RevenueOther Acquisitions Adjustments Balance
Investments
Equities $245: % (97) $ (2,057 $  — $ 30t
Private equity
Investments owne 83,93: 2,76¢ 11,93: 1,53¢ 100,17:
Investments consolidated but not owt — 3,82¢ 31,91¢ — 35,74
Total Level 3 Asset $86,38¢ $ 6,49¢ $ 41,80( $ 1,53¢ $136,21¢
Level 3 Assets
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008
Net
Purchases,
Net Unrealized Issuances
- Realized and Foreign
Beginning Gains (Losses) Settlements Currency
Included In Translation Ending
Balance RevenueOther Acquisitions Adjustments Balance
Investments
Equities $ 4,46¢ $ 21z $ (1,949 $ (289 $ 2,45¢
Private equity investments own 74,05; (12,39) 25,73 (3,467) 83,93:
Total Level 3 Asset $78,52( $ (12,179 $ 23,78¢ $ (3,746 $86,38¢

There were net realized gains (losses) of $(688)%810 included in income during the years eriblecember 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively,
with respect to Level 3 assets.
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7. DERIVATIVES

The table below represents the fair values of thm@any’s derivative assets and liabilities repowtétiin “other assets” and “other liabilities” on
the accompanying consolidated statements of fimdueondition as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

Derivatives Designatec

Derivatives Not Designatec

as Hedging Instruments as Hedging Instruments Total
December 31 December 31 December 31
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Derivative Assets:
Forward foreign currency exchange rate contr $ — $ — $ 83 $ 4377 $ 83 $ 4,377
Interest rate sway — 75 80 20¢ 80 284
Other derivative: — — 5 — 5 —
$ — $ 75 % 921 $ 4586 $ 921 $ 4,661
Derivative Liabilities:
Forward foreign currency exchange rate contr $ — $ — $ 2212 $ 26,59 $ 2,217 $26,59:
Interest rate swaf 14,147 12,98( 56 1,051 14,20: 14,03:
Equity swaps — — 967 3,36¢ 967 3,36¢
$ 14147 $ 1298 $ 3,23¢ $ 31,01( $17,38! $43,99(

The effect of gains (losses) with respect to de¢irres not designated as hedging instruments oa¢cbempanying consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 20@@ ¢oninantly reflected in “revenue-other”), by tygfederivative, is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, 20C

$ 3,311
62t

(13,810

$ (9,879

With respect to derivatives designated as hedgisguments, such derivatives relate to interestsafaps that hedge “available-for-sadeturitie:
and are being accounted for as fair value hedgeshE year ended December 31, 2009, netaprdosses of $1,263 pertaining to such interestsevap
were recognized, which was substantially offseabyequivalent amount on the hedged risk portiosuch “available-for-sale” securities.

Forward foreign currency exchange rate contr
Interest rate sway
Equity swaps and other derivativ

8. LAM MERGER TRANSACTION

On September 25, 2008, the Company, LAM and LAZ SuhC, a then newly-formed subsidiary of LFNY,rapleted the merger of LAZ Sub |,
LLC with and into LAM (the “LAM Merger”). Prior tahe LAM Merger, the common equity interests of LAlre held by LFNY and certain other
equity interests of LAM, representing contingenympants should a fundamental transaction occureasribed below, were held by present and former
employees of LAM. Following the LAM Merger, all eitypiinterests of LAM are owned directly or indirgcby LFNY. The equity interests of LAM that
were held, prior to the LAM Merger, by the
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then present and former employees of LAM and ibsgliaries (and certain related phantom rightsedsas incentive compensation) entitled the holders
to payments totaling approximately 23% of the metpeds or imputed valuation of LAM (after deductidor payments to creditors of LAM and the
return of capital in LAM) in connection with cemaspecified fundamental transactions concerning LétNlazard, including a sale of LAM or Lazard,
certain nonerdinary course asset sales and major acquisitAsa. consequence of the LAM Merger, during theg¢hmonth period ended September
2008, the Company recorded a reduction to its-&éteincome of $108,628, consisting of compensatiath benefits expense of $197,550 related to the
equity interests of LAM held by present and forremployees of LAM and $2,000 of n@empensation related transaction costs (togethgreggting t«

a reduction of operating income of $199,550), whithse charges partially offset by associated inc@xand noncontrolling interest credits of $7,427
and $83,495, respectively.

The aggregate non-contingent consideration reldtirtge equity interests of LAM (and the phantoghts referred to above) held by present and
former employees of LAM and its subsidiaries (tfieghsaction Considerationtpnsists of (i) cash payments made from the closfribe LAM Mergel
through January 2, 2009 of approximately $60,1i))0a cash payment on October 31, 2011 of approtéipa90,300 and (iii) an issuance on
October 31, 2011 of 2,201,457 shares of LazardsL@ass A common stock (“Class A common stocklyig additional shares of Class A common s
in an amount determined by reference to the casteatids paid on Class A common stock since therdosf the LAM Merger), subject, in the case of
clause (ii) and (iii) and with respect to certaregent employees of LAM and its subsidiaries, taykd payment/issuance until the eighth anniversary
the closing of the LAM Merger if the applicable dioyee is no longer employed by Lazard or its affés on October 31, 2011, subject to certain
exceptions. The merger agreement also generallyidgee that if there is a change in control of ttepany or a sale of LAM, any and all of the
Transaction Consideration will be payable as ofdate of such change in control. The related ligdxl for the present value of the unpaid cash
consideration have been recorded in “accrued cosgtiem and benefits” and “other liabilities”, and@unted to $14,252 and $65,308, respectively, as
of December 31, 2009, and $16,013 and $60,324ecésply, as of December 31, 2008.

9. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS AND JOINT VENTURE INVESTMENT

On July 15, 2009, the Company established a privatity business with Edgewater, a private equity based in Chicago, lllinois, through the
Edgewater Acquisition. Following such acquisiti@tgewater’s current leadership team retained aauotis economic interest in such entities.
Edgewater primarily manages two middle market fulayewater Growth Capital Partners, L.P. and EdgenwGrowth Capital Partners II, L.P. (the
“underlying funds”), with an aggregate of approxteig $700,000 of capital raised. The acquisitiorswauctured as a purchase by Lazard Group of
interests in a holding company that in turn owreriests in the general partner and management cyngeities of the current Edgewater private equity
funds.

The aggregate fair value of the consideration rezagl by the Company at the acquisition date wdsgg8l. Such consideration consisted of (i) a
one-time cash payment, (ii) 1,142,857 shares adsChacommon stock (the “Initial Shares”) and (iip to 1,142,857 additional shares of Class A
common stock subject to earnout criteria and payabér time (the “Earnout Shares”). The Initial &fsaare subject to transfer restrictions and farfei
provisions that lapse only upon the achievemeredfain performance thresholds for the next Edgemfand that must be met by July 15, 2011. The
Earnout Shares will be issued only if certain perfance thresholds for the next two Edgewater famdanet.

The Edgewater Acquisition was accounted for unkeratcquisition method of accounting, whereby tiselte of the acquired business are inclt
in our consolidated financial results from
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July 15, 2009, the effective date of the acquisitis a result of the acquisition, we recordedtapgible assets, identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill of approximately $53,635 (consisting priihaof Edgewater’s investments in their underlyifugds and cash), $56,200 and $61,630,
respectively, which include amounts for Edgewatagacontrolling interests held (whose economicreges approximate 50%) aggregating
approximately $109,841. Goodwill pertaining to taimuisition is deductible for income tax purpo&=e Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information relating tmdwill and other intangible assets. The operatasylts relating to Edgewater, which have not been
material, are included in the Company’s Asset Managnt segment.

On August 13, 2007, Lazard Group acquired all efdgbitstanding ownership interests of Goldsmith,0Agielms & Lynner, LLC (“GAHL"), a
Minneapolis-based investment bank specializingriarfcial advisory services to mid-sized private pamies. On July 31, 2007, Lazard Ltd acquired all
of the outstanding shares of Carnegie, Wylie & Camp(Holdings) PTY LTD (“CWC"), an Australia-basédancial advisory firm, and concurrently
sold such investment to Lazard Group. These pueshasre effected through an exchange of a combimaficash, Class A common stock, and by
Lazard Ltd issuing shares of non-participating aatible Series A and Series B preferred stock ‘(Bezies A preferred stock” and “Series B preferred
stock”, respectively, which are or were each cotiverinto Class A common stock). The total numbke€lass A common shares to be issued in
connection with the acquisitions will depend, imtpapon the future performance of each of GAHL &WC. See Note 16 of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional informationaeting the Series A preferred stock and SerieseBemed stock.

The aggregate nooentingent consideration relating to the GAHL ahd €WC acquisitions (before transaction costs) istet of cash and Lazs
Ltd stock and aggregated to approximately $227&r@0$216,200 through December 31, 2009 and 2088ectively. At December 31, 2009 and 2008,
662,015 and 993,024 shares of Class A common stesgectively, were issuable on a non-contingesisbadditionally, at both December 31, 2009
and 2008, 7,293 shares of Series A preferred steck convertible into Class A common shares onragumtingent basis, with the number of Class A
common shares dependent, in part, upon futurepdtthe Class A common stock. At both Decembe2B09 and 2008, 948,631 shares of Class A
common stock were contingently issuable and, aeBéer 31, 2009 and 2008, 19,590 and 24,452 shh&eyies A preferred stock, respectively, were
contingently convertible into shares of Class A owon stock, dependent upon the future performan&AdiL and CWC. The Class A common stock
described above related to the GAHL and CWC actjuis is issuable over multi-year periods.

On January 31, 2008, Lazard Group acquired a 5@8feist in MBA. The Company accounts for the invesihin MBA using the equity method
of accounting.

10. LAZARD ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS

On May 10, 2005, Lazard Group and LFCM Holdings L{{CFCM Holdings”) entered into the business altaragreement (thédtisiness allianc
agreement”) that, among other things, granted lch@apup the option to acquire the North Americad Baropean fund management activities of
Lazard Alternative Investments Holdings LLC (“LAJ"the subsidiary of LFCM Holdings that owns andrapes LFCM Holdingsalternative investme
(including private equity) activities, for an aggege purchase price of $8,000 and $2,000, respdti@n December 15, 2009, Lazard Group exercised
its option to acquire the European fund managemetitities of LAI for a purchase price of $2,00thelremaining option to purchase the North
American fund management activities is currentlgreisable at any time prior to May 10, 2014, fauachase price of $2,500. The reduced option price
for the North American option reflects (i) a redontof $1,500 due to the payment of a like amourfébruary 2008 to LFCM Holdings in connection
with the initial public offering of Sapphire wherehFCM Holdings agreed not to assert certain cldinas it may believe that it had under the business
alliance agreement and (ii) a reduction of $4,000
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due to the payment of a like amount in February92@0LFCM Holdings in connection with the spin-offthe management company of CP Il and the
amendments to the business alliance agreemenilisdtrelow. LAI's fund management activities consisthe fund management and general partner
entities, together with Lazard Group’s direct inwesnts in related funds that were transferred t€MRHoldings pursuant to or in anticipation of the
May 10, 2005 separation (the “separation”) from@uempany of its former Capital Markets and Othesibess segment.

The business alliance agreement provides Lazardp@mith certain governance rights with respectAd &nd provides for support by LFCM
Holdings of the business of LAI. With respect tethiical investments and funds transferred to LAGdIMings as part of the separation, profits realize
prior to the exercise of the option are for thecartt of LFCM Holdings, whereas profits realizeceathe exercise of the option are for the accotint o
Lazard Group. The master separation agreemend datef May 10, 2005, by and among Lazard Ltd, tdgzxroup, LAZ-MD Holdings LLC (an entity
owned by Lazard Group’s current and former manadirectors (“LAZ-MD Holdings”)) and LFCM Holdingglfe “master separation agreement”) and
the business alliance agreement provide for La@aodip (i) to invest capital in future funds to bamaged by LFCM Holdings’ subsidiaries and (ii) to
receive incentive distributions from such fundswedl as profits related to such investments, if,amespective of whether it exercises its purehas
option.

In February 2005, Lazard Group formed CP I, witmaximum of $1,000,000 of institutional capital anitments and a $100,000 maximum
capital commitment from Lazard Group, the principaition of which may require funding at any tichedugh 2010, except for potential follow-on
investments and/or CP Il expenses (see Note 1®t#d\to Consolidated Financial Statements). Asaxfdinber 31, 2009, Lazard Group contributed
$43,079 of its capital commitment, which is recat@s a private equity investment within “investnsenbther” on the consolidated statement of
financial condition. Pursuant to the master sep@ratnd business alliance agreements, CP || wasgeghby a subsidiary of LFCM Holdings (“CP I
MgmtCo”), and Lazard Group retained a capital cotrmant to CP Il and is entitled to receive the eatiinterest distributions made by CP Il (other than
the carried interest distributions made to investinpeofessionals who manage the fund).

In February 2009, pursuant to agreements entetedinthe Company with a subsidiary of LAl (“LAl Mt America”), LFCM Holdings and the
investment professionals who manage CP I, equityesship of CP Il MgmtCo was transferred from LAbfh America to the investment professior
who manage CP Il (the “CP Il MgmtCo Spin-Off"). Ganrently with the CP 1| MgmtCo Spin-Off, CP || Mg@o became a standalone entity and
Lazard Group’s capital commitment to CP Il was ietlfrom $100,000 to $50,000 (and CP II's institoél capital commitments were reduced from
$1,000,000 to $500,000). In addition, in connectioth a $4,000 cash payment from Lazard Group t&€MFHoldings, the business alliance agreement
was amended to remove any restriction on the Coynpagaging in private equity businesses in Northefioa other than certain investments in real
estate and technology and information servicesh @ueendment reduced the then purchase price rglatiour option to acquire the fund management
activities of LAl in North America from $6,500 t®$00. As part of the CP Il MgmtCo Spin-Off, weaieed our entitlement to receive a slightly
reduced portion of the carried interest distribasionade by CP II.

See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak&tants for additional information relating to LFGHIdings, and with respect to commitme
to CP Il and to private equity funds managed by.LAI
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11. PROPERTY-NET
At December 31, 2009 and 2008 property-net conefstse following:

Disy;:rggfge December 31
Life in Years 2009 2008
Buildings 33 $ 181,67¢ $ 175,42¢
Leasehold improvemen 5-20 157,33! 149,04
Furniture and equipme 3-10 67,50z 60,22
Total 406,51t 384,69
Less- Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (239,607) (213,249
Propert-net $ 166,91: $ 171,44

12. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The components of goodwill and other intangibleetsat December 31, 2009 and 2008 are presented:bel

December 31

2009 2008
Goodwill $261,70: $170,27
Other intangible assets (net of accumulated anadioiz) 56,07 4,86

$317,78( $175,14-

At December 31, 2009, $200,073 of goodwill wasliattable to the Company’s Financial Advisory segtreerd $61,630 of goodwill was
attributable to the Company’s Asset Management segnAt December 31, 2008, the entire amount oflgdlbwas attributable to the Company’s
Financial Advisory segment.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for #fears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 éo#aaes:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Balance, January $170,27° $178,44¢ $ 16,94¢
Business acquisitions, including additional contingconsideration earnt 70,96¢ 9,28: 159,34:
Foreign currency translation adjustme 20,46! (17,457 2,15¢
Balance, December ! $261,70:  $170,27 $178,44t

The Company performs a goodwill impairment testuatly or more frequently if circumstances indictitat impairment may have occurred. The
Company has selected December 31 as the dateftorpéts annual impairment test. Pursuant to thenany’s goodwill impairment review for the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 cimp&hy compared the fair value of each of its applie reporting units to their corresponding
carrying amounts, including goodwill, and deterndirtleat no impairment existed.
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The gross cost and accumulated amortization ofr atiengible assets as of December 31, 2009 an8l,2§0major intangible asset category, are
as follows:

December 31, 200! December 31, 200:
Net
Accumulated Net Accumulated Carrying
Gross Carrying Gross
Cost Amortization Amount Cost Amortization Amount
Success/performance fe $30,74C $ = $30,74C $ — $ — $ —
Management fees, customer relationships an-compete agreemer 32,47 7,14( 25,33 7,015 2,15( 4,867

$63,21° $ 7,14C $56,077 $7,017 $ 2,15 $4,86]

Amortization expense of intangible assets for tharg ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 wa80$44,596 and $21,523, respectively.
Estimated future amortization expense is as follows

Amortization
Year Ending December 31 Expense (a)
2010 $ 6,987
2011 5,71¢
2012 6,30z
2013 13,02:
2014 10,08:
Thereaftel 13,96
Total amortization expen: $ 56,07:

@) Approximately 47% of intangible asset amortizati@attributable to a noncontrolling intere

13. OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The following table sets forth the Company’s othssets, by type, as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

December 31

2009 2008
Current and deferred income taxes receivable (netlaation allowance) and other tax $134,91( $118,40:
Accruals and prepayments (including prepaid penagsets, see Note 1 65,32( 75,31t
Deferred debt issuance co 7,55( 8,957
Other 40,57t 56,88¢
Total $248,35! $259,56:
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The following table sets forth the Company’s othebilities, by type, as of December 31, 2009 afa&

December 31

2009 2008
Accrued expense $132,70:  $115,32(
Current and deferred income taxes and other 1 121,89¢ 86,90:
Employee benet-related liabilities 80,34¢ 69,34¢
LAM Merger (present value of unpaid cash consideny 65,30¢ 60,32¢
Unclaimed funds at LFI 26,32¢ 55,58:
Abandoned leased space (principally in the U 10,85( 10,25¢
Securities sold, not yet purchas 5,17¢ 6,97t
Other 65,98¢ 99,15
Total $508,60:  $503,85¢

14. SENIOR AND SUBORDINATED DEBT
Senior Debt—Senior debt is comprised of the following as otBmber 31, 2009 and 2008:

Annual Outstanding As Of
December 31,
Initial Maturity Interest
Principal
Amount Date Rate 2009 2008

Lazard Group 7.125% Senior Notes $550,00( 5/15/1¢ 7.125% $ 538,50( $ 538,50(

Lazard Group 6.85% Senior Notes 600,00( 6/15/17 6.85% 548,35( 549,25(

Lazard Group Credit Facility(c 150,00( 5/10/1( 1.65% — —
Total $1,086,851  $1,087,75

(@) Concurrent with Lazard Ltd’s initial public efing on May 10, 2005 (the “equity public offeringlLazard Group issued $550,000 aggregate
principal amount of 7.125% senior notes due May2D8a5 (the “7.125% Senior Notes”). During the yeaded December 31, 2008, the Company
repurchased $11,500 principal amount of the 7.13&%ior Notes at a cost, excluding accrued inteo$t7,974 and, after the write-off of
applicable unamortized debt issuance costs of the5Company recognized a -tax gain of $3,451
In connection with the issuance of the 7.1258faior Notes, on April 1, 2005, Lazard Group erdén¢o an interest rate forward agreement for a
notional amount of $650,000 to ensure that the batee(excluding market-driven credit spreads)len#.125% Senior Notes would be no greater
than 4.5%. Lazard Group settled the interest @@drd agreement as of May 9, 2005, which requiredyment by Lazard Group of $13,004. Of
this amount, $11,003 was deemed to be the effeptivigon of the hedge and recorded within AOCI, anldeing amortized as a charge to interest
expense over the ten year term of the 7.125% Sélutas.

(b) On June 21, 2007, Lazard Group issued $60036@@€egate principal amount of 6.85% senior notesJdine 15, 2017 (the “6.85% Senior Notes”).
During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 200&ompany repurchased $900 and $50,750 prinaipalint of the 6.85% Senior Notes,
respectively, at a cost, excluding accrued intergs$635 and $33,463, respectively, and, aftemthite-off of unamortized debt issuance costs of
$7 and $485 in the respective years, the Compamogrézed pr-tax gains of $258 and $16,802, respectiv

(c) Lazard Group maintains a $150,000 senior remgleredit facility with a group of lenders that tmees on May 10, 2010 (the “Credit Facility”).

Interest rates under the Credit Facility vary areltssed on either
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Federal Funds rate or a Eurodollar rate, in eash plus an applicable margin. As of December 30@92(hd 2008, the annual interest rate for a
loan accruing interest (based on the Federal Faneishight rate), including the applicable margimsi.69% and 1.75%, respectively. At
December 31, 2009 and 2008, no amounts were odistannder the Credit Facilit

Subordinated Debt—Subordinated debt at December 31, 2009 and 2008 e to $150,000 at each date and represent® avhath is
convertible into a maximum of 2,631,570 shareslaE€ A common stock at an effective conversiongpoic$57 per share. The note matures on
September 30, 2016 and has a fixed interest re8e26f6 per annum. One-third in principal amountamee convertible on and after July 1, 2008, an
additional one-third became convertible on andraftdy 1, 2009 and a final one-third in principed@unt will become convertible on and after July 1,
2010, and no principal amount will be convertiblieeaJune 30, 2011. As of December 31, 2009 thave bbeen no conversions of the note.

Debt maturities relating to senior and subordindtedowings outstanding at December 31, 2009 foh exi the five years in the period ending
December 31, 2014 and thereafter are set fortheneble below. For purposes of this table, it aesumed that the $150,000 subordinated convertible
note remains outstanding in accordance with itedteerms.

Subordinated
Year Ending December 31 Senior Debt Debt Total
201(-2014 $ — $ — $ —
Thereaftel 1,086,85! 150,00( 1,236,85!
Total $ 1,086,85! $ 150,00( $ 1,236,85!

The Credit Facility contains certain financial cdgimh covenants. In addition, the Credit Facilitye indenture and supplemental indentures
relating to Lazard Group’senior notes as well as its subordinated cotkentiote contain certain covenants (none of whitate to financial condition
events of default and other customary provisiamslpiding a customary make-whole provision in thergof early redemption where applicable. As of
December 31, 2009, the Company was in compliantie alli of these provisions. All of the Company’sige and subordinated debt obligations are
unsecured.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had approgim&262,000 in unused lines of credit availablé,tmcluding approximately $44,000 and
$45,000 of unused lines of credit available to L&fial Edgewater, respectively. In addition, LFB heseas to the Eurosystem Covered Bond Purchase
Program of the Banque de France.

The Company’s senior and subordinated debt arededat historical amounts. At December 31, 2088 fair value of the Company’s senior and
subordinated debt of $1,255,254 exceeded the ag@regrrying value by $18,404. At December 31, 2@@8fair value of the Company’s senior and
subordinated debt of $883,368 was less than theeggte carrying value by $354,382. The fair valiithe Companyg senior and subordinated debt \
estimated using a discounted cash flow analysisas the Company’s current borrowing rates foiilaintypes of borrowing arrangements or based on
market quotations where available.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases—The Company leases office space and equipment motecancelable lease agreements, which expireaoous dates through 2022.
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Occupancy lease agreements, in addition to basalsegenerally are subject to escalation provisioased on certain costs incurred by the
landlord. For the years ended December 31, 20038 a6d 2007, aggregate rental expense relatingdmting leases amounted to $69,412, $74,55!
$73,310, respectively, and is included in “occupaaied equipment” or “technology and informationvéees” on the consolidated statements of
operations, depending on the nature of the undeylgsset. The Company subleases office space agosgments, which expire on various dates
through 2022. Sublease income from such agreemerst$11,327, $11,531 and $12,511 for the yearsdceRdeember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

Capital lease obligations recorded under sale/leadetransactions are payable through 2017 at ghtexl average interest rate of approximately
6.31%. Such obligations are collateralized by ¢efaildings with a net book value of approximat8Bi7,364 and $27,458 at December 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively. The net book value of all asestorded under capital leases aggregated $282830,089 at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

At December 31, 2009, minimum rental commitmentdermon-cancelable leases, net of sublease incammapproximately as follows:

Minimum Rental Commitments

Year Ending December 31 Capital Operating
2010 $ 3,73¢ $ 65,16
2011 3,711 59,41
2012 3,26¢ 44,36
2013 3,20z 30,86¢
2014 2,631 28,07«
Thereaftel 15,16¢ 195,04
Total minimum lease paymer 31,72 422,92¢
Less amount representing inter 7,09t

Present value of capital lease commitme $  24,62¢

Sublease procee: 101,01°
Net lease paymen $ 321,91

With respect to abandoned leased facilities int€, at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Compasydwognized liabilities of $9,991 and
$9,522, respectively, which are included in “othi@bilities” on the consolidated statements of fin&l condition. Payments toward the liabilities
continue through the remaining term of the leaSesh liabilities are based on the discounted futoramitment, net of expected sublease income.

Guarantees—On March 12, 2007, Lazard entered into an agreetoayuarantee to a foreign tax jurisdiction theedefd payment of certain
income tax obligations and potential tax penaltiesertain managing directors of Lazard Group, Wwhis of December 31, 2009, aggregate to $7,659.
In order to collateralize such guarantee, theseagiag directors have pledged their interests in MR Holdings (which are exchangeable into shares
of Class A common stock) and unsold shares of Glassmmon stock received in exchange for such éstsr with the value of such collateral in each
case exceeding the guarantee provided by Lazard.

In the normal course of business, LFB provides imuiéications to third parties to protect them ie #avent of non-performance by its clients. At
December 31, 2009, LFB had $6,882 of such indecatifins and held

111



Table of Contents

LAZARD LTD
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data,nless otherwise noted)

$4,394 of collateral/counter-guarantees to sedweset commitments. The Company believes the liketihaf loss with respect to these indemnities is
remote. Accordingly, no liability is recorded iretbonsolidated statement of financial condition.

Private Equity Funding Commitments—At December 31, 2009, the principal commitmentsh®/Company for capital contributions to private
equity investment funds were as set forth belomi@eHousing is managed by LAI. CP Il was managga@ Isubsidiary of LAI until February 16, 2009.
Effective February 17, 2009, ownership and coragfdCP Il was transferred to the investment profasais who manage CP II.

Total Lazard Commitment (a)

Funding
Total Expiration Unfunded
Institutional Maximum As of
Name of Fund Commitment Commitment Date December 31, 20C
CPIl 2/9/10
$500,00! $50,00( (b) $6,92:
Senior Housing 7/6/09
201,00( 10,00( (©) —
$701,00! $60,00( $6,92:

(@) Excludes other unfunded commitments by LazaBleaember 31, 2009 of $2,355 to Company-sponguaiigdte equity investment funds
(including $1,741 in connection with the Companggsnpensation plans), which are contingent uporaizedvents and have no definitive final
payment dates

(b) The remaining unfunded commitment after Febr@a2010 is for potential “follow-on investmentaiid/or for CP Il expenses through the earlier
of (i) February 25, 2017 or (i) the liquidation fe fund.

(c) Certain additional funding of up to $829 may bdezhht anytime until liquidation of the fun

Other Commitments—In the normal course of business, LFB enters éatmmitments to extend credit, predominately atakdé interest rates.
The commitments have an expiration date and, ore&rdupon, may require the counterparty to posataial depending on the counterparty’s
creditworthiness. Outstanding commitments at De@er8fh, 2009 were $17,408. This amount may not sgmtsfuture cash requirements as
commitments may expire without being drawn upon.

On January 24, 2008, Sapphire, a then newly-orgdrépecial purpose acquisition company formed taatcaFunding Limited LLC (“Lazard
Funding”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lazard Gppeompleted an initial public offering which, prim offering costs, raised $800,000 through the
sale of 80,000,000 units at an offering price d3.80 per unit (the “Sapphire IPO”). Each unit cetesil of one share of Sapphire common stock and one
warrant, with such warrant entitling the holdeptachase one share of Sapphire common stock f60$3apphire was formed for the purpose of
effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, agsptisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similusiness combination with one or more operating
businesses primarily with general industrial congsuin North America within a 24-month period (eaflively referred to as the “Initial Business
Combination”). Net proceeds from the Sapphire IP€anplaced in a trust account by Sapphire (thesiTAccount”) pending consummation of the
Initial Business Combination.

In connection with the formation of Sapphire, Lak&unding purchased from Sapphire 15,144,000 foshdaeits (“Founders’ Units”) at a total
cost of approximately $95. Each Founders’ Unit csted of one share of Sapphire common stock andvaneant to purchase one share of Sapphire
common stock for $7.50. On January 24, 2008, imeotion with the Sapphire IPO, Lazard Funding paselt (i) 5,000,000 units in the Sapphire IPO at
a purchase price equal to the public offering pof£#10.00 per unit (for an aggregate purchase
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price of $50,000), and (ii) an aggregate of 12,600,warrants from Sapphire at a price of $1.00nmaTant (for a total purchase price of $12,500).
Furthermore, Lazard Funding entered into an agraemith the underwriter to purchase up to an adddl $37,500 worth of Sapphire common shar
open market purchases, commencing two businessafi@ysSapphire files a proxy statement relatinthelnitial Business Combination and ending on
the business day immediately preceding the recatel fbr the meeting of Sapphire stockholders atlwkuch Initial Business Combination is to be
approved, or earlier in certain circumstances (Bapphire Commitment”).

On January 6, 2010, Sapphire announced that ihbadompleted the Initial Business Combination #mebuld dissolve and distribute the funds
in the Trust Account to all its public shareholdéosthe extent they are holders of shares issuétki Sapphire IPO, in proportion to their respecti
equity interests. Pursuant to such dissolution]amuary 26, 2010, Sapphire distributed an initistridution equivalent to approximately $10.06 per
share of Sapphire common stock. All Sapphire wasrarpired without value. During the fourth quaxdé2009, the Company recognized a loss of
approximately $13,000 with respect to its investmemwvarrants of Sapphire, with such loss beingréed in “revenue-other” in the accompanying
Consolidated Statement of Operations. As a restiteolnitial Business Combination not being consuated, the Sapphire Commitment terminated.

See Notes 8 and 9 of Notes to Consolidated FinbStadements for information regarding commitmenetating to the LAM Merger and business
acquisitions, respectively. See Note 18 of NoteSdasolidated Financial Statements for informatiegarding obligations to fund our pension plans.

The Company has various other contractual commitsnanising in the ordinary course of businesshindpinion of management, the
consummation of such commitments will not have #eni@ adverse effect on the Company’s consolidétexhcial position or results of operations. In
addition, from time to time, LFB enters into undeitimg commitments in which it participates as ajainderwriter. The settlement of such transastion
are not expected to have a material adverse effettie Company’s consolidated financial positiomesults of operations.

Legal—The Company’s businesses, as well as the finaser@ices industry generally, are subject to extenggulation throughout the world.
The Company is involved from time to time in a nanbf judicial, regulatory and arbitration proce®gl and inquiries concerning matters arising in
connection with the conduct of our businessesuyitioly proceedings initiated by former employeesgilig wrongful termination. The Company revit
such matters on a case-by-case basis and estabdisheequired reserves if a loss is probable laa@mount of such loss can be reasonably estimated.
Management believes, based on currently availabderation, that the results of such matters, enapgregate, will not have a material adverse effec
on its financial condition but might be materialit®operating results or cash flows for any paitic period, depending upon the operating resalts f
such period.

16. STOCKHOLDER?S EQUITY

Pursuant to Lazard Group’s Operating Agreementat@group allocates and distributes to its memaessbstantial portion of its distributable
profits in three monthly installments, as soon @ficable after the end of each fiscal year. Snstallment distributions usually begin in Februdry
addition, other periodic distributions to memberduded, as applicable, capital withdrawals, fixetlirn on members’ equity and income tax advances
made on behalf of members.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, Lazard Group comm@mbership interests held by subsidiaries of Laktddamounted to 74.5% and 62.4%,
respectively, and by LAZ-MD Holdings amounted to52% and
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37.6%, respectively. Pursuant to provisions oOperating Agreement, Lazard Group distributioneeispect of its common membership interests are
allocated to the holders of such interests on agbasis. Such distributions represent amotweusssary to fund (i) any dividends Lazard Ltd may
declare on its Class A common stock and (ii) tatriiutions in respect of income taxes that Lazad}s subsidiaries and the members of LAZ-MD
Holdings incur as a result of holding Lazard Greaopnmon membership interests. During the years ebdegmber 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, Lazard
Group distributed $17,403, $20,694 and $20,05Geetvely, to LAZ-MD Holdings and $33,451, $23,0&6d $18,308, respectively, to the subsidiaries
of Lazard Ltd, which latter amounts were used byetrd Ltd to pay dividends to third-party stockhoklef its Class A common stock. In addition,
during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2002@0id, Lazard Group made tax distributions of $67,383,358 and $109,908, respectively,
including $25,316, $39,205 and $60,334, respegtiyiid to LAZ-MD Holdings and $42,044, $44,153 &#9,574, respectively, paid to subsidiaries of
Lazard Ltd.

On January 27, 2010, the Board of Directors of kéizad declared a quarterly dividend of $0.125 glesire on its Class A common stock, totaling
$11,521, payable on February 26, 2010 to stockiheldferecord on February 8, 2010.

Secondary Offerings—Pursuant to a Prospectus Supplement dated Sept@nb@08, certain selling shareholders of Lazadi(lwvhich include
current and former managing directors of Lazardl (@rtain of our executive officers) who hold LAZEMHoldings exchangeable interests and/or Class
A common stock) offered to sell 6,442,721 shareSlaks A common stock pursuant to an underwritgrg@ment and pricing agreement.

Pursuant to the underwriting agreement and théngriggreement, the underwriters had the optiorutetpase up to an additional 715,858 shar:
Class A common stock (together with the offerin@@42,721 shares of Class A common stock (the8ZR€condary Offering”)) from the selling
shareholders (the “2008 Selling Shareholders”)thEoextent that this option was not exercised I fimzard Group agreed to separately purchase from
the 2008 Selling Shareholders, at the public affgprice less the underwriting discount, all ofs@hares covered by the option and not purchased
pursuant to the option. Pursuant to that separatshpse agreement, Lazard Group purchased 68,288sshf Class A common stock for an aggregate
cost of $2,430 ($35.61 per share). In additionspant to the underwriting agreement, Lazard Grdsgp separately purchased 715,858 shares of Class /
common stock from the 2008 Selling Shareholderaifoaggregate cost of $25,493 ($35.61 per shahne)shiares of Class A common stock described in
this paragraph purchased by Lazard Group were paethas part of the share repurchase program bleddrélow. In the aggregate, the 2008 Selling
Shareholders sold a total of 7,874,437 sharesagsCA common stock (including 1,472,906 sharesladsCA common stock previously exchanged for
LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable interests and 6,401 8i3ares of Class A common stock exchanged for MiY Holdings interests simultaneously
with the 2008 Secondary Offering).

As a result of the 2008 offering, Lazard Ltd's owstép interest in Lazard Group increased from 56@8#r to the offerings to 62.0% subsequent
thereto. Correspondingly, LAZ-MD Holdings’ ownerphin Lazard Group decreased from 43.2% prior tooffierings to 38.0% subsequent thereto.

Lazard Capital Markets LLC (“LCM”"), a wholly-ownezubsidiary of LFCM Holdings, was a member of theemvriting group for the 2008
Secondary Offering, and, in such capacity, earrgdnue, net of estimated underwriting expenseappfoximately $1,852. The business alliance
agreement provides for Lazard Group to receivdeanad fee equal to approximately one-half of tle¢ revenue obtained by LCM in respect of any
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underwriting or distribution opportunity referrealit by Lazard Group. In that connection, as of &eber 31, 2008, Lazard Group had recorded a
receivable from LCM of approximately $926, and igaiaed a corresponding amount of income in “reveother.” See Note 22 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfdrimation regarding the business alliance agreement

In June 2009, pursuant to a Prospectus Supplenaged dune 2, 2009, certain selling shareholdetszdrd Ltd (which include current and forn
managing directors of Lazard and certain of oucatee officers) and their permitted transfereée (tJune 2009 Selling Shareholders”) sold 4,000,000
shares of Class A common stock at a price of $2pedGhare (the “June 2009 Secondary OfferingpaBstely, in connection with the June 2009
Secondary Offering, Lazard Group agreed to purcfrase the June 2009 Selling Shareholders 1,700sb@des of Class A common stock for an
aggregate cost of $44,200 ($26.00 per share),sumith purchase being part of the share repurchaseaon described below. In the aggregate, the June
2009 Selling Shareholders sold a total of 5,700 gltdres of Class A common stock (including 2,110 sttares of Class A common stock previously
received upon the exchange of a like number of IMZ-Holdings exchangeable interests and 3,589,246eshof Class A common stock received upon
a simultaneous exchange of a like number of LAZ-M@ldings exchangeable interests).

In September 2009, pursuant to a Prospectus Suppteatated September 8, 2009, certain selling sbiterts of Lazard Ltd (which include
current and former managing directors of Lazard @artain of our executive officers) and their peted transferees (the “September 2009 Selling
Shareholders”) sold 5,215,921 shares of Class Anvomstock (including 2,411,001 shares of Class mairoon stock previously received upon the
exchange of a like number of LAZ-MD Holdings excbaable interests and 2,804,920 shares of Classmnom stock received upon a simultaneous
exchange of a like number of LAZ-MD Holdings excheable interests) at a price of $37.00 per shhee“@eptember 2009 Secondary Offering”,
together with the June 2009 Secondary Offering; 2009 Secondary Offerings”).

Lazard Ltd did not receive any net proceeds froensifles of Class A common stock from the 2008 StngrOffering and from the 2009
Secondary Offerings (collectively, the “2008 an@2®&econdary Offerings”).

Exchange of Lazard Group Common Membership Inteigestin addition to the simultaneous exchanges thatiwed in connection with the
2008 and 2009 Secondary Offerings, during 2008209 Lazard Ltd issued 2,910,657 and 7,523,236GshafrClass A common stock, respectively, in
connection with the exchange of a like number aficmn membership interests of Lazard Group (recefirad members of LAZ-MD Holdings in
exchange for a like number of LAZ-MD Holdings exnlgaable interests).

See “Noncontrolling Interests” below for additiomaiormation regarding Lazard Ltd’s and LAZ-MD Habgis’ ownership interests in Lazard
Group.

Share Repurchase Program

The Board of Directors of Lazard Ltd had authorizenl a cumulative basis, the repurchase of up @ $®0 in aggregate cost of its Class A
common stock and Lazard Group common memberstepasitis through December 31, 2009. Pursuant tathigrization, purchases have been ma
the open market or through privately negotiateddaations, and since inception of the program briay 2006 through December 31, 2009, Lazard
Group purchased an aggregate of 12,086,767 shb@ass A common stock at an average price of 8pd¥ share (including, during the year ended
December 31, 2009, 1,984,997 shares at an averageop $25.43 per share, inclusive of the 1,700,8Bares purchased in connection with the
June 2009 Secondary Offering described above)aaragregate of 1,156,675 Lazard Group common mestnipe
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interests at an average price of $32.58 per commembership interest (including, during the yearesshBecember 31, 2009, 500,924 common
membership interests at an average price of $3&b2ommon membership interest). As a result ohtézroup’s delivery of an aggregate of
6,235,992 shares for the settlement of vestede=drstock unit grants (“RSUs”) and deferred stook grants (“DSUs”) during the three year period
ended December 31, 2009, there were 5,850,775 ,8i6,962 shares of Class A common stock held byilda@roup at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Such Class A common shares are ehaat cost, as “Class A common stock held by aidigdyy” on the consolidated statements of
financial condition.

As of December 31, 2009, $62,542 of the initial 3900 repurchase authorization under the shareagkpse program was unused and expirec
January 27, 2010, the Board of Directors of Lazaddauthorized, on a cumulative basis, a new steparchase program for the repurchase of up to
$200,000 in aggregate cost of its Class A commeocksand Lazard Group common membership interestsighh December 31, 2011.

The Company expects that the share repurchasegmnogrith respect to the Class A common stock, éllused primarily to offset a portion of -
shares that have been or will be issued underazard Ltd 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2005nPJand the Lazard Ltd 2008 Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “2008 Plan”).

ESU Settlement—Concurrent with Lazard Ltd’s equity public offegimn May 10, 2005, Lazard Ltd consummated an Irofi@ring of equity
security units (the “ESUS”) in an aggregate offgramount of $287,500, and issued an additional $DB0aggregate principal amount of ESUs in a
private placement. Each ESU was issued for $25andisted of (i) a purchase contract (the “purcltasgract”) which obligated holders to purchase,
and Lazard Ltd to sell, on May 15, 2008, a numberewvly issued shares of Class A common stock efualsettiement rate (the “settlement rate”)
based on the trading price of its Class A commouokstluring a period preceding that date and (1ij49, or 2.5%, ownership interest in a 6.12% senior
note due 2035 of Lazard Group (the “6.12% Seniaieil).

The terms of the ESUs provided for a remarketinthef6.12% Senior Notes, which commenced on M&pQ@8 (the “remarketing”). In
connection with the remarketing, on May 15, 2008h¢& stated maturity of the 6.12% Senior Notes rgast to May 15, 2010, (ii) the interest rate fom t
6.12% Senior Notes was reset to 4.00% per annun(iigr¥437,488 aggregate principal amount of thE286 Senior Notes was purchased by Lazard
Group. The $12 aggregate principal amount of th@%. Senior Notes remaining outstanding has beduaded in “other liabilities” on the consolidated
statement of financial condition at December 3028and 2008.

On May 15, 2008, Lazard Ltd settled the purchasgraots with respect to its then outstanding agapeegrincipal amount of ESUs at the
settlement rate and, in connection therewith, Léitad issued 14,582,750 shares of its Class A comstack. This resulted in an increase in Class A
common stock and “additional paid-in-capital” ofd%land $437,354, respectively.

Preferred Stock

Lazard Ltd has 15,000,000 authorized shares oépet stock, par value $0.01 per share, inclusivis &eries A preferred stock and Series B
preferred stock. As of December 31, 2009 and 206883 and 31,745 shares of Series A preferred stod no shares of Series B preferred stock were
outstanding, respectivelfhese shares of preferred stock have no votingvatahd rights. During each of the years ended D= 31, 2009 and 20(
4,862 shares of Series A preferred stock were atenyénto shares of Class A common stock. In addjtduring the year ended December 31, 2008
shares of Series B preferred Stock were conventedshares of Class A common stock. Such convessigsulted in the issuance of 479,732 and
450,259 shares of Class A common stock in the yeraated December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

116



Table of Contents

LAZARD LTD

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data,nless otherwise noted)

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, 7,293 of the Sévripeferred shares outstanding were convertible $hiares of Class A common stock. The
remaining 19,590 and 24,452 shares of Series Aepef stock outstanding at December 31, 2009 afifl, 28spectively, may become convertible into
shares of Class A common stock upon completiomtisfaction of specified obligations in the CWC aisifion agreement (see Note 9 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). The initiahvesion rate, at the time of the acquisition of CWM@s 100 shares of Class A common stock to one
share of Series A preferred stock, with the ultenadnversion rate dependent on certain variablekjding the value of the Class A common stock, as
defined, and the currency exchange rate on theada@nversion.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), NETax
The components of AOCI at December 31, 2009 an@® 200 as follows:

December 31

2009 2008
Currency translation adjustmel $ 22,65( $ (30,955
Interest rate hedc (5,779 (6,857)
Available-for-sale securitie (22,63() (41,519
Employee benefit plar (76,079 (45,745
Total AOCI (71,839 (125,06)
Less amount attributable to noncontrolling intes: (14,785 (45,629
Total Lazard Ltd AOC $ (57,049 $ (79,43

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent interests heldazard Group by LAZ-MD Holdings and noncontrodjimterests in various LAM-related GP
interests and Edgewater’'s management vehiclesitb@@ompany is deemed to control but does not own.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, LAZ-MD Holdingddhapproximately 25.5% and 37.6%, respectivelyhefoutstanding Lazard Group
common membership interests. Additionally, LAZ-MDIHings was the sole owner of the one issued atstamding share of Lazard Ltd’s Class B
common stock, which provided LAZ-MD Holdings witpgroximately 25.5% and 37.6%, of the voting powet o economic rights in the Company as
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Stubjexertain limitations, LAZ-MD Holdings’ interesin Lazard Group are exchangeable for Class A
common stock.
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The following table summarizes the changes in oglmgrinterests in Lazard Group held by Lazard ltd BAZ-MD Holdings during the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

Lazard Ltd LAZ -MD Holdings Total
Lazard Group
Common Common Common
Membership % Membership % Membership
Interests Ownership Interests Ownership Interests
Balance, January 1, 20! 51,554,06 47.% 56,098,44 52.1% 107,652,51
Activity January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2C
Repurchase of common membership interests from-MD Holdings — (583,899 (583,899
Common membership interests issued in connectitimexichanges for
Class A common stoc 191,75° (191,75) —
Balance, December 31, 20 51,745,82 48.2% 55,322,79 51.7% 107,068,61
Activity January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2C
Common membership interests issued in connectitim
Settlement of the purchase contracts related t& 8ids 14,582,75 — 14,582,75
Business acquisitior 654,14¢ — 654,14¢
2008 Secondary Offerir 6,401,53: (6,401,53) —
Other exchanges for Class A common st 2,910,65 (2,910,65) —
Repurchase of common membership interests from-MD Holdings — (71,85) (71,859
Balance, December 31, 20 76,294,91 62.9% 45,938,75 37.€%6 122,233,66
Activity January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2C
Common membership interests issued in connectitim
2009 Secondary Offering 6,394,161 (6,394,161 —
Business acquisitior 1,953,59:i — 1,953,59:i
Other exchanges for Class A common st 7,523,23I (7,523,23)) —
Repurchase of common membership interests from-MD Holdings — (500,929 (500,929
Balance, December 31, 20 92,165,91 74.5% 31,520,42 25.5% 123,686,33

The change in Lazard Ltd’s ownership in Lazard @routhe years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 abid &d not materially impact Lazard
Ltd’s stockholders’ equity.

The tables below summarize noncontrolling inteirestet income (loss) for the years ended DecembgP@09, 2008 and 2007 and noncontrol
interest as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 in thepgaay’s consolidated financial statements:

Noncontrolling Interests in Net Income
Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
LAZ-MD Holdings $(60,83f) $ 9,95¢ $177,49-
LAM GPs 26¢€ (13,349 5,13¢
Edgewate| 2,927
Other (360) 15 8
Total $(58,007) $(3,37) $182,63
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Noncontrolling Interests

As Of December 31
2009 2008
LAZ-MD Holdings $ 39,407 $39,34.
LAM GPs 13,40¢ 20,86¢
Edgewate| 112,15¢
Other 2,732 96E
Total $ 167,70¢ $61,17:

17. INCENTIVE PLANS
Share-Based Incentive Plan Awards

A description of Lazard Ltd’s 2005 Plan, and 200&nRand activity with respect thereto during thangeended December 31, 2009, 2008 and
2007, is presented below.

Shares Available Under the 2005 Plan and 2008 Plan

The 2005 Plan authorizes the issuance of up tdR3)00 shares of Class A common stock pursuahietgrant or exercise of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, stock uaitd other equity-based awards. Each stock unitegiaimder the 2005 Plan represents a contingehtt rig
to receive one share of Class A common stock, @bgbto the recipient. The fair value of such ktogit awards is determined based on the closing
market price of Lazard Ltd’s Class A common stottha date of grant.

In addition to the shares available under the 20I@8h, additional shares of Class A common stoclkaaadable under the 2008 Plan, which was
approved by the stockholders of Lazard Ltd on Ma2@®8. The maximum number of shares available uth@e2008 Plan is based on a formula that
limits the aggregate number of shares that magnpatime, be subject to awards that are considengidtanding” under the 2008 Plan to 30% of the
then-outstanding shares of Class A common stoekt{trg, for this purpose, the then-outstanding argkable interests of LAZ-MD Holdings on a
“fully-exchanged” basis as described in the 20GRI

Restricted and Deferred Stock Units

RSUs require future service as a condition fordékvery of the underlying shares of Class A commatotk and convert into Class A common
stock on a one-for-one basis after the stipulat=ding periods. The grant date fair value of th&JRSet of an estimated forfeiture rate, is amediz
over the vesting periods or requisite service pisii@nd, for purposes of calculating diluted nebine per share, are included in the diluted wetghte
average shares of Class A common stock outstandgiing the treasury stock method. Expense relatiRSUs is charged to “compensation and
benefits” expense (and, as applicable in 2009frlreRiring” expense, with respect to the expenseaated with the acceleration of unrecognized
expense pertaining to RSUs granted previouslydividuals who were terminated in the restructuriwithin the consolidated statements of operations,
and amounted to $358,062 (including a charge of3f8brelating to the acceleration of the amort@agxpense relating to the vesting of RSUs held by
Lazard's former Chairman and Chief Executive Offiae a result of his death in October 2009 and2®8®in restructuring expense recognized in the
first quarter of 2009), $234,602 and $104,765 lieryears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2GpEatively. RSUs issued subsequent to Dece
31, 2005 generally include a dividend participatiigint that provides that during vesting periodsteRSU is attributed additional RSUs (or fractions
thereof) equivalent to any ordinary quarterly dends paid on Class A common stock during such geBaring the years ended December 31, 2009,
2008 and 2007, dividend participation rights regdithe issuance of 331,642, 208,596 and 55,836 R8kJsectively, and resulted in a charge to
“retained earnings” and a credit to “additionaldpai-capital,” net of estimated forfeitures, of 342, $7,211 and $2,570 during the respective psriod
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Non-executive members of the Board of Directorginex approximately 55% of their annual compensdiorservice on the Board of Directors
and its committees in the form of DSUs resultin@&627, 28,090, and 12,459 DSUs granted duringelhes ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and
respectively. Their remaining compensation is pé&yabcash, which they may elect to receive inftren of additional DSUs under the Directors’ Fee
Deferral Unit Plan described below. DSUs are cdtilvlerinto Class A common stock at the time of ediss of service to the Board. The DSUs include
a cash dividend participation right equivalent ny ardinary quarterly dividends paid on Class A aoom stock resulting in nominal cash payments for
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2(J.aWwards are expensed at their fair value on tia@ of grant, which, inclusive of amounts
related to the Director$*ee Deferral Unit Plan, totaled $1,316, $1,331$82iL during the years ended December 31, 2009, 20802007, respectivel

On May 9, 2006, the Board of Directors adoptedDirectors’ Fee Deferral Unit Plan, which allows fiempany’s Non-Executive Directors to
elect to receive additional DSUs pursuant to th@s2Blan in lieu of some or all of their cash félse number of DSUs that shall be granted to a Non-
Executive Director pursuant to this election wiual the value of cash fees that the applicable-Eiagcutive Director has elected to forego purst@nt
such election, divided by the market value of aslud Class A common stock on the date on whicHdhegone cash fees would otherwise have been
paid. During the years ended December 31, 20098 266 2007, 8,899, 7,694 and 3,161 DSUs, respégtived been granted pursuant such Plan.

The following is a summary of activity relatingRsUs and DSUs during the three-year period endeémber 31, 2009:

RSUs DSUs
Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Grant Date Grant Date

Units Fair Value Units Fair Value

Balance, January 1, 20I 4,009,38: $ 32.1¢ 19,69( $ 35.71
Granted (including 55,836 RSUs relating to dividgyadticipation) 5,873,90! $ 49.2¢ 15,62( $ 52.5¢
Forfeited (294,14H) $ 40.3¢ — —
Vested/Converte (81,207 $ 47.1F — —
Balance, December 31, 20 9,507,93! $ 42.3¢ 35,31( $ 43.1¢
Granted (including 208,596 RSUs relating to dividi@articipation’ 14,032,62 $ 37.0Z 35,78¢ $ 37.1¢
Forfeited (635,75) $ 40.4C — —
Vested/Converte (763,339 $ 37.9( (5,839 $ 38.2¢
Balance, December 31, 20 22,141,46 $ 39.1% 65,25¢ $ 40.3:
Granted (including 331,642 RSUs relating to dividl@articipation’ 8,006,28 $ 31.5C 45,52¢ $ 28.9:
Forfeited (831,02 $ 36.91 — —
Vested/Converte (5,948,92) $ 37.6¢ (7,63 $ 34.0¢
Balance, December 31, 20 23,367,81 $ 37.01 103,14t $ 35.7¢

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and Z)988,920 RSUs (including the acceleration of 4,408 RSUs held by Lazard’s former
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer as a resultisfdeath) and 763,335 RSUs vested, respectiletonnection therewith, and after considering the
withholding tax obligations pertaining thereto, 85748 and 639,016 shares of Class A common stelckily Lazard Group were delivered during the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respgctivel
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As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, unrecognized B&8hpensation expense, adjusted for estimated forési, was approximately $301,413 and
$457,839, respectively, with such unrecognized camption expense at December 31, 2009 expectedrecbgnized over a weighted average period
of approximately 1.6 years. The ultimate amourgwath expense is dependent upon the actual numiR8WW$ that vest. The Company periodically
assesses the forfeiture rates used for such esimatchange in estimated forfeiture rates woultseahe aggregate amount of compensation expense
recognized in future periods to differ from theirstted unrecognized compensation expense desdrédrech.

Other Incentive Awards

A portion of the incentive awards granted in Febyu2009 included a deferred cash component, whigh oviginally scheduled to vest over a
maximum period of four years. During the fourth geaof 2009, in connection with a review of then@many’s compensation policy, the Company
accelerated the vesting of the then unamortizetiquoof such previously awarded deferred cash iticerawards which resulted in a pre-tax charge to
“compensation and benefits” expense of $60,512.

Incentive Awards Granted In February 2010

In February 2010, the Company granted 6,477,409R68ligible employees, one-third of which vest\arch 1, 2012 and two-thirds of which
vest on March 1, 2013, and had an aggregate fhie\an the date of grant of $36.10 per RSU. Thepmmation expense with respect to such RSU
awards will be recognized over a weighted averag®g of 2.7 years.

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company provides retirement and other posteragnt benefits to certain of its employees throdefined contribution and defined benefit
pension plans and other post-retirement plans.erpless generally provide benefits to participdoatsed on average levels of compensation. Expenses
(benefits) related to the Company’s employee bépédins are included in “compensation and beneéiigiense on the consolidated statements of
operations.

Effective January 31, 2005, the Company’s U.S.rdefibenefit pension plans were amended to cease foénefit accruals and future
participation. As a result of such amendment, agbarticipants continue to receive credit for ssdompleted after January 31, 2005 for purposes of
vesting; however, future service is not taken raasideration for purposes of future benefit adsruader these plans. Vested benefits for active
participants as of January 31, 2005 have beemestai

Effective March 31, 2006, certain of the Compamos-U.S. pension plans were amended to cease futureadscAs a result of such amendmi
future service and compensation increases wilbediaken into account for purposes of future bémaefiruals under these plans. Vested benefits for
active participants as of March 31, 2006 were neti

The Company also offers a partially funded contdibyi post-retirement medical plan covering quatitylJ.S. employees (the “Medical Plan”).
The Medical Plan pays a stated percentage of nexgtssary medical expenses incurred by retirees, aafbtracting payments by Medicare or other
providers and after stated deductibles have be¢nRadicipants become eligible for benefits ifitretire from the Company after meeting certain age
and service requirements. Effective January 1, 2008t-retirement health care benefits are
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no longer offered to those managing directors anpleyees hired on or after January 1, 2005 anthfise managing directors and employees hired
before January 1, 2005 who did not attain the d@® defore December 31, 2005. In addition, effectlanuary 1, 2006, the cost sharing policy changec
for those who qualify for the benefit. The plan veasended effective January 1, 2008, such thatquslyi ineligible managing directors and employees
who meet the Medical Plan’s age and service remgrgs have the ability, upon retirement, to elegiurchase medical coverage through the Medical
Plan at no cost to the Company. The Company wiiticoe to contribute towards the cost of retireelived premiums for those employees hired before
January 1, 2005 who were age 55 or older on orbédecember 31, 2005.

Employer Contributions to Pension PlansFhe Company'’s funding policy for its U.S. and norBUpension plans is to fund when required or
when applicable upon an agreement with the plansst€es. Management also evaluates from time ® wimether to make voluntary contributions to
the plans. For the U.S. pension plans, there weminimum required cash contributions and no vamntash contributions for the year ended
December 31, 2009.

In accordance with agreements reached with thet@eaf certain non-U.S. pension plans in 2005Ctmpany contributed a final committed
payment of approximately $16,200 (8.2 million Bsftipounds) during the year ended December 31, 20@8r the same agreements, the Company is
contingently obligated to make further contribugdn such pension plans depending on the cumulpévfermance of the plans’ assets against specific
benchmarks as measured on June 1, 2009 (the “nesasnt date”) and subsequently on June 1, 2010rgheeasurement date”). The obligation related
to the cumulative underperformance of the plansétss(the “underperformance obligation”) at the sneament date was 11.5 million British pounds
($18,654 at December 31, 2009 exchange rates) vidjzdyable over four years commencing June 1, 20@gual monthly installments, and will be
subject to further adjustment on the remeasurexfeet During the year ended December 31, 200C tinepany contributed approximately $2,600 (1.7
million British pounds) with respect to the undefpemance obligation.

In addition, on June 30, 2009 the Company and &esstoncluded the December 31, 2007 triennial tialuaf the non-U.S. pension plans
discussed above, pursuant to which: (i) the Companged to contribute 2.3 million British pound8,#1 at December 31, 2009 exchange rates),
during each year from 2011 to 2018 inclusive, sttitj@ adjustment resulting from the December 31,02@iennial valuation, which the Company
expects to have concluded prior to the contribugiapment scheduled for 2011, and (ii) to secureCiiapanys obligations thereunder, on July 15, 2
the Company placed in escrow 12.5 million Britistupds, with a final redemption date of December2®18. Income on the escrow balance accretes tc
the Company. This amount is subject to adjustmaséd on the results of the December 31, 2010 tedbwaluation and subsequent triennial valuations.
The escrow balance as of December 31, 2009 hasreeerded in “cash deposited with clearing orgaiorns and other segregated cash” and
“investments: debt-other” in the amounts of 6.28iam British pounds and 6.25 million British pousn¢$10,138 and $10,138 at December 31, 2009
exchange rates), respectively, on the accompartgingolidated statement of financial condition aBetember 31, 2009.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, contdbativere made to other non-U.S. pension plans atinguio approximately $4,900. The
Company is expected to contribute approximatelysérae amount in the year ending December 31, 2010.
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The following table summarizes the changes in gkt obligations, the fair value of the asséie,funded status and amounts recognized in the
consolidated statements of financial conditiontfer U.S. defined benefit pension plan and posteneent Medical Plan and plans outside the U.S. The
Company uses a December 31 measurement date éonjifoyee benefit plans.

Pension Posi-Retirement
Plans Medical Plan
2009 2008 2009 2008
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $367,78¢ $ 553,95( $6,73¢ $ 6,977
Service cos 1,432 98 117
Interest cos 27,41¢ 28,98’ 31C 412
Amendments (2,449 (14¢€)
Actuarial (gain) los: 47,74¢ (50,31¢) (1,40¢) (139
Benefits paic (22,207) (18,709 (37¢) (432)
Foreign currency translation and other adjustm 105,72: (146,12)) (55
Benefit obligation at end of ye 525,45¢ 367,78¢ 5,35¢ 6,734
Change in plan asset
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y 400,36 574,19:
Actual return on plan asse 53,49¢ (26,009
Employer contribution 7,581 16,20¢ 37¢ 432
Benefits paic (22,207 (18,709 (37¢) (432)
Foreign currency translation and other adjustm 85,41 (145,329
Fair value of plan assets at end of y 524,65¢ 400,36 — —
Funded surplus (deficit) at end of yt $ (802 $ 32,57t $(5,35¢) $(6,739)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statemdrfisancial condition at December 31, 2009
and 2008 consist 0

Prepaid pension asset (includecother asse”) $ 27,38¢ $ 39,58¢

Accrued benefit liability (included i“other liabilities”) (28,189 (7,019 $(5,35%) $(6,739)
Net amount recognize $ (802 $ 32,57t $(5,35¢) $(6,739)
Amounts recognized in AOCI (excluding tax chargengfit) of $(10,219) and $3,196 at

December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively) conki

Actuarial net (gain) los $ 66,11: $ 43,98( $ (433 $ 9v7¢

Prior service (credit) co: 21,64 (1,029 (2,409
Net amount recognize $ 87,75¢ $ 43,98( $(1,456  $(1.,43)
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The following table summarizes the fair value afrphssets, the accumulated benefit obligation leegiojected benefit obligation at December
31, 2009 and 2008:

U.S. Pension Plan Non-U.S. Pension Plan: Total

As Of December 31, As Of December 31, As Of December 31,

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Fair value of plan asse $22,32¢ $20,33; $502,33: $380,03. $524,65( $400,36-
Accumulated benefit obligatic $26,26. $27,34t $499,19! $340,44. $525,45! $367,78!
Projected benefit obligatic $26,26. $27,34t $499,19! $340,44. $525,45! $367,78!

The following table summarizes the components ogfiecosts, the return on plan assets, benefits pantributions and other amounts
recognized in AOCI for the years ended DecembefBQ9, 2008 and 2007:

Pension Plans Post-Retirement Medical Plan
For The Years Ended For The Years Ended
December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Credit)
Service cos $ 1,43 $ 98 $ 117 $ 16t
Interest cos 27,41¢ $28,987 $27,42¢ 31C 412 43E
Expected return on plan ass (28,310 (33,45) (33,579
Amortization of:
Prior service (credit) co: 3,09¢ (1,389 (1,389 (1,389
Net actuarial los 1,32: 37¢€ 37¢ 87 584
Net periodic benefit cost (cred 4,962 (4,08¢) (5,779 (9749) (76€) (19¢)
Settlements (curtailment (7) 1,041 (14€) (1,69%)
Total benefit cost (credi $ 495€ $(3,04) $GB77H9 $ (9749 $ (912) $(1,899
Actual return on plan asse $53,49¢ $(26,009) $31,59:
Employer contribution $ 7,581 $16,20¢ $16,43: $ 37¢ $ 43z $ 642
Benefits paic $2220: $18,70F $2098( $ 37¢ $ 43z $ 64<
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligatecognized in AOCI
(excluding tax charge (benefit) of $(13,415), $B,8d $(478) during the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 ctasghg):
Net actuarial (gain) los $22,12: $(1,48¢) $ 4,41C $(1,407) $ (139 $(1,63))
Prior service cost (credi (2,449
Reclassification of prior service credit (costegrnings (3,099 1,382 1,382 1,382
Reclassification of actuarial loss to earnil (1,316 (1,419 (379 (87) (584)
Currency translation and other adjustme 28,51¢ (15,369 1,13¢
Total recognized in AOC $43,77¢  $(1827) $ 517 $ (25 $1,15¢ $ (839
Net amount recognized in total periodic benefitt @yal AOCI $48,73C $21,320 $ (604 $ (999) $ 244  $(2,72¢)
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The amounts in AOCI on the consolidated statemgfibancial condition as of December 31, 2009 #rat expected to be recognized as
components of net periodic benefit cost (credit)tfe year ending December 31, 2010 are as follows:

Post-
Retirement
Pension Medical
Plans Plan Total
Prior service (credit) co: $3,211  $ (1,029 $2,18¢
Net actuarial (gain) los $ 834 % — $ 834

The assumptions used to develop actuarial presdume wf the projected benefit obligation and netiquoic pension cost are set forth below:

Posi-Retirement

Pension Plans Medical Plan
As Of Or For the Years Ended As Of Or For the Years Ended
December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Weighted average assumptions used to determindibeblgations:
Discount rate 5.7% 6.2% 5.8% 5.6% 5.8% 6.5%
Weighted average assumptions used to determingeniedic benefit cos
Discount rate 5.5% 5.8% 5.1% 5.8% 6.5% 5.5%
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass 6.2% 6.2% 6.1%
Healthcare cost trend rates used to determineari&tdic benefit cost
Initial 9.0% 9.0% 10.0%
Ultimate 6.0% 6.0% 6.0%
Year ultimate trend rate achiev 201¢ 201¢ 2011

Generally, the Company determined the discounsifateits defined benefit plans by utilizing ind&cr long-term, high-quality bonds and
ensuring that the discount rate does not exceevii¢gt:reported for those indices after adjustnfenthe duration of the plans’ liabilities.

In selecting the expected long-term rate of reamplan assets, the Company considered the avextggef earnings expected on the funds
invested or to be invested to provide for the bigmef the plan, giving consideration to expectetlirns on different asset classes held by the jans
light of prevailing economic conditions as wellkdstoric returns. This basis is consistent folyathrs presented.
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The assumed cost of healthcare has an effect cemtloeints reported for the Company’s post-retirerpéaris. A 1% change in the assumed
healthcare cost trend rate would increase (decreaseost and obligation as follows:

1% Increase 1% Decrease
2009 2008 2009 2008
Cost $ 45 $62 $ (38) $ (53)
Obligation $564 $80¢ $(490) $(68¢€)

Expected Benefit Payments-The following table summarizes the expected bepafyments for the Company’s plans for each o five
fiscal years and in the aggregate for the fivedlisears thereafter:

Pension Posi-Retirement
Plans Medical Plan

2010 $ 21,96 $ 35¢
2011 23,10¢ 38¢
2012 23,09( 42t
2013 25,30: 44¢
2014 24,96¢ 447
2015-2019 157,84( 2,05¢

Plan Assets—The following table presents the categorizatioplah assets, measured at fair value as of DeceBih&009:

Asset Category

Equity Securitie: $235,56-
Debt Securitie: 279,96:
Other (includes cash, annuities and accrued didsle 9,131
Total $524,65!

At December 31, 2009, the Company’s U.S. pensianghad 50% of the plans’ assets invested in #xeleange-traded mutual funds that invest
in equity securities and 50% invested in an exchargded mutual fund that invests in debt securiffdhe Company’s non-U.S. pension plans did not
have any individual investment holding that cong¢itl more than 10% of plan assets as of Decemh&089.

Investment Policies and StrategiesThe primary investment goal is to ensure that thagpremain well funded, taking account of theliieiture
risks to investment returns and contributions. Asslt, a portfolio of assets is maintained wippropriate liquidity and diversification that cae b
expected to generate long-term future returnsrthiaimize the long-term costs of the pension platheit exposing the trust to an unacceptable risk of
under-funding. The Company’s likely future abiltty pay such contributions as are required to mairikee funded status of the plans over a reasonable
time period is considered when determining thelle¥eisk that is appropriate. All plan investmeat® classified as Level 1 investments and théir fa
values are based on market quotes.

Defined Contribution Plans—Pursuant to certain matching contributions, then@any contributes to employer sponsored definedribaion
plans. Such contributions amounted to $8,409, $B0ahd $9,294 for the years ended December 31, and 2007, respectively, which are
included in “compensation and benefits” expenséherconsolidated statements of operations.
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19. RESTRUCTURING PLAN

In February 2009, the Company announced a restiogtplan to optimize its mix of personnel, whicftiuded certain staff reductions and
realignments of personnel. In connection with spieim, the Company recorded a charge of $62,55G{stimg of compensation-related expenses,
including the acceleration of unrecognized expgrestaining to RSUs previously granted to individuaho were terminated pursuant to the
restructuring, severance and benefit payments #ret oosts), with this charge partially offset Isgaciated income tax and noncontrolling interest
credits of $6,401 and $21,075, respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, the remaining liabilitg@sated with the restructuring plan was approxatya$11,500. Such aggregate amount is
reported within “accrued compensation and beneéitsl “other liabilities” on the accompanying condated statement of financial condition as of
December 31, 2009.

20. INCOME TAXES

Lazard Ltd is subject to U.S. federal income taxedts portion of Lazard Group’s operating incormhazard Group primarily operates in the U.S.
as a limited liability company that is treated gsatnership for U.S. federal income tax purpofassa result, Lazard Group’s income from its U.S.
operations is generally not subject to U.S. fedem@me taxes, because such income is attributalttee partners. In addition, Lazard Group is scibie
the UBT, which is attributable to Lazard Group’sogtions apportioned to New York City. UBT is ingrental to the U.S. federal statutory tax rate.
Outside the U.S., Lazard Group operates princighligugh subsidiary corporations that are subtbdal income taxes.

The Company recorded income tax provisions of $6,825,379 and $80,616 for the years ended DeceBih@009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively, representing effective tax rates3a3)%, 101.0% and 19.3%, respectively. Excludifigh@ income tax benefit of $6,401 related to the
$62,550 restructuring charge in 2009, (ii) the meatax benefit of $2,566 related to the $60,512gdén 2009 for the acceleration of the unamortized
portion of the previously awarded deferred caskiiive awards, (iii) the $86,514 charge in 2008tea to the acceleration of amortization expense
associated with the vesting of RSU awards helddmakd’s former Chairman and Chief Executive Offigera result of his death in October 2009, for
which there was no tax benefit, and (iv) the incdmebenefit of $7,427 related to the $199,550 LMdrger charge in 2008, the Company had income
tax provisions of $14,978, $32,806 and $80,616Heryears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 28§pkctively, representing effective tax rates of
54.8%, 14.6% and 19.3%, respectively.
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The components of the Company’s provision (benfditincome taxes for the years ended Decembe2@19, 2008 and 2007, and a
reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory incota rate to the Company’s effective tax ratessiarh periods are shown below.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Current:

Federal $ (6,019) $ 12,38¢ $ 2,70¢

Foreign 35,08: 37,67¢ 84,17¢

State and local (primarily UBT 38C 6,97( 10,12:
Total current 29,44* 57,03: 97,007
Deferred:

Federal (19,287 (14,399 (9,397

Foreign (4,149 (17,259 (6,999
Total deferrec (23,439 (31,657) (16,39
Total $ 6,011 $ 25,37¢ $ 80,61¢

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

U.S. federal statutory income tax ri 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Income of noncontrolling interes (10.§) (15.7) (18.9
Foreign source income (loss) not subject to U.Sonme tax 20.2 (135.9 (20.§)
Foreign taxe: 17.0 81.2 18.5
State and local taxes (primarily UB (0.2 27.7 2.4
Change in valuation allowan: (32.¢) 116.% (5.5
Other, ne 2.3 (8.0 )]
Effective income tax rat _(3.9% 101.(% 19.2%
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Deferred income taxes are provided for the effe€temporary differences between the tax basisaisset or liability and its reported amount in
the consolidated statements of financial conditidmese temporary differences result in taxablesgludtible amounts in future years. Details of the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities, Wi included in “other assets” and “other lidigi”, respectively, on the consolidated statemefts
financial condition, are as follows:

December 31

2009 2008
Deferred Tax Asset:
Basis adjustments (primarily as a result of theasation and recapitalization transactions that oecliduring $
2005 and from the secondary offerings) $ 599,68! 441,42:
Compensation and benef 172,79 95,10:
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwe 95,69¢ 37,17
Depreciation and amortizatic 10,72( 9,341
Other 33,58t¢ 23,20:
Gross deferred tax assi 912,48 606,23t
Valuation allowance (533,87
(803,73) )
Total deferred tax assets (net of valuation allovean $
$ 108,75t 72,36¢
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Depreciation and amortization $
$ 18,57% 18,51
Compensation and benef 10,39: 12,87¢
Goodwill 4,70% 2,107
Other 13,28« 4,207
Total deferred tax liabilities $
$ 46,95 37,70

The basis adjustments recorded as of Decembel089, @hd 2008 are primarily the result of:

» purchases and redemptions of historical and workiegber interests consummated in connection wélséparation and recapitalization of
the Company, which resulted in deferred tax asse$206,470 and $210,132 at December 31, 2009 @08, 2espectively

» basis step-ups for U.S. income tax purposes raguitom the exchange of LAZ-MD exchangeable interesd from the 2008 and 2009
Secondary Offerings, which resulted in deferredassets of $358,888 and $207,199 at December 89, &td 2008, respectivel

» tax basis step-up for U.S. income tax purposesedaia U.K. assets, which resulted in deferredassets of $28,861 and $24,092 at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively,

* basis step-up for payments made under the taxviedaei agreement of $5,469 at December 31, 2009.

The deferred tax assets are offset by a valuatiowance of $803,731 and $533,873 at December @19 2nd 2008, respectively, due to the
uncertainty of realizing the benefits of the bo@ksus tax basis temporary differences and ceriioperating loss carryforwards. The valuation
allowance at December 31, 2009 reflects a net aseref $269,858 from the balance of $533,873 ae®eer 31, 2008, and is primarily the result of the
basis step-ups relating to the 2009 Secondary i@fferthe tax effect of temporary differences iatato compensation and benefits and net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards.
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The Company’s net operating loss and tax crediyt@wards primarily relate to (i) carryforwardstine U.K. at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
which may be carried forward indefinitely, subjeztvarious limitations, and (ii) carryforwards iraly and the U.S. at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
which begin expiring in 2011.

UBT attributable to certain member distributions ha&en reimbursed by the members under an agreeviterihe Company.

The Company adopted accounting guidance for uringtian income taxes on January 1, 2007. The cutivelaffect of the Company’s adoption
of such guidance was a charge of $13,221 whicéfisated in the January 1, 2007 balance of retag@edings.

With few exceptions, the Company is no longer stiifi@ income tax examination by foreign tax auttiesifor years prior to 2005 and by U.S.
federal, state and local tax authorities for yeaiar to 2006. While we are under examination inaas tax jurisdictions with respect to certain npe
years, the Company believes that the result offimay determination related to these examinatiensat expected to have a material impact on its
financial statements. Developments with respesuth examinations are monitored on an ongoing lasisadjustments to tax liabilities are made as
appropriate.

A reconciliation of the beginning to the ending ambof gross unrecognized tax benefits (excludirigrest and penalties) for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2009 2008 2007
Balance, January 1 (excluding interest and pesalti€s5,467, $5,195 and $5,132,
respectively’ $46,72¢ $32,08( $32,38¢
Increases in gross unrecognized tax benefits mglati tax positions taken durin
Prior years 5,271 5,717 —
Current yea 18,25! 12,89 7,932
Decreases in gross unrecognized tax benefits mglédi
Tax positions taken during prior ye: — (399 (7,052
Settlements with tax authoritir — (212) (702)
Lapse of the applicable statute of limitatic (9,689 (3,369 (487)
Balance, December 31 (excluding interest and pesaif $7,247, $5,467 and $5,195,
respectively’ $60,55¢ $46,72¢ $32,08(
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Additional information with respect to unrecognizea benefits is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Unrecognized tax benefits at the end of the petatl if recognized, would favorably affect tl

effective tax rate (includes interest and penattie$7,247, $5,467 and $5,195, respectiv $41,40¢ $27,77( $25,477
Offset to deferred tax assets for unrecognizedemefits $26,40( $24,42: $11,79¢
Interest and penalties recognized in current inctarexpense (after giving effect to the

reversal of interest and penalties of $1,223, 1.4t $1,002, respectivel $ 1,78C $ 272 $ 63

The Company anticipates that it is reasonably pgsshat the total amount of unrecognized tax hienefcorded at December 31, 2009 will
decrease within 12 months by an amount up to ajipedely $17,000 as a result of the lapse of theiaf limitations in various tax jurisdictions.

Tax Receivable Agreement

The redemption of historical partner interestsanreection with the Company’s separation and reahpéition that occurred in May 2005 and the
exchanges of LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable interéstshares of Class A common stock in 2006, 20882009 have resulted, and future exchanges
of LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable interests for shares a6€A common stock may result, in increases inakdasis of the tangible and/or intang
assets of Lazard Group. The tax receivable agreedated as of May 10, 2005 with LFCM Holdings regaithe Company to pay LFCM Holdings 85%
of the cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, staie local income tax or franchise tax that the Gany actually realizes as a result of the above-
mentioned increases in tax basis. During the yeaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Compaayded aprovision (benefit) pursuant to t
receivable agreement” on the consolidated statesmrdperations of $(1,258), $17,084 and $17,1€=pectively, with the liability related thereto at
December 31, 2009 and 2008 of $15,684 and $36rk&fpectively, included within “related party payesilon the consolidated statements of financial
condition (see Note 22 of Notes to Consolidatediaial Statements). During the year ended DeceBihe2009, the Company recorded a benefit
related to the tax receivable agreement as a relSodirtain adjustments to previously recordedwestitd provisions.

21. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE OF CLASS A COMMON STOC
The Company’s basic and diluted net income (loss)share calculations for the years ended DeceB81he2009, 2008 and 2007 are computed as
described below.
Basic Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Numerator—utilizes net income (loss) attributable to Lazhtd for the years ended December 31, 2009, 20028604, plus applicable
adjustments to such net income (loss) associatttdtiaé inclusion of shares of Class A common steslable in connection with both the LAM Merger
and business acquisitions, as described in Notasl®, respectively, of Notes to Consolidated FirarStatements.

Denominator—utilizes the weighted average number of sharedad<CA common stock outstanding for the years el mber 31, 2009, 20
and 2007, plus applicable adjustments to such skemsociated with shares of Class A common steclaide in connection with the LAM Merger and
business acquisitions.
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Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Numerator—utilizes net income (loss) attributable to Lazhtd for the years ended December 31, 2009, 200&2860@ as in the basic net income
(loss) per share calculation described above, piue extent applicable and dilutive, (i) intérespense on convertible debt and the ESUs, (dhgkes
in net income attributable to noncontrolling int&eeresulting from assumed share issuances in ctonavith DSUs, RSUs, ESUs, convertible debt and
convertible preferred stock and (iii) income tabated to (i) and (ii) above.

Denominator—utilizes the weighted average number of sharedaf<CA common stock outstanding for the years efsmber 31, 2009, 20
and 2007 as in the basic net income (loss) peestalculation described above, plus, to the exdiative, the incremental number of shares of Class
common stock to settle DSU and RSU awards, ESUsjeztible debt and convertible preferred stockngshe treasury stock method or the “if
converted” method, as applicable.

The calculations of the Company’s basic and dilutedincome (loss) per share and weighted avetsmes outstanding for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are presented/belo

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Net income (loss) attributable to Lazard | $(130,245) $3,13¢ $155,04:
Add - adjustment associated with Class A common stalaisle relating to the LAM Merger a
business acquisitior (1,299 484 67€
Net income (loss) attributable to Lazard |- basic (131,539 3,62z 155,72(
Add - dilutive effect, as applicable, ¢
Adjustments to income relating to interest expears#® changes in net income (loss)
attributable to noncontrolling interests resultfirgm assumed share issuances in
connection with DSUs, RSUs, ESUs, convertible delot convertible preferred stock,
net of tax — — 17,62¢
Net income (loss) attributable to Lazard I- diluted $(131,53) $3,62: $173,34.
Weighted average number of shares of Class A constomk outstandin 75,220,89 59,178,40 50,875,37
Add - adjustment for shares of Class A common Sisslable relating to the LAM Merger and
business acquisitior 3,091,05! 1,696,32 310,26°
Weighted average number of shares of Class A constomk outstandin- basic 78,311,94 60,874,73 51,185,63
Add - dilutive effect, as applicable, ¢
Weighted average number of incremental shareshésfimm DSUs, RSUs, ESUs,
convertible debt and convertible preferred st — — 11,026,97
Weighted average number of shares of Class A constomk outstandin- diluted 78,311,94 60,874,73 62,212,61
Net income (loss) attributable to Lazard Ltd pearshof Class A common stoc
Basic $(1.69) $0.0¢ $3.04
Diluted $(1.69) $0.0¢ $2.7¢
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For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and #3LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeable interests wamtdilutive (and consequently the
effect of their conversion into shares of Classofnmon stock has been excluded from the calculatiatiluted net income (loss) per share).

22. RELATED PARTIES
Amounts receivable from, and payable to, relatatigzaas of December 31, 2009 and 2008 are sét hetbw:

December 31

2009 2008

Receivables

LFCM Holdings $14,21: $10,37

Other 205 —
Total $14,41"  $10,37

Payables

LFCM Holdings $17,43. $36,81!

Other 19 39¢
Total $17,45(  $37,21:

LFCM Holdings

LFCM Holdings owns and operates the capital marketiness and fund management activities, as weltleer specified nooperating assets a
liabilities, that were transferred to it by Laz&doup (referred to as the “separated businessed/ay 2005 and is owned by the current and former
working members, including certain of Lazard’s emtrand former managing directors (which also idelour executive officers) who are also members
of LAZ-MD Holdings. In addition to the master segtion agreement, which effected the separatiorrecapitalization that occurred in May 2005,
LFCM Holdings entered into an insurance matterea@gent and a license agreement that addressedvausiness matters associated with the
separation, as well as several other agreemerasssisd below.

Under the employee benefits agreement, dated lslsipfl0, 2005, by and among Lazard Ltd, Lazard Gra4x-MD Holdings and LFCM
Holdings, LFCM Holdings generally assumed, as efe¢bmpletion of the separation and recapitalizatiansactions, all outstanding and future lialzi§
in respect of the current and former employeesi®@feparated businesses. The Company retaineztaika liabilities under, and assets of, the pensio
plans in the U.S. and the U.K. as well as the 40N accounts of the inactive employees of LFCMdihgs and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the administrative services agreendated as of May 10, 2005, by and among LWB-Holdings, LFCM Holdings and Lazard Grc
(the “administrative services agreement”), Lazardup provides selected administrative and suppowices to LAZ-MD Holdings and LFCM
Holdings, such as cash management and debt sadhisimistration, accounting and financing activities, payroll, human resources administration,
financial transaction support, information techmggiopublic communications, data processing, praverd, real estate management and other general
administrative functions. Lazard Group chargegliese services based on Lazard Group’s cost atbocatethodology.
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The services provided pursuant to the administeagervices agreement by Lazard Group to LFCM Hgklemd by LFCM Holdings to Lazard
Group generally expired December 31, 2008, and wéb@ct to automatic annual renewal, unless ejibdy gives 180 days’ notice of termination. As
of December 31, 2009, neither party has giveneleired notice of termination, and the agreemestie®n automatically renewed for a period of one
year. LFCM Holdings and Lazard Group have a rightetminate the services earlier if there is a geasf control of either party or the business ati&a
provided in the business alliance agreement (desdtbelow) expires or is terminated. The partyix@eg a service may also terminate a service garlie
upon 180 days’ notice as long as the receivingypgaays the service provider an additional three tof service fee for the terminated service. In
addition, in connection with the various agreememt®red into regarding the CP 1l MgmtCo Spin-Q#zard Group agreed to provide certain specified
services to LFCM Holdings (which, in turn, LFCM Hiaigs may provide to CP Il MgmtCo) and to generalty terminate such specified services until
June 30, 2010.

The business alliance agreement provides, amorgy othtters, that Lazard Group will refer to LFCMI#ings selected opportunities for
underwriting and distribution of securities. In &duh, Lazard Group will provide assistance in thescution of any such referred business. In exalnang
for the referral obligation and assistance, Lazaroup will receive a referral fee from LFCM Holdmegqual to approximately one-half of the revenue
obtained by LFCM Holdings in respect of any undding or distribution opportunity. In addition, LR Holdings will refer opportunities in the
Financial Advisory and Asset Management busineskazard Group. In exchange for this referral, MFEoldings will be entitled to a customary
finders’ fee from Lazard Group. The business atlemagreement further provides that, during the @frthe business alliance, LFNY and Lazard Asset
Management Securities LLC, an indirect wholly-owrsedsidiary of LFNY, will introduce execution anetttement transactions to brokeéealer entitie:
affiliated with LFCM Holdings. The term of the busiss alliance will expire on the fifth anniversafithe equity public offering, subject to periodic
automatic renewal, unless either party electsrimiteate in connection with any such renewal ortsléz terminate on account of a change of contirol o
either party.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and a6tbunts recorded by Lazard Group relating toiaidtnative and support services under
the administrative services agreement amounte@®,itl$, $7,138 and $3,769, respectively, and netnaffees for underwriting, private placement,
M&A and restructuring transactions under the bussradliance agreement amounted to $12,301, $2&6d4d$31,722, respectively. Amounts relating to
administrative and support services under the aidtréniive services agreement are reported as riedisdo operating expenses. Net referral fees for
underwriting transactions under the business aéagreement are reported as reductions to “revetige”. Net referral fees for private placement,
M&A and restructuring transactions under the bussraliance agreement are reported as reducticadyvisory fee revenue.

In connection with the separation, Lazard Groupsfarred to LFCM Holdings its ownership interesPanmure Gordon & Co. plc (“PG&C”).
Lazard Group and LFCM Holdings agreed to sharermtycash proceeds derived prior to May 2013 frogpnsaibsequent sale by LFCM Holdings of the
shares it owns in PG&C. As a result of LFCM Holdireelling a portion of its interest in PG&C in J&897, the Company recorded a gain of $9,296,
which is included in “revenue-other” on the condated statement of operations for the year endegmber 31, 2007. The abowgentioned transactic
resulted in a $4,025 increase in operating incasngéar ended December 31, 2007. As of Decembe2@®19 and 2008, LFCM Holdings owned 8.24%
and 15.6% of PG&C, respectively.

Under a master separation agreement and a retsied indemnity agreement, dated as of May 10, a085elated agreements, LFCM Holding
obligated to indemnify Lazard Group for certairblidies relating to abandoned leased
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space in the U.K. The net present value of theivab&e due from LFCM Holdings with respect to suctiemnification at December 31, 2009 and 2008
was $1,180 and $4,085, respectively. The balandaesdhased on a schedule of periodic paymentsghrmay 10, 2010.

The remaining receivables from LFCM Holdings arsdsitibsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 206&apity include $5,891 and $4,949,
respectively, related to administrative and suppervices and reimbursement of expenses incurrdetbalf of LFCM Holdings and $6,202 and $1,087,
respectively, related to referral fees for undetimgi and private placement transactions. Payablé&€CM Holdings and its subsidiaries at Decembel
2009 and 2008 relate primarily to obligations parsuto the tax receivable agreement of $15,684%86cL11, respectively (see Note 20 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements) and $1,747 @0d,$espectively, principally relating to referfaés for Financial Advisory transactions.

See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak&tants for information regarding the 2008 Secon@xfgring for which LCM participated as
an underwriter. In addition, see Notes 10 and 18aies to Consolidated Financial Statements farination regarding the CP MgmtCo Spin-Off and
Sapphire, respectively.

LAZ-MD Holdings

Lazard Group provides selected administrative ampart services to LAZ-MD Holdings through the adisirative services agreement as
discussed above, with such services generally frdoeded until December 31, 2014 unless terminatatier because of a change in control of either
party. Lazard Group charges LAZ-MD Holdings forgheservices based on Lazard Group’s cost allocatiethodology and, for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, such chargesraetbto $750, $750 and $1,300, respectively.

Other

For the year ended December 31, 2008, expensesleecby Lazard Group relating to referral feesréstructuring transactions and fee sharing
with MBA amounted to $2,397. There were no suchuam®for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 20@ecember 31, 2008, the balance of
such related party transactions are included witbliated party payables in the accompanying cotatd statement of financial condition.

23. REGULATORY AUTHORITIES

LFNY is a U.S. registered broker-dealer and is ecitjo the net capital requirements of Rule 15eBwder the Exchange Act. Under the basic
method permitted by this rule, the minimum requined capital, as defined, is a specified fixed petage of total aggregate indebtedness recorded in
LFNY’s Financial and Operational Combined Uniforim@e (“FOCUS”) report filed with the Financial lndtry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA"), or
$100, whichever is greater. At December 31, 200 Y's regulatory net capital was $45,417, whicheeaed the minimum requirement by $35,843.

Certain U.K. subsidiaries of the Company, includir@®)_, Lazard Fund Managers Limited and Lazard Asdahagement Limited (the “U.K.
Subsidiaries”) are regulated by the Financial SmwiAuthority. At December 31, 2009, the aggregagelatory net capital of the U.K. Subsidiaries was
$153,043, which exceeded the minimum requiremer$iliybs,198.

CFLF, through which non-corporate finance advisaetvities are carried out in France, is subjeaegulation by the Commission Bancaire and
the Comité des Etablissements de Crédit et deeiges
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d’Investissement for its banking activities conautthrough its subsidiary, LFB. In addition, theéatment services activities of the Paris group,
exercised through LFB and other subsidiaries of EFirimarily LFG (asset management), are subjectdgalation and supervision by the Autorité des
Marchés Financiers. At December 31, 2009, the dfeged regulatory net capital of CFLF was $191,886ich exceeded the minimum requirement
for regulatory capital levels by $86,219.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries apgestito various capital adequacy requirements ptgated by various regulatory and exchange
authorities in the countries in which they operéteDecember 31, 2009, for those subsidiaries watiulatory capital requirements, their aggregate ne
capital was $77,725, which exceeded the minimuraired capital by $55,381.

At December 31, 2009, each of these subsidiargiigsidually was in compliance with its regulatorypit@al requirements.

Lazard Ltd is currently subject to supervision bg SEC as a Supervised Investment Bank Holding @asn'SIBHC"). As a SIBHC, Lazard Lt
is subject to group-wide supervision, which regsiitdo compute allowable capital and risk allowesion a consolidated basis. We believe that Lazard
Ltd is the only institution currently subject topgrvision by the SEC as a SIBHC. We are in disonsswith the SEC and other authorities regardieg th
scope and nature of Lazard Ltd’s reporting andratidigations under the SIBHC program.

On December 11, 2009, the U.S. House of Represesggiassed The Wall Street Reform and Consuméedimn Act of 2009 (the “2009 Act”).
The 2009 Act is currently pending in the U.S. Sen¥fe are not able to predict what action or chanigany, will result from the Senagetonsideratio
of the 2009 Act. We currently are in the processxamining the potential impact of the 2009 Actusrand the SIBHC program, but, given the
uncertainty of possible changes to the 2009 Actawveenot able to predict the ultimate effect orand the SIBHC program.

24. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s reportable segments offer differeatipcts and services and are managed separatéiffeasnt levels and types of expertise are
required to effectively manage the segments’ treticas. Each segment is reviewed to determineltbeadion of resources and to assess its
performance. The Company'’s principal operatingvét@s are included in two business segments: Kiahdvisory (which includes providing general
strategic and transaction-specific advice on M&Al ather strategic matters, restructurings, capitaicture, capital raising and various other caafeor
finance matters), and Asset Management (which dedithe management of equity and fixed income gixsuand alternative investment and private
equity funds). In addition, the Company recordesteld other activities in its Corporate segmermiuising management of cash, certain investments anc
the commercial banking activities of LFB. The Comypalso allocates outstanding indebtedness todtp@ate segment.

The Company’s segment information for the yearsdridlecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is preparad tig following methodology:

¢ Revenue and expenses directly associated withsghent are included in determining operating iresom

* Expenses not directly associated with specific sagmare allocated based on the most relevant mesaspplicable, including headcount,
square footage and other factc
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)
(dollars in thousands, except for per share data,nless otherwise noted)

* Segment assets are based on those directly agsbeith each segment, and include an allocatiaredfin assets relating to various
segments, based on the most relevant measuresapeliincluding headcount, square footage and ¢dlcors.

The Company allocates investment gains and losgesest income and interest expense among theusmsegments based on the segment in
which the underlying asset or liability is reported

Each segment’s operating expenses include (i) cosgtion and benefits expenses incurred directbupport of the businesses and (ii) other
operating expenses, which include directly incuergenses for occupancy and equipment, marketiddoasiness development, technology and
information services, professional services, fudohimistration and outsourced services and indsapport costs (including compensation and other
operating expenses related thereto) for adminis&raervices. Such administrative services inclide are not limited to, accounting, tax, legatilfies
management and senior management activities.

There were no clients for the years ended DeceBihe2009, 2008 and 2007 that individually consgitlimore than 10% of the net revenue of
either of the Company’s business segments.

Management evaluates segment results based oavegiue and operating income and believes thabtlewing information provides a
reasonable representation of each segment’s cotitnibwith respect to net revenue, operating incdlogs) and total assets:

As Of Or For The Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Financial Advisory Net Revenut $ 986,82( $1,022,91. $1,240,17
Operating Expenses ( 998,72' 796,97( 920,70!
Operating Income (Loss) (| $ (11,909 $ 225,94 $ 319,47.
Total Asset: $ 706,78! $ 739,44 $ 811,75.
Asset Managemel Net Revenur $ 601,65: $ 614,78: $ 724,75:
Operating Expenses ( 504,45 678,17( 539,80(
Operating Income (Loss) (| $ 97,20( $ (63,389 $ 184,95:
Total Asset: $ 702,77 $ 419,85¢ $ 580,71¢
Corporate Net Revenut $ (57,959 $ (80,48 $ (47,239
Operating Expenses ( 209,57: 56,92’ 38,88¢
Operating Income (Loss) (| $ (267,52) $ (137,419 $ (86,129
Total Asset: $1,738,20; $1,703,62! $2,447,94!
Total Net Revenut $1,530,51! $1,557,20 $1,917,68!
Operating Expenses ( 1,712,75: 1,532,06 1,499,39.
Operating Income (Loss) (| $ (182,239 $  25,14( $ 418,29
Total Asset: $3,147,76. $2,862,93. $3,840,41.
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(dollars in thousands, except for per share data,nless otherwise noted)

(&) Operating expenses include depreciation and anatidgiz of property as set forth in table belc

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Financial Advisory $ 5,93t $ 5,58 $ 4,50¢
Asset Managemel 3,557 3,451 2,88¢
Corporate 13,05 11,79 9,33¢
Total $22,54: $20,82¢ $16,73¢

(b) Operating income (loss) in 2009 and 2008 wasificantly impacted by certain special items. Siropact, including the amounts attributable to
each of the Compa’s business segments, are described in the talest

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Financial Advisory
Operating income (loss), as reported ak $(11,90) $225,94. $319,47.
Special item
Acceleration of amortization expense related twipnesly awarded deferred cash incentive awi 48,53:
Operating income, excluding impact of special it $36,62¢ $225,94. $319,47.
Asset Managemen
Operating income (loss), as reported ak $97,20( $(63,389  $184,95:
Special items
Impact of the LAM Merge 197,55(
Acceleration of amortization expense related twipnesly awarded deferred cash incentive aw: 7,50¢
Operating income, excluding impact of special ite $104,70: $134,16. $184,95:
Corporate
Operating loss, as reported ab $(267,52) $(137,41)  $(86,12))
Special items
Impact of the LAM Merge 2,00c
Restructuring expens 62,55(
Acceleration of amortization expense related tovibsting of RSUs held by Lazasdformer Chairma
and Chief Executive Office 86,51«
Acceleration of amortization expense related twipresly awarded deferred cash incentive aw: 4,471
Operating loss, excluding impact of special ite $(113,99)  $(135,41)  $(86,129)
Consolidated
Operating income (loss), as reported ak $(182,23,) $25,14(  $418,29!
Special items
Impact of the LAM Merge 199,55(
Restructuring expens 62,55(
Acceleration of amortization expense related tovibsting of RSUs held by Lazasiformer Chairma
and Chief Executive Office 86,51«
Acceleration of amortization expense related twipresly awarded deferred cash incentive aw: 60,51:
Operating income, excluding impact of special ite $27,34. $224,69( $418,29!
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Geographic Information

Due to the highly integrated nature of internatidimancial markets, the Company manages its bagsibased on the profitability of the enterprise
as a whole. Accordingly, management believes thattpbility by geographic region is not necessanieaningful. The Company’s revenue and
identifiable assets are generally allocated basetth@® country or domicile of the legal entity prdivig the service.

The following table sets forth the net revenue framd identifiable assets for, the Company anddtssolidated subsidiaries by geographic region
allocated on the basis described above.

As Of Or For The Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Net Revenue
United State: $ 803,85¢ $ 793,02: $ 970,93.
United Kingdom 191,52: 224,52( 275,53t
France 247 ,51( 257,38: 358,07«
Other Western Eurog 176,45( 159,14: 186,27(
Rest of World 111,17¢ 123,14 126,87
Total $1,530,51 $1,557,20° $1,917,68!
Operating Income (Loss
United State: $ (155,64% $ (52,65¢) $ 212,71
United Kingdom (11,485 22,91t 59,36:
France (9,149 21,60¢ 94,58:
Other Western Eurog (5,469 16,94 26,36¢
Rest of World (49¢) 16,33¢ 25,27:
Total (c) $ (182,239 $ 25,14( $ 418,29!
Identifiable Assets
United State: $1,589,72I $1,145,73 $1,480,34
United Kingdom 277,75: 250,78t 352,69!
France 908,13° 1,128,71. 1,518,60!
Other Western Eurog 163,89¢ 176,28: 216,09
Rest of World 208,25! 161,41( 272,67
Total $3,147,76: $2,862,93: $3,840,41:

(c) As described in Note (b) above, operating incorass)l in 2009 and 2008 was significantly impacteddyain special items as described thel
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25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Retirement Policy— In January 2010, the Company amended its retirep@itty with respect to RSU awards. Such amendmserved to modify
the retirement eligibility requirements of existiagd future RSU awards, and, as such, Lazard aatetethe recognition of compensation expense for
the affected RSU awards. Accordingly, the Compatpeets to record a pre-tax, noash charge to compensation and benefits expersgpodximately
$24,800 in the first quarter of 2010.

Restructuring— In February 2010, the Company announced a plaalettve staff reductions. In connection with spidn, the Company
expects to record a pre-tax charge in the firstteuaf 2010 of approximately $90,000 (principatiynsisting of compensation-related expenses,
including the acceleration of unrecognized expgreséaining to RSUs previously granted to individuaho are being terminated pursuant to the
restructuring).

The above charges will be partially offset by tpplecable income tax and noncontrolling interestdits.
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

The following represents the Company’s unauditeariguly results for the years ended December 309 20d 2008. These quarterly results were
prepared in conformity with generally accepted aotimg principles and reflect all adjustments thiag, in the opinion of management, necessary for a
fair statement of the results. These adjustmert®fBa normal recurring nature.

2009 Fiscal Quarter

First Second Third Fourth Year
(dollars in thousands, except per share dat¢
Net revenue $248,39! $375,62!  $411,71! $ 494,78 $1,530,51!
Operating expense 339,16 318,67 338,55( 716,35!¢ 1,712,75;
Operating income (los: $(90,769) $ 56,94t $ 73,16¢ $(221,576) $ (182,239
Net income (loss $(86,59¢) $ 43,42° $ 53,197 $(198,27Y) $ (188,24
Less- net income (loss) attributable to noncontrollingerests (33,099 15,24( 15,77¢ (55,929 (58,009)
Net income (loss) attributable to Lazard | $(53,49¢) $ 28,180 $ 37,41¢ $(142,35)) $ (130,24
Attributable to Lazard Ltd Class A common stockleoid
Net income (loss) per share of common st

Basic $(0.77) $0.3¢ $0.47 $(1.69 $(1.69)

Diluted $(0.77) $0.3¢ $0.41 $(1.69) $(1.6%)
Dividends declared per share of common s $0.1( $0.1( $0.12¢ $0.12¢ $0.4f

2008 Fiscal Quarter
First Second Third Fourth Year
(dollars in thousands, except per share dat¢
Net revenue $308,07¢ $467,38¢  $ 405,82 $ 375,92( $1,557,20
Operating expense 290,05’ 379,65( 540,53: 321,82 1,532,06
Operating income (los: $ 18,02: $ 87,73t $(134,71) $ 54,09: $ 25,14(
Net income (loss $ 13,18: $ 69,62t  $(143,01) $ 59,96¢ $ (239)
Less- net income (loss) attributable to noncontrollingerests 5,38¢ 35,31: (66,06() 21,98¢ (3,379
Net income (loss) attributable to Lazard | $ 7,79¢ $ 34,317  $ (76,95) $ 37,97¢ $ 3,13¢
Attributable to Lazard Ltd Class A common stockleoid
Net income (loss) per share of common st

Basic $0.1¢ $0.61 $(1.179) $0.5¢ $0.0¢

Diluted $0.1¢ $0.5¢ $(1.179) $0.5( $0.0¢
Dividends declared per share of common s $0.1( $0.1( $0.1( $0.1( $0.4(
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ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosures
There were no changes in or disagreements withuataots on accounting and financial disclosurerdgytine last two fiscal years.

ltem 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive @iffiand Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the eff@mess of our disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the EgehAnt as of December 31, 2009 (the end of theoderovered by this Annual Report on Form 10-
K). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executif@éd®r and Chief Financial Officer have concludédt; as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure conteoisl procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) uh@eExchange Act) are effective, to ensure that
information we are required to disclose in reptnt we file or submit under the Exchange Act oreed, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in Securities and Exgea@ommission rules and forms, and that such irdtion is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allimely decisions regarding required disclosure.

In addition, no change in our internal control ofieancial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(fider the Exchange Act) occurred during our
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéfd, or is likely to materially affect, our intedrcontrol over financial reporting.

Management’'s Report on Internal Controls Over FargrReporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) aBd-15(f) of the Exchange Act), and the
related report of our independent registered pudounting firm, are set forth in Part Il, Iteno®this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information

Mr. Ashish Bhutani and Mr. Gary Parr have each egjte join the Board of Directors of Lazard Ltd drarard Group LLC effective as of March
8, 2010 and to be named as a Vice Chairman of dazar

Mr. Bhutani, age 49, is a Vice Chairman and Mangdirector of Lazard and has been the Chief Exeeufifficer of LAM since March 2004.
Mr. Bhutani previously served as Head of New Proslaad Strategic Planning for LAM from June 2003/&rch 2004. Prior to joining Lazard, he was
Co-Chief Executive Officer North America of Dresdi@deinwort Wasserstein from 2001 to the end of 208hd was a member of its Global Corporate
and Markets Board, and a member of the Global Bkec@ommittee. Mr. Bhutani worked at Wasserstesnelta Group (the predecessor to Dresdner
Kleinwort Wasserstein) from 1989 to 2001, servisgoeputy Chairman of Wasserstein Perella GroupCinief Executive Officer of Wasserstein Per
Securities from 1994 to 2001. Mr. Bhutani begandaiser at Salomon Brothers in 1985, where he WésePresident in Fixed Income. Mr. Bhutani is
a member of the Board of Directors of four registeinvestment companies, which are part of the ddafzand complex.

Mr. Parr, age 52, is a Vice Chairman and Managiingd@or of Lazard having previously served as Dgjithairman of Lazard from April 2003
until November 2009. For over 25 years, he hasdedwon providing strategic advice to financialitmgibns worldwide. Prior to joining Lazard, Mr. R
was with Morgan Stanley, serving in numerous cafagiincluding Vice-Chairmarirstitutional Securities and Investment Bankingai@inan and Hee
of the Global Financial Institutions Group and Ceald of the Global Mergers and Acquisitions Depantmrior to joining Morgan Stanley, Mr. Parr
was with a group from First Boston that formed \Wastein Perella, where he rose to become Co-Préside

Steven J. Golub, who recently served as InterinefdBxecutive Officer of Lazard from October 14, 20ntil November 16, 2009, has
relinquished his role as an executive officer of&r@ and Chairman of its Financial Advisory GroMp. Golub will continue as a Vice Chairman and
Managing Director of Lazard.

There have been no new contracts or arrangemeatsemdments to prior contracts or arrangementsezhieto as a result of the forgoing
appointments.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Information regarding members of the Board of Dioes, including its audit committee and audit corntes financial experts, as well as
information regarding our Code of Business Condunct Ethics that applies to our chief executiveceffiand senior financial officers, will be presente
in Lazard Ltd's definitive proxy statement for 810 annual general meeting of shareholders, whilthbe held on April 27, 2010, and is incorporated
herein by reference. Information regarding our exiee officers is included in Part | of this AnnuRéport on Form 10-K under the caption “Executive
Officers of the Registrant.”

The information required to be furnished pursuarthts item with respect to compliance with Secti@ta) of the Exchange Act will be set forth
under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Owngr$eporting Compliance” in Lazard Ltd’s definitiypeoxy statement for its 2010 annual general
meeting of shareholders, and is incorporated hédrgireference.

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

Information regarding executive officer and direatompensation will be presented in Lazard Ltd'Sriéve proxy statement for its 2010 annual
general meeting of shareholders, which will be teld\pril 27, 2010, and is incorporated herein éference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andVlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

Information regarding security ownership of certh@meficial owners and management and related lsbldey matters will be presented in Lazard
Ltd’s definitive proxy statement for its 2010 anhganeral meeting of shareholders, which will bt April 27, 2010, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of Detser 31, 2009 regarding securities issued unde@db Equity Incentive Plan and 2008
Incentive Compensation Plan .

Number of Securities

Remaining Available

Number of Securities

to be Issued
Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding

for Future Issuance
Under Equity

Compensation Plan:

(Excluding Securities

Plan Options, Reflected in the
Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Second Column
2008 Incentiv
Equity compensation plans approved Compensatio
security holder: Plan® 8,009,983 @) 28,945,01
2005 Equity
Equity compensation plans not Incentive
approved by security holde Plan® 15,460,97® @ 3,450,261
Total 23,470,950 32,395,27

@ Our 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan was approydtidstockholders of Lazard Ltd on May 6, 2008e flumber of shares of Lazard Class A

common stock available for issuance under the 2008ntive Compensation Plan is determined by a éitegrwhich generally provides that the
aggregate number
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@)

(©))

“4)

()

shares subject to outstanding awards under the RR@OBmay not exceed 30% of the aggregate numbenfoutstanding shares of Lazard Ltd
Class A common stock (treating, for this purpoke,then-outstanding LAZ-MD Holdings exchangeabteriests as shares of Lazard Ltd Class A
common stock on an -if-fully exchanged basis in accordance with the MaSegraration Agreemen

Our 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was establishedrgaaur equity public offering in May 2005 and,asesult, did not require approval by sect
holders.

Representsutstanding stock unit awards, after giving eftectorfeitures, as of December 31, 2009. As of tlee, the only grants made under
2005 Equity Incentive Plan and 2008 Incentive Comspéon Plan have been in the form of stock unarala. See Note 17 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a descripgidhe plans

Each stock unit awarded under our 2005 Equity IticerPlan and 2008 Incentive Compensation Plangrvasted at no cost to the persons
receiving them and represents the contingent t@htceive the equivalent number of shares of Glassmmon stock of the Compar

Gives effect to the number of securities remairaagilable for future issuance, after considerirgithpact of vested RSUs not delivered as a
result of withholding taxe:

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

Information regarding certain relationships anéted transactions will be presented in Lazard Ladd'nitive proxy statement for its 2010 annual

general meeting of shareholders, which will be tweld\pril 27, 2010, and is incorporated herein éference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information regarding principal accountant fees sevices will be presented in Lazard Ltd’'s defugitproxy statement for its 2010 annual

general meeting of shareholders, which will be teld\pril 27, 2010, and is incorporated herein éference.
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Iltem 15.

@

2.1

3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

4.3

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

Documents filed as part of this Report:

1.

Consolidated Financial Statement:

The consolidated financial statements requiodae filed in the Annual Report on Form 10-K hs&ed on page F-1 hereof and in Part 11,
Item 8 hereof

Financial Statement Schedule

The financial statement schedule requirethénAnnual Report on Form 10-K is listed on pageheteof. The required schedule appears on
pages -2 through I-8 hereof.

Exhibits

Master Separation Agreement, dated as of May 106,20y and among the Registrant, Lazard Group WAZ-MD Holdings LLC and
LFCM Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to ibih2.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report (fle. 001-32492) on Form 1Q-filed
on June 16, 2005

Amendment No. 1, dated as of November 6, 2006)e¢dtaster Separation Agreement,
dated as of May 10, 2005, by and among the Registrazard Group LLC and LAZ-MD Holdings LLC (inquorated by reference to
Exhibit 2.2 to the Registra's Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on November 7, 200€

Second Amendment dated as of May 7, 2008, to thetdvi&eparation Agreement dated as of May 10, 2808mended, by and among
Lazard Ltd, Lazard Group LLC and LAZ-MD Holdings ClL(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K

(File No. 00:-32492) filed on May 8, 2008

Class B-1 and Class C Members Transaction Agree(irerarporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to thegRtrant’s Registration Statement
(File No. 33:-121407) on Form -1 filed on December 17, 200¢

Certificate of Incorporation and Memorandum of Adation of the Registrant (incorporated by refeeste Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement (File No. -121407) on Form-1/A filed on March 21, 2005

Certificate of Incorporation in Change of Namelod Registrant (incorporated by reference to Ex3ltto the Registrant’s Registration
Statement (File No. 3:-121407) on Form-1/A filed on March 21, 2005

Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of Lazard Ltd (incaied by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the RegistsaQuarterly Report (File No. 001-
32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200&

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Bye-Lawspérd Ltd (incorporated by reference to Exhibt ® the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report (File No. 0C-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on May 9, 2008}

Form of Specimen Certificate for Class A commortktgncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’'s Registration Statement
(File No. 33:-121407) on Form-1/A filed on April 11, 2005)

Indenture, dated as of May 10, 2005, by and betwegard Group LLC and The Bank of New York, as Teegincorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to Lazard Group LL’s Registration Statement (File No. -126751) on Form -4 filed on July 21, 2005

Amended and Restated Third Supplemental Indendated as of May 15, 2008, by and among Lazard Gkddpand The Bank of New
York, as trustee (and incorporated by referendextabit 4.1 to the Registrants’ Current Report amrf 8-K (Commission File No. 333-
126751) filed on May 16, 200¢€
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4.4

4.5

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Jun2@17, between Lazard Group LLC and The Bank of Newk, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on June 22, 200°

Form of Senior Note (included in Exhibit 4..

Amended and Restated Stockholders’ Agreement, geted November 6, 2006, by and among LAZ-MD Halgi.LC, the Registrant and
certain members of LAZ-MD Holdings LLC (incorpordtby reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the RegistraQtisarterly Report (File No. 001-
32492) on Form 1-Q filed on November 7, 200€

First Amendment, dated as of May 7, 2008, to theesAded and Restated Stockholders’ Agreement datefiNevember 6, 2006, between
LAZ-MD Holdings LLC and Lazard Ltd. (incorporated beference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s @erdy Report (File No. 001-
32492) on Form 1-Q filed on May 9, 2008}

Operating Agreement of Lazard Group LLC, datedfdday 10, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhilf.2 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200%

Amendment No. 1 to the Operating Agreement of Laifawroup LLC, dated as of December 19, 2005 (incetea by reference to Exhibit
3.01 to Lazard Group LL's Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 33:-126751) filed on December 19, 200

Amendment No. 2, dated as of May 7, 2008, to ther&jng Agreement of Lazard Group LLC, dated allay 10, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Regist's Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on May 8, 2008

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of May 10, 260%nd among Ltd Sub A, Ltd Sub B and LFCM Holdirig C (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Regist’'s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200%

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of May 105208y and among the Registrant, Lazard Group WAZ-MD Holdings LLC and
LFCM Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to kbih10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report ¢fNo. 001-32492) on Form 10-Q
filed on June 16, 2005

Insurance Matters Agreement, dated as of May 10520y and between Lazard Group LLC and LFCM HaldihLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Regist’'s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200%

License Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2005, byaamoing Lazard Strategic Coordination Company, LL&zard Fréres & Co. LLC,
Lazard Fréres S.A.S., Lazard & Co. Holdings Limitedi LFCM Holdings LLC (incorporated by referenoeEixhibit 10.6 to the
Registrar’s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200%

Administrative Services Agreement, dated as of Way2005, by and among LAZ-MD Holdings LLC, LFCM ldimgs LLC and Lazard
Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit7Lth the Registrant’s Quarterly Report (File No1£€82492) on Form 10-Q filed on June
16, 2005)

Business Alliance Agreement, dated as of May 10520y and between Lazard Group LLC and LFCM HajdibLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Regist’'s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200%

Amendment and Consent, dated February 9, 2008¢et8aisiness Alliance Agreement, dated as of May @05, by and between Lazard
Group LLC and LFCM Holdings LLC (incorporated byerence to Exhibit 10.12 to Registrant’s Annual BegFile No. 001-32492) on
Form 1(-K filed on March 2, 2009

Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Leé&tedegic Coordination Company LLC, dated as ofidan1, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to tIRegistrar’'s Registration Statement (File No. -121407) on Form-1/A filed on February 11, 200&
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10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25*%

10.26*

Lease, dated as of January 27, 1994, by and betReekefeller Center Properties and Lazard Frér€o&LLC (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registr¢ s Registration Statement (File No. -121407) on Form-1/A filed on February 11, 200&

Lease with an Option to Purchase, dated as ofllyl\t990, by and between Sicomibail and Finaball$@! du 121 Boulevard Hausmann
(English translation) (incorporated by referenc&xibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Registrationt&taent (File No. 333-121407) on Form S-
1/A filed on February 11, 200%

Occupational Lease, dated as of August 9, 2002nbyamong Burford (Stratton) Nominee 1 Limited, Btdt (Stratton) Nominee 2 Limite
Burford (Stratton) Limited, Lazard & Co., Limitechd Lazard LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit21 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement (File No. -121407) on Form-1/A filed on February 11, 200&

2005 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeseto Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s Registrat8iatement (File No. 333-121407) on
Form &-1/A filed on May 2, 2005)

Lazard Ltd’s 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (ipocated by reference to Annex B to the RegisteaDgfinitive Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A (File No. 01-32492) filed on March 24, 200¢

2005 Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Hxhih23 to the Registrant’s Registration Staten{Eiié No. 333-121407) on Form BA
filed on March 21, 2005

Amended and Restated Agreement Relating to Reteatid Noncompetition and Other Covenants, dated dsnuary 29, 2008, by and
among Lazard Ltd, Lazard Group LLC and Bruce Wassar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1he Registrant’s Current Report
(File No. 00:-32492) on Form-K filed on February 1, 2008

Agreement Relating to Reorganization of Lazardedats of May 10, 2005, by and among Lazard LLCBmde Wasserstein (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Regist’s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200%

Amended and Restated Agreement Relating to Reteatid Noncompetition and Other Covenants, dated &y 7, 2008, by and among
the Registrant, Lazard Group LLC and Steven J. (hcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Resyistrant’s Current Report
(File No. 00:-32492) on Form-K filed on May 8, 2008)

Amendment No. 1, dated as of February 26, 200hddmended and Restated Agreement Relating tcmReteand Noncompetition and
Other Covenants, dated as of May 7, 2008, by armhgrhazard Ltd, Lazard Group LLC and Steven J. Gdincorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.23 to Registra’s Annual Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-K filed on March 2, 2009

Form of Agreement Relating to Retention and Noncetitipn and Other Covenants, dated as of May 45280plicable to, and related
Schedule | for, each of Michael J. Castellano, S2otHHoffman and Charles G. Ward Il (incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 10.26 to the
Registrar’s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200&

Form of First Amendment, dated as of May 7, 200Adreement Relating to Retention and Noncompetiéind Other Covenants, dated as
of May 4, 2005, for each of Michael J. Castella®oott D. Hoffman and Charles G. Ward, 111 (incorgted by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrars Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on May 8, 2008

Second Amendment, dated as of February 26, 20@BetAgreement Relating to Retention and Noncortipetand Other Covenants, dated
as of May 4, 2005 (as amended from time to tim@)Michael J. Castellano (incorporated by referemndexhibit 10.26 to Registrant’s
Annual Report (File No. 0(-32492) on Form 1-K filed on March 2, 2009]
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10.27*

10.28*

10.29*

10.30*

10.31*

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

Form of Agreements Relating to Retention and Noruetition and Other Covenants (incorporated by esfee to Exhibit 10.27 to the
Registrar’s Registration Statement (File No. -121407) on Form-1/A filed on April 11, 2005)

Agreement Relating to Retention and Noncompetiéind Other Covenants, dated as of October 4, 200dnt between Lazard Group LLC
and Alexander F. Stern (incorporated by referendexhibit 10.28 to Registrant’s Annual Report (File. 001-32492) on Form 10-K filed
on March 2, 2009

Agreement Relating to Retention and Noncompetiéind Other Covenants, dated as of March 18, 200&nbybetween Lazard Group LLC
and Kenneth M. Jacob

Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, effectivaf danuary 1, 2004, between Vernon E. Jordamandt Lazard Fréres & Co. LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 toRegistrar’'s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200&

Acknowledgement Letter, dated as of November 66408 Lazard Group LLC to certain managing direstof Lazard Group LLC
modifying the terms of the retention agreementgavgons party to the Amended and Restated Stocakisoldlgreement, dated as of
November 6, 2006 (incorporated by reference to lEkhAD.23 to the Registre’s Quarterly Report (File No. 001-32492) on FormQG@iled
on November 7, 2006

Letter Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2005, fi§i8 Corporate and Investment Bank to Lazard LL@ &azard Ltd (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Regist’s Registration Statement (File No. -121407) on Form-1/A filed on March 21, 2005

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May2005, by and among Lazard Group Finance LLC, thgifRant, Lazard Group LLC and
IXIS Corporate and Investment Bank (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Qeréy Report (File No. 001-32492)
on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200%

Letter Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2005, withd@rWasserstein family trusts (incorporated byresfee to Exhibit 10.31 to the
Registrar’s Quarterly Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on June 16, 200&

Senior Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of Mi@y2005, among Lazard Group LLC, the Banks franetto time parties thereto,
Citibank, N.A., The Bank of New York, New York Breim JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and JP Morgan Cask, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (incorporated by referencdesdnibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Ref&iite No. 001-32492) on Form 10-Q
filed on June 16, 2005

First Amendment, dated as of March 28, 2006, tdSeior Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of M@y2005, among Lazard Group
LLC, the Banks from time to time parties theretdj@nk, N.A., The Bank of New York, New York BramcJP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.
and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administratigert (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3R&mistrant’s Quarterly Report (File
No. 00:-32492) on Form 1-Q filed on May 11, 2006

Second Amendment, dated as of May 17, 2006, t&&mior Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of M@y2005, among Lazard Group
LLC, the Banks from time to time parties theretdj@ank, N.A., The Bank of New York, New York BramcJP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.
and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administratiger®t (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.th®s Registrant’s Current Report on
Form & K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on May 17, 2006

Third Amendment, dated as of June 18, 2007, t&tr@or Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of MI@y2005, among Lazard Group
LLC, the Banks from time to time parties theretdj@ank, N.A., The Bank of New York, New York BramcJP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.
and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administratiger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1h® Registrant’s Current Report on
Form &K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on June 22, 200°
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10.39*

10.40*

10.41*

10.42*

10.43*

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47*

10.48*

10.49

12.1
211
23.1
311
31.2
32.1
32.2

Description of Non-Executive Director Compensatfimtorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report (File
No. 002-32492) on Form 1-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 20

Form of Award Letter for Annual Grant of Deferretb& Units to Non-Executive Directors (incorporatadreference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on September 8, 200

Form of Agreement evidencing a grant of RestriG&atk Units to Executive Officers under the LazBgiiity Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on January 26, 200

Form of Agreement evidencing a grant of Restri@&atk Units to Executive Officers under the 2008imtive Compensation Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Regn’s Annual Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-K filed on March 2, 2009,

Form of Agreement evidencing a grant of DeferrediCaward to Executive Officers under the 2008 ItisenCompensation Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to Reegn’s Annual Report (File No. 0-32492) on Form 1-K filed on March 2, 2009,

Termination Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2096and among Banca Intesa S.p.A., Lazard Group &bh€Lazard & Co. S.r.l.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tregRtran’s Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-32492) filed on April 4, 2006

Amended and Restated $150 Million Subordinated @dible Promissory Note due 2018, issued by LaFambing LLC to Banca Intesa
S.p.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@3he Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Nt 001-32492) filed on May 17,
2006).

Amended and Restated Guaranty of Lazard Group ldBanca Intesa S.p.A., dated as of May 15, 200 (porated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registre’s Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00--32492) filed on May 17, 2006

Directors’ Fee Deferral Unit Plan (incorporatedrbjerence to Exhibit 10.39 to Registrant’s Quayt&éport (File No. 001-32492) on Form
1C-Q filed on May 11, 2006

First Amended Form of Agreement evidencing a goduiRestricted Stock Units to Executive Officers anthe Lazard 2005 Equity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Extibi43 to Registrant’s Annual Report (File No. &82492) on Form 10-K filed on March
1, 2007).

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Augus2@@8, by and among Lazard Ltd, LAZ Sub |, LazAsset Management LLC and
Lazard Asset Management Limited (incorporated lgremce to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Curri@aeport on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
32492) filed on August 15, 200¢

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charg
Subsidiaries of Registrar

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.
Rule 13i-14(a) Certification of Kenneth M. Jacol

Rule 13i-14(a) Certification of Michael J. Castellar
Section 1350 Certification for Kenneth M. Jacc

Section 1350 Certification for Michael J. Castetia

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage
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LAZARD LTD
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEME NT SCHEDULE

ITEMS 15 (a)(1) AND 15 (a)(2)

o
0.
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repay 77
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing 78-79
Consolidated Financial Statement:
Consolidated Statements of Financial Conditionfd3exember 31, 2009 and 20 80
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 82
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yer@iled December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 83
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockh¢ Equity (Deficiency) for the years ended December2RD9, 2008 and 20( 84
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 87
Supplemental Financial Information
Quarterly Result 141
Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Re@ompany Only
Condensed Statements of Financial Condition aseckbhber 31, 2009 and 20 F-2
Condensed Statements of Operations for the yedexdddecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 F-3
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the yededddecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2 F-4
Condensed Statements of Changes in Stockhi Equity (Deficiency) for the years ended December2RD9, 2008 and 20( F-5
Notes to Condensed Financial Statem: F-8

Schedules not listed above have been omitted be¢hasnformation required to be set forth theiginot applicable or is shown in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
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LAZARD LTD
(parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel
Investments in subsidiaries, equity metl
Due from subsidiarie

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Liabilities:

Due to subsidiarie

Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; 15,0008ares authorize
Series A—26,883 and 31,745 shares issued and ndistpat December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively
Series F—no shares issued and outstanc
Common stock
Class A, par value $.01 per share (500,000,00@skarthorized; 92,165,912 and 76,294,912 sh
issued at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectimelyding shares held by a subsidiary as
indicated below
Class B, par value $.01 per share (1 share audithrigsued and outstanding at December 31, 2009
and 2008
Additional paic-in-capital
Retained earninc
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net o

Class A common stock held by a subsidiary, at cost
(5,850,775 and 9,376,162 shares at December 39,2002008, respectivel

Total stockholder’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See notes to condensed financial statements.

F-2

December 31

2009 2008
$ 1,68¢ $ 1,801
(1,691,55) (1,614,66)
2,045,89! 1,863,57.
$ 356,02¢ $ 250,70!
$ 382 $ 46
258 79
63t 12&
922 763
549,93: 429,69
52,72¢ 221,41(
(57,049 (79,439
546,53: 572,43.
(191,140 (321,857
355,39 250,58(
$ 356,02¢ $ 250,70!
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REVENUE
Equity in earnings (losses) of subsidiai
Interest incom
Other
Total revenue
Interest expens
Net revenue
OPERATING EXPENSES
Professional service
Other
Total operating expens:
NET INCOME (LOSS)

LAZARD LTD
(parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20D

(dollars in thousands)

See notes to condensed financial statements.

F-3

Year Ended December 31

2009

2008

2007

$(193,49)  $(50,049  $109,64
64,88« 54,71 46,60’

2 2 —
(128,60) 4,67: 156,25
— 47 12¢
(128,60) 4,62t 156,12:
1,50¢ 1,34¢ 941
131 142 13¢
1,63¢ 1,487 1,08(
$(130,24)  $ 3,13¢  $155,04:
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LAZARD LTD
(parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20D
(dollars in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @ehcprovided by (used in) operating activiti
Noncash transactions in net income (lo
Equity in (earnings) losses of subsidiai
Amortization of stock unit
Changes in due to/from subsidiar
Changes in other operating assets and liabi
Net cash provided by operating activit
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Class A common stock dividen
Other financing activitie
Net cash used in financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, Janua
Cash and cash equivalents, Decembe

See notes to condensed financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

$(130,24) $ 3,13¢  $ 155,04.

193,49: 50,04 (109,649

1,31€ 1,331 821
(31,35)  (29,63) (25,819
174 (130) (1,98¢)
33,381 24,74¢ 18,41¢
(33,45) (23,056 (18,309
(51) (12) —

(33509 (23,069 _ (18,309
(115) 1,67¢ 11C
1,801 122 13

$ 168 $ 1801 § 123
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LAZARD LTD
(parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20D
(dollars in thousands)

Accumulated Class A Total
Preferred Stock Other Common Stock Lazard Ltd
Additional Comprehensive Held By Stockholders’
Series A Series B Common Stock Retained A Subsidiary
Paid-in- Income (Loss), Equity
Shares _$ Shares _$ Shares(*) _ $ Capital Earnings Net of Tax Shares $ (Deficiency)
Balance- January 1, 2007 — $— — $— b51,554,06 $ 51€ $ (396,79) $ 114,387 $ 32,49¢ 115,000 $ (4,179 $ (253,579
Adjustment to reclass noncontrolling interest dé _ - 152,86¢ (17,339 135,53¢
- = — — b51554,06 51€ (243,924 114,38 15,16( 115,00( (4,179 (118,040
Comprehensive income (los
Net income 155,04: 155,04:
Other comprehensive income (lo- net of tax:
Currency translation adjustmel 10,07¢ 10,07¢
Amortization of interest rate hed 532 532
Net unrealized loss on availa-for-sale
securities (329 (329
Employee benefit plan:
Net actuarial los (1,669 (1,667)
Adjustment for items reclassified
earnings (203 (209)

Comprehensive incomrr 163,46(
Preferred stock and Class A common stock issuedide

in connection with acquisitions and related amatten 36,607 — 277 — 53,55¢ 53,55¢
Issuances of Class A common stock in exchangedaatd

Group common membership intere 191,75 1 (1) —
Repurchase of common membership interests from-

MD Holdings (10,55 (10,55
Amortization of stock unit 51,45: 51,45:
Dividenc-equivalents 2,57( (2,570 —
Class A common stock dividen (18,309 (18,30¢)
Purchase of Class A common stc 1,678,601 (68,057) (68,057)
Delivery of Class A common stock for settlemenve$ted

RSUs (2,956) (80,759 2,93t (22)
Adjustment related to noncontrolling inter _ - 30,81¢ 147 30,96
Balance- December 31, 200 36,607 $— 277 $— 51,745,82 $ 517 $ (119,03) $ 248,55, $ 23,728 1,712,841 $(69,29¢) $ 84,45¢
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LAZARD LTD

(parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20B—(Continued)

Balance- January 1, 2008
Comprehensive income (los:
Net income
Other comprehensive income (lo- net of tax:
Currency translation adjustmet
Amortization of interest rate hed
Available-for-sale securities
Net unrealized los
Adjustment for items reclassifie
to earnings
Employee benefit plan:
Net actuarial gail
Adjustment for items reclassifie
to earnings

Comprehensive los

Class A common stock issued/issuable in conne:
with

business acquisitions and related amortize

Conversion of Series A and Series B preferred s
issued in connection with prior year’s business
acquisition into Class A common sto

Class A common stock issuable in connection
LAM Merger and related amortizatic

Repurchase of common membership interests
LAZ-MD Holdings

Amortization of stock unit

Dividenc-equivalents

Class A common stock dividen

Purchase of Class A common st

Delivery of Class A common stock for settlemen
vested RSUs and DSL

Class A common stock issued in connection v

Settlement of the purchase contracts forming
of the ESU:

Exchange for Lazard Group common member
interests, including in connection with
secondary offerini

Other

Adjustment related to noncontrolling intere

Balance- December 31, 200!

Preferred Stock

Series A

(dollars in thousands)

Shares ~$ Shares _$

36,601 $—

(4,862 —

Class A
Common Stock
Held By
Series B Common Stock Accumulated A Subsidiary

Other Total
Additional Comprehensive Lazard Ltd
Retained Stockholders

Paid-in- Income (Loss),

Shares(*) _ $ Capital Earnings Net of Tax Shares $ Equity
277 $— 51,745,82 $ 517 $ (119,03) $ 248,55. $ 23,72t 1,712,841 $ (69,29¢) $ 84,45¢
3,13¢ 3,13¢
(95,199 (95,199
778 77€
(25,49¢) (25,49¢)
8 8
8,83¢ 8,83¢
77 77
(107,869
203,89( 2 4,662 4,66¢
(277) —  450,25¢ 5 5) —
64,51 64,51:
(1,597 (1,597
147,76: 147,76:
7,211 (7,229 12)
(23,05¢) (23,05¢)
8,308,171  (277,06)) (277,069
(29,029 (644,85)  24,50¢ (4,516
14,582,75  14€ 272,93( 273,07t
9,312,18! 93 (93 _
144 144
82,22¢ 7,84z 90,07:
— $— 7629491 $ 765 $ 429,69 $ 221,41 $ (79,435 9,376,16: $(321,85) $ 250,58(
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LAZARD LTD
(parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 AND 20B—(Continued)

Balance- January 1, 200¢
Comprehensive income (los:
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (lo- net of tax:
Currency translation adjustmel
Amortization of interest rate hed:
Available-for-sale securities
Net unrealized gai
Adjustment for items reclassified to earnir
Employee benefit plan:
Prior service cost
Net actuarial los
Adjustment for items reclassified to earnir
Comprehensive los

Class A common stock issued/issuable in connegtitmbusines:
acquisitions and LAM Merger and related amortiza

Conversion of Series A preferred stock into ClassoAmon stocl

Amortization of stock unit

Dividenc-equivalents

Class A common stock dividen

Purchase of Class A common st

Delivery of Class A common stock for settlemenve$ted RSU
and DSUs

Repurchase of common membership interests from-MD Holdings

Class A common stock issued in exchange for La@uodip commor
membership interests, including in connection witcondary
offerings

Adjustments related to noncontrolling intere

Balance- December 31, 200!

*)
common stock at each such d:

(dollars in thousands)

Accumulated

Series A Other Class A Total
Preferred Additional Comprehensive Common Stock Lazard Ltd
Stock Common Stock Held By A Subsidiar Stockholders’
Paid-in- Retained Loss, Net of
Shares $ Shares(*) $ Capital Earnings Tax Shares $ Equity
31,748 $— 76,29491 $ 76 $ 429,69: $221,41( $ (79,434 9,376,16. $(321,85) $ 250,58(
(130,249 (130,247
37,35¢ 37,35¢
802 802
20,57t 20,57¢
94t 94t
(11,290 (11,290
(13,579 (13,579)
2,26( 2,26(
(93,16
1,473,861 15 28,12¢ 28,14:
(4,867 — 479,73: 5 (5) —
268,12¢ 268,12
4,951 (4,99)) (40)
(33,45) (33,45))
1,984,99° (50,479 (50,479
(194,671 (5,510,38)  181,19: (13,479
(9,900) (9,900
13,917,40  13¢ (139) =
23,74¢ (14,68¢) 9,057
26,88: $— 92,16591 $ 922z $ 549,93. $ 52,72t $ (57,04 5,850,77! $(191,14) $ 355,39:

See notes to condensed financial statements.
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Includes 51,745,825, 76,294,912 and 92,165,912stafrthe Compar's Class A common stock issued at December 31, Z0WB and 2009, respectively, and 1 share of thepamy's Class E
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LAZARD LTD
(parent company only)

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Lazard Ltd condensed financigstants (the “Parent Company Financial Statemerniteluding the notes thereto, should be
read in conjunction with the consolidated finansi@tements of Lazard Ltd and its subsidiariese(@ompany”) and the notes thereto.

The Parent Company Financial Statements as of Deere81, 2009 and 2008, and for each of the thraesyia the period ended December 31,
2009, are prepared in conformity with accountinggples generally accepted in the United State&mérica (“U.S. GAAP”), which require
management to make estimates and assumptiondféhatthe reported amounts of assets and liatslitievenue and expenses, and the disclosures in th
condensed financial statements. Management beltbaeshe estimates utilized in the preparatiothefcondensed financial statements are reasonable.
Actual results could differ materially from thes#timates.

The Parent Company Financial Statements includesinvents in subsidiaries, accounted for underdnéyemethod.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentiedRegistrant has duly caused this Report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedetivgo duly authorized.

Dated: February 26, 2010
LAZARD LTD

By: /s/ Kenneth M. Jacol

Kenneth M. Jacobk
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has sigead below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant in the capacities andhendates indicated.

Signature Capacity Date

/s/ Kenneth M. Jacobs Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director February 26, 2010
( Principal Executive Officey

Kenneth M. Jacob

/s/  Michael J. Castellano Chief Financial Officer February 26, 2010
( Principal Financial and Accounting Officgr

Michael J. Castellan

/s/ Ronald J. Doerfler Director February 26, 2010

Ronald J. Doerfle

/sl Laurent Mignon Director February 26, 2010

Laurent Mignor

/sl Steven J. Heyer Director February 26, 2010

Steven J. Heye

/sl Sylvia Jay Director February 26, 2010
Sylvia Jay

/sl Ellis Jones Director February 26, 2010
Ellis Jones

/sl Vernon E. Jordan, Jr. Director February 26, 2010

Vernon E. Jordan, J

/sl Philip A. Laskawy Director February 26, 2010

Philip A. Laskawy
-1
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Signature

/s/ Hal S. Scott

Hal S. Scot

/s/  Michael J. Turner

Michael J. Turne

Capacity

Director

Director

1I-2

Date

February 26, 2010

February 26, 2010



Exhibit 10.29

AGREEMENT RELATING TO RETENTION AND
NONCOMPETITION AND OTHER COVENANTS

AGREEMENT, dated as of March 18, 2005 (this “ Agremt”), by and between Lazard LLC, a Delaware limitedbility company (“
Lazard”), on its behalf and on behalf of its subsidia@gesl affiliates (collectively with Lazard, and #sd their predecessors and successors, the “ Firm
"), and Kenneth M. Jacobs (the “ Executiye

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Executive"Managing Director” and a “Class A Member” of Ladaeach as defined in the Third
Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Ladatdd as of January 1, 2002, as amended (as ibenagnended from time to time, the “ LLC
Agreement)); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the LLC Agreement and the @olb¥esting Agreement and Acknowledgement betwkanard and the Executi
(the “ Goodwill Agreemen{’ and, together with the LLC Agreement, the “ Guntr Agreement?), as a Class A Member, the Executive is subject t
certain restrictions relating to competition antics@tion; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the Executive’s pagtion in the reorganization of Lazard (the “ Remgation”) currently expected to
occur substantially on the terms and conditiongidlesd in Amendment No. 1 to the draft Registratgiatement on Form S-1 (the “1S) dated
February 11, 2005, as filed with the Securities Brchange Commission, relating to the initial palaffering (the “ IPQ’ and together with the
Reorganization and the HoldCo Formation (as defreddw), as each may be modified, adjusted or impleted after the date hereof, the “ Transactions
") of shares of Class A common stock of Lazard lat@ermuda limited company (* PubliC)p the Executive has agreed to enter into thisekgnent
with Lazard to set forth the Executige(1) understanding of the terms of the Transastapplicable to the Executive as a Class A Meméedéfined ir
the LLC Agreement) and as a member of a newly faridelaware limited liability company (* HoldC9 to be formed in connection with the
Reorganization and of the fact that the termsradraft form and may be changed or altered afedtte hereof (other than as expressly provided
herein), and approval of the Transactions (inclgdis such terms may be changed or altered), (2hedmy employment commitment in contemplation
of the IPO and following the IPO (as provided irct&an 3(a)) and (3) obligations in respect of kegpinformation concerning the Firm confidentialt no
engaging in competitive activities, not solicititige Firm’s clients, not hiring the Firm’s employeast disparaging the Firm or its directors, mershmar
employees, and cooperating with the Firm in maintaj certain relationships, while employed by tlierFand following the termination of the
Executive's employment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisastaimed herein and for other good and valuableiderstion, the receipt and
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the WEixecand Lazard hereby agree as follows:

1. Term. Subject to the final sentence of this Sectio8dgction 10(c) and to Section 16(b), the “ Térai this Agreement shall commence
as of the date hereof (t“ Effective




Date”) and shall continue indefinitely until terminatédaccordance with this Section 1. Either partyhis Agreement may terminate the Term (and the
Executive's employment) upon three months’ prioitten notice to the other partgrovided, howeverthat such notice (or pay in lieu of notice) shall
not be required in the event of the terminatiothef Executive’s employment by reason of the Exgetgideath or “disability” (within the meaning of
the long-term disability plan of the Firm applicatib the Executive) (“ Disability) or by the Firm for Cause (as defined in Sectgg)(iv)), may be
waived by the Firm in the event of receipt of netaf a termination by the Executive or may, if Biam wishes to terminate the Term with immediate
effect, be satisfied by providing the Executivehwiiis base salary during such three-month peridig@inof such notice. Notwithstanding that the Term
commences as of the Effective Date, certain promisif this Agreement shall not take effect untdtar date, as specified herein. In addition,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaihedein, this Agreement shall terminate (i) on Seyer 30, 2005, if the date of the closing of th® IP
(the “ IPO Dat€’) does not occur prior to September 30, 2005jipo( such date earlier than September 30, 2G@Hi, on which (A) the IPO is finally
abandoned or terminated by Lazard or (B) the Pselaad Transaction Support Agreement among Larardertain holders of “Class B-1 Interests”
and “Class C Interests” (each as defined in the lgBeement) terminates. Upon any such terminatiuia,Agreement shall be of no further force and
effect and the rights and obligations of the partiereto shall be governed by the terms of theddukgreements and any agreements or portionsat
that had otherwise been superseded by Section.16(a)

2. The Transactions

(a) Participation in the Reorganizatiomhe Executive hereby acknowledges that he haswed and understands the terms of the proposed
Transactions and that such terms, including thecgire of the Transactions, may be modified or wtise altered by the Board of Directors of
Lazard, an authorized committee thereof or the tHefd_azard and Chairman of the Executive Commiittae defined in the LLC Agreement) as
such person(s) may determine in furtherance opthiposes underlying the Transactions. The Exectiveby covenants to execute and deliver
such documents, consents and agreements as shaitbssary to effectuate each of the Transactamdédscribed in the S-1 or as such
Transactions may be modified or altered in accardamith the foregoing sentence), including, withlimitation, any amendments to the Current
Agreements or this Agreement (solely to the exseich amendments are necessary to effectuate anymdifications and alterations to the
Transactions and are not inconsistent with theniraed purpose of this Agreement and other thaseaforth in the last sentence of this Section 2
(a)), a customary accredited investor represemagiver, a HoldCo membership agreement and thekistdders’ agreement referred to in
Section 2(f). Notwithstanding anything containedeie to the contrary, in no event shall the follogiprovisions be modified in a manner that
materially and adversely affects the following tigbf the Executive as and to the extent set fiarguch provisions of this Agreement:

(i) Section 2(c) solely with respect to the vestafghe Class A-2 Interests and the correspondiolgitd Interests, (ii) Section 2(e) solely with
respect to the timing of payment of the memo ahémotapital in Lazard, (iii) Section 2(g)(i) solekith respect to the last sentence thereof reli
to the restrictive covenants applicable to the Bxgjeable Interests, (iv) Section 2(g)(ii) solelyhwiespect to the timing of exchangeability of the
Exchangeable Interests, (v) Section 2(g)(iv) sokely respect to the definition of Cause and (\dh&dule 1.
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(b) Formation of HoldCo Effective upon the Reorganization and consummaifcthe mandatory sale of all “Interests” (as dedi in the
LLC Agreement) pursuant to Section 6.02(b) of th€LAgreement (as the provisions of such Sectio2@)0may be waived or modified) or
otherwise (the “ HoldCo Formatidi), and provided that as of the effective timeloé HoldCo Formation the Executive continues toropleyed
by the Firm, the Executive shall receive, in exaefor the Executive’s Class A Interests (as defimethe LLC Agreement) outstanding
immediately prior to the HoldCo Formation, the mamage of membership interests in HoldCo set fontlschedule attached hereto (such
percentage to be increased pro rata to refleatettiemption of Class B-1 Interests pursuant to ther§anization) that have substantially the same
rights, obligations and terms (including with resip® vesting) with respect to HoldCo pursuant iHoldCo limited liability company operating
agreement (the “ HoldCo LLC Agreeméhtand applicable law as those of the exchanged @ldsterests, except as provided herein, includim
Sections 2(a) and 2(d), or except to the extentahg other changes, taken as a whole with anyfliempeovided, are not materially adverse to the
Executive (such membership interests, the “ Holtt@erests’). The Holdco LLC Agreement will include those iies set forth on Schedule |l
attached hereto, subject to the limitations sehftrerein.

(c) Vesting of Class & Interests (or the Holdco Interests Correspontbnguch Class A2 Interests) Subject to the consummation of the
HoldCo Formation and subject to and effective ug@nlPO Date, and provided that as of the IPO EradExecutive continues to be employed by
the Firm (or has had his employment terminatechleyRirm without “Cause”ds defined below) or on account of Disability oat, following thi
date hereof and prior to the IPO Date, the ClagslAterests (as defined in the LLC Agreement) (tldass A2 Interests) held by the Executive
as of the date hereof (or upon consummation oRégrganization, the HoldCo Interests received byBkecutive in the Reorganization that
correspond to the Executive’s Class A-2 Interestsfahe date hereof) that are not vested as dR®eDate, shall become fully vested. Such
vesting shall occur (i) in the case of a termirmatid employment prior to the IPO Date on the ted@scribed above in this Section 2(c), on the
of such termination (provided that in the event the IPO Date shall not occur as contemplatechtsyAgreement, such vesting shall be deemed
not to have occurred, unless it is otherwise predilly the Current Agreements) or (ii) in any ott&se, on the IPO Date.

(d) Profits Interest Allocationln connection with the Reorganization, subjedhi&s consummation of the HoldCo Formation and suilife
and effective upon the closing of the IPO, and fated that as of the IPO Date the Executive consintoebe employed by HoldCo or one of its
affiliates (including Lazard), the Executive shadicome a member participating in the profits ofd@ with a profit percentage in HoldCo of no
less than the amount specified on Schedaltalched hereto (the * Profits Inter&s{such percentage to be increased pro rata teatethe
redemption of Class B-1 Interests pursuant to ther§anization) having the rights, obligations agriis set forth in the HoldCo LLC Agreement
so long as the Executive shall remain employechbyRirm. Subject to the provisions of the HoldCdd_LAgreement and the determination of the
Board of Directors of HoldCo (the_* HoldCo Bodi)x HoldCo shall make (i) distributions in respeétincome taxes arising from such Profit
Interests and (ii) from and after the third annsaey of the IPO Date distributions that are intehtiebe equivalent to the aggregate amount of
dividends that the Executive (and, if applicabhe Executive’s “Entities” (as defined below)) wolldve received had the Executive (and, if
applicable, the Executive’s Entities) exchangechquerson’s “Exchangeable Interests” (as definedvegfor
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exchangeable membership interests in Lazard thag then immediately exchanged for “PubliCo Shafas"defined below) effective as of the
third anniversary of the IPO Date (with such amafrdistributions, and such profit percentage,eécldjusted from time to time to reflect the
actual exchange, in whole or in part, of such Ergleable Interests).

(e) Treatment of Memo Capital and Other Capitdpon the HoldCo Formation, HoldCo shall assuneedbligations of Lazard for memo
capital and other capital in Lazard, and the ExXeeutereby acknowledges such assumption and reléasrrd in full from such obligations.
HoldCo shall distribute to the Executive amountsaspect of the Executive’s assumed memo capit@spect of Class A-1 capital and former
Class A-1 capital, if any, in equal installmentstbe first, second, third and fourth anniversadgghe IPO Date, plus any interest accrued through
each distribution date. The Executive further hgradprees that all of his rights and title to an@iy and all capital of HoldCo allocated with
respect to any Exchangeable Interests which areaeged for exchangeable membership interests iartlahat are in turn exchanged for Publ
Shares, and the related profits interests (othear, tfor the avoidance of doubt, the capital todgaid in accordance with the immediately foreg
sentence), shall be forfeited without payment tfeereffective immediately upon the exchange oftrsEgchangeable Interests. This Section 2(e)
supercedes and replaces any other agreements enstarttlings with respect to all capital of Lazand BloldCo, other than in respect of earnings
on such capital, which shall be continued in acanocg with past practice.

(f) StockholdersAgreement The Executive hereby agrees that all Exchangdatdeests and PubliCo Shares (as defined in Se2(g)(i))
held by the Executive and the Executive’s Entifiasluding PubliCo Shares obtained pursuant teettehange of Exchangeable Interests for
exchangeable membership interests in Lazard whiekhan exchanged for PubliCo Shares) shall beestity) a stockholders’ agreement which
shall provide, among other things, that the Exeeuton behalf of himself and any “Entity” (as defthin Section 2(g)(ii)) to whom he has
transferred any Class A-2 Interests (as defingderLLC Agreement) or transfers any such Excharlgdakerests or PubliCo Shares) shall
delegate to such person(s) or entity as is degtiibsuch agreement the right to vote PubliCo Shhetd by the Executive or by any such Entit
whom he made such a transfer. The Executive hexgi®es to execute and deliver such stockholderseagent (or, in the case of any Entity, to
cause the execution and delivery thereof) in aamed with the HoldCo LLC Agreement. The stockhatagreement will include those terms
forth on_Schedule llattached hereto, subject to the limitations sehftirerein.

(g) Exchangeable Interests.

(i) A portion of the HoldCo Interests received g tExecutive pursuant to Section 2(b) equal ingraage to the Executive’s Lazard
Class A-2 Interests as of the IPO Date as adjustéte same manner as all other Lazard Class Ae2dsts in connection with the HoldCo
Formation (such portion, the “ Exchangeable Intsr§sshall be exchangeable, on the terms set forthimSection 2(g) and the HoldCo
LLC Agreement, for membership interests in Laz&at eire in turn exchangeable for shares of Classmdmon stock of PubliCo @PubliCo
Shares), such exchange to be accomplished in each castoliCo distributing to the Executive (in excharfigethe appropriate portion of
the Executive’s Exchangeable
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Interests) the corresponding portion of HoldCo'plagable ownership interest in Lazard and causiali€o to issue the PubliCo Shares to
the Executive in exchange for such distributed awtmig interest in Lazard (or such other structiwenay be reflected in the Holdco LLC
Agreement and documents ancillary thereto whiclvigofor a similar exchange, directly or indire¢thf Exchangeable Interests for
PubliCo Shares). The documents reflecting the Bxgbable Interests shall contain the restrictiveecawts set forth in the HoldCo LLC
Agreement addressing the subject matter of the @aous, which covenants shall be consistent witt,rammore restrictive on the Execut
than those contained in this Agreement. The ExeeistExchangeable Interests shall not be subjedoction for any reason.

(i) Subject to the provisions of the HoldCo LLC regment, the Exchangeable Interests may be exctidogexchangeable
membership interests in Lazard that are in turdhargeable for PubliCo Shares as described abotles &xecutive’s election, on and after
the eighth anniversary of the IPO Dapegvided, however, that (A) if the Executive remains employed by Hien through the third
anniversary of the IPO Date, the Executive’s Exgieatle Interests (and any Exchangeable Interektdlieny trust or any entity that is
wholly-owned by the Executive or of which the eatiwnership or beneficial interests are held by@wmbination of the Executive and his
spouse, parents, and any of their descendantsdggde or adoption (an “ Entit)), may be exchanged for exchangeable membership
interests in Lazard that are in turn exchangeabl®@bliCo Shares, in whole or in part, at the Exiee’'s (or, if applicable, such Entity’s)
election, in three equal installments on and afsah of the third, fourth and fifth anniversariéshe IPO Date, provided that each such
installment may be exchanged only if the Executise complied with the Covenants (as defined ini®edt0), and (B) if the Executive
remains employed by the Firm through the secondvarsary of the IPO Date (but not through the tlarshiversary of the IPO Date), the
Executive's Exchangeable Interests may be exchamgechole or in part, at the Executive’s (or, fdicable, such Entity’s) election, in
three equal installments on and after each ofdhel, fifth and sixth anniversaries of the IPO &airovided that each such installment may
be exchanged only if the Executive has complieth wie Covenants. Notwithstanding the above, (wWhefExecutive’s employment is
terminated by the Firm without “Cause” (as defiladow) or by reason of the ExecutigDisability prior to the third anniversary of tHeO
Date, the Executive’s Exchangeable Interests magxbkanged as if the Executive had remained emglopehe third anniversary of the
IPO Date and complied with the requirements of sta{A) above (i.e., the Executive may exchang&k@hangeable Interests on the third,
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the IPO Date asatibed in clause (A) above, provided that each fstallment may be exchanged only if
the Executive has complied with the Covenants)if(tje Executive’'s employment is terminated bysaaof the Executive’s death (1) prior
to or on the second anniversary of the IPO DateEtkecutive’s Exchangeable Interests shall, aeldetion of the Firm, either (A) become
exchangeable in full no later than the first anrsaey of such death or (B) be purchased by HoldGbeatrading price of PubliCo Shares on
the date of such repurchase no later than thedfinsiversary of such death or (2) subsequent teghend anniversary of the IPO Date but
prior to the fourth anniversary
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of the IPO Date, the Executive’s Exchangeable &stisrmay, to the extent not previously exchange@xshangeable in full on the later of
(A) the third anniversary of the IPO Date and () &inniversary of the IPO Date next following sdelth; (y) if following the IPO Date

and prior to the third anniversary of the IPO D#te, Executive’s employment terminates due to l@grBment (defined as the voluntary
resignation by the Executive on or after the dat@attains age 65 or attains age 55 and has atésagears of continuous service as a
managing director of Lazard or one of its affilgtand thereafter the Executive dies, the Execstiggchangeable Interests shall be treated
as set forth in clause (x) of this Section, proditleat the Covenants have been complied with dirceetirement without regard to the time
limits set forth therein; and (z) in the event dfGhange of Control” (as defined in the HoldCo LIAQreement), the Executive’s
Exchangeable Interests shall be exchanged pritvetoccurrence of such event at a time and intadaslesigned to allow the Executive to
participate in the Change of Control transactioradrasis no less favorable (prior to any applicsdtes) than that applicable to holders of
PubliCo Shares.

(iii) Prior to the applicable exchange date and asndition to the exchange of the Exchangeabérésts for PubliCo Shares, the
Executive shall have entered into a stockholdagséement, as described in Section 2(f), and otker@omplied in all material respects w
the terms of the HoldCo LLC Agreement applicablsuch exchange. Each of HoldCo and PubliCo sha ltfae right to require the
exchange of all or part of the Executive’s Exchafgde Interests for PubliCo Shares during the peoginning on the ninth anniversary of
the IPO Date and ending 30 days after such anmimers

(iv) For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shadian: (A) conviction of the Executive of, or a ¢uibr nolo contenderglea (or the
equivalent in a non-United States jurisdiction)tbg Executive to, a felony (or the equivalent mom-United States jurisdiction), or of any
other crime that legally prohibits the Executiverfrworking for the Firm; (B) breach by the Execativf a regulatory rule that materially
adversely affects the Executive’s ability to penfidnis duties to the Firm; (C) willful and delibezdtilure on the part of the Executive (i) to
perform his employment duties in any material respe (ii) to follow specific reasonable directioreceived from the Firm, in each case
following written notice to the Executive of sudilfire and, if such failure is curable, the Exege8 failing to cure such failure within a
reasonable time (but in no event less than 30 day¢D) a breach of the Covenants that is (indiaitly or combined with other such
breaches) demonstrably and materially injuriousamard or any of its affiliates. Notwithstanding tforegoing, with respect to the events
described in clauses (B) and (C)(i) hereof, theddkige's acts or failure to act shall not consgt@ause to the extent taken (or not taken)
based upon the direct instructions of the Headaziard (or after the IPO Date, the Chief Executiiécér of PubliCo (the “ CEO) or a
senior executive officer of Lazard.
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(h) Registration; Dilution The definitive agreements relating to the Tratisas will contain (i) provisions obligating PublQo file a
registration statement with the U.S. Securities Bxchange Commission in order to register the sgaihd resale of the PubliCo Shares on and
following the exchange of the Exchangeable Intsresibject to customary blackout provisions an@motiistomary restrictions, and obligating
PubliCo to use reasonable efforts to list such iRabEhares on the New York Stock Exchange, an@gfomary antidilution and corporate event
adjustment protections (consistent with adjustmapfsdicable to PubliCo Shares) with respect toBkehangeable Interests and the Exchangeable
Interests’ exchange rights into PubliCo Shares.

(i) Cooperation With Respect to Taxesazard shall use its reasonable efforts to atrecthe Transactions in a manner that does nolt iesu
any material tax to the Executive (that the Exeutvould not have incurred in the absence of tanJactions) upon the exchange of the Class A-
2 Interests into Exchangeable Interests or othehaxge of Class A-2 Interests into HoldCo Intergstseing understood that this shall not be a
commitment to maintain the current tax treatmerti@refits applicable to the Executive.

() HoldCo Governance Structuré azard shall use its reasonable efforts to atrecthe HoldCo governance terms with a view to [iing
it to perform its obligations under this Agreemeéntjuding, without limitation, with respect to mag the distributions and payments provided for
in Sections 2(d) and (e) and permitting and efferthe exchange of the Exchangeable Interestsuoli® Shares in the manner and at the times
contemplated by Section 2(g).

3. Continued Employment(a) Employment The Executive hereby agrees to continue in theleyrof the Firm, subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement. In that regard, thxeditive is committed to remaining in the employttef Firm through the IPO Date and for at least two
years following the IPO Date. Lazard acknowleddpes this Section 3(a) is not legally binding or@wg&able, nor is this Section 3(a) consideration fo
any right or benefit under this Agreement.

(b) Duties and Responsibilities; Code of Conduatiring the Term, the Executive shall serve asamaging Director of Lazard or one of its
affiliates (including, but not limited to, HoldCa @ubliCo), with such duties and responsibilitisgtze Head of Lazard (or after the IPO Date, the
CEO) may from time to time determine, and, othantin respect of charitable, educational and smaitdivities which do not materially affect the
Executive’s duties to the Firm (or in respect a&diorships, trusteeships, or similar posts, imease, that are approved by the head of the Lazart
house at which the Executive serves as a Managiregtor) shall devote his entire working time, labekill and energies to the business and
affairs of the Firm. During the Term, the Executshall comply with the Firm’s professional codecohduct as in effect from time to time and
shall execute on an annual basis and at such adalitimes as the Firm may reasonably request soidé as set forth in the Firm’s “Professional
Conduct Manual” or other applicable manual or harudtbof the Firm as in effect from time to time aaqplicable to other managing directors in
the same geographic location as the Executive.
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(c) Compensation

(i) Base Salary During the portion of the Term commencing onfh® Date, subject to the Executive’s continued

employment hereunder, the Executive shall be pai@nmualized base salary in the amount of the Bxexs base salary as in effect
on the date hereof, payable in the same manneghasmanaging directors in the same geographiditotare paid. The Executive’s base
salary shall be subject to annual review and irsgehut not decrease, unless such decrease e iwiih an across-the-board base salary
decrease to all managing directors in the samergpbig location as the Executive.

(i) Annual Bonus. During the portion of the Term commencing on i@ Date, subject to the Executive’s continued @yplent
hereunder through the date of payment, the Exezutiay be awarded an annual bonus in an amountetst in the sole discretion of the
CEO (subject to approval of the Board of Directarsa committee of the Board of Directors, of PGblito the extent required by law, the
rules of any stock exchange or stock trading systewhich PubliCo is subject, or corporate govengaprocedures established by the
PubliCo Board of Directors). A portion of any suatnual bonus may be satisfied in the form of eqeidtynpensation which may be subject
to vesting conditions and/or restrictive covendittbeing understood that the sole remedy for viotaof any such restrictive covenants s
be forfeiture of such equity compensation and/oapture of previous gains in respect of such equitypensation and that, notwithstanc
Section 11(b), money damages shall not be an &laitamedy).

(iii) Long-term Incentive Compensatiomuring the portion of the Term commencing ondkeond anniversary of the IPO Date,
subject to the Executive’s continued employmeneteder, the Executive shall be eligible to partiggpin any equity incentive plan for
executives of the Firm as may be in effect frometitm time, in accordance with the terms of any qlah.

(iv) Employee Benefit PlansDuring the portion of the Term commencing onth@ Date, subject to the Executive’s continued
employment hereunder, the Executive shall be dégib participate in the employee retirement antfare benefit plans and programs of
type made available to the Firm’s managing direct@nerally, in accordance with their terms ansah plans and programs may be in
effect from time to time, including, without limiian, savings, profisharing and other retirement plans or programs(id0nedical, denta
flexible spending account, hospitalization, shertst and long-term disability and life insurancengla

(d) At-Will Employment; No SeverancelThe Executive’'s employment hereunder shall beikiand not for a definite period or duration.
Subject to the Executive’s right to continue toeige his base salary during the three-month ng@éed (to the extent not waived by the Firm)
provided in Section 1, the Executive shall not betled under this Agreement to any severance paysna benefits or, in the absence of a breach
of this Agreement by the Firm, any other damageteuthis Agreement upon termination of the Terrhisremployment with the Firm for any
reason.
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4. Confidential Information In the course of involvement in the Firm’s adia$ or otherwise, the Executive has obtained or atain
confidential information concerning the Firm's bhussses, strategies, operations, financial affaiggnizational and personnel matters (including
information regarding any aspect of the Executitetaure as a managing director, member, partnemgioyee of the Firm or of the termination of such
position, partnership or employment), policies,qeures and other non-public matters, or concerthioge of third parties. The Executive shall not at
any time (whether during or after the Executiveigpoyment with the Firm) disclose or use for the2&ixtive's own benefit or purposes or the benefit or
purposes of any other person, firm, partnershipt jeenture, association, corporation or other bess organization, entity or enterprise other than
Firm, any trade secrets, information, data, or oteafidential or proprietary information relatitg customers, development programs, costs, magketin
trading, investment, sales activities, promoticedd and financial data, financing methods, plamghe business and affairs of the Firm, provithed
the foregoing shall not apply to information whisot unique to the Firm or which is generally Wwmoto the industry or the public other than assalt
of the Executive’s breach of this covenant or agiired pursuant to an order of a court, governmiegeancy or other authorized tribunal. The Exeautiv
agrees that upon termination of the Executive’slegmpent with the Firm for any reason, the Executivein the event of the Executive’s death, the
Executive’s heirs or estate at the request of thra,Fshall return to the Firm immediately all meraonda, books, papers, plans, information, letteds an
other data, and all copies thereof or therefronany way relating to the business of the Firm, pktieat the Executive (or the Executive’s heirs or
estate) may retain personal notes, notebooks amigsli The Executive further agrees that the Exexghall not retain or use for the Executiratcour
at any time any trade names, trademark or othgrigtary business designation used or owned in@dion with the businesses of the Firm. Without
limiting the foregoing, the existence of, and anfpimation concerning, any dispute between the &kee and the Firm shall be subject to the terms of
this Section 4, except that the Executive may di&linformation concerning such dispute to thetiador or court that is considering such dispute] a
to the Executive’s legal counsel, spouse or domestitner, and tax and financial advisors (provithed such persons agree not to disclose any such
information other than as necessary to the progecot defense of the dispute).

5. Noncompetition (a) The Executive acknowledges and recognizehitifdy competitive nature of the businesses offins. The
Executive further acknowledges and agrees thatrimection with the Reorganization, and in the cewfsthe Executive’s subsequent employment with
the Firm, the Executive has been and shall be gealivith access to sensitive and proprietary infdiom about the clients, prospective clients,
knowledge capital and business practices of tha,Find has been and shall be provided with the rypity to develop relationships with clients,
prospective clients, consultants, employees, reptatives and other agents of the Firm, and thelikes further acknowledges that such proprietary
information and relationships are extremely valeadssets in which the Firm has invested and sbatlrwe to invest substantial time, effort and
expense. As a Managing Director and Class A Mermabkrzard, the Executive is currently bound by @errestrictive covenants, including a
noncompetition restriction, pursuant to the termthe Goodwill Agreement. Accordingly, the Execwtiliereby reaffirms and agrees that while
employed by the Firm and thereafter until (i) thneenths after the Executivetate of termination of employment for any reasthrer than a terminatic
by the Firm without Cause or (i) one month aftez tate of the Executive’s termination by the Rivithout Cause (in either case, the date of
termination, the “ Date of Terminatighand such period, the * Noncompete Restrictiorid®’), the Executive shall not, directly or indirectign the
Executive’s behalf or on behalf of any other perdom, corporation, association
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or other entity, as an employee, director, advigariner, consultant or otherwise, engage in a “@ing Activity,” or acquire or maintain any
ownership interest in, a “Competitive Enterpridedt purposes of this Agreement, (i) “ Competingivity " means the providing of services or
performance of activities for a Competitive Enté&erin a line of business that is similar to amglof business to which the Executive providedisess

to the Firm in a capacity that is similar to th@aeity in which the Executive acted for the Firmilwtemployed by the Firm, and (ii) “ Competitive
Enterpris€’ shall mean a business (or business unit) thaeffigages in any activity or (B) owns or controfgnificant interest in any entity that
engages in any activity, that in either case, caegpanywhere with any activity in which the Firneisgaged up to and including the Executive’s Date o
Termination. Notwithstanding anything to the congrim this Section 5, the foregoing provisions luiktSection 5 shall not prohibit the Executive’s
providing services to an entity having a stand-albasiness unit which unit would, if consideredasafely for purposes of the definition of
“Competitive Enterprise” hereunder, constitute sadBompetitive Enterprise, provided the Executs/aadt providing services to such business unit and
provided further that employment in a senior exieutapacity of the business unit shall be deemdiktengaging in a Competitive Activity. Further,
notwithstanding anything in this Section 5, the &xeévse shall not be considered to be in violatiémhis Section 5 solely by reason of owning, dileotr
indirectly, any stock or other securities of a Cetitpre Enterprise (or comparable interest, inahgda voting or profit participation interest, inyaguch
Competitive Enterprise) if the Executive’s interdses not exceed 5% of the outstanding capitakstbsuch Competitive Enterprise (or comparable
interest, including a voting or profit participatiinterest, in such Competitive Enterprise).

(b) The Executive acknowledges that the Firm isagiegl in business throughout the world. Accordinghd in view of the nature of the
Executive’s position and responsibilities, the Exe® agrees that the provisions of this Secti@h&ll be applicable to each jurisdiction, foreign
country, state, possession or territory in whiah irm may be engaged in business while the Exezigiemployed by the Firm.

6. Nonsaolicitation of ClientsThe Executive hereby agrees that during the Nopete Restricted Period, the Executive shall moany
manner, directly or indirectly, (a) Solicit a Cligo transact business with a Competitive Enteepoisto reduce or refrain from doing any busineil w
the Firm, to the extent the Executive is solicitam@lient to provide them with services that wolbddconsidered a Competing Activity if such services
were provided by the Executive, or (b) interferéhwir damage (or attempt to interfere with or dae)amy relationship between the Firm and a Client.
For purposes of this Agreement, the term “ Soliciteans any direct or indirect communication of &ind whatsoever, regardless of by whom initiated,
inviting, advising, persuading, encouraging or Esjing any person or entity, in any manner, to takefrain from taking any action, and the term “
Client” means any client or prospective client of thentio whom the Executive provided services, or foom the Executive transacted business, or
whose identity became known to the Executive imeation with the Executive’s relationship with angloyment by the Firm, whether or not the Firm
has been engaged by such Client pursuant to &watjreement; provided that an entity which isandiient of the Firm shall be considered a
“prospective client” for purposes of this senteoody if the Firm made a presentation or writtengarsal to such entity during the 12-month period
preceding the Date of Termination or was prepatingiake such a presentation or proposal at thedinttee Date of Termination.
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7. No Hire of EmployeesThe Executive hereby agrees that while employethé Firm and thereafter until sbmonths after the
Executive’s Date of Termination (the “ No Hire Résgion Period’), the Executive shall not, directly or indirectlipr himself or on behalf of any third
party at any time in any manner, Solicit, hireptrerwise cause any employee who is at the asedeiat| or above, officer or agent of the Firm pplg
for, or accept employment with, any Competitivedtptise, or to otherwise refrain from rendering/gess to the Firm or to terminate his or her
relationship, contractual or otherwise, with thenkiother than in response to a general advertiseareublic solicitation not directed specificatly
employees of the Firm.

8. Nondisparagement; Transfer of Client Relatiopshirhe Executive shall not at any time (whethermigior after the Executive’s
employment with the Firm), and shall instruct hi®gse, domestic partner, parents, and any of lihe&l descendants (it being agreed that in anyuté
between the parties regarding whether the Execbtiwached such obligation to instruct, the Firnmlidhear the burden of demonstrating that the
Executive breached such obligation) not to, makecamments or statements to the press, employdée &firm, any individual or entity with whom t
Firm has a business relationship or any other peifsuch comment or statement is disparagin@éddirm, its reputation, any of its affiliates ayeof
its current or former officers, members or direst@xcept for truthful statements as may be reduselaw. During the period commencing on the
Executive’s Date of Termination and ending 90 dégseafter, the Executive hereby agrees to takactibns and do all such things as may be
reasonably requested by the Firm from time to tiommaintain for the Firm the business, goodwilld &nusiness relationships with any of the Firm’s
Clients with whom the Executive worked during them of the Executive’employment, provided that such actions and thilogsot materially interfel
with other employment of the Executive.

9. Notice of Termination RequiredPursuant to Section 1, the Executive has agrepdovide three months’ written notice to the Fpnor
to his termination of employment. The Executivedigragrees that, if, during the three-month peaifbelr the Executive has provided notice of
termination to the Firm or prior thereto, the Extaeeienters (or has entered into) a written agregreperform Competing Activities for a Competéiv
Enterprise, such action shall be deemed a violatfdection 5.

10. Covenants Generallyfa) The Executive’s covenants as set forth irtiSes 4 through 9 of this Agreement are from timéime referred
to herein as the “ Covenantdf any of the Covenants is finally held to bevaiid, illegal or unenforceable (whether in whoteopart), such Covenant
shall be deemed modified to the extent, but onith&oextent, of such invalidity, illegality or urfenceability and the remaining such Covenants giatll
be affected therebyrovided, howeverthat if any of such Covenants is finally heldb®invalid, illegal or unenforceable because iteeds the
maximum scope determined to be acceptable to pstilt provision to be enforceable, such Covenaait b deemed to be modified to the minimum
extent necessary to modify such scope in orderakensuch provision enforceable hereunder.

(b) The Executive acknowledges that the Executigetapliance with the Covenants is an importantdiatd the continued success of the
Firm’s operations and its future prospects. Theck#iee further acknowledges the importance to tinen lef his continued employment during the
period prior to and following the IPO Date and &f hot competing or
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otherwise interfering with the Firm during suchipdr The Executive understands that the provisairtee Covenants may limit the Executive’s
ability to work in a business similar to the busis®f the Firmhoweverthe Executive agrees that in light of the Execusiwlucation, skills,
abilities and financial resources, the Executivallstiot assert, and it shall not be relevant naniadible as evidence in any dispute arising in
respect of the Covenants, that any provisions ®fQtvenants prevent the Executive from earningiadi In connection with the enforcement of
or any dispute arising in connection with the Cau@s, the wishes or preferences of a Client orgerctive Client of the Firm as to who shall
perform its services, or the fact that the Clienpimspective Client of the Firm may also be a @lief a third party with whom the Executive is or
becomes associated, shall neither be relevantdmisaible as evidence. The Executive hereby aghegprior to accepting employment with any
other person or entity during his employment with Firm or during the Noncompete Restriction Pedpothe No Hire Restriction Period, the
Executive shall provide such prospective employin written notice of the provisions of this Agreemt, with a copy of such notice delivered no
later than the date of the Executive’'s commencemistich employment with such prospective emplotethe General Counsel of Lazard or
HoldCo, as the case may be.

(c) The provisions of Sections 4 through 11 shathain in full force and effect from the date hergwbugh the expiration of the period
specified therein notwithstanding the earlier teramion of the Term or the Executive’'s employment.

11. Remedies(a) Forfeiture of Class-2 Interests upon a Breach of the Covenants PritiveédPO Date If, during the period from the d:
hereof through the IPO Date, the Executive breaahgof the Covenants set forth in Section 5, 8 or any respect or breaches any other Covenamt in
material respect, the Executive shall be requioiditfeit (i) all unvested Class A-2 Interests, (i) if the Executive has violated the Gooduwiill
Agreement, all vested Class A-2 Interests (sucleitores, the “ PrdPO Damage$). The Executive and Lazard agree that the PrellR@ages are
reasonable in proportion to the probable damagefylio be sustained by the Firm if the Executivedzhes the Covenants, that the amount of actual
damages to be sustained by the Firm in the evesuaf breach is incapable of precise estimatiat,ghich forfeiture of interests is not intended to
constitute a penalty or punitive damages for anmppses, and that the forfeiture of such interegtthe Executive would not result in severe economic
hardship for the Executive and his family. The BExae® further agrees that satisfaction of any Fr@&Damages as set forth in this Section 11(a) shall
not, in any manner, relieve the Executive of artyri@ obligations to abide by the Covenants.

(b) Other RemediesThe Firm and the Executive acknowledge thatithe,tscope, geographic area and other provisiotiseo€ovenants
have been specifically negotiated by sophisticatedmercial parties and agree that all such provssare reasonable under the circumstances of
the activities contemplated by this Agreement. ERecutive acknowledges and agrees that the tertied@ovenants: (i) are reasonable in ligl
all of the circumstances, (ii) are sufficiently Ited to protect the legitimate interests of therKiiii) impose no undue hardship on the Executive
and (iv) are not injurious to the public. The Exteel further acknowledges and agrees that the Exexs breach of the Covenants will cause the
Firm irreparable harm, which cannot be adequatetypensated by money damages. The Executive aleeatrat the Firm shall be entitled to
injunctive relief for any actual or threatened ai@bn of any of the Covenants in addition to artyeoremedies it may have, including
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money damages. The Executive acknowledges andsatir@eany such injunctive relief or other remediesluding the Pre-IPO Damages) shall
be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any forfe#a of awards (required pursuant to the terms pikach awards) that may be granted to the
Executive in the future under one or more of thenF§ compensation and benefit plans.

12. Arbitration. Subject to the provisions of Sections 13 andai¥,dispute, controversy or claim between the Etvee@and the Firm on or
subsequent to the IPO Date arising out of or medgtid or concerning the provisions of this Agreetmany agreement between the Executive and the
Firm relating to or arising out of the Executiveimployment with the Firm or otherwise concerning gghts, obligations or other aspects of the
Executive’s employment relationship in respecthef Firm (* Employment Related Mattéfs shall be finally settled by arbitration in Neviork City
before, and in accordance with the rules then plstgiof, the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (theYSE") or, if the NYSE declines to arbitrate the
matter, the American Arbitration Association (thAAA ") in accordance with the commercial arbitratiofesuof the AAA. Prior to the IPO Date, any
such dispute shall be resolved in accordance Wélptovisions of Section 9.04 of the LLC Agreement.

13. Injunctive Relief; Submission to JurisdictioNotwithstanding the provisions of Section 12, andddition to its right to submit any
dispute or controversy to arbitration, the Firm nbaiyng an action or special proceeding in a stafederal court of competent jurisdiction sittimgthe
City of New York, whether or not an arbitration peeding has theretofore been or is ever initidtadhe purpose of temporarily, preliminarily, or
permanently enforcing the provisions of the Covésiaor to enforce an arbitration award, and, ferghrposes of this Section 13, the Executive
(a) expressly consents to the application of Secibto any such action or proceeding, (b) agtegsproof shall not be required that monetary dassag
for breach of the provisions of the Covenants & Agreement would be difficult to calculate andtthemedies at law would be inadequate, and
(c) irrevocably appoints the General Counsel ofdtdzas the Executive’s agent for service of progessnnection with any such action or proceeding,
who shall promptly advise the Executive of any ssetvice of process.

14. Choice of Forum(a) THE EXECUTIVE AND THE FIRM HEREBY IRREVOCABLYSUBMIT TO THE EXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF ANY STATE OR FEDERAL COURT LOCATEDN THE CITY OF NEW YORK OVER ANY SUIT, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO OR CONCERYG THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY EMPLOYMENT RELATED MATTERB
THAT IS NOT OTHERWISE REQUIRED TO BE ARBITRATED ORESOLVED ACCORDING TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION Tis
includes any suit, action or proceeding to complitration or to enforce an arbitration award. Thiso includes any sulit, action, or proceedingragis
out of or relating to any post-employment EmployirRalated Matters. The Executive and the Firm askedge that the forum designated by this
Section 14 has a reasonable relation to this Agee¢nand to the Executive’s relationship to therFiNotwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
shall preclude the Firm or the Executive from bimggany action or proceeding in any other courttfiar purpose of enforcing the provisions of Seaion
13, 14 or 15.

(b) The agreement of the Executive and the Firto dsrum is independent of the law that may be igoph the action, and the Executive
and the Firm agree to such forum even if the fornay under applicable law choose to apply non-folmm The
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Executive and the Firm hereby waive, to the fullegent permitted by applicable law, any objectidrich the Executive or the Firm now or
hereafter may have to personal jurisdiction oh®laying of venue of any such suit, action or peating in any court referred to in Section 14(a).
The Executive and the Firm undertake not to commemy action arising out of or relating to or canégg this Agreement in any forum other
than a forum described in this Section 14, orhtéxtent applicable, Section 12. The Executivetaad=irm agree that, to the fullest extent

permitted by applicable law, a final and non-apgkl@ judgment in any such suit, action or procegdirany such court shall be conclusive and
binding upon the Executive and the Firm.

15. Choice of Law THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUEIN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF
THE STATE OF NEW YORK (UNITED STATES OF AMERICA), WHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICT OF LAWS W&H
COULD CAUSE THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANY JURISICTION OTHER THAN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

16. Miscellaneous(a) This Agreement shall supersede any othereaggat, written or oral, pertaining to the mattergered herein, except
to the extent set forth an Scheduld the event that this Agreement is terminatedspant to the penultimate sentence of Section Agatements that
had been superseded pursuant to this Section ditg#i)revert to full effectiveness.

(b) Other than in the case of a termination of Agseement in accordance with the penultimate sestef Section 1, Sections 4, 5, 6, 7, 8,

9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15 shall survive the iration of this Agreement and the Executive’s emgpient and shall inure to the benefit of and be
binding and enforceable by the Firm and the Exeeuti

(c) Notices hereunder shall be delivered to Lazaiits principal executive office directed to thiteation of its General Counsel, and to the
Executive at the Executive’s last address appedanitige Firm’s employment records. All notices artder communications hereunder shall be in
writing and shall be given by hand delivery to diker party or by registered or certified mailuretreceipt requested, postage prepaid.

(d) This Agreement may not be amended or modifitlter than by a written agreement executed by ¥eelive and the Firm, nor may ¢
provision hereof be waived other than by a writixgcuted by the Executive or the Firpnpvided, that any waiver, consent, amendment or
modification of any of the provisions of this Agreent shall not be effective against the Firm withibie written consent of the Head of Lazard
after the IPO Date, the CEO) or its successorsuoh individual's designee. The Executive may digctly or indirectly (including by operation
of law), assign the Executive’s rights or obligagchereunder without the prior written consentefilead of Lazard (or after the IPO Date, the
CEO) or its successors, or such individual's desggmand any such assignment by the Executive latioa of this Agreement shall be void. This
Agreement shall be binding upon the Executive’sipited successors and assigns. Without the Exexatoonsent, Lazard may at any time and
from time to time assign its rights and obligatitveseunder to any of its subsidiaries or affiligi@sd have such rights and obligations reassigned
to it or to any other subsidiary or affiliate), pided that no such assignment shall relieve Lafard its obligations under this Agreement or

impair Lazard’s right to enforce this Agreementiagathe Executive. This Agreement shall be bindipgn and inure to the benefit of the Firm
and its successors and assigns.
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(e) Without limiting the provisions of Section 1)(d any provision of this Agreement is finally ldeo be invalid, illegal or unenforceable
(whether in whole or in part), such provision stldeemed modified to the extent, but only toetkient, of such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability and the remaining provisions shall be affected thereby.

(f) The Firm may withhold from any amounts payabteler this Agreement such Federal, state, locdreign taxes as shall be required to
be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or ratiah, and may withhold from, and offset by, anyoamts or benefits provided under this
Agreement, any amounts owed to the Firm by the &xes, including, without limitation, any advancespenses, loans, or other monies the
Executive owes the Firm pursuant to a written age@ or any written policy of the Firm which hashecommunicated to the Executive.

(g) Except as expressly provided herein, this Agrext shall not confer on any person other tharthma and the Executive any rights or
remedies hereunder. There shall be no third-pameficiaries to this Agreement.

(h) The captions in this Agreement are for conviecgeof reference only and shall not define or lithé provisions hereof.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive and the Firm keeteave caused this Agreement to be executed diveigiel on the date first

above written.
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LAZARD LLC
(on its behalf, and on behalf of its subsidiaried affiliates)

By:  /s/ Scott D. Hoffmat

Name: Scott D. Hoffmar
Title: Managing Director and General Coun

Kenneth M. Jacob

By:  /s/ Kenneth M. Jacok

Print Name



Exhibit 12.1
LAZARD LTD
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGE®)(b)

The following table sets forth the ratio of earrsrtg fixed charges for Lazard Ltd and its subsid&on a consolidated basis.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

(dollars in thousands)
Operating income (loss) from continuing operati $(182,23:) $ 25,14( $418,29! $327,20¢ $342,36.
Add—Fixed charge 127,39¢ 160,15 155,37 119,60t 94,65!
Operating income from continuing operations befored charge: $ (54,83¢) $185,29: $573,66¢ $446,81! $437,01:

Fixed Charges

Interest (c; $ 107,89( $139,89¢ $137,11 $104,25: $ 78,36:
Other (d) 19,50¢ 20,25t 18,26¢ 15,35: 16,28¢
Total fixed charge $ 127,39¢ $160,15: $155,37- $119,60¢ $ 94,65
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges — ® 1.1€(g) 3.6¢ 3.7¢4 4.62
Deficiency in the coverage of operating incomegjdsom
continuing operations before fixed charges to tfixad charge: $ 182,23:

(@) Data presented relates to the Comy's continuing operation
(b) For purposes of computing the ratio of earningféxied charges

» earnings for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 2006 and 2005 represent income from cointinoperations before income
taxes, and, for the period prior to May 10, 200, date of Lazard Ltd’s equity public offering, tief distributions for services rendered by
managing directors and employee members of LAM,tafdre fixed charges, al

» fixed charges represent the interest expense faomtinuing operations and the portion of rental ergeefrom continuing operations which
represents an appropriate interest fac

(c) The Company’s policy is to include interest expe on unrecognized tax benefits in income tarresg Accordingly, such interest expense is not
included in the computations of the ratio of eagsito fixed charge:
(d) Other fixed charges consist of the interest fartoentals.

(e) The results of operations for the period priokazard Ltd’s equity public offering and the fir@ng transactions on May 10, 2005 are not
comparable to results of operations for subseqoemdds as described belo

* payment for services rendered by Lazard Ltd’s mengadirectors, which, as a result of Lazard Ltdrgpi@g as a limited liability company,
historically had been accounted for as distribigirom members’ capital, or in some cases as wehie attributable to noncontrolling
interests, rather than as compensation and beeegfisnse. As a result, Lazard Ltd’s operating inedwstorically has not reflected payments
for services rendered by its managing directors.péoiods subsequent to the consummation of thégyegublic offering, the consolidated
financial statements of Lazard Ltd include all payits for services rendered by its managing direégtocompensation and benefits expel

» the use of proceeds from the financing transactiand

* the net incremental expense related to the fingnicansactions.



()

©)

Operating income (loss) for the year ended Dawer 31, 2009 is presented after giving effect)ta (estructuring expense of $62,550 in the first
quarter of 2009, (ii) the acceleration of amoriizatexpense of $86,514 relating to the vesting 8UR held by Lazard’s former Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer as the result of his deatiDctober 2009 and (iii) the acceleration of anzatton expense of $60,512 relating to the
accelerated vesting of the unamortized portionre¥ipusly awarded deferred cash incentive awares {otes 17 and 19 of Notes to Consolidi
Financial Statements). Excluding the impact of sitems, the ratio of earnings to fixed charges wWdave been 1.2

Operating income for the year ended DecembgP@08 is presented after giving effect to a chafg®199,550 relating to the LAM Merger (see

Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statesjefixcluding the impact of such charge, the ratiearnings to fixed charges would have b
2.40.



NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

Lazard Group LLC

Lazard International Holdings, In
Lazard Fréeres & Co. LL(

Lazard Asset Management LL
Lazard Funding Limited LL(
Lazard & Co., Holdings Limite:
Lazard & Co., Limitec
Compagnie Financiére Lazard Freres £
Lazard Fréeres Gestion S/
Lazard Freres Banque

Maison Lazard SA!

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

COUNTRY OF ORGANIZATION

Exhibit 21.1

u.s.

u.Ss.

u.Ss.

u.Ss.

u.S.
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

France
France
France
France



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-126752 and No. 333-I34%ch on Form S-8 and Registration
Statement No. 333-138855 on Form S-3 of our reptated February 26, 2010, relating to the constditiéinancial statements and financial statement

schedule of Lazard Ltd, and the effectiveness abta Ltd’s internal control over financial repogiappearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Lazard Ltd for the year ended December 31, 2009.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
February 26, 2010



EXHIBIT 31.1
I, Kenneth M. Jacobs, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1fbKthe year ended December 31, 2009 of Lazardth&l “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or émfitate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtiech such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and céiaWs of the Registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoree designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the petin which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitoe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Biegnt's internal control over financial reportitigait occurred during the Registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant’s internal cohtvaer financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer ankdave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioternal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit commitfeb® Registrant’s board of directors (or persoadgrming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s/  Kenneth M. Jacot
Kenneth M. Jacobs
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2
I, Michael J. Castellano, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 1fbKthe year ended December 31, 2009 of Lazardth&l “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or émfitate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtiech such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in theport, fairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and céiaWs of the Registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoree designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the petin which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitoe reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Biegnt's internal control over financial reportitigait occurred during the Registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant’s internal cohtvaer financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer ankdave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioternal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit commitfeb® Registrant’s board of directors (or persoadgrming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s/  Michael J. Castellar
Michael J. Castellano
Chief Financial Office




EXHIBIT 32.1

February 26, 2010

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE

Washington, DC 20549

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersignedesfi€ Lazard Ltd (the “Registrant”) hereby certfihat the Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (the tR&pfully complies with the requirements of Sextil3(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information cioretd in the Report fairly presents, in all materedpects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Registrant.

/s/  Kenneth M. Jacot
Kenneth M. Jacobs
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not beilegifas part of the Report or as a separate
disclosure document.



EXHIBIT 32.2

February 26, 2010

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE

Washington, DC 20549

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersignedesfi€ Lazard Ltd (the “Registrant”) hereby certfihat the Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (the tR&pfully complies with the requirements of Sextil3(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information cioretd in the Report fairly presents, in all materedpects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Registrant.

/s/  Michael J. Castellar
Michael J. Castellan
Chief Financial Office

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not beilegifas part of the Report or as a separate
disclosure documen



Corporate Information

Board of Directors

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Vice Chairman, Lazard

Chief Executive Officer,
Lazard Asset Management

Senior Vice President—
Finance and Administration,
The Hearst Corporation

Lead Director, Lazard

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Harry & David Holdings, Inc.

Founder, Avra Kehdabra Animation LLC
Chairman, Next 3D

Vice Chairman, ’Oreal UK

Chief Executive Officer,
Wasserstein & Co., LP

Senior Managing Director, Lazard

Senior Counsel,
Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP

Chairman, Fannie Mae
Chief Executive Officer, Natixis
Vice Chairman, Lazard

Nomura Professor,

Director of the Program on
International Financial Systems,
Harvard Law School

Chairman, Babcock International Group PLC

Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Two World Financial Center
New York, NY 10281
1-212-436-2000

Transfer Agent and Registrar
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
480 Washington Boulevard

Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

Lazard Ltd

c/o BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
PO.Box 358015

Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8015
1-800-851-9677 (US)

1-201-680-6578 (Outside the US)
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

Corporate Governance Guidelines
Lazard’s Corporate Governance Guidelines are
available on Lazard’s website at www.lazard.com.
You may obtain a copy of Lazard’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines without charge through
Lazard’s principal executive office in New York.

Executive Officers

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

General Counsel

Chief Operating Officer

President
Chairman, Asset Management Group

Officer Certifications

The Company has filed the certifications required
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
as exhibits to Lazard Ltd’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31,2009.

In May 2009, the Chief Executive Officer of Lazard
Ltd made an unqualified certification to the NYSE
with respect to the firm’s compliance with the NYSE

corporate governance listing standards.

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking state-
ments that involve risks and uncertainties, including
those relating to Lazard’s future success and growth.
Please refer to the “Special Note Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” in Lazard’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2009,
for a description of certain factors that may cause
actual results to differ from results expressed or
implied by these forward-looking statements. Lazard
assumes no obligation to update forward-looking

information contained in this annual report.

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held
Tuesday, April 27,2010, at 9:30 am Eastern Daylight
Time in the Concourse Auditorium on the lower
level of 25 W. 52nd Street, New York, NY.

Principal Executive
Offices

30 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10020

121, Boulevard Haussmann
75382 Paris Cedex 08
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